%\
¥

Borough Council of

King’s Lynn & m 3
West Norfolk w {

Cabinet

Agenda

Tuesday, 15th June, 2021
at 3.00 pm

in the

Assembly Room

Town Hall

Saturday Market Place
King’s Lynn






Borough Council of
King’s Lynn &
West Norfolk

King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, Norfolk, PE30 1EX
Telephone: 01553 616200

CABINET AGENDA

DATE: CABINET - TUESDAY, 15TH JUNE, 2021

VENUE: ASSEMBLY ROOM, TOWN HALL, SATURDAY
MARKET PLACE, KING'S LYNN PE30 5DQ

TIME: 3.00 pm

As required by Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information)
(England) Regulations 2012 - No items will be considered in private.

1. MINUTES

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 10 May 2021 (previously
circulated).

2. APOLOGIES
To receive apologies for absence.

3. URGENT BUSINESS

To consider any business, which by reason of special circumstances, the
Chair proposes to accept, under Section 100(b)(4)(b) of the Local
Government Act 1972.

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Please indicate if there are any interests which should be declared. A
declaration of an interest should indicate the nature of the interest (if not
already declared on the Register of Interests) and the agenda item to which it
relates. If a disclosable pecuniary interest is declared, the member should
withdraw from the room whilst the matter is discussed.

These declarations apply to all Members present, whether the Member is part
of the meeting, attending to speak as a local Member on an item or simply
observing the meeting from the public seating area.



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

CHAIR'S CORRESPONDENCE

To receive any Chair’s correspondence.

MEMBERS PRESENT UNDER STANDING ORDER 34

To note the names of any Councillors who wish to address the meeting under
Standing Order 34.

Members wishing to speak pursuant to Standing Order 34 should inform the
Chair of their intention to do so and on what items they wish to be heard on
before a decision on that item is taken.

Please note that for the Parkway item only the Chair will permit questions from
standing order 34 attendees.

CALLED IN MATTERS

To report on any Cabinet Decisions called in.
FORWARD DECISIONS (Pages 6 - 10)

A copy of the Forward Decisions List is attached

MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET FROM OTHER BODIES

To receive any comments and recommendations from other Council bodies
which meet after the dispatch of this agenda.

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITIES AND SCHEME OF DELEGATION (Pages
11 - 51)

LOCAL PLAN REVIEW DRAFT FOR PRE-SUBMISSION CONSULTATION
(Pages 52 - 68)

NORFOLK GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE (Gl) AND RECREATIONAL
IMPACT AVOIDANCE AND MITIGATION STRATEGY (RAMS) (Pages 69 -
295)

PARKWAY (Pages 296 - 299)

SOUTHGATE REGENERATION AREA MASTERPLANNING (Pages 300 -
307)

ANTI FRAUD AND ANTI CORRUPTION STRATEGY (Pages 308 - 338)

CARAVAN SITES FIT & PROPER PERSON REPORT (Pages 339 - 350)




17.

18.

To:

APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES SUB COMMITTEES AND TASK
GROUP (Pages 351 - 353)

APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES (Pages 354 - 358)

Members of the Cabinet

Councillors R Blunt, S Dark (Chair), A Dickinson, P Kunes, A Lawrence,
B Long, G Middleton (Vice-Chair) and S Sandell

For Further information, please contact:

Sam Winter, Democratic Services Manager 01553 616327
Borough Council of King's Lynn & West Norfolk

King’s Court, Chapel Street

King’s Lynn PE30 1EX



FORWARD DECISIONS LIST

Asst Dir Companies and
Housing Delivery — D Oushy

Date of Report title Key or Decision Maker | Cabinet Member and Lead List of Public or Private
meeting Non Key Officer Background Meeting
Decision Papers

15 June

2021
Local Plan Review Key Council Development Public
Documentation — Pre Exec Dir — G Hall
Submission
Norfolk Strategic Planning Key Cabinet Development Public
Framework — Green Exec Dir — G Hall
Infrastructure and
Recreational Impact
Avoidance and Mitigation
Strategy (Gl / RAMS)
Caravan Site Management Non Cabinet Housing Public
Fit and Proper Person Asst Dr — J Greenhalgh

o Scheme

Anti Fraud and Corruption Non Council Leader Public
Strategy Asst Director S151- M Drewery
Southgates Regeneration Key Cabinet Project Delivery Public
Area masterplanning Asst Dir Housing & Place D Hall
Appointments to outside Non Cabinet Leader Public
bodies
Appointment to sub Non Cabinet Leader Public
committees and task groups
Review of Delegation Non Cabinet Leader Public
Scheme to co-incide with
changes in Cabinet areas of
responsibility
Parkway Key Council Project Delivery Public

8 wa)| epuaby



Asst Dir Housing & Place — D

Hall

Date of Report title Key or Decision Maker | Cabinet Member and Lead List of Public or Private
meeting Non Key Officer Background Meeting
Decision Papers
3 August
2021
Update to the Major Project | Non Cabinet Leader Public
Board Terms of reference Asst Dir Property & Projects — M
Henry
Revenue Outturn 2020/2021 | Key Cabinet Leader Public
Asst Dir - M Drewery
Capital Programme and Key Cabinet Leader Public
Resources 2020-2025 Asst Dir - M Drewery
Outturn
g Enforcement Policy Non Cabinet Environmental Services and Public
Public Protection
Provision of legal services Key Cabinet Leader Private - Contains
Chief Executive exempt
Information under
para 3 —
information
relating to the
business affairs of
any person
(including the
authority)
Interim arrangements for Non Cabinet Leader Public
meetings Chief Executive
Town Deal Key Cabinet Business Development Private - Contains

exempt
Information under
para 3 —
information
relating to the
business affairs of
any person
(including the




authority)

Lynnsport One Key Council Project Delivery Private - Contains
Asst Dir Companies & Housing exempt
Delivery — D Ousbhy Information under
para 3 —
information
relating to the
business affairs of
any person
(including the
authority)
Members Enquiries Non Council Leader Public
arrangements Chief Executive
Parkway Key Council Project Delivery Public
Asst Dir Companies and
Housing Delivery — D Ousby
Date of Report title Key or Decision Maker | Cabinet Member and Lead List of Public or Private
ogneeting Non Key Officer Background Meeting
Decision Papers
21
September
2021
Pay Award 2021-22 Non Cabinet Leader Public
Exec Dir — D Gates
Review of Corporate Key Council Leader Public
Business Plan Chief Executive
Date of Report title Key or Decision Maker | Cabinet Member and Lead List of Public or Private
meeting Non Key Officer Background Meeting
Decision Papers
16
November

2021




Date of Report title Key or Decision Maker | Cabinet Member and Lead List of Public or Private
meeting Non Key Officer Background Meeting
Decision Papers
11 January
2022
Date of Report title Key or Decision Maker | Cabinet Member and Lead List of Public or Private
meeting Non Key Officer Background Meeting
Decision Papers
8 February
2022
Budget Key Council Leader Public
S151 Officer Asst Dir Resources
Capital Programme Key Council Leader Public
S151 Officer Asst Dir Resources
Treasury Management Key Council Leader Public
o Strategy S151 Officer Asst Dir Resources
Capital Strategy Key Council Leader Public
S151 Officer Asst Dir Resources
Date of Report title Key or Decision Maker | Cabinet Member and Lead List of Public or Private
meeting Non Key Officer Background Meeting
Decision Papers
15 March

2022




NOTICE TO THE CHAIR OF THE CORPORATE PERFORMANCE PANEL OF
KEY DECISIONS TO BE MADE BY THE CABINET NOT PREVIOUSLY INCLUDED
ON THE PUBLISHED FORWARD PLAN

Under the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information)
(England) Regulations 2012, local authorities are required to publish a Forward Plan of Key
Decisions to be made by the Executive at least 28 clear days before the date of the meeting.
In the event that the publication of the intention to make a key decision at least 28 days before
the meeting is impractical, the local authority must inform the Chair of the Corporate
Performance Panel. The notice given to the Chair of the Corporate Performance Panel must
be published. The following notice has been given:

We wish to include a report on the agenda of the next meeting of the Cabinet on 15 June
2021, this is entitled “Parkway”. It will be an open report and the decision sought is a Key
Decision. Normally, 28 days public notice of such an item would be given. This has not been
possible in this case as for the following reason:

“Following the Annual Council meeting officers were requested by the new Cabinet to bring
forward a report on Parkway to the 15 June Cabinet meeting. This did not permit the full 28
days notice on the forward decisions list.

Opportunity will be given at the Cabinet meeting for Councillors to ask questions of the
Cabinet”

The Regulations provide for you to be informed (as Chair of CPP) in cases where the 28 days
notice can’t be given.”

Name Lorraine Gore, Chief Executive

Date Published: 4 June 2021

10



Agenda Item 10

REPORT TO CABINET

Open Would any decisions proposed :
Any especially | Mandatory/ Be entirely within Cabinet’s powers to decide NO
affected Need to be recommendations to Council YES
Wards Discretionary /
Is it a Key Decision NO
Operational
Lead Member: ClIr Stuart Dark Other Cabinet Members consulted:

E-mail: clir.stuart.dark@west-norfolk.gov.uk Other Members consulted:

Lead Officer: Sam Winter Other Officers consulted: Chief Executive
E-mail: sam.winter@west-norfolk.gov.uk
Direct Dial:
Financial Policy/ Statutory Equal Impact Risk Environmental
Implications Personnel Implications NO | Assessment NO | Management Considerations
NO Implications Implications NO

NO NO

Date of meeting: 15 June 2021

AMENDMENTS TO THE SCHEME OF DELEGATION

Summary

Following the appointment of a new Leader and subsequently changes to the
list of portfolio responsibilities, amendments are required to the Scheme of
Delegation so the two documents align.

Recommendation
1) That Cabinet note the list of portfolio responsibilities.

2) That the amended Scheme of Delegation be approved as a change to
the Constitution by Council.

Reason for Decision
To ensure the scheme of delegation is in line with the portfolio areas of
responsibility.

1 Background

The leader has amended the list of Cabinet responsibilities, this
requires the scheme of delegation to amended accordingly. The list of
Portfolio responsibilities is attached for information and noting.
2 Options Considered

The Scheme of delegation must accord with those areas of responsibility.

3 Policy Implications
None

11




4 Financial Implications
None

5 Personnel Implications
None

6 Environmental Considerations
None

7 Statutory Considerations
none

8 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)
(Pre screening report template attached)

None

9 Risk Management Implications
The Scheme of Delegation must accord with the portfolio list.

10 Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted
None

11 Background Papers
Previous scheme and portfolio list

12



Pre-Screening Equality Impact
Assessment

Borough Council of

King’s Lynn & %
West Norfolk '

Name of policy/service/function

Is this a new or existing policy/
service/function?

New / Existing (delete as appropriate)

Brief summary/description of the main
aims of the policy/service/function being
screened.

Please state if this policy/service is rigidly
constrained by statutory obligations

Question

Answer

1. Is there any reason to believe that the
policy/service/function could have a
specific impact on people from one or
more of the following groups according to
their different protected characteristic,
for example, because they have particular
needs, experiences, issues or priorities or
in terms of ability to access the service?

Please tick the relevant box for each
group.

NB. Equality neutral means no negative
impact on any group.

Positive

Negative

Neutral

unsure

Age

Disability

Gender

Gender Re-assignment

Marriage/civil partnership

Pregnancy & maternity

Race

Religion or belief

Sexual orientation

Other (eg low income)

13




Question

Answer

Comments

2. Is the proposed policy/service likely to
affect relations between certain equality
communities or to damage relations
between the equality communities and the
Council, for example because it is seen as
favouring a particular community or
denying opportunities to another?

Yes / No

3. Could this policy/service be perceived
as impacting on communities differently?

Yes / No

4. Is the policy/service specifically
designed to tackle evidence of
disadvantage or potential discrimination?

Yes / No

5. Are any impacts identified above minor
and if so, can these be eliminated or
reduced by minor actions?

If yes, please agree actions with a member
of the Corporate Equalities Working Group
and list agreed actions in the comments
section

Yes / No

Actions:

Actions agreed by EWG member:

If ‘yes’ to questions 2 - 4 a full impact assessment will be required unless comments are
provided to explain why this is not felt necessary:

Decision agreed by EWG member: ..o

Assessment completed by:

Name

Job title

Date

14




CONFIDENTIAL - DRAFT

KLWNBC Cabinet portfolios — functional/services areas

1) Leader — Councillor Stuart Dark

Overall responsibility for setting the Vision for Council and supporting Strategy
Overall responsibility for the submission to Council of Policy
Overarching responsibility for Cabinet portfolios

Developing and managing external Strategic relationships

Public Emergencies, Emergency Planning and Emergency Management
Democratic arrangements

Communication strategy and implementation

All Staffing related matters

Health and Safety as an Employer

Equal opportunities strategies and policies

Performance Issues. KPI's and data quality

Civics

Legal — Data Protection and Freedom of Information

Skills

Safeguarding

Any issues not covered by other portfolios

2) Deputy Leader — BUSINESS, CULTURE AND HERITAGE - Councillor Graham Middleton

Economic development and external funding primarily economic in nature
Industrial and commercial promotion

Partnerships pertaining to business

Kings Lynn Town Centre Management/BID

Business Rate Growth

Events

Markets

All marketing and promotion of the Borough

Museums and heritage

Culture, arts and Tourism

TICs

Council companies and alternative delivery models
Residential and commercial investment and development
West Norfolk Property Ltd

Major funding — levelling up, Towns Fund, etc

3) ENVIRONMENT - Councillor Paul Kunes

Biodiversity

Air Quality Strategy
Coastal issues
Shoreline management
Climate change

Energy strategy

15



CONFIDENTIAL - DRAFT

e (Contaminated Land strategy

e Waste minimisation

e Recycling and refuse collection and disposal

e First time sewerage and working with Anglian Water
e Water Quality and usage

e Fly tipping reduction and enforcement and litter-picking,
e Control of pollution

e Food safety

o Street lighting

e Licensing policies

e Health and safety- non employer related

e Flood and water management inland

o Infectious diseases

4) PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES — Councillor Sam Sandell

e All housing related matters including strategy

e Housing standards

e Social inclusion (inc. migrant communities, homeless, disabled, LGBTQ+)
o Community initiatives

o Welfare and benefits advice

e Council Tax and Housing benefits scheme

e Travellers

e Community safety

e Health prevention, promotion and improvement

e Cycling related matters

e Local partnerships with the ICS/trusts/QEH and others
e Leisure — (strategy — healthier lives)

e LILY and care and repair

e Financial Assistance and lottery (West Norfolk Wins)

e Community Transport — shop mobility etc

5) DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION — Councillor Richard Blunt

e Regeneration strategy and implementation
o Delivery of corporate and capital schemes
e Land use planning policy and review and production of the Local Plan
e Planning enforcement

e Transport policy and joint implementation
e Designation of conservation areas

e Planning/building control policy issues

e Street naming and numbering

e Local character and identity of the Borough
e Commons and village greens

e Derelict land and buildings

e CIL

e Custom build

16



CONFIDENTIAL - DRAFT

6) FINANCE — Councillor Angie Dickinson

o All Policies and Strategies Relating to the Council’s Finances

e Treasury Management

e Internal Audit and Fraud

e Procurement, Shared Services, Partnerships and any other Joint Working Arrangements
e Risk Management and Associated Matters

e Major Projects — monitoring and financial implications

e Fees & Charges

e Business Continuity

e The Statement of Accounts

e Financial Management of Assets

e Revision of Financial Orders and Standing Order Relating to Contracts
e Financial Monitoring

e Policies relating to financial support and grants

e Pay and Pensions — financial implications

e Policies relating to the Use of Funds and Balances

e Independent Remuneration Panel — financial liaison

e Policies relating to efficiencies, savings and income generation

e Liaison with External Audit

e Any other Financial Implications

7) PROPERTY — Councillor Adrian Lawrence

e Management of Industrial estates (inc. KLIC)

e Corporate policy relating to land and property acquisition and disposal
e Implementation of acquisition and disposal of land and property

e Property declared surplus to operational purposes

e Management of other council assets

8) CORPORATE SERVICES — Councillor Brian Long

e CIC and Customer relations/complaints

e Car parking related matters

e Shared services

e CCTV

e Crematorium and cemeteries

e Kings Ct, Office and Depot accommodation
e Town Hall Complex

o ICT

e Public conveniences

e Ferry and Pontoons

e Resort management

e Open spaces and play areas

e Street cleansing and grounds maintenance

17



Borough Council of
King’s Lynn &  &ir=251
West Norfolk G M

SCHEME OF
DELEGATION

June 2021

18



BOROUGH COUNCIL OF KING’S LYNN AND WEST NORFOLK

SCHEME OF DELEGATION

The attached represents the Scheme of Delegation across the Council. It is shown in tabular form with
the first 3 columns showing the Council body, its functions and its consultation requirements and the
last two columns showing the delegations to officers in respect of those functions and the limits on
those delegations. Throughout the following abbreviations are used:-

C =  Consultation

WM = A Ward Member in the Ward affected
PH = Portfolio Holder

CE =  Chief Executive

MO =  Monitoring Officer

CFO = Chief Financial Officer

ED = Relevant Executive Director

LAC = Licensing and Appeals Committee/Board

PORTFOLIO HOLDER DELEGATIONS

The following Scheme sets out the areas delegated to Portfolio Holders to make decisions and
complies with the Council’s Financial Regulations. Key Decisions are not delegated to Portfolio
Holders and must be considered in Cabinet. Key Decisions are defined as:-

an executive decision which is likely —

(a) to result in the local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of
savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service
or function to which the decision relates; or

(b) to be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in the area
comprising two or more wards and electoral divisions in the Council’s areas

where significant under a) above is £500,000 or more and significant under b) above is one third of the
resident population in a ward.

Decisions involving transfers between budget are limited to £250,000 for individual Portfolio Holders,
and additional resources from reserves are permissible for any Portfolio Holder up to a maximum of
£50,000 per portfolio in any financial year.

Where a reserve exists for a specific purpose (eg renewal or repair reserve), the Director - Resources
may withdraw funds from that reserve, PROVIDED THAT the withdrawal is to finance an item or items
of expenditure related to the reasons for the existence of the reserve, up to a value of £100,000 per
annum. Any necessary withdrawal that exceeds this amount additionally requires the approval of the
relevant Portfolio Holder.

Decisions where more than one Portfolio Holder is required to make a decision must go to Cabinet.
For the avoidance of doubt each Portfolio Holder has complete freedom to utilise his or her budget
without further recourse to the Leader provided it is not a key decision and subject to the restrictions
mentioned above.

It is the responsibility of each Portfolio Holder in consultation with the relevant Executive Director to
ensure that every decision is made with the full knowledge of a Democratic Services Officer who shall
ensure each decision is properly recorded, reasons given and reference made to the report to the
Member concerned.

It is also the responsibility of the Portfolio Holder, in consultation with the relevant Executive Director in
making decisions to abide by the Council’'s Financial Regulations and other policy and procedure
documents of the Authority as appropriate.

Cttee/Constitution 19
Scheme of Delegation June 2021



The Portfolio Holder may make decisions in all the areas set out below subject to the conditions and
consultations and onward limits on delegation except where the matter under consideration is in
excess of £250,000 or beyond the budget of the Portfolio Holder or has a significant effect on two or
more wards in the Borough or where the decision to be reached requires the decision of an additional
Portfolio Holder.

General Powers

The exercise of delegated powers is to the person to whom it is expressly delegated under this
Scheme.

An officer who is authorised to exercise a delegated power under this scheme may authorise other
officers to exercise that power on their behalf. Such authorisation shall be made in writing setting out:

a. The name(s) of the officers who may exercise a power
b. The power which may be exercised
c. Any limitations on the exercise of that power

A copy of every authorisation should be passed to the Monitoring Officer before the officer who is
authorised exercises any power

Contracts

An Executive Director may authorise and execute on behalf of the Council a contract for works
services or goods provided:

a. the value of the contract does not exceed £100,000.00 or any limit prescribed at any time by
contract standing orders

b. the contract is not part of a series of agreements for the provision of the same or substantially
the same works, goods or services

c. the Executive Director retains a copy of every contract that they make

OFFICER DECISIONS

It is the responsibility of the officer in making decisions to abide by the Council’s Financial Regulations
and other policy and procedure documents of the Authority as appropriate.

A delegation of a role when a number of officers hold the job description will mean that for the
purposes of the scheme, the power is delegated to all of those officers.

In the absence of the Chief Executive any powers failing to be exercised by her may be exercised by
any Executive Director.

Any delegation of power delegated to any Executive Director can be exercised by the Chief
Executive.

Cttee/Constitution 20
Scheme of Delegation June 2021



T

Portfolio

Holder

1. Corporate/
Strategic
Issues,
Resources
THE
LEADER

Functions

1.1 Review of Corporate
Policy including the budget
or the Corporate Plan
having first been
recommended by Cabinet
and approved by Council

Portfolio
Holder
Consultations
CE/CFO/MO
Requires rec to
Council for any
change.

Officer Delegation Limits on
Delegation

1.1.1 Management Team / Monitoring
Officer/Executive Directors / CFO

Ensure Executive decisions are taken in
accordance with the law and financial and policy
guidelines.

1.2 Cross Cutting/Cross
Remit issues

CE & ED &
Portfolio holder

S

1.3 Democratic Processes

MO

1.3.1 Executive Directors

Day to day management of the Council’s
democratic processes.

Timetable of Meetings.

1.4 Legal

CE and MO

1.4.1 Chief Executive / Monitoring Officer
Sign and serve any notice, order or document or
act as proper officer under Section 234 of the
Local Government Act 1972 where no other
officer is currently appointed.

To affix and attest the common seal of the
Council where the common seal is required
pursuant to any decision of the Council.

To take any measures necessary to recover
possession of land owned or leased by the
Council, including encampments (whether or not
on Council owned land).

Authorise the postponement of charges made
on Council property. Day to Day management of
assigning budget resources to all legal matters.

1.5 Communication

ED

1.5.1 Executive Directors
Day to day management of communications on
behalf of the Council, in accordance with

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21



cc

Council Policy.

1.6 Civics

CE, Civics
Officer

Mayor or Deputy
Mayor

1.6.1 Chief Executive

To determine applications to use the Council’s
coat of arms.

1.6.2 Executive Directors

Day to management of the office of the Mayor
and Deputy Mayor and civic ceremony.

1.7 Equal Opportunities
(not as the employer)

1.7.1 Executive Directors
Day to day management.

1.8 Health and Safety as
an employer

1.8.1 Chief Executive
Day to day responsibility for the Council’s Health
and Safety function.

1.9 Public and Civil
Emergencies

Civil Emergency
Liaison and CE

Leader, Deputy

Leader, MO

1.9.1 Chief Executive

To exercise any power to protect the interests
and well-being of the inhabitants of the Borough
in cases of emergency.

1.9.2 Executive Directors

Day to day management of the Civil Emergency
Plan.

C — Cabinet as soon
as reasonably
practical

1.10 Policies relating to
Employment, Personnel,
salaries, Pensions,
Training and equalities (as
an employer)

ED

1.10.1 Executive Directors

Implementation of service re-organisations and
re-structuring within budget.

Approval for the funding of training courses for
both full and part time study for all employees.
Updating the Performance Management
Scheme.

1.10.2 Chief Executive

Changes to posts for senior staff (Executive
Directors).

CED

C ED on Settlement
agreements.

1.11 Performance
Management

ED

1.11.1 Executive Directors
Implementation of performance management
reviews and production of performance

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




ec

management information.

1.12 GDPR, Freedom of
Information and Data
Protection

MO

1.12.1 Monitoring Officer

Respond to requests for information under the
GDPR, Freedom of Information and
Environmental Information legislation, requests
under Data Protection legislation within statutory
timescales.

Maintain FOI Publication Scheme.

Maintain Council’'s Data Protection registration
and act as Data Protection Officer.

Authorise the use, loan or reproduction of the
Councils archive material.

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




ve

Functions

Portfolio

Officer Delegation Limits on

Portfolio Holder Delegation
Consultations
2 Business, | 2.1 Museums & Heritage ED 2.1.1 Executive Directors
Culture and Day to day management of museum premises
Heritage owned by the Council, including Stories of Lynn.
Deputy
Leader
2.2 Promotion and ED 2.2.1 Executive Directors
Marketing of the Borough Day to day promotion and marketing of the
Borough.
2.3 Tourism ED 2.3.1 Executive Directors
Day to day management of tourism premises
owned or operated by the Council
Day to day management of Heritage premises in
the Council’s ownership.
2.3.2 Executive Directors
Day to day management of the tourism issues
including management.
Arranging or overseeing exhibitions,
conferences and tourism as appropriate.
2.4 Arts policies and ED 2.4.1 Executive Directors
strategies Day to day operation of the policies.
2.5 Determination of 2.5.1 Executive Directors
Applications for Circuses Determination of applications to hold circuses on
on Council property. council land.
2.6 Sports facilities, ED 2.6.1 Through ALIVE West Norfolk -
venues Executive Directors
Management and Maintenance of the fabric of
all leisure and sports buildings.
2.7 Arts/Theatre/ ED 2.7.1 Through ALIVE West Norfolk -

Entertainment facilities,
venues

Executive Directors
Management and Maintenance of the fabric of

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21



T4

all arts and entertainment.

2.8 Town Centre
Management and liaison
with the BID

2.8.1 Executive Directors
Oversight and day to day management of town
centres.

2.9 Christmas Lighting

2.9.1 Executive Directors
Provision of Christmas lighting across the
Borough.

2.10 Events in King’s Lynn
and Markets and Fairs

2.10.1 Executive Directors
Day to day administration of events in King’s
Lynn and Markets and Fairs in the Borough.

See authorisations
given effect by
Financial
Regulations

2.11 Industrial and
Commercial Promotion

2.11.1 Executive Directors
Day to day management of the process.

2.12 Local Enterprise
Partnerships

ED

2.12.1 Chief Executive
Attendance and liaison with the LEP.

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




9¢

Portfolio Holder

3 Development
and
Regeneration

Functions

3.1 Regeneration strategy,
policy, projects and
implementation

Portfolio Officer Delegations Limits on

Holder Delegation
Consultations
ED 3.1.1 Executive Directors

Day to day management of Regeneration

Projects.

Submission of bids for and Management of C PH.

Regeneration projects.
3.1.2 Executive Directors
Authorisation to retain professional expertise as

required.
3.2 Redevelopment & ED 3.2.1 Executive Directors
Development projects Oversight, day to day management and CPH

implementation of redevelopment projects.

3.3 Local Plan, planning
and Land Use Policy

3.3.1 Executive Directors

Minor consequential amendments to planning
policy in accordance with national and regional
policy changes.

Issuing of Local Plan guidance and information.
Implementation of major strategic allocations
Day to day management of the Planning service.
3.3.2 Monitoring Officer C-ED
Finalising planning obligations.

3.4 Transport policies

3.4.1 Executive Directors
Responding to consultations on traffic regulation
orders.

3.5 Planning Enforcement

3.5.1 Executive Directors
Day to day management of the Planning
Enforcement operation.

3.6 Building Control

3.6.1 CNC - Executive Directors
The exercise of all local authority functions under
the Building Act 1984, the Housing Acts and

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




LC

Public Health Acts so far as they relate to the
function of the Council as a Building Control
Authority.

Act as appointing officer under the Party Wall Act
1996.

Building Control enforcement and exercise the
right of entry to land and premises.

3.7 Street naming and
numbering

WM

3.7.1 Executive Directors
Street numbering and naming.

3.8 Commons

3.8.1 Executive Directors

3.9 Compulsory Purchase
Orders and Enforced Sale
Procedures

3.9.1 Executive Directors

Implementation of Compulsory Purchase Orders,
having first been approved by Council, and
Enforced Sale Procedures

3.10 Land Charges

3.10.1 Executive Directors
Maintain the Register of Local Land Charges and
Land Terrier.

3.11 Derelict Land and
Buildings

3.11.1 Executive Directors
Day to day management.

3.12 CIL

3.12.1 Executive Directors
Day to Day management.

3.13 Planning and
Delivery of Custom and
Self Build Strategy

3.13.1 Executive Directors
Day to day management

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




8¢

Portfolio
Holder

4 Finance

Functions

4.1 Review of budget
having first been
recommended by
Cabinet and approved
Council

Portfolio
Holder
Consultations
CE/CFO/MO
Requires rec to
Council for any
change.

Officer Delegation Limits on

Delegation

4.1.1 Management Team / Monitoring
Officer/Executive Directors / CFO — Ensure
Executive decisions are taken in accordance with
the law and financial and policy guidelines.

4.2 Review, monitoring
and closedown of the
Financial Plan including
financial regulations and
contract standing orders

CE/CFO/MO
Requires rec to
Council for any
change.

4.2.1 Management Team / Monitoring
Officer/Executive Directors / CFO — Ensure
Executive decisions are taken in accordance with
the law and financial and policy guidelines.

4.3 Treasury
Management including
banking arrangements

4.3.1 Executive Directors / CFO

Day to day management.

Write Off irrecoverable debts

Administration of banking arrangements

Manage insurance for the Council, its property
and employees

Exchequer services including raising and
repayment of loans.

Approval and publication of Statement of
Accounts

Authorisation of virements and budget transfers
Authorise urgent payments

4.4 Fees and charges

4.4.1 Executive Directors / CFO
Day to day management of fees and charges

4.5 Procurement ED 4.5.1 Executive Directors / CFO
Day to day management and enforcement of the
Council’'s Procurement Strategy.

4.6 Business Continuity | ED 4.6.1 Executive Directors

Day to day management of the process.

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21



62

4.7 Audit, Fraud and
Risk Management and

External Audit,
Internal Audit,

4.7.1 Executive Directors / CFO
Responsibilities under S.151 and S114 (Chief

Management where
there is a financial
implication

Insurances MO as Financial Officer).
necessary Enforcement of Financial Regulations
Day to day management of the Internal Audit
function and process.
Manage insurance for the Council, its property
and employees.
4.7.2 Chief Executive
Day to day management of the Corporate Risk
Register.
Service Level Risks.
4.8 Asset Register Property 4.8.1 Executive Directors
(financial implications) Services Day to day financial management of the Asset
Manager / CFO | Register, and matters arising therefrom.
4.9 Community Asset 4.9.1 Chief Executive
Register Retention of the Community Asset Register.
4.10 Performance ED 4.10.1 Executive Directors & CFO

Implementation of performance management
reviews and production of performance
management information.

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




0€

Portfolio Holder Functions Portfolio Holder Officer Delegations Limits on

Consultations delegation
5 Environment 5.1 Policies and ED 5.1.1 Executive Directors
strategies relating to: Day to day management.
Environmental Strategy,
contaminated land, water
quality/usage.

5.2 Control of noise, 5.2.1 Executive Directors
odour, light, dust, smoke Day to day management.
and other pollutants,

Public Health.

Land drainage and
sewerage issues.
Planning and Licensing
consultations regarding
the above.

Waste Management
enforcement.

Building Act 1984 and
Housing Acts as relevant
to environmental health.
5.3 All aspects of 5.3.1 Executive Directors
Recycling and refuse Day to day management.
collection including waste
minimisation and

composting

5.4 Energy strategy and ED 5.4.1 Executive Directors

issues Monitoring of energy efficiency measures to
Council buildings.

5.5 Street Lighting 5.5.1 Executive Directors

Day to day management of the Council’s

Cttee/Constitution
Scheme Delegation June 21



T€

street lighting.

5.6 Food

5.6.1 Executive Directors
Day to day management of the food related
services.

5.7 Licensing Policies

5.7.1 Executive Directors

Day to day implementation of the Licensing
Policies and associated matters including
signature and service of all notices under the
relevant legislation including any and all
enforcement.

5.8 Health and Safety
where not as the
employer

5.8.1 Executive Directors

Approval of Health and Safety Inspectors
under the relevant legislation.

Day to day responsibility of the Health and
Safety process where not as the employer
including the signature and service of all
notices under the relevant legislation.

5.9 To carry out the
Council’s functions as a
Port Health Authority

5.9.1 Executive Directors
To carry out the day to day functions of the
Port Health Authority.

5.10 Biodiversity, Local
character

5.10.1 Executive Directors
Day to day management.

5.11 Policies relating to
air quality

5.11.1 Executive Directors
Day to day management.

5.12 Climate Change
Policies

5.12.1 CEX and Executive Directors

Day to day management and development of
policy.

Ensure executive decisions are taken in
accordance with the law and financial and

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




(A

policy guidelines.

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




€€

Portfolio Functions Portfolio Officer Delegations Limits on
Holder Holder Delegation
Consultations

6 Corporate 6.1 Cemeteries and 6.1.1 Executive Directors

Services Crematorium The day to day management of the Council’s
cemeteries and crematorium and the granting of
exclusive burial rights.

6.2 Car Parking 6.2.1 Executive Directors

Day to day administration of Council owned car
parks in the Borough, including amendments to
Car Parking Orders in consultation with portfolio
holder.

6.2.2 Executive Directors

Day to day operation of parking enforcement
carried out on behalf of third parties.

6.2.3 Executive Directors

Management Responsibility for civil parking
enforcement.

6.3 CCTV 6.3.1 Executive Directors

Day to day management of the CCTV function
6.4 King’s Court, Office Property 6.4.1 Executive Directors

and Depot Services Day to day facilities management of King’s
Accommodation Manager Court and any other office and Depot
accommodation operated by the Council.

6.5 Town Hall Complex 6.5.1 Executive Directors

Day to day management of the complex.

6.6 Community Centres WM 6.6.1 Through ALIVE West Norfolk- Executive
Directors

Management and Maintenance of the fabric of
the buildings.

6.6.2 Executive Directors

Operational Management of miscellaneous
community centres.

Cttee/Constitution
Scheme Delegation June 21



ve

6.7 ICT and the web site | ED 6.7.1 Executive Directors
Day to day management of the service.
6.8 Public conveniences | WM 6.8.1 Executive Directors
Management and maintenance of the Council’s
public conveniences.
6.9 Parks, Gardens and WM, ED 6.9.1 Executive Directors
amenity areas including Day to day management of such facilities
play areas and allotments including exclusion of persons as necessatry.
6.10 Resort and Seafront | WM, ED 6.10.1 Executive Directors

Management

Day to day management of resorts and seafront.

6.11 Street Scene and
public cleansing

6.11.1 Executive Directors
Day to day management.

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




Ge

Portfolio
Holder

7 People and
Communities

Functions

7.1 Housing Strategies
and Associated Policies

Portfolio Holder
Consultations

Officer Delegations

7.1.1 Chief Executive and Housing Services
Manager

Day to day delivery of housing and homeless
strategies and policies including administration
of the Council’s Housing policies.

7.2 Housing Register

7.2.1 Chief Executive and Housing Services
Manager

Management of Housing Register in accordance
with policy and nominations of households to
Registered Providers.

7.3 Homelessness

7.3.1 Chief Executive and Housing Services
Manager
Exercise of homelessness functions.

7.4 Housing Standards in
the Private Sector

7.4.1 Chief Executive and Executive
Directors

Day to day delivery of housing standards role
including housing enforcement and compliance
functions.

7.5 Houses in Multiple
Occupation (HMO)

7.5.1 Chief Executive and Executive
Directors

Grant, renew and revoke all licences and issues
under the relevant housing legislation.

7.6 Loans and grants for
housing

CFO

7.6.1 Chief Executive and Executive
Directors

Approval/refusal/withdrawal and authorisation of
renovation grant scheme payments.

7.7 Home
Improvement Agency,
Care and Repair and
associated operations

7.7.1 Executive Directors

Day to day management of the Home
Improvement Agency, Care and Repair and
associated operations and Careline.

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21

Delegation




9€

and Careline

7.8 Residential Caravan
Site Licensing

7.8.1 Chief Executive and Executive
Directors

To grant, transfer or revoke licenses and
exercise of duties in relation to residential
caravans.

7.9 Social Inclusion

7.9.1 Executive Directors
Day to day management.

7.10 Gypsy, Roma and WM 7.10.1 Chief Executive

Travellers Exercise of function.
Dealing with unauthorised encampments.

7.11 Housing benefit, ED 7.11.1 Executive Directors and CFO

welfare benefits and Administration of housing benefit and Council

advice Tax benefit and discretionary housing payments.
Collect, administer, demand and recover
Council Tax and National Non Domestic Rate
precepts and any other Tax or Charge levied by
the Council. Collection of rents.

7.12 Health improvement 7.12.1 Executive Directors

and promotion including Day to day management.

public health and

community care and Lily

7.13 Local Health 7.13.1 Chief Executive

Partnerships

7.14 Development and 7.14.1 Executive Directors

promotion of cycling

related matters

7.15 Leisure, and Green ED 7.15.1 Executive Directors

Spaces policies and
strategies

Day to day operation of the policies.

7.16 Community
Safety/Neighbourhood

7.16.1 Executive Directors
General day to day management of the

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




LE

nuisance service

community safety service and compliance with
any legislative provisions relating to crime,
disorder and nuisance.

Investigations, authorisations and interventions
relating to anti-social behaviour including service
of notices, warrants and any other statutory
enforcement.

7.17 West Norfolk
Partnership

ED

7.17.1 Executive Directors
Management of the Council’s involvement in the
Partnership.

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




Portfolio
Holder

Functions

Portfolio
Holder

Officer Delegation Limits on

Delegation

8 Property

8¢

8.1 Management of the
Industrial Estates

Consultations

8.1.1 Executive Directors

Day to day management of the process
Management of Council Industrial Estates
interests together with the ability to authorise all
related transactions at market rent/value. Subject
to:

e Acquisition or disposal of freehold land up
to £100,000.

e Acquisition or disposal of leasehold land up
to an annual rental value of £100,000.*

e Discharge or relaxation of freehold or
leasehold covenants.

¢ Determine all applications for the
assignment of lease agreements**.

e To approve or refuse applications to the
Council as Landlord for any approval or
consent.

e Authorise non-Housing Act tenancies and
licences.

¢ Authorise the applications to release or
relax restrictive covenants attached to
houses formally owned by the Council.

8.2 Management of
Ancient Corporate
Estates

8.2.1 Executive Directors
Day to day management of the ancient corporate
estates.

8.3 Property (not
Industrial Estates)

ED PH where
property is in
another portfolio
holder’s
functional area

8.3.1 Executive Directors

Management of Council property interests
together with the ability to authorise all related
property transactions at market rent/value.
Subject to:

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21



6€

e Acquisition or disposal of freehold land up
to £100,000.

e Acquisition or disposal of leasehold land
up to an annual rental value of £100,000.*

e Discharge or relaxation of freehold or
leasehold covenants.

e Determine all applications for the
assignment of lease agreements**.

e To approve or refuse applications to the
Council as Landlord for any approval or
consent

e Authorise non-Housing Act tenancies and
licences.

e Authorise the applications to release or
relax restrictive covenants attached to
houses formally owned by the Council.

CED, PH

* Financial limit not
applicable to
industrial estates
where an unlimited
rental is allowed.

** except where
residential element.

CED
C ED, PH, WM

CED, PH

8.4 Bus Shelters

8.4.1 Executive Directors
Day to day management.

8.5 Asset Register Property 8.5.1 Executive Directors
Services Day to day financial management of the Asset
Manager Register, and matters arising therefrom.

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




oy

9 Council

Functions

9.1 The Constitution.

9.2 Adopting the Council’s
Policy Framework and
determining matters
involving a change or
deviation from approved
policy.

9.3 Approving the Council’s
position relating to local
government boundaries,
electoral divisions or
number of Council
Members.

9.4 By-law creating and
management and
promotion or making of
local Acts.

9.5 Determining matters
referred to Council by other
bodies.

9.6 Appointments (staff
and Members)

9.7 Determining the
Council’'s Executive
Arrangements.

9.8 Appointment of
Honorary Aldermen or
bestowing Freedom of the

Consultations

Officer Delegations
Chief Executive

To act as Head of Paid Service under and for the
purposes of section 4 of the Local Government
and Housing Act 1989 and lead the senior
management team

To act as Electoral Registration Officer and
Returning Officer for all elections, Parish Polls
and Referendums and to take such action as is
necessary to carry out those duties.

D Gates, Executive Director
To act as Deputy Electoral Registration Officer
and Returning Officer

Chief Executive

To act as the Proper Officer for the Council, as
defined by Section 270 (3) Local Government
Act1972

To exercise any power to protect the interests
and well being of the inhabitants of the Borough
and the Council where it is considered necessary
and desirable, in consultation with the Leader of
the Council and the relevant Portfolio Holder and
subject to notification of the relevant decision

Limits on

_delegation

C —Cabinet as soon
as reasonably
practical and report
to Council at next
meeting

Consultation with
the Leader and
Cabinet Member for
Personnel.

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21



1%

Borough.

making body

Staff Restructuring within budget including staff
redundancies

Day to day management of the Council’s
democratic processes.
Member Substitutions at meetings

Following resignation from a Council body,
substitution of Members from same political group
onto the Body for the remainder of the year.

Replacement/substitution of members on Outside
Bodies.

Executive Directors

Day to day management of personnel function
within the Council, including development of
appropriate protocols in accordance with policy
across the Council, including pay award
negotiation, performance related pay, honoraria
(as advised by Service managers or
Management Team in the case of service head or
above), leave arrangements, recruitment
arrangements, disciplinary arrangements
including suspension of
service/compromise/termination arrangements,

-Subject to
notification from
Group Leader or
individual member

-Subject to
notification from
Group Leader and
agreement of CE.

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




A%

retirement arrangements, implementation of job
evaluation.

Variation and termination of employment
contracts, extension of service following
retirement age, suspension, confirmation of
employment following completion of probationary
period.

Appointment of Temporary employees for up to
12 months (PG6-13)

Authorisation of payment of loans, pay in lieu,
allowances, compensation and grants etc to staff
and waiver of such repayments or payments due
in appropriate cases in accordance with policy

Designation and associated work related to
casual/essential user car allowances/
loans/hiring.

Development of necessary protocols in
accordance with overall legislation/policy

9.10 Statutory Functions

Monitoring Officer

To maintain and update a list of statutory
provisions under which the Council acting through
any Executive Director may exercise powers
devolved to the Council

Authorise, a prosecution, rights of entry, the
commencement, defence or settlement of any
legal proceedings brought by or against the

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




ev

Council, except in the case of Health and Safety
at work prosecutions taken under the act or
regulations made under the Act when the power
to issue legal proceedings is given to the Health
and Safety Inspectors be authorised under the
relevant Health and Safety legislation.

To act as Monitoring Officer (Local Government &
Housing Act 1989), Registrar of Local Land Charges,
Authorised Officer (under the Regulation of Investigatory
Powers Act 2000), Parish Trustee.

To Act as Money Laundering Officer (Proceeds of
Crime Act 1995)

Sign and serve any notice, order or document or
act as proper officer Local Government legislation
where no other officer is currently appointed.

To affix and attest the common seal of the
Council where the common seal is required
pursuant to any decision of the Council.

Assistant Director Resources

To act as Chief Financial Officer under S.114 of
the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and
S.151 of the Local Government Act 1972

Chief Executive
Authorised Officer under the Regulation of
Investigatory Powers Act

To exercise the delegated powers of any

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




144

Executive Director where they are absent for any
reason or the post is vacant.

Officers identified in the Council’'s Scheme of
Delegation are permitted to authorise other
officers to exercise delegated function, unless
specifically (whether by statute or otherwise)
prohibited from doing so.

*excluding any
action involving the
commencement of
civil or criminal
proceedings
(delegated to LSM)

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




17

10 Cabinet

Functions

Individual delegations set
out as per Portfolios above.

10.1 Make
recommendations to
Council on corporate
strategic and service
policies and the detailed
implementation of those
policies

10.2 Delivery of Services
within the approved policy
and budgetary framework
and reviewing the
operational framework
functions and resources
within it. Virement of funds
in accordance with
Financial Regulations
10.3 Monitoring of the
Councils Resources, make
recommendations to
Council on the overall
Budget, Council Tax, and
carry out any consultation
required.

10.4 To exercise any
Executive function duty,
action or power which is

Consultations

Delegations to
individual portfolio
holders apply
equally to the
Cabinet as a
whole

Report to Council

Rec to Council

Officer Delegations

Delegations as set out in portfolio groups

Limits on

Delegation

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21



o

not delegated to any other
Council Body in order to
protect the Council’s
interests.

10.5 Appoint
representatives to Outside
Bodies where they are
Executive appointments.
10.6 Refer any matter to
Council for consideration.
10.7 Commission
Research into any matter
or hold an enquiry into a
particular issue or issues
relating to the Borough or
the Council at their
discretion.

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




LY

Functions Consultations Officer Delegations Limits
delegation
11 Licensing [11.1 To decide on|ED Executive Directors
and Appeals | Licensing applications To administer and decide on Licensing | Where irresolvable
Committee including under the applications under the Relevant legislation | objections/representa
and Sub- | Licensing Act 2003 where where no objections have been made or have | tions made - LAC
Committees objections have been been withdrawn.
thereof. received, applications to
review premises
licence/club premises
certificate and whether to
object to licenses when
Authority is a consultee. Executive Directors
11.2 To decide on|ED To administer and determine Gambling Act
applications under the applications where no objections have been
Gambling Act 2005. made or have been withdrawn.
12 Licensing [ 12.1 To decide on Executive Directors
and Appeals | appeals/disciplinary Approval of applications for hackney
Board and | matters for hackney carriages and private hire vehicle driver
Panels carriages and private hire licences except those falling within the
thereof. vehicle driver licences and categories in paragraphs (i) to (v) below,

Homelessness appeals
and staffing appeals

when they will go to the Licensing and
Appeals Board or panels thereof:-

M Applications which disclose that
the applicant has been
convicted of an offence
involving indecency or violence;

(i) Applications which disclose that
the applicant has been

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




114

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

convicted of an offence
involving dishonesty or drugs;
Applications which disclose that
the applicant has been
convicted of an offence under
the provisions of the Town
Police Clauses Act 1847 or the
Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act
1976;

Applications which disclose that
the applicant has been
convicted of an offence relating
to the driving or ownership of a
motor vehicle and has more
than six penalty points on
his/her licence;

Applications which disclose that
the applicant has committed a
breach of, or failed to comply
with, the terms of an existing or
previous hackney carriage or
private hire licence.

To approve applications for hackney carriage
and private hire drivers licences that fall within
any of the categories set out in paragraphs (i)
to (v) of the preceding paragraph if in the
opinion of the Executive Director — G Hall,
any offence by the applicant is so minor or
irrelevant as to have no proper bearing on the
determination of the application.

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




6v

Consultation with
Chr & V Chr and
post decision to
L&A Board for info

Road Traffic legislation - to “suspend or
revoke a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire
driver’s licence with immediate effect where
the Licensing Authority are of the opinion that
the interests of public safety require such
course of action 21.3.13 LeAs

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21




0S

13
Appointments
Board/Investig
ating and
Disciplinary
Committee

Functions

13.1 Full Board to
appoint Chief Executive
13.2 Panels of Board to
appoint Chief Officers
13.3 Panels of Board
appoint Independent and
Parish Council members
of the Standards
Committee*

13.4 Panels of the Board
appoint members to the
Independent Allowances
Panel

13.5 To consider
complaints against
statutory officers.

Consultations

Cabinet

Cabinet & CE

*Chair/Vice-Chair
of Standards
Committee

Officer Delegations Limits on

delegation

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21



TS

14 Standards
Committee

Functions

14.1 Promote high

standards of conduct within

the Council

14.2 Monitor the
implementation and
operation of the Codes of
Conduct for Members,
officers and towns &
parishes and confidential
reporting codes, including
development of protocols
14.3 As a whole or in a
Panel of the Committee to
determine complaints
made regarding breaches
of the Code of Conduct

Consultations Officer Delegations Limits on

MO

delegation

Monitoring Officer

On behalf of the Committee to administer the
local assessment of complaints and carry out
investigations on complaints made under the
Code of Conduct.

To provide advice to Members and Towns &
Parishes including Clerks and Members on
aspects of the Code

Cttee/Constitution

Scheme Delegation June 21



Agenda Item 11

Borough Council of
King’s Lynn & %
West Norfolk

REPORT TO CABINET

Open

Any especially
affected
Wards

ALL

Mandatory

Would any decisions proposed:

Be entirely within Cabinet’s powers to decide:
Need to be recommendations to Council:

Is it a Key Decision?

Lead Member: ClIr Richard Blunt

E-mail: clir.richard.blunt@west-norfolk.gov.uk

Other Cabinet Members consulted: All

Other Members consulted: Local Plan Task Group

Lead Officer: Alan Gomm

E-mail: alan.gomm@west-norfolk.gov.uk

Direct Dial:01553 616237

Other Officers consulted:
Management Team

Financial
Implications

NO

Policy/
Personnel
Implications

NO

Statutory
Implications

YES

Equality
Impact
Assessment
NO

Risk
Management
Implications
YES

Environme
ntal
Considerati
ons

YES

Date of meeting:

15 June 2021

LOCAL PLAN REVIEW DRAFT FOR PRE-SUBMISSION CONSULTATION

Summary

A draft Local Plan has been prepared by a review of the adopted Core

Strategy and Site Allocations and Development Management Policies
documents. It incorporates the latest housing requirements and other

research.

Recommendations that:

1. The Council approves the draft Local Plan Review for pre-submission

consultation.

2. Following that consultation the Council agrees to submit the Local Plan

Review.

3. The final pre-submission version of the document and methods of public
consultation be agreed by the Executive Director Planning and Environment in

consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Development.

4. The Council notes the updated Local Development Scheme timetable.

Reason for Decision

To consult on a draft Local Plan Review, and ensure an efficient process is
used to gauge public opinion.

1. Background
1.1 Our current Local Plan consists of two separate documents, the Core
Strategy (adopted in 2011) and the Site Allocations and Development

52




Management Policies plan (‘SADMP’ adopted in 2016). When the Inspector
agreed the SADMP document and modifications he added a policy which
proposed an early review of the Plan. The document presented to this
meeting is a draft plan which combines and updates the Core Strategy and
SADMP taking the end date to 2036.

1.2 This is the second stage in the preparation of a new plan, producing a
plan for publication that the Council wishes to adopt and against which
representations can be made.

1.3 A simplified flow chart shows the broad stages:

i : » Formulate initial aims and objectives
1. Initial gvudence « Begin evidence gathering
LU EURE . Notify relevant consultation bodies and those
consultation carrying on business in the area and invite them to
make representations

¢ Local Plan is formally published for a minimum of six -

weeks for representations to be made

T * Local Plan, representations and other required
3. Submission documents are submitted to the Planning h
Inspectorate. Inspectorate arrange for the Local

Plan to be scrutinised through an examination by an
independent inspector.

* Inspector writes a report setting out whether the

4. Found sound Local Plan is sound and satisfies legal requirements.
If the Local Plan is not sound, the local planning
authority can ask the inspector to recommend
modifications to make it sound.

: » |f the inspector recommends that the Local Plan

5. Adoption may be adopted, the local planning authority may
formally adopt it (usually by a vote in full Council).
Once adopted, it is part of the development plan for
the local area.

2. Publication

Our formal Local Development Scheme (the proposed timetable for preparing
the document) sets out the more detailed stages and dates. It can be found
via the following link:

https://www.west-

norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local plan/500/local_development _sche
me

The programme has changed since this was last updated so an amended
table is attached to bring this up to date (Appendix X).

2. Background work so far

53


https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan/500/local_development_scheme
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan/500/local_development_scheme
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan/500/local_development_scheme

2.1 Following consultation on the initial draft local plan review document in
2019 the Local Plan Task Group has considered large amounts of material as
part of the review of the two current local plan documents. This has included:

e Comments made and suggested responses

e Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of sites and policies

e Housing Land supply material (including a Housing and Economic
Land Availability Assessment, trajectory, Housing Delivery Action Plan
and progress on site completions)

e Brownfield Register content

e Revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and associated
Government advice including housing requirements (various iterations
and consultations)

e Annual monitoring material and reports

e Strategic Flood Risk Assessments (SFRA) (Level 1 and Level 2)

e Norfolk Strategic Planning Framework (NSPF) and other duty to co-
operate/statement of common ground items across the county
(including county wide assessment of recreational pressures on Natura
2000 conservation sites).

e Work by Neighbourhood Plan groups.

2.3 All of this material has been reviewed and informed the Task Group’s
proposals for the content of the Publication Pre-Submission Review
document.

2.4 Regulations 19 and 20 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)
(England) Regulations 2012 cover this next stage in plan preparation as noted
in the schematic above. Having had the Task Group consider the material
noted above and through them formulated a revised document it is now
appropriate to publish it and seek formal representations from the public,
businesses and other interested parties. Cabinet is being asked to make this
decision having regard to the consultation responses to the SA/Strategic
Environmental Assessment (SEA) and with reference to the Habitat
Regulations Assessment (HRA).

2.5 The Background Papers section lists the individual documents which will
be available as part of the consultation process.

3. Main changes from consultation version

3.1 The Review document builds on policies in the Core Strategy and SADMP
and the following are the main or most significant changes made from the
consultation version of the LPR/current plans (references are given to
chapter/policy numbers as appropriate).

Change from consultation draft | Referencein document
policy/clarification or updating for

Review

Incorporating the latest local housing | Section 4.1.2 - 4.1.11, and Policy
need figure into the Plan. LPO1

A new climate change policy Section 4.6, Policy LP06

54




A new policy for the AONB

Section 6.2, Policy LP16

Splitting the environmental assets
policy into 2 policies for natural
environment and historic environment

Section 6.5 and 6.6, policies LP19
and 20

New housing policies for elderly
people and specialist care
accommodation and adaptable and
accessible homes

Section 7.3 and 7.4, policies LP29
and 30

Deleting the King’s Lynn Town Centre
Retail Expansion Area policy

Section 9.1.2

Proposing the allocation of an
additional site at Estuary Road for
employment use

Section 5.1, Policy LP07, Section 9.1,
Policy LP38 and Section 9.1.13,
Policy E1.12

Removing sites previously allocated

Sections 11.2 and 12

in the Adopted SADMP at Knights Hill
and proposed for allocation in the
draft LPR document at Watlington,
Burnham  Market, Clenchwarton,
Docking, East Rudham, Emneth,
Marshland St James, Middleton,
Southery, Stoke Ferry, Tilney St
Lawrence (2 sites), Walpole St
Andrew and West Walton.

Moving Ashwicken from the Rural
Village to the Smaller Villages and
Hamlets category

Section 15 and individual maps

3.2 However, whilst these are the more significant changes there are other
changes which people may consider significant in a local context, and several
policy wordings differ from the earlier version of the document, although the
thrust of policy is largely unaltered.

3.3 The full document is available (together with the supporting material) via
the following link and a summary is attached as Appendix XX:

Emerging Local Plan review 2016-2036 | Emerging Local Plan review 2016-2036 | Borough
Council of King's Lynn & West Norfolk (west-norfolk.gov.uk)

4. Consultation process

4.1 A report on the communication strategy for this stage of the plan process
was considered by the Corporate Performance Panel on 6 January 2021
(Minutes CP199). The Panel endorsed the report and the suite of measures
proposed to maximise exposure of the Local Plan review with members,

55



https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan_review/896/emerging_local_plan_review_2016-2036
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan_review/896/emerging_local_plan_review_2016-2036

town/parish councils, local communities and others. The main elements of the
consultation process are intended to be:

Web version of the Local Plan | Using our ‘Objective’ consultation
Review document with ability to make | system to enable easy entry of
representations against particular | representations and later analysis

paragraphs, policies or proposals

Updated online interactive map Easy access, map-based version of
the plan

E-mail notification of consultees; | Wide naotification of the fact that the
parish and town councils; other |LPR is at pre-submission stage and

interested parties response/clarification opportunities

Virtual briefings for parish and town | To enable targeted

councils and the KLACC guestioning/explanation on significant
subjects.

Media/Press event via Zoom/Teams | To ensure wider awareness in the
to be hosted by the Portfolio Holder | local area

and Planning Policy Manager and
Team Members

4.2 In view of the current circumstances relating to the Pandemic briefings will
have to be virtual conducted over Zoom. In terms of timescale, we would aim
to start the consultation as soon as practical after Council (8 July) to finish by
mid-late September (minimum 6 weeks required by the regulations). Given
the current context of a Global Pandemic, it is proposed to have a longer
period than the minimum for representations to be made and it is felt that 8
weeks would be appropriate. Statutory consultees will be informed of the
publication in advance, as will non-statutory consultees. This will include
town/parish councils, agents, developers, and those who have indicated they
wish to be notified, such as people who have commented at earlier stages or
proposed a site for allocation. The Council will also publish a statement of
representations, as required by the regulations, which sets out how
representations can be made, where documents can be viewed, and what
period of time representations will be accepted.

Beyond Council agreement to ‘Publish’

4.3 Unlike earlier stages in plan preparation such as the draft consultation
on the Local Plan review in 2019, or the issues and options and preferred
options consultations for the SADMP, this is not a consultation. As such the
Borough Council are not looking to gain as many views as possible which
would inform the next stage of plan preparation. This is a publication of the
Local Plan review which the Borough Council wishes to adopt.

4.4  Those making a representation will be asked if they consider the Local
Plan review is ‘Sound’ or not. The test of soundness for a Local Plan are:

e Is it positively prepared? Meets the local housing need as a minimum,
informed by agreements with other authorities, and achieves
sustainable development

e Is it justified? Is it an appropriate strategy, which is based upon
proportionate evidence?

56




e Is it effective? Is it deliverable and is there evidence of effective joint
working on cross boundary strategic matters?

e |Is it consistent with national policy? Does it enable the delivery of
sustainable development in accordance with the NPPF?

4.5 Representations are collected by the Borough Council and then
alongside the Local Plan review, and the suite of supporting documents,
submitted to the Secretary of State (SoS) for examination.

4.6 The SoS will appoint an Independent Inspector from the Planning
Inspectorate. From this point onwards we will be in their hands, as they will
conduct the formal examination, choose what questions to ask of the Borough
Council, holding hearing sessions in public and invite those who made
representations to appear, should they wish and at the Inspector’s discretion.

4.7  The conclusion of the examination will hopefully be that the Borough
Council can adopt the Local Plan review as submitted, albeit it is likely with
some recommended modifications from the Inspector arising from the
examination process.

5. Options Considered

5.1 The SA considers a series of potential alternative approaches and shows
the advantages and disadvantages of these.

6. Policy Implications

6.1 In broad terms the Local Plan Review keeps most of the existing planning
policy from the Core Strategy and SADMP. The main changes are outlined
above in paragraph 3.1. In summary the more significant changes to policy
are around:
e An explicit ‘Growth Corridor’ is proposed south from (but including)
King’s Lynn along the A10.
e The overall rate of growth in housing is less than that previously.
e More scope is provided for potential small-scale housing development
beyond development boundaries.
These changes are considered to be in line with the revised NPPF and reflect
Borough Council aspirations.

7. Financial Implications

7.1 None specifically.

8. Policy/Personnel Implications
8.1 None specifically.

9. Statutory Considerations

9.1 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations
2012 Regulations 19 and 20 outline the requirements for the consultation, etc.

57



The wider plan preparation process is covered in the Regulations and in

practice guidance from Government.
10. Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)

10.1 Attached.

11. Risk Management Implications

11.1 There are two particular issues that result in risks:

1. The Government has significantly increased the potential penalties

for not delivering housing growth to the required scale.

We have

previously been tested against 5-year housing supply targets and the

Government has added a test of Housing Delivery.
2. We must keep our Local Plan up to date.

There are potential

interventions if an authority is looking to rely on older policies and

allocations.

12. Environmental Considerations

12.1 The plan review is a statement of the Council’s planning policies
relating to environmental matters (also economic and social) and is subject to
a strategic environmental assessment and sustainability appraisal process.

13. Declarations of Interest/Dispensations Granted
13.1 None.

14. Background Papers

(Definition: Unpublished work relied on to a material extent in preparing the report that
disclose facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the report is based. A
copy of all background papers must be supplied to Democratic Services with the report for

publishing with the agenda)

The Town and Country Planning (Local
Regulations 2012

Planning) (England)

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uks
i/2012/767/contents/made

Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (2019) &

Proposed pre-submission Local

Update/appendices (2020) Plan Review documents |

Proposed pre-submission Local
Habitat Regulations Assessment (2021) Plan Review documents |
Local Plan Review Viability Study (2021) Borough Council of King's Lynn &
Housing Needs Study (HNA) (2020) West Norfolk (west-

Report for Norfolk Councils - Study of Retirement Housing: Demand
and Planning Issues (2020)

Gypsy & Traveller Needs Assessment (2016) & (2020)

Green Infrastructure (Gl) and Recreational impact Avoidance &
Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) (2021)

Norfolk Strategic Planning Framework Health Protocol - Planning in
Health (2019)

norfolk.gov.uk)

58



https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036/882/proposed_pre-submission_local_plan_review_documents

Norfolk and Suffolk Coastal Authorities Statement of Common Ground
Coastal Zone Planning

Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan

Custom and Self-Build Action Plan
and
Custom and Self-Build Demand Assessment Framework (2018)

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) (inc. SEA) Scoping Report (2019); SA
(inc. SEA) 2020 Scoping Report; local plan review SA (inc. SEA);
statutory responses to SA scoping report update 2020; SA/SEA
responses to 2019 Draft SA/SEA documents

Housing Trajectory 2019/20 & 5-Year Housing Land Supply; Housing
Delivery Test Action Plan (August 2019 and April 2020)

Authority Monitoring Reports (AMR) published annually.

Reviews of employment and retail research — 2017

Strategic Flood Risk Assessments (Level 1 and Level 2)

Norfolk Strategic Planning Framework and other duty to co-
operate/statement of common ground items across the county.

Countywide assessment of recreational pressures on Natura 2000
conservation sites

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)

Duty to Cooperate (DTC) document (2021)

Statement of Community Engagement (2021)

Document can only be concluded
at submission

Natura 2000 (Habitat) Sites Monitoring & Mitigation Strategy

Developer contributions
documents | Borough Council of
King's Lynn & West Norfolk (west-
norfolk.gov.uk)

Work by Neighbourhood Plan groups (draft and ‘made’ neighbourhood
plans).

https://www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/info/20127/neighbo
urhood plans

Local Development Scheme (LDS) (2021)

Local Development Scheme |
Local Development Scheme |
Borough Council of King's Lynn &
West Norfolk (west-
norfolk.gov.uk)

Brownfield Register

https://www.west-

norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/plannin

g policy/617/brownfield reqgister

NPPF and associated Government advice
requirements (various iterations and consultations)

including housing

https://www.gov.uk/government/p

ublications/national-planning-

59



https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/downloads/download/359/developer_contributions_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/downloads/download/359/developer_contributions_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/downloads/download/359/developer_contributions_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/downloads/download/359/developer_contributions_documents
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20127/neighbourhood_plans
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20127/neighbourhood_plans
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20127/neighbourhood_plans
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan_review/500/local_development_scheme
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan_review/500/local_development_scheme
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan_review/500/local_development_scheme
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan_review/500/local_development_scheme
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20214/emerging_local_plan_review/500/local_development_scheme
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy/617/brownfield_register
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy/617/brownfield_register
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy/617/brownfield_register
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2

| policy-framework--2

60


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2

Pre-Screening Equality Impact
Assessment

Borough Col
King’s L
West N

Name of policy/service/function

Local Plan Review

Is this a new or existing policy/ service/function?

Existing

Brief summary/description of the main aims of the
policy/service/function being screened.

Please state if this policy/service rigidly
constrained by statutory obligations

Policies to deal with new development in the Borough to
2036. Housing; employment; heritage; environment and
infrastructure are covered.

Question Answer
1. Is there any reason to believe that the
policy/service/function could have a specific © g = ®
|mpac_t on people from one or more of .the E= S = 2
following groups according to their different g 1212 |5
protected characteristic, for example, because
they have particular needs, experiences, issues or | A9€ X
priorities or in terms of ability to access the Disability X
service?
Gender X
Gender Re-assignment X
Please tick the relevant box for each group. . — -
Marriage/civil partnership X
Pregnancy & maternity X
NB. Equality neutral means no negative impact on Race "
any group.
Religion or belief X
Sexual orientation X
Other (e.g., low income) X
Question Answer Comments

2. Is the proposed policy/service likely to affect
relations between certain equality communities or
to damage relations between the equality
communities and the Council, for example
because it is seen as favouring a particular
community or denying opportunities to another?

¥es/ No Policies relate to efficient land use and not
specific policies about different
communities. For example, housing deals
with scale and location, but does supply
facility for affordable housing.

3. Could this policy/service be perceived as
impacting on communities differently?

¥es-/ No As above

4. |Is the policy/service specifically designed to
tackle evidence of disadvantage or potential
discrimination?

¥es/ No | Although within the limits of legislation and
practice certain aspects such as affordable
housing are covered.

5. Are any impacts identified above minor and if
so, can these be eliminated or reduced by minor
actions?

If yes, please agree actions with a member of the
Corporate Equalities Working Group and list
agreed actions in the comments section

¥Yes+/ No Actions:
None

Actions agreed by EWG member:
Claire Dorgan

Assessment completed by:
Name: Alan Gomm

Job title: Planning Policy Manager

Date 20 May 2021

Please Note: If there are any positive or negative impacts identified in question 1, or
there any ‘yes’ responses to questions 2 — 4 a full impact assessment will be required.

61




Local Plan review Programme 2021-2023 (May 2021 Revision

2021 | 2022

Local Plan Jan- |Apr- |Jul- |Oct- |Jan- |Apr- |Jul- |Oct-

Documents Mar [Jun |Sept |Dec |Mar |[Jun |Sept

Local Plan
review

2023

Apr- Jul- |Oct-
Jun |Sept |[Dec

South East
King’s Lynn ¥
SPD

Key Stages of Local Plan Preparation

Regulation

A [Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report Consultation (2016)
B |Development of options — on-
going engagement on issues and emerging options
C [Publish and Consult on draft Local Plan Regulation 18
D |Pre-Submission plan development
E |Pre-Submission publication Regulation 19 & 20
F [Submission of document to Secretary of State Regulation 22
G |[Examination (Including Hearing Sessions) Regulation 24
H |Receipt of Inspector’'s Fact Check Report
| [Receipt of final Inspector’s Report Regulation 25
J |Adoption Regulation 26
Key Stages of the South East Kings Lynn SPD Anticipated time |
1 [|Preparation of initial draft March — May 2021
2 JAgreement by BC to consultation May — June 2021
3 [Consultation process June — August 2021
4 |Redrafting and Agreement by the BC August — September
2021

62




King’s Lynn & West Norfolk Local Plan Review (2016 — 2036) - Summary

1. Local Plan explanation

1.1England runs a plan-led system for land use planning. A Local Plan is the key
document which planning authorities use to make land use planning
decisions. It is a statutory requirement for the starting point for decisions to
be the Local Plan unless material circumstances say otherwise. Planning

regulations require local plans to be reviewed every five years.

1.2Local plans provide a sustainable framework for development in terms of both
housing numbers and location. As a minimum the Local Housing Need (LHN)
must be met. The starting point for this is provided by Government through a
standard method, as outlined in the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) and associated Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). This will usually
be met through allocations of sites for housing and by policies allowing small-
scale development within settlement development boundaries, defined by the
plan. The plan will also have development management policies that guide
development in terms of acceptable locations, design, and protection of the
natural and historic environment. It will also have policies to guide and

support the local economy.

2. Current Local Plan

2.1 The Borough Council (BC) already has an adopted Local Plan in place. This
includes two documents - the Core Strategy (CS) (2011) and the Site
Allocations and Development Management Policies Plan (SADMP) (2016). It
is in two parts as this was the process at that time. It covers the period from
2001 to 2026. The CS gives the overall strategic approach and the SADMP

gives further detail to ensure this can take place.

3. The Need for an up-to-date Local Plan

3.1 During the last examination process the BC agreed to update its Local Plan at
once and look over the longer term from 2016 to 2036. This would ensure
that planning policies are up to date, based upon the latest evidence, and

provide all with a degree of certainty in relation to planning decisions.

1|Page
63



3.2The Government has a policy ambition for 300,000 new homes to be built
each year by the mid 2020’s. This is driving changes to the planning system
and means that the BC must play their part in ensuring the housing need is at
least met locally through an up-to-date Local Plan. Alongside requiring an up-
to-date Local Plan to be in place by the end of 2023, local planning authorities
must also pass two further tests to keep making planning decisions locally.
The first is to be able to show a 5-year housing land supply (i.e., is there
enough housing land within the local planning system for at least 5 years’
worth of building). The second, introduced more recently, is having to ‘pass’
the Housing Delivery Test (has there been enough housing completed within
the area). Failure in any of these elements can result in the policies within the
Local Plan carrying less/limited/no weight in the planning decision-making
process. This could lead to development taking place in less desirable

locations or in a much higher amount than needed.

4. High Level Overview of the Local Plan review

4.1The Local Plan review is exactly that, it is a review, so does not start from
scratch. Many of the existing policies are proposed to be carried forward,
albeit updated where appropriate. This includes most of the housing
allocations made in the 2016 Plan.

4.2The housing need was in the region of 700 new homes being needed each
year in the Borough in 2016. The 2016 Plan supported this. Today the
housing need has reduced to 539 new homes per year (10,780 2016-2036).
This is a significant reduction, especially over a 20-year plan period. The
need was higher at the point when the draft version of the Local Pan review
was consulted upon in 2019, this meant several new draft allocations were
proposed. The housing need has dropped, and these are no longer needed.
This is not surprising as the need has fallen, and the 2016 Plan adopted four
years ago catered for a much higher need. This has resulted in an unusual
situation with no absolute requirement to make any further housing allocations

to meet the Local Housing Need.

2|Page
64



4.3 The Plan’s Vision for King’s Lynn and West Norfolk to 2036 is that:

e People want to be part of the success story that is West Norfolk, drawn here
to live, work, invest, and visit.

e West Norfolk enjoys an unparalleled balance between quality of life and
quality of opportunity with people drawn to the area to take advantage of this.

The overall Vision is supported by a Vision for Places together with 16
Objectives spanning the areas of Economy, Society and Environment.
Visions and Objectives are also set for King's Lynn, Downham Market,
Hunstanton, the Wisbech fringe area, and the rural and coastal areas.

4.4 Other key elements of the Local Plan review are:
e A Strategic Direction of Growth following the Settlement Hierarchy:
King’s Lynn Sub-Regional Centre (including South Wootton and West
Winch), Downham Market, Hunstanton, Wisbech Fringe and Key Rural
Service Centres.
e A Strategic Growth Corridor along the A10 road/main railway line - 70%
of growth is to take place in this corridor.

3|Page
65



. Hunstanton

King’s Lynn

1
1
Watlington
. Marham
1

Downham Market

2,500 new homes in the West Winch Growth Area (4,000 in the
fullness of time).

Deletion of the adopted plan’s Knights Hill allocation for 600 homes
(note that the bulk of this allocation was granted outline planning
permission on appeal in July 2020. The rest has outline permission for
55 houses).

A new Riverside Regeneration Area in King’s Lynn stretching from
South Quay to Southgates, including four existing individual allocations
supporting up to 170 houses in total.

Two new Growth Key Rural Service Centres at Marham and Watlington
near the A10/main railway line Strategic Growth Corridor.

4|Page
66



A new policy on climate change — requiring developers to illustrate how
what they are proposing is sustainable development and supports the
mitigation of and adaptation to climate change.

A new policy for the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).

A framework to allow ‘windfall’ development (i.e., that not specifically
allocated in the Plan), such as re-development within development
boundaries and sensitive infilling and rounding off outside of them.
Settlement boundaries defined for all smaller villages and hamlets to
help with the implementation of the infilling and rounding off policy.
Polices to provide affordable housing, housing for elderly people and
those who need specialist care, accessible and adaptable homes and
to support people to build their own homes (custom and self-build
housing).

Separate policies for the protection and enhancement of the natural

and historic environment, previously combined into one policy.

S5|Page
67



Local Plan Review Diagram

6|Page
68



Agenda Item 12

REPORT TO CABINET

Open Would any decisions proposed:
Any especially | Mandatory Be entirely within Cabinet’s powers to decide:  YES
affected Need to be recommendations to Council: NO
Wards

Is it a Key Decision: YES

Lead Member: ClIr Richard Blunt Other Cabinet Members consulted: ClIr Paul Kunes

E-mail: clir.richard.blunt@west-norfolk.gov.uk Other Members consulted:

Lead Officer: Alan Gomm Other Officers consulted:
E-mail: alan.gomm@west-norfolk.gov.uk

Direct Dial: 01553 616237

Financial Policy/ Statutory Equal Impact Risk Environmental
Implications Personnel Implications Assessment NO | Management Considerations
YES Implications YES Implications YES

YES YES

Date of meeting: 15 June 2021

Norfolk Green Infrastructure (Gl) and Recreational impact Avoidance
and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS)

Summary

To provide a strategy to manage the potential impacts of recreational visitors
to designated Natura 2000 wildlife sites.

Recommendation

1) That the Norfolk Green Infrastructure (Gl) and Recreational impact
Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) is approved to assist in the
implementation of the existing adopted Local Plan and to support the
current Local Plan Review.

2) to delegate authority for implementation of the GIRAMS to the
Executive Director, Development Services in consultation with the
Portfolio Holder - Development.

Reason for Decision

To support the Local Plan process and meet our statutory requirements in
respect of the Habitat Regulations.

1 Background

1.1 It is a legal requirement that all Local Plans be subject to Habitat
Regulation Assessment (HRA). These Assessments are undertaken to
ensure that the Plan’s policies and proposals will not result in any significant

69




adverse impacts on internationally recognised wildlife sites and, where the
potential for such impacts arises, there is an agreed process of mitigation.
Evidence shows that the proposed housing growth in Norfolk will increase the
number of recreational visitors to many of the important wildlife sites in the
County. If left unmitigated this has the potential to have significant adverse
impacts resulting from recreational disturbance.

1.2 This is an issue which affects all Local Plans in Norfolk and working under
the Duty to Co-operate the member authorities have been considering a
single shared approach to address potential impacts. This report explains the
emerging approach (the development of a Recreational impact Avoidance and
Mitigation Strategy — RAMS).

1.3 In the past, HRAs for Norfolk authorities have concluded that significant
impacts were only likely where protected sites were within, or in close
proximity to, the districts themselves. However, more recent evidence shows
that effects on some sites are likely to arise from developments located
beyond individual authority boundaries and, as it is not possible to rule out
residual effects, a County wide mitigation strategy is desirable.

1.4 A strategy has been produced to support local planning authorities (LPAS)
in Norfolk in their statutory requirement to produce ‘sound’ i.e. legally
compliant Local Plans for their administrative areas and as such form part of
the evidence base for Local Plans. It builds on earlier work by Footprint
Ecology which was principally concerned with showing the number, and
behaviour, of visitors at the designated sites as well as distance travelled, and
frequency of use at different times of the year. As such it helped show the
links between new housing development and recreational use at designated
sites and provides evidence to inform Local Plans including the development
of appropriate policies, monitoring and mitigation measures. A copy of the
Strategy is included at Appendix X.

1.5 The survey data showed the European sites in the County might expect to
see an average of a 14% increase in visitors arising from the combined
residential growth in the County. However, there are variations with the most
marked increase in the Brecks at 30% (Breckland). This is due to a
combination of high levels of growth and short distance travelled to access the
sites. By contrast access to European sites over the remaining locations were
reported as: Valley Fens 28%, Roydon and Dersingham, 15%, The Broads
14%, East Coast 11%, and The Wash, 6%.

1.6 The survey data also showed a range of different use and recreational
draw for the different sites which ranged from recreational walking, dog
walking, to holiday use which accounted for nearly half of all visitors surveyed.
In terms of frequency of use 36% of the people interviewed visited daily, 12%

70



1 to 3 times a week, 24% 1 to 3 times per month, 16% less than once a
month, with 12% first visits.

1.7 Since then the HRA work undertaken for the individual local plans across
Norfolk has identified a common theme regarding the potential for recreational
activities to conflict with the protection objectives of Habitats Sites in and
around Norfolk. This is related to the level of growth in each local plan,
specifically an increase in population resulting from identified new housing
requirements that are within the ‘Zone of Influence’ (ZOl) for likely significant
effects regarding recreational disturbance at Habitats Sites. i.e. the extent to
which residents and visitors will travel to Habitat Sites for recreational
activities.

2. The Strategy

2.1 The Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and
Mitigation Strategy (GIRAMS) is a costed per unit (dwelling/unit of holiday
accommodation) tariff-based strategy that gives a detailed programme of
county wide mitigation measures aimed at delivering the necessary mitigation
to avoid adverse effects on the integrity of the Habitats Sites. It is not
designed to deal with existing recreational impact issues, just that of future
predicted impacts. The Strategy has been prepared in collaboration with all
Norfolk planning authorities including the County Council and Natural
England, with the help of other stakeholders such as the Forestry Commission
and Norfolk Wildlife Trust. Place Services were commissioned to undertake
the detailed work. A steering group including representatives of the local
planning authorities, Norfolk County Council and Natural England guided the
project.

2.2 The strategy proposes three types of mitigation:

« The provision of enhanced green infrastructure on development sites
supporting on-site informal recreation and countryside access.
 Improvements to specifically identified existing visitor destinations which are
not designated as internationally important wildlife sites (funded via tariffs).

« Specific visitor management measures (rangers, signage, car parks, etc.) on
the designated sites (funded via tariffs).

2.3 Contributions towards the Strategy will not remove the need for project
level HRAs to justify individual development proposals and the Strategy
recommends the adoption of a standard templated approach for such
assessments.

2.4 The recommended per dwelling tariff has been calculated based on the
costed package of measures relevant to the impacts and the total number of

71



houses/development still to come forward over the Local Plan(s) period. As
such the approach looks to mitigate the added recreational pressure in a way
that ensures that those responsible for it, pay to mitigate it, at a level
consistent with the level of potential harm and so allows the emerging Plans
that plan for growth to be HRA compliant. The costs are in the region of
£7.9m for the mitigation package which is a planning contribution that must be
paid for each net new dwelling delivered across the districts and
County, this amount to be £185.93. In relation to different Use Class such
as tourism accommodation specialist accommodation and student
accommodation the tariff is split into bed space unit equivalents with the study
recommending developer contributions on a ‘per six bed space ratio’ of the
tariff identified for residential growth. As each LPA is the competent authority
in terms of its own obligations to the HRA, each LPA will be responsible for
collecting the tariff from all qualifying dwellings that fall under its authority and
for monitoring the tariff contributions that they receive from developers.

2.5 In terms of implementation the study recommends that a project Steering
Group is set up of LPA partners and other specialist bodies to manage the
ongoing project and that a project officer be employed to deliver the mitigation
and manage the wardens. Each LPA would pool contributions collected. It is
expected that this next stage of the project will be considered via the existing
Duty to Co-operate Framework and through the Norfolk Strategic Planning
Framework Members Forum.

2.6 Mechanisms already exist for collecting contributions from housing
developments in the form of ‘Section 106’ agreements, ‘Section 111’ (up-front
payment) agreements, or ‘Unilateral Undertakings’. The study recommends
that the Council adopt an approach of both S106 and S111 agreements
recommending that contributions be sought through S106 agreements where
there are other contributions to be collected and through S111 agreements
only where this is the sole developer contribution.

2.7 For the purpose of clarity S111 are legal obligations between developers
and the LPA based around upfront payment at planning application stage,
with monies being returned if an application is later refused. Their use would
allow for determination in the normal time frames and not slow down the
issuing of any decision notice in this regard.

2.8 Without such contributions, planning permission should not be
given as the payment is towards a mitigation package which is required to
make all residential development acceptable in planning terms as per section
106 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act. In King’s Lynn and West
Norfolk a tariff of £50 per dwelling/unit of holiday accommodation has been
charged since 2016 (this increased in April 2021 to £55 through index-linking).

72



The new rate of £185.93 would replace our existing £55 charge following
approval of this Strategy.

3 Options Considered

The Council could continue with its current, individual approach to recreational
mitigation developed at the 2015/16 Local Plan Examination. However, the
strategic mitigation approach advocated in the GIRAMS enables a more
efficient, co-ordinated delivery and avoids ‘displacement’ effects between
local authority areas. This reduces case by case assessment which is
resource heavy for developers, local authorities and statutory consultees and
typically results in limited environmental outcomes when compared with a
more strategic approach such as that being developed.

Having no approach to this issue would risk the legal consequences outlined
at section 8 below.

4 Policy Implications

The Norfolk GIRAMS will support existing policy in the form of the Adopted
Local Plan (Core Strategy and SADMP (Site Allocations & Development
Management Policies)) and the emerging Local Plan Review, which will
combine and update these documents (the Local Plan Review is also
presented for approval on this Cabinet agenda).

5 Financial Implications

Introduction of the Strategy will need new processes for the collection,
spending and monitoring of contributions. This will result in some modest
added costs to the authority which can be recovered from the recommended
tariff payments.

6 Personnel Implications
None.
7 Environmental Considerations

There are opportunities for the strategic mitigation to deliver habitat creation,
integrating GIRAMS with Local Nature Recovery by enhancing biodiversity
beyond designated sites. This would support the Borough Council’s delivery
of wider Net Gain, contributing to the Government's 25-year Plan, the
Environment Bill and Norfolk’s Local Nature Recovery Strategy to collectively
reverse the decline of nature.

8 Statutory Considerations

Habitat assessment is a legal requirement for local plans. The delivery of the
Norfolk GIRAMS will fulfil the Council’s duty to produce a Local Plan which is
legally compliant with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017 (as amended). Natural England expects that under the duty to

73



cooperate Norfolk Authorities will adopt a strategic approach to mitigating
recreational disturbance at designated sites.

9 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)
(Pre screening report template attached)

Attached.

10 Risk Management Implications

Not following HRA requirements risks formal intervention by Natural England.
Natural England would be likely to consider the emerging Local Plan Review
document to be unsound and be unable to support project level development
i.e., the Council may be prevented from approving planning applications for
residential and tourism-related developments.

11 Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted
None.

12 Background Papers

(Definition: Unpublished work relied on to a material extent in preparing the report that
disclose facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the report is based. A
copy of all background papers must be supplied to Democratic Services with the report for
publishing with the agenda)

74



Pre-Screening Equality Impact
Assessment

Borough Council of

King’s Lynn & %4
West Norfolk M}

Name of policy/service/function

Norfolk Green Infrastructure (Gl) and Recreational
impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS)

Is this a new or existing policy/
service/function?

New

Brief summary/description of the main
aims of the policy/service/function being
screened.

Please state if this policy/service is rigidly
constrained by statutory obligations

To provide a strategy to manage the potential

impacts of recreational visitors to designated Natura

2000 wildlife sites. This Strategy will enable the

Council to meet its statutory requirements regarding

habitat regulations.

Question

Answer

1. Is there any reason to believe that the
policy/service/function could have a
specific impact on people from one or
more of the following groups according to
their different protected characteristic,
for example, because they have particular
needs, experiences, issues or priorities or
in terms of ability to access the service?

Please tick the relevant box for each
group.

NB. Equality neutral means no negative
impact on any group.

Positive

Negative

Neutral

unsure

Age

Disability

Gender

Gender Re-assignment

Marriage/civil partnership

Pregnancy & maternity

Race

Religion or belief

Sexual orientation

Other (e.g... low income)

75




Question

Answer

Comments

2. Is the proposed policy/service likely to
affect relations between certain equality
communities or to damage relations
between the equality communities and the
Council, for example because it is seen as
favouring a particular community or
denying opportunities to another?

No

3. Could this policy/service be perceived
as impacting on communities differently?

No

4. Is the policy/service specifically
designed to tackle evidence of
disadvantage or potential discrimination?

No

5. Are any impacts identified above minor
and if so, can these be eliminated or
reduced by minor actions?

If yes, please agree actions with a member
of the Corporate Equalities Working Group
and list agreed actions in the comments
section

No

Actions: None

Actions agreed by EWG member:

If ‘yes’ to questions 2 - 4 a full impact assessment will be required unless comments are
provided to explain why this is not felt necessary:

Decision agreed by EWG member: ..o

Assessment completed by:

Name Peter Jermany

Job title Principal Planner Policy & Water Management
Officer

Date 20/5/21

76




Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational
impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Habitats Regulations Assessment Strategy Document

March 2021




Page ii

Version

2.0

7.0

Title of report

Client

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Date

30/07/2019

02/08/2019

09/10/2019

28/10/2019

14/02/2020

22/05/2020

19/10/2020

23/03/2021

Client representative

Report contributors

Issued by

Ryan Mills

Sue Hooton

Sue Hooton

Sue Hooton

Sue Hooton & Ryan Mills

Sue Hooton & Ryan Mills

Sue Hooton & Ryan Mills

Sue Hooton & Ryan Mills

Reviewed by

Sue Hooton

Jon Crane

Jon Crane

Jon Crane

Jon Crane

Jon Crane

Jon Crane

Jon Crane

Description of changes

Internal Review

Draft Report

Draft Report

Draft Report

Issue

Final Draft Report

Final Report (pending
housing figures and
agreement of plan periods)

Final Report

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Norfolk Strategic Planning Framework

Trevor Wiggett

Sue Hooton CEnv MCIEEM, Ryan Mills CMLI & Jon Crane MTCP

78




Page iii Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy PLACE

SERVICES

Copyright

This report may contain material that is non-Place Services copyright (e.g. Ordnance Survey, British
Geological Survey, Historic England), or the intellectual property of third parties, which Place Services is
able to provide for limited reproduction under the terms of our own copyright licences or permissions, but
for which copyright itself is not transferable by Place Services. Users of this report remain bound by the
conditions of the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 with regard to multiple copying and electronic
dissemination of the report. All maps are covered by ©Crown copyright licence No. 1000196002 Essex
County Council.

Disclaimer

The material contained in this report was designed as an integral part of a report to an individual client
and was prepared solely for the benefit of that client. The material contained in this report does not
necessarily stand on its own and is not intended to nor should it be relied upon by a third party. To the
fullest extent permitted by law Place Services will not be liable by reason of breach of contract,
negligence, or otherwise for any loss or damage (whether direct, indirect or consequential) occasioned to
any person acting or omitting to act or refraining from acting in reliance upon the material contained in
the report. Loss or damage as referred to above shall be deemed to include, but is not limited to, any loss
of profits or anticipated loss of profits damage to reputation or goodwill, loss of business, or anticipated
loss of business, damages, costs, expense incurred or payable to any third party (in all cases whether
direct, indirect or consequential) or any other direct, indirect or consequential loss or damage.

Acknowledgement

We would like to acknowledge the work of our colleague Natasha Moreno-Roberts who sadly passed away
before the report was finalised. She was integral to the study at the early stages and would still be now if
she were alive.

79




Page iv

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

CONTENTS

Executive Summary

1. Introduction

1.1 Project Background

1.2 Why is the Strategy needed?

2. Green Infrastructure Strategy

2.1 What is Green Infrastructure (GI)?

2.2 Legislative Background and Gl Drivers

2.3 Types of Green Infrastructure (Gl)

2.4 Norfolk Gl Baseline

2.5 Opportunity Areas for Improving the Gl Network at the Strategic level
2.6 Recommendations

3. RAMS

3.1 What is a Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS)?
3.2 RAMS Baseline

3.3 Mitigation at Habitats Sites

3.4 RAMS Recommendations

4. Summary of Recommendations

4.1 Green Infrastructure

4.2 RAMS

5. Abbreviations/Glossary

5.1 Terms used in this Strategy

Appendix 1

A1(1) Natural England interim advice letter to Norfolk LPAs
Appendix 2

A2(1) Strategic Green Infrastructure and Open Space Baseline
Appendix 3

A3(1) Deficiencies/gaps in Gl provision & enhancement opportunities identified at Workshops
Appendix 4

A4(1) Site Quality Checklist - for a suite of SANGS

A4(2) Site Quality Checklist — for an individual SANGS

A4(3) SANGS Information Form

Appendix 5

80

7
9
9
9

10

12

35
51
56
56
59
86
119

124

124
124
126
126
132
132
140
140
173
173
178
178
179

180

183



Page v

As(2)

As(2)
Appendix 6
A6(1)
Appendix 7
A7(2)
Appendix 8
A8(2)
Appendix 9
A9(1)
Appendix 10
A10(2)

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Workshop Attendees
RAMS Workshop Annotated Maps

Green Infrastructure (GI) Workshop Annotated Maps

Essex Coast RAMS Guidelines for proposals for student accommodation

County-wide Projects

Written comments from stakeholders

Example s106 Unilateral Undertaking Norfolk RAMS Contribution

81

183

185
189
189
197
197

199
199
202

202

204

204



Page vi Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy PLACE

SERVICES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:  Glincluded at a Strategic Level across NOMOlK LPAS .......evvvvvvevirvveeieerereeeeeeeereeeeereeerereeeeeee. 26
Table 2: Local studies and plans that reference Gl.....uuuee e eeeeeceeeieeeeeeececrere e e 32

Table 3: Designation features per Habitats Site (WMAGIC, 2019) and visitor surveys undertaken to assess
(o FE {0 ¢ o=V Lol S PRPPPPPPRPPPRt 62

Table 4: Habitats Sites in Norfolk and current Impact Risk Zones (IRZs) for SSSlIs underpinning Habitat

] (=TS 67
Table 5:  LPAs and ZOls for Norfolk RAMS PaCKaZE ...uveeeeeieeeeeiireiieeeeeeeeecerieeee e e eeeecnreereee e e e e e ennenes 72
Table 6: ZOI Calculations for Norfolk Habitats Sites with regard to recreational impacts ................. 75
Table 7:  Planned Growth within NOrfolk Until 2038 ....cevvviiiiieiiieiiieieieieeeeeeeeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeaeeee 85

Table 8: Issues and impacts identified from stakeholder workshops and stakeholder discussions 92

Table 9: Types of recreational disturbance reported at the Norfolk Gl and RAMS Workshops and

StAKEhOIdEr AiSCUSSIONS ..eeeeiiiiiieeiiiieeetette e et e e e e e e s eerereeeeee s e s s snraaeeeseessnssnnnnnns 93
Table 10: Mitigation package costed UNtil 2038 .....eeeeeiiiieeiiieeeceee e e e e e e e 110
Table 11: Housing numbers and cost of RAMS mitigation foreach LPA .........vvvieeeeeieecccieeeeeee e, 120

82




Page vii

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:
Figure 2:

Figure 3:

Figure 4:
Figure 5:
Figure 6:
Figure 7:
Figure 8:
Figure 9:

Figure 10:

Figure 11:

Figure 12:
Figure 13:
Figure 14:
Figure 15:
Figure 16:
Figure 17:
Figure 18:
Figure 19:

Figure 20:

Figure 21:
Figure 22:
Figure 23:
Figure 24:

Figure 25:
Figure 26:
Figure 27:
Figure 28:

Map of Norfolk including LPA bOUNAANES .uveeeeeieeeeeeeeeeee e et e e e e e e s e e veneeees 6
Scale of Gl (HIUSTrAtIVE ONLY) ueeeereeieiieeeciee ettt et et e e e e e eare e e eaaeeeeraeeeesaeeessaeeesnaennnnas 11

Those areas with no accessible natural greenspace provision at all levels of ANGSt analysis

......................................................................................................................................... 12
Urban areas within 10km of a 5ooha or greater greenSPaCe.....uuveeeeeeeeccceeereeeeeeeeecceeeeeeen. 14
NOrfolk ANGSt DEfiCIENCIES .eeeiuvriiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiitctc et 16
Strategic Gl corridors and habit cOre areas Map ..cccccveeeeeeeeieeeeciceree e e e e 17
BaS MAP e iiiiiiiiieieeeieeitttieeee e eeetttraeeeeeseeeeetaata s e e e eeetetassaaaeeeeeearrasnaaeteeeaetrrrannaeeeeeerereen 27
Strategic Gl corridors and habitat core areas oVerlay ........uueeeeeeeeereeeeeeeeereeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeen. 29
Plan making level (Strategic) Gl Projects and INitiativeS.....ceeeecveeeeveeecveeeeieeeeeeeeeereeeneens 31
(0010 o 11 {=To W CT I Fo 1Y 2T €30 1= o S URRRRRE 34
Norfolk Gl Strategic OPPOrtUNITY ATEAS w.veiieiiieeeerirrrieeeeeieeriirrreeeeesessesrnrrreeeesesessssnnnnsneeees 37
Strategic Opportunity Areas for NOrth NOrfolK.......ceeeerueeeiriiieeiieiiieeeerieeeeseeeeeeeeee e 38
Strategic Opportunity Areas of SOUth NOIOLK ...ueveeeeeiuiieiieiieeieiteeeeereecceeee e 40
Strategic Opportunity Areas for Broadland ........occeceeeieeeeiiieeeciiereeeee e e s 42
Strategic Opportunity Areas for Great YarmouUth ....ccocceeeevrevieeiiniieeeeesieeeeereeceseeeeeesene 44
Strategic Opportunity Areas for King’s Lynn and West NOIfolK .....eeeeeeeviveeeinvieeeririieeennnne 46
Strategic Opportunity Areas for Breckland .......coccueveeieeiiiiieciiieeeee e 48
Opportunity Areas for NOTWICH...ccciiriiiiiiriieieeeeeceree e e e e ssaee e s e s aaneeessanne 50
Map of Visitor survey point locations in Norfolk Habitats Sites 2015-16 ....cccccuveerervneeeennne 65
Individual ZOls for recreational impacts from residential development (for Habitats Sites with
VISTEON AALA) .ecuveeeureeiteeeieeiteeete et eete et e steesteesae e seessseessaessseessaesssesssaesssaessessseanssesssaesnsenns 69
Overall ZOI for Norfolk RAMS tariff for recreational impacts from residential development.70
ZO0lIs for recreational impacts from tourist accommodation.........cceeeveeeiieeccriiereeeeeeeeeeees 75
Types of recreational disturbance reported at the Norfolk GI and RAMS workshops.......... 98
Key mitigation options identified at the Norfolk Gl and RAMS workshops and partner

(oY= LA LI L[] 4 TP 99
Locations for disturbance impacts and Norfolk RAMS mitigation proposalS.......ccccveeeeunnee 104
Interim advice letter to Norfolk LPAs from Natural England (12/08/2019) ....ccceeeeeuvveeeennees 132
The NOrfolk Trails NetWOrK....ccueiiuieiiiiiiiiieenieeereeeecee e 200
The Living LandSCape ProjECS ... uurieeeeeieeecciireeeeee e e eeeccrtreeee e e e eeeeennreeeeeeeseeeennsnnaeeeesenenes 201

83



file://///placeservices/PlaceServices_Data/PlaceServices/4_Projects/7_Multi_Disciplinary_Projects/Norfolk%20GI%20and%20RAMS/2.Project/4_Report/Report_Content/FINAL%20EVER%20VERSION%20FEB%20180221%20SH/Versions%20to%20send_1%20March%202021/Norfolk_GI_RAMS_Strategy_February_2021.docx%23_Toc65482807

PLACE 4

Page 1 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Why is this Strategy needed?

This strategy has been produced to support Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) in Norfolk in their
statutory requirement to produce ‘sound’ i.e. legally compliant Local Plans for their
administrative or Plan making areas.

The potential for recreational activities to disrupt the protection objectives of Habitats Sites in
and around Norfolk is related to the level of growth in each Local Plan 'in combination’;
specifically an increase in population resulting from identified new housing requirements across
the County that will in turn ensure more people visit Habitats Sites for recreation. This residential
growth, combined with an increase in tourism accommodation, will result in more people visiting
and possibly harming Habitats Sites.

There is an opportunity to address mitigation strategically, in this instance at the County level.
The provision of green infrastructure (GI) at both a development site and at the Plan making level
will be key to diverting and deflecting new residents from visiting Habitats Sites on a daily basis.
As it is not possible to rule out residual effects, strategic mitigation is proposed within this
document in the form of a Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS). This is
in order to ensure that Local Plans can be adopted and to enable planned growth through the
implementation of measures to avoid adverse effects on the integrity of Habitats Sites.

Natural England’s interim advice to the Norfolk LPAs welcomes the preparation of a Norfolk Gl
and RAMS Strategy, as a large scale strategic project involving all of the Norfolk authorities
working together, to help mitigate the recreational effects likely to arise as a result of increased
housing over the respective Local Plan periods on sensitive designated sites. This approach will
build on the existing evidence included within the Norfolk Visitor Survey Report, which provides
a comprehensive analysis of current and projected visitor patterns to Habitats Sites across
Norfolk. It delivers Natural England’s advice that provision of enhanced Green Infrastructure (GI)
is needed within all new residential developments with year round connections to the local
countryside.

This Strategy will form part of the evidence base for Local Plans to ensure that residential
planning applications which have the potential to impact on Habitats Sites are compliant with
the Habitats Regulations. Its delivery aims to support growth and meet the Gl & nature need for
residents and visitors to Norfolk.

What is proposed regarding Green Infrastructure?

Green infrastructure (GI) provision is essential to divert and deflect the daily recreational visits
away from the sensitive Habitats Sites, and their rare species, in order to avoid adverse effects
on the integrity of these sites from all the individual developments alone. This Strategy identifies
that there is currently no justified need for a ‘county-wide’ or ‘county-level’ solution regarding Gl
provision in addition to those measures already in place at the strategic and localised /
individual development level, to enable Local Plan growth. The RAMS section of this Strategy has
explored mitigation options in Norfolk related to avoiding recreational impacts on Habitats Sites
‘in-combination’ with other plans and projects and concluded that these can be ensured through

84

T



PLACE |

Page 2 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

a suite of mitigation measures at the Habitats Sites. This conclusion can be made only if Gl
provision is delivered on or near housing and tourist accommodation development sites in the
first instance.

Although this Strategy does not identify the need for any new County-wide Gl provision to
mitigate recreational impacts, it is essential that LPAs secure the provision of Gl at both a
development site and a Plan making level. Further, an opportunity exists to enhance the Gl
network to ‘future proof’ the County against any effects that may emerge beyond Local Plan
periods, should residential growth requirements continue to rise. This Strategy also looks at
existing open space opportunities within the County to see whether they could be procured or
otherwise developed to meet a certain standard to provide a genuine alternative recreational
offer to the Habitats Sites and rectify deficiencies and future-proof growth in future Local Plan
periods. These are mapped within this Strategy as ‘Strategic Opportunities’.

As mentioned previously, in order to avoid the majority of the potential impacts from recreational
pressure, adequate provision will need to be made at a local level for green infrastructure / open
space provision related to development. Such provision should add to the level, quality and
type of Gl that is currently available and be proportionate to the scale of development that it is to
address. In assessing this requirement, regard should be had to information such as audits of
what is currently available and opportunities for enhancing Green Infrastructure, Green
Infrastructure Strategies, and models such as Natural England’s ANGst model.

In addition to exploring opportunities for alternative recreational across Norfolk, this Strategy
recommends other Gl mechanisms that can be incorporated into the planning process. These are
listed below:

e The integration of an ‘Enhanced Green Infrastructure (EGI)’ Policy wording into
any emerging Local Plans, to ensure that developers are aware of their
responsibilities regarding the quality of Gl provision.

e LPAs could undertake an ‘EGI audit’, exploring whether Gl provision could be
improved moving forward, to offer an additional recreational offer close to where
people live. This audit would use a set of ‘EGI Quality Criteria’ to ensure social,
economic and environmental benefits.

The Strategy delivers Natural England’s advice that provision of enhanced Green Infrastructure
(Gl) is needed within all new residential developments with year round connections to the local
countryside. It now seeks a commitment from the LPAs to deliver enhanced Gl with multiple
benefits which is accessible locally to all Norfolk residents & tourists and work towards an
aspirational target for enhanced Gl within large scale developments.

What exactly is a RAMS?

The RAMS identifies a detailed programme of County-wide mitigation measures aimed at
delivering the mitigation necessary to avoid adverse effects on integrity of the Habitats Sites
from the ‘in-combination’ impacts of recreational impacts at Habitats Sites from residential
development including tourist accommodation that is predicted across Norfolk. Once finalised
and adopted, the RAMS will comprise of strategic mitigation measures to avoid and mitigate
adverse effects predicted for the Habitats Sites, which will be costed and funded through
developer contributions. There is in-built flexibility for each Habitats site as there is no “one size

85

T



PLACE |

Page 3 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

fits all” fix; the solution will need the LPAs to work with conservation organisations to identify
which combination of package measures is appropriate and likely to be effective.

Itis important to acknowledge that the RAMS exists specifically to mitigate these ‘in-
combination’ effects. It is not a mechanism to deliver mitigation for recreational impacts from
individual residential developments alone or individually; this must be provided on/near the
development site in the form of Green Infrastructure provision, for the purposes of avoidance in
the first instance. The RAMS mitigation measures are also not designed to deal with existing
issues at Habitats Sites, as these are not directly related to planned housing growth or future
tourist accommodation development.

What is the RAMS proposing?

Additional housing growth is predicted to lead to more people visiting the countryside of Norfolk,
much of it important for wildlife. This has the potential to cause more disturbance to sensitive
wildlife and habitats. The RAMS is proposing bespoke and evidence based actions to prevent
that disturbance, funded by developer contributions from house builders.

In addition to ensuring sufficient greenspace within and near to residential developments, this
Strategy recommends a package of avoidance and mitigation measures to be delivered at the
Habitats Sites that includes, but to ensure flexibility, is not limited to:

e The provision of a ‘Delivery Co-ordinator’ with the role of managing the delivery of the
mitigation measures and acting on the results of monitoring;

e Securing provision of a Ranger team to provide a presence at the Habitats Sites
particularly of the Broads, all three parts of the Coast and, when monitoring shows
that this is a priority, also in the Norfolk Brecks (which could be extended to West
Suffolk in the future). The role of the Ranger team includes informing visitors of the
importance of the Habitats Sites, and directing them to appropriate areas, giving
walks, talks & supporting partner events; providing promotional materials designed
in conjunction with existing partners to make best use of their knowledge and
experience;

e Undertaking an Audit of Signage is proposed regarding appropriate access points to
each Habitats Sites; car park rationalisation may then be considered necessary in the
future to manage the carrying capacity of these sensitive sites.

e Monitoring of commencement of residential developments especially locations e.g.
within which LPA and individual Habitat site ZOl;

e Recording the implementation of mitigation for recreational impacts and track
locations and costs;

e C(Collating and mapping key roosts and feeding areas outside the Habitats Sites i.e.
functionally linked land;

e Sharing a new website dedicated to the Norfolk RAMS, providing information on the
Habitats Sites, the need for mitigation and measures to alleviate recreational
disturbance;

e Setting up a county-wide ‘dog project’ to engage with dog walkers, promoting sites

86

T


http://www.birdaware.org/article/28099/Bird-disturbance-explained
https://solent.birdaware.org/article/28101/Developer-contributions

PLACE |

Page 4 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

for dog walking, providing information on other areas available for dog walking and
highlighting issues at Habitats Sites; build on existing use of dog bans & dogs on
lead areas plus dog friendly beaches;

e Fillingin gaps in data for Habitats Sites to calculate individual ZOls and continuous
updating of ‘Visitor Surveys’ at selected locations to monitor effects and update the
need for a Ranger team and any additional measures;

e The provision of literature regarding codes of conduct and pilots for zonation for
those undertaking water sports at Habitats Sites, including bait digging, power hang
gliders, kayakers and kite surfers and the use of drones;

e Work identifying and providing strategic mitigation projects which are based on
evidence and supported by data gathering undertaken in the Strategy and where
there is a deliverable and identified need. Working with landowners and partners to
support existing or identify new fencing to protect breeding sites for SPA bird
populations;

o Working with landowners and partners to collate bird monitoring surveys to identify
land outside SPAs which support qualifying features;

e Monitoring of sensitive vegetation & species to inform mitigation needs ; and

o Working with the Public Rights of Way team on projects regarding route diversions
and site buffering.

What will this mitigation cost and how could it be paid for?

A per dwelling tariff for the Norfolk-wide RAMS has been calculated by dividing the total cost of
the RAMS mitigation package by the total number of houses still to be delivered over Local Plan
periods. Any dwellings already consented in full are not included in this calculation.
Contributions cannot be collected from developers to pay for mitigation necessary to avoid
impacts from these residential developments alone, nor from other users. Where any reserved
matters applications for residential development are submitted, the LPA will need to comply with
Natural England’s advice to undertake ‘HRA screening’ if this has not already been undertaken
and developer contributions may still be required.

The tariff is an exact monetary value to ensure the full costs of the mitigation package can be
collected relevant to the impacts predicted from Local Plan growth, in order for them to be HRA
compliant.

Further to this, the costed package also includes a 10% contingency which has been included to
ensure that there is no shortfall in the delivery of necessary mitigation measures. With annual
reviews of the tariff in line with the Retail Price Index (RPI) and considerations of the RAMS for
each Local Plan review, each Local Plan period will secure developer contributions to fund
ongoing delivery of mitigation which amounts to ‘in perpetuity’. The provision of the mitigation
package is sufficient to address the ‘in perpetuity’ issue as measures will be funded by the LPAs
on a rolling programme.

The RAMS package of mitigation measures has been identified to cost in the region of £7.9
million. This tariff is payable on each net new dwelling that currently does not have full planning
consent. There will therefore be a required cost to be paid by developers on each new dwelling

87

T



PLACE

Page s Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

that does not currently have planning permission. This approach seeks to mitigate the additional
recreational pressure in a way that ensures that those responsible for it pay to mitigate it at a
level consistent with the level of potential harm. Fairly, this represents a planning contribution
that must be paid for each net new dwelling delivered in the County. This cost is identified as
£185.93 per dwelling and per bedspace for tourist accommodation or student accommodation
unit equivalents.

Summary of Norfolk Gl and RAMS Strategy recommendations

The Norfolk wide Gl and RAMS Strategy aims to support Local Plan growth & meet the Gl and
Nature need for residents and visitors. It recommends each Authority:

e Commits to deliver enhanced Gl with multiple benefits which is accessible locally to
all Norfolk residents & tourists;

o Works flexibly and look beyond boundaries for strategic delivery of Gl and RAMS
measures at a range of levels;

e Commits to consulting conservation bodies regarding Rangers, seeking creative
management options and acting on the results of monitoring;

e Delivers strategic and Local Plan policies in relation to new residential and tourist
accommodation and work towards an aspirational target for enhanced Gl within large
scale developments;

e Secures developer contributions from all new residential development across Norfolk
based on the evidenced tariff based approach, to make a substantial contribution to
mitigating adverse impacts arising from planned housing growth at Habitats sites

e Implements the key projects and priorities to encourage appropriate recreational
behaviourin line with the RAMS Action Plan.

88




Page 6 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Project Background

The Councils of Broadland District Council, Breckland District Council, Great Yarmouth Borough
Council, The Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk, North Norfolk District Council,
Norwich City Council, South Norfolk Council and the Broads Authority (working together to
address cross-boundary issues and offer a strategic solution through a Norfolk Strategic
Planning Framework (NSPF)), commissioned Place Services in April 2019 to prepare a Green
Infrastructure (GI) and Recreational Impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS).

This study will form part of the evidence base for each of the above authorities’ Local Plans and
provides the basis for future agreements through the NSPF. The Authorities appointed
consultants to undertake this work covering the six districts, one city and the Broads Authority
area within the county of Norfolk. The Project Steering Group was formed of all LPAs, along with
Natural England and Forestry Commission. Together they worked with Place Services in the
production of this Strategy.

The Councils listed above are the Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) for their respective areas but
excluding those parts in the designated Broads area, where the Broads Authority is the LPA.
Below is a map of the study area, representing the entirety of the County of Norfolk.

Figure1:  Map of Norfolk including LPA boundaries

4 3 " v 3
r . o - .
Legend 3 L s R L
”~ C— —
4 20 Broaos Autonty > e { ‘ ‘ %
-y~ . 3 S = s
V. L Disaict Boundary .;‘. ) b W '
DM&:«M ;- | & I 5 e Vs | Nt
L ’ | i T e ok e )

Source: Place Services, 2020

89




PLACE |

Page 7 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

1.2 Why is the Strategy needed?

This strategy has been produced to support Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) in Norfolk in their
statutory requirement to produce ‘sound’ i.e. legally compliant Local Plans for their
administrative areas. Local Plans set the framework for growth for the LPA area over a set ‘Plan
period’, typically 15 years.

Local Plans outline the level of growth needed in an administrative area, identify where strategic
housing and employment growth can be sustainably delivered, and set a framework of policies
that will be used to determine planning applications and ensure sustainable development.

Work toward LPA Local Plans in Norfolk includes assessing whether growth, in terms of both
overall housing requirements and specific allocations for development, would have any likely
adverse effects on the integrity of ‘Habitats Sites.” This assessment, known as a ‘Habitats
Regulations Assessment’ (HRA) is required through EU law (the EU Habitats Directive)' and as
such is a key determinant of the ‘soundness’ of a Local Plan and their legal compliance.

Habitats Sites, also known as Natura 2000 sites, include Special Protection Areas (SPAs),
Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Ramsar sites (wetland sites designated to be of
international importance under the Ramsar Convention). These represent those areas with the
highest level of designation for wildlife interest in Europe and ensuring that their protection
objectives are not compromised is of paramount importance.

Consultants ‘Footprint Ecology’ undertook surveys in 2015-16, the results of which provided local
authorities in Norfolk with information to underpin reviews of their Local Plans, Habitats
Regulations Assessments and this Strategic solution for avoidance and mitigation. The results
highlight how an increase in recreational pressure (particularly at the North Coast, the Broads
and the Valley Fens) is predicted to be linked with residential development across multiple local
authorities and that solutions are likely to be most effective if delivered and funded in
partnership.

In other parts of the country, strategic mitigation schemes have been established involving
partnerships of local authorities delivering mitigation funded through developer contribution
schemes. Such approaches would provide Norfolk authorities with an effective way of delivering
mitigation and some recommendations for mitigation approaches are given.

The HRA work undertaken for the individual Local Plans in Norfolk has identified a common
theme regarding the potential for recreational activities to disrupt the protection objectives of
Habitats Sites in and around Norfolk. This is related to the level of growth in each Local Plan,
specifically an increase in population resulting from identified new housing requirements that
are within the ‘Zone of Influence’ (ZOI) for likely significant effects regarding recreational
disturbance at Habitats Sites.

ZOls represent the extent of land around Habitats Sites within which residents travel to them for
recreational activities, as evidenced by extensive survey work. Local Plan allocated growth will
result in more people visiting and possibly harming Habitats Sites. Effects can occur from
activities as varied as dog walking to water sports.

*This law still applies until further notice.

90




Page 8 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

In response to the potential of an increased population to cause harm to Habitats Sites across
all of Norfolk, from individual developments alone and also when considered with effects from
other plans and projects (known as ‘in-combination effects’), there is an opportunity to address
mitigation strategically, in this instance at the County level. The role of Green Infrastructure at
both development site and Local Plan levels is key to diverting and deflecting new residents from
visiting Habitats Sites for their daily recreational needs; however as residual effects cannot be
ruled out, strategic mitigation is also proposed within this document for mitigation measures to
be delivered at the Habitats Sites to deal with residual effects following avoidance measures on
development sites.

Within this Strategy, strategic Gl opportunity areas are explored to complement diversionary Gl
provision that is already established, based on supporting information and evidence that has
been provided by the LPAs. Residual effects are proposed to be mitigated through a Recreational
impact Avoidance Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) in order to ensure that Local Plans can be adopted
and to enable planned growth through the implementation of measures to avoid likely adverse
effects on the integrity of the Habitats Sites.

COVID-19

As we approached the publication of this Strategy, Coronavirus (COVID-19) reached the country. At the time, the
majority of the text had been agreed with Local Planning Authorities and Natural England. However, the virus then
highlighted the importance of designing for active travel and access to green space. This strategy contains
recommendations to enhance green infrastructure to avoid potential impacts on recreational pressures, mitigate
climate change, and improve wildlife corridors and connectivity. Yet, it was decided it was vital that we should also be
actively encouraging people to walk or ride a bicycle, enjoy local green infrastructure opportunities to support a

sense of wellbeing. This study has therefore taken this into consideration before being finalised.

91




PLACE

Page 9 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

2. GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE STRATEGY

2.1 What is Green Infrastructure (Gl)?

Green infrastructure can be defined as a carefully planned network of high quality natural and
semi-natural assets and habitat types, of green and blue spaces, and other strategically planned
environmental features that maintain and deliver our ecosystem services. It provides multi-
functional benefits integral to the health and wellbeing of our communities and to the ecology
and economy of the county. Green infrastructure is often referred to as a network of these natural
and semi-natural assets and spaces, which are joined together connecting urban and rural areas
and are habitually strategically planned. Green infrastructure provision is therefore an important
solution to delivering the Lawton principles® of “more, bigger, better and joined”.

In creating this strategy:

= Local and national green infrastructure policy and Local Planning Authorities Green
Infrastructure Strategies were reviewed;

= Existing Green infrastructure mapping was reviewed, and cross referenced with other Gl
data to form the evidence base for the strategy; and

= Continued engagement with key stakeholders was undertaken.

2.2 Legislative Background and Gl Drivers

2.2.1 National

The national policy approach to delivering green infrastructure is set out in the National Planning
Policy Framework and supporting Planning Practice Guidance. National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF): Strategic Policies states:

‘Strategic policies should set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and
quality of development, and make sufficient provision for...conservation and
enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment, including landscapes
and green infrastructure...’

The NPPF also encourages planning policies and decisions to consider natural and local
environment enhancements. Paragraph 171 states that:

e Plans should: ....take a strategic approach to maintaining and
enhancing networks of habitats and green infrastructure; and

e LPA should seek opportunities to provide better facilities for users, for
example by adding links to existing rights of way network including

? Lawton Principles advocates a landscape-scale approach to conservation, to create “a coherent and resilient ecological network”,
guided by 4 key principles, summarised as “more, bigger, better and joined”.

92

T



PLACE

Page 10 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

national trails.

The ‘National Planning Practice Guidance: What is a strategic approach to green infrastructure?’
states that,

“To assist in planning positively for green infrastructure local planning authorities
may wish to prepare an authority-wide green infrastructure framework or strategy.
This should be evidence-based by, for example, including an assessment of current
green infrastructure provision that identifies gaps in the network and the
components and opportunities forimprovement. The assessment can inform the
role of green infrastructure in local and neighbourhood plans, infrastructure
delivery plans and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) schedules.”

“Local Plans should identify the strategic location of existing and proposed green
infrastructure networks. Where appropriate, supplementary planning documents
can set out how the planning, design and management components of the green
infrastructure strategy for the area will be delivered.”

The Natural Environment White Paper, ‘The Natural Choice: Securing the value of nature’ (2011)
highlighted ‘the importance of green spaces to the health and happiness of local communities’.
The White Paper sets out a framework to protect and enhance the natural environment and to
support coherent and resilient ecological networks that reflect the value of ecosystems.

It refers to the role of planning and the role of urban green infrastructure as providing linkages to
the ecological network and as an effective tool to managing environmental risks such as flooding
and heat waves. It also advocates that green spaces should be factored into the development of
all communities, with guidance from local knowledge and statutory powers of local authorities,
to work in a more integrated way to achieve multiple benefits (Defra, 2011).

The 25 Year Environment Plan ‘A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment’
(2018) sets out a framework to maintain and improve the environment for the next generation.
The following six key areas were identified:

e C(Clean air

e (lean and plentiful water

e Thriving plants and wildlife

e Areduced risk of harm from environmental hazards such as drought and flooding
e Using resources from nature more sustainably and efficiently

e Enhanced beauty, heritage and engagement with the natural environment

2.3 Types of Green Infrastructure (Gl)

This Strategy will refer to different types of Gl and how they all play a role in enhancing the
overall Gl network. These are as follows:

93




PLACE

Page 11 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

Figure 2:  Scale of Gl (Illustrative only)

2.3.1 Local GI

Local Gl is at the development scale. Part of this includes
ensuring Gl forms part of development design and the
planning process. This means recognising the character
and distinctiveness of different locations and ensuring
that policies and programmes respond accordingly. Gl
can play a key role in this process, from formulating
design principles and drawing up masterplans, to
identifying opportunities for community involvement. 1 ’

2.3.2 Strategic Gl

Strategic Gl is at a District/Borough or Plan making level.
This means, larger scale projects that enhance the Gl
network and provide new or improved outdoor spaces
that benefit the wider community. For instance, this could
include new green spaces and parks, public realm
projects, and sustainable transport and connectivity
improvements. A coordinated, strategic approach such as
this is integral to the planning and delivery of green
infrastructure.

2.3.3 County-wide GI

These are county-wide/cross-boundary approaches that
provide Gl opportunities that are of scale and size that
benefit a wider pool of people and help combat in-
combination effects on Habitats Sites for planned growth
across the county. It is this type of Gl to which much of
this Strategy relates.

2.3.4 Enhanced Gl (EGI)

Enhanced Green Infrastructure (EGI) represents accessible ‘Green Infrastructure’ that can in part
perform the role of a Suitable Accessible Natural Green Space (SANGS). SANGS themselves
represent ‘strategic’ Gl provision but have to meet a list of criteria to be named as such. Some of
these criteria can be met through enhancements to existing Gl to assist in the provision of areas
attractive enough for local recreational use on or near where new homes are built. EGI can
therefore also take the strain away from people visiting Habitats Sites for recreation.

94




Page 12 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

2.4 Norfolk Gl Baseline

2.4.1 County level studies

2.4.1.1 Analysis of Accessible Natural Greenspace Provision for Norfolk (2010)

In 2010 an analysis of Accessible Natural Greenspace (ANG) Provision for Norfolk was carried out
by Natural England (NE). The methodology followed was based on the Accessible Natural
Greenspace Standards (ANGSt) analysis toolkit (Handley et al, 2003b) using an inventory of ANG
data compiled on Geographic Information System (GIS) to show areas of adequate provision or
deficiency. The Plan below shows all the accessible natural greenspace within the study area
and the 10km buffer zone, displayed by ANGSt model size classes (20ha+ ANG, 100ha+ ANG and
sooha+ ANG).

Figure 3:  Those areas with no accessible natural greenspace provision at all levels of ANGSt analysis

Key

[LTT] urban areas (2001 census)
[ Local authority boundaries
[:] County & Unitary boundaries
[ Norfolk combined deficiency
= = = Study boundary

Source: Natural England, 2010

2.4.1.2 The Norfolk Green Infrastructure Mapping Project (GIMP) (2018)

Further analysis was carried out in 2018 by Norfolk County Council as part of the GIMP. The
project aimed to:

95

T



PLACE

Page 13 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

= Make the ‘connections’ between Gl and growth, providing LPAs with a deliverable
approach to addressing Green Infrastructure matters to enable and support growth;

= Map the Green Infrastructure Network of Norfolk, maximising the benefits it brings to the
communities of Norfolk;

= |dentify deficiency in Gl provision; and
= |dentify opportunities for enhancement.

In regard to deficits, the project assessed current settlement deficiencies in ANG and Public
Rights of Way access. All the urban areas within the county were assessed against the ANGSt
guidelines and the Woodland Trust Woodland Access Standard (although all Gl was assessed
and not just woodlands).

This allowed the production of maps that indicate urban areas and settlements that appear to be
deficient in Gl and could be targeted for work as part of any Gl planning.

In terms of the ANGSt, urban areas were assessed against three levels of accessibility:
e Urban areas within 2km of 20ha or greater greenspace
e Urban areas within skm of a 100ha or greater greenspace
e Urban areas within 10km of a sooha or greater greenspace

The findings were similar to those of the 2010 report in that they showed the main areas of
deficiency were in the west of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk, South Norfolk through to Breckland
and North Norfolk.

Figure 4 below shows the Urban areas within 10km of a 5ooha or greater greenspace plan. This
data was used for this study as the size and scale of the ANG assessed is not dissimilar to
County-wide level opportunities such as Country Parks and/or SANGs.

96




L6

Page 14 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 4:  Urban areas within 10km of a sooha or greater greenspace

2 s Bt € somertyd ) ¢ Comt s vt Sum e, o, & G wcread s e e stons 1 14 Crbaires e WA e

bt

s

T (Ahian area ineets standod
I v 0 Somes ot et Slanchand
DNM Groemspo ¢ froabe:

or squat o S0

Map 15: Accessible Natural Greenspace Standard (ANGSt)
Urban areas within 10km of a 500ha or greater greenspace
S0 1400000

compded by K Boghen an &2 July 2018

NBIS

Norfok Blodiversity
intarmation Servicn

Horok Body ety nirmation Senvic
County Hall

ok - A Source: Norfolk County Council,
2018

Tel 01603224455 Tax: 01603 22521

_—




Page 15 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

For comparison, the two deficit data sets have been overlaid alongside the Local Plan site
allocations on Figure 5 to give an overall indication of the available local accessible natural
greenspace to new residents in Norfolk. As you can see from this figure, the majority of the
predicted housing growth across the county is located in areas that meet the ANGST
requirements. However, there are areas within Broadland and South Norfolk on the Norwich
Fringe that do not meet the standards and therefore Gl enhancements would be beneficial.

Itis also worth noting that the ANGSt data from the 2010 and 2018 studies are based on all
‘Accessible Natural Greenspace’, which includes Habitats Sites. For many areas, such as the
urban areas of southern Breckland and the northern coastline this is why no deficiency in
accessible nature greenspace was found. Thus, although useful, the findings from this report
cannot be purely based on these deficits and additional factors and priorities will need to be
considered such as housing growth, existing Gl projects and ecological enhancements.

98

PLACE
SERVICES




66

Page 16 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 5:  Norfolk ANGSt Deficiencies

Legend

- Ste Allocations

- " | District Bouncary

County Boundgary

Combined ANGSt geficency (2010 daty)
Urban areas within 10km of a 500Ha greenspace (2018 data)
- Urban Area meets standard

[:l Urban Area does not meet standard

- Accessble Greenspace greater or equal to 500ha




Page 17 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

As well as the deficiency data provided. The GIMP also provides a county-wide Gl network made
up of identified primary and secondary Green Infrastructure Corridors throughout the county,
along with a prioritisation of opportunities (using ecological network modelling and the
identified Gl corridors).

Figure 6:  Strategic Gl corridors and habit core areas map

S ol33se * Norfok Bsoghverst) informanion Senvice
Map 18: Norfolk Green Infrastructure Map o, Couryhal
1] : Mardnesu Lanw
Suratagic GI corricons 3nd habitat core areas Scale NBIS D Morwen NRY 286
1260000 Norfols Blodiversity
e o by M. Hodiock on 18 Ocissber 2017 information Service  Tol 01600 224458 Fuc 01003 223219

Source: Green Infrastructure Mapping Project, 2018

The Norfolk Green Infrastructure mapping also provides users with the location of native habitat
corridors/core areas, as shown in Figure 6. These are; grassland-heathland, woodland and
wetland corridors. These are based on ecological network maps, kernel density analysis and
existing survey data. It is important that areas of native habitat are joined together into an
overarching network as this can ensure they are more resilient to changing climates and
stresses, but it can also improve the levels of ecosystem services provided such as; nutrient
cycling (supporting services), biomass (provisioning services), pollination (regulating services)
and ecotourism (cultural services). Larger and better-connected areas of natural habitats are
also now recognised as a key strategy for maintaining biodiversity. Many organisations are now
promoting the creation of ecological networks and the use of landscape-scale approaches to
conservation. Such initiatives include The Wildlife Trusts’ Living Landscapes.

2.4.1.3 Report of Ecological Network Mapping Project for Norfolk (2016)

This report was produced for the Norfolk Biodiversity Partnership in order to help secure the

100

T



Page 18 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

long-term future of wildlife and ensure ecological networks are established and restored. The
report provides a series of maps showing an indicative ecological network for Norfolk along with
the core areas that were used in the production of the GIMP. They also identify where new
habitats can be created and where these can be connected. A number of potential projects are
also presented that if implemented could help develop various aspects of the network.

2.4.2 Current projects at a County-wide Level

At the county wide level a number of projects exist that incorporate Gl network improvements at
different scales and levels. This includes, but is not limited to:

= Norfolk Trails: maps.norfolk.gov.uk/trails/

» Living Landscape Projects: www.norfolkwildlifetrust.org.uk/wildlife-in-norfolk/a-living-
landscape

»= Norfolk Tree Planting and Resilience Strategy (Draft)

= Norfolk Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2019): www.norfolk.gov.uk/-
/media/norfolk/downloads/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-
partnerships/policies-and-strategies/business/norfolk-infrastructure-delivery-plan-2017-
2027.pdf

= Community Biodiversity Projects: www.norfolkbiodiversity.org/community-2/community-

directory/

»= Habitat and Species Action Plans: www.norfolkbiodiversity.org/habitats-and-species/

2.4.3 Strategic level data

On a Strategic Level, all LPAs have Gl initiatives in place, whether that is a Green Infrastructure
Policy, Strategy and/or Projects that are either adopted, or are in the process of being adopted
by the LPA. These have been reviewed to see whether they are sufficient for the purposed of
responding to Gl pressures, opportunities, enhancements and management across Norfolk

Breckland’s Local Plan (BLP) (Adopted 2019)
Gl Policy: ENVo1 Green Infrastructure.
e Ensures that all new development incorporates Gl and enhances the existing network
Additional Policies include:
e ENVo2 Biodiversity Protection and Enhancement
e  ENVos Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
e  ENVO6 Trees, Hedgerows and Development
Reference is made to the GIMP Strategic Gl corridors and habit core areas, as well as Norfolk Trails

Thetford Area Action Plan (AAP) (Adopted 2012)

101

T


http://maps.norfolk.gov.uk/trails/
http://www.norfolkwildlifetrust.org.uk/wildlife-in-norfolk/a-living-landscape
http://www.norfolkwildlifetrust.org.uk/wildlife-in-norfolk/a-living-landscape
http://www.norfolkbiodiversity.org/community-2/community-directory/
http://www.norfolkbiodiversity.org/community-2/community-directory/
http://www.norfolkbiodiversity.org/habitats-and-species/

Page 19 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Breckland

Local Level Gl Policies and project initiatives that look to restore and enhance the Gl network

Policy TH11: Joe Blunt’s Lane — “the existing route of Joe’s Blunt Lane will be protected and enhanced as a green route to the North
of Thetford”

Policy TH 12: The Thetford Loops.

This policy aims to provide multi-purpose, high quality routes for pedestrians and cyclists for leisure and utility trips. However, the
policy recognises that it may result in intensification of recreational use of the Breckland SPA and mitigation measures would be
required to alleviate this by careful consideration of routes and signage

“The Thetford Loops will enhance and encourage access into the surrounding forest and countryside for recreation.

However, encouraging people into the Forest (which is part of the Breckland SPA) has the potential to result in increased
disturbance to protected Annex | birds (Woodlark and Nightjar) from the intensification of recreational use of sites.

12.41 Therefore, it is recognised that there are potential conflicts relating to promoting access and the nature
conservation interest of the surrounding area (i.e. Thetford Forest and Barnham Cross Common). As such, a number of
mitigation measures will be required as part of the implementation of the Loops to avoid any adverse impacts arising
from them. Such mitigation is likely to require routes through the forest to change to reflect the Forestry Commission's
felling cycle, not only for safety of users, but also to reflect that some bird species use areas of the forest at different
stages of growth to nest and fledge. It is also likely that changes will be required to the Loops signage to direct users
away from sensitive areas at particular times. Further work is therefore required to determine the level of use of the
Loops, the types of activity they will provide for and the extent to which the Loops may increase access to sensitive
areas. The exact mitigation measures will be informed by such work.”

As well as the strategic studies that have been completed, there are also a number of localised plans and strategic policies that
are emerging, or in place, that also strengthen the county’s GI. Table 1 below provides all of the local studies that provide
reference to Gl. This includes reference to recreation and connectivity enhancements, habitat protection and enhancements, new
development open space, and Gl inclusion. Figure 8 also shows all localised initiative areas overlaid on the GI map.

Greater Norwich

Greater Norwich Development Partnership (GNDP) Green Infrastructure Strategy (2007)

The GNDP GI Strategy sets out a vision for green infrastructure in the Greater Norwich Area for a “multifunctional network of green
spaces and green links, providing an environmental life support system for communities and wildlife”.

The Strategy sets out six core principles for Gl planning and management to underpin relevant policies, plans and decisions with
the Greater Norwich area

The document proposes and identifies a multi-functional Gl network for the Greater Norwich area.

The network also connects a diverse range of wildlife habitats and provides important ecological corridors for species dispersal
and migration.

Green infrastructure should be delivered, protected and managed through the commitment and involvement of the public, private
and voluntary sectors across the Greater Norwich Area working in partnership.

GNDP Green Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2009)

102

T



Page 20 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Greater Norwich

The GNDP Gl Delivery Plan uses the Gl Strategy as a basis to review spatial information, identify opportunities for Gl in the area
and produce an action plan to take Gl ambitions forward. The delivery plan identifies a number of Gl Priority areas (Green
Infrastructure Priority Areas supporting Key Growth Areas shown on plan below), which refines the corridors identified in the Gl
Strategy.

The Green Infrastructure Delivery Plan reviews existing management arrangements for open space and discusses options for the
future including local authority, private management companies and trusts.

Greater Norwich Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (Updated 2014)

The JCS provides strategic policies that cover the Greater Norwich area. Gl is embedded throughout the document. However, the
one policy that highlights it most is Policy 1: Addressing climate change and protecting environmental assets.

Greater Norwich Infrastructure Plan (GNIP) (2020)

The GNIP was produced to co- ordinate and manage the delivery of strategic infrastructure to support growth, improve quality of
life and enhance natural environment.

Gl is one of the GNIP main priorities and are based on the need to mitigate the potential impacts on Habitats Sites under the
Habitat Regulations. The document sets out over 100 projects of different scales across the Greater Norwich region, falling within
different Gl Priority Areas.

Habitats Regulations Assessment of Greater Norwich Regulation 18 Draft Plan

The document concludes that the Greater Norwich Local Plan Strategy would have no adverse effect upon the integrity of any
European site acting alone if there is “satisfactory completion of the Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance
Mitigation Strategy (Section 5) that provides:

=  “atariff-based payment taken from residential, and other relevant accommodation e.g. tourist accommodation, that will
be used to fund a mixture of mitigation measures, most likely consisting of soft and hard mitigation measures at the
designated natural sites themselves to increase their resilience to greater visitor numbers.

= the provision of suitable alternative natural green space (SANGs), which would be large enough to meet a range of
needs and sufficiently well publicised for effective mitigation. The current Broadland District Council Development
Management DPD policy EN3 may be considered as a precedent for housing growth in the emerging Greater Norwich
Local Plan, although consideration will need to be given to new evidence emerging as part of plan production.

= |mplementation of a wider programme of Green Infrastructure Improvements in accordance with current and emerging
project plans so that residents of existing and proposed housing have an alternative to European sites for regular
routine activities such as dog walking.

Broadland

As well as the strategic Gl evidence base provided in the Greater Norwich documents, there are also fundamental strategic and
localised work being carried out at a District level with Broadland that are fundamental to enhancing the Gl network. These
include the following:

Development Management DPD (2015)
The Development Management DPD (DMDPD) has its own Gl policy - Policy EN3 — Green Infrastructure.

103

T



Page 21 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Broadland

This policy is important as it refers to ‘informal’ open space, rather than ‘formal’ open space. It also states that improving the
provision, quality and accessibility of informal open space will “mitigate the potential impacts of visitor pressure upon sensitivity
international designated sites” (Habitats Sites).

In accordance with Policy EN3, all development of 5 or more dwellings within Broadland are expected to make a Gl contribution.
Recreational Provision in Residential Development SPD (2016)

To build on the DMDPD, Broadland also produced a Recreational Provision in Residential Development SPD that sets out
standards for formal and informal recreation space. In terms of Informal Recreational Space, it states that:

The Growth Triangle Area Action Plan (GTAAP) (Adopted 2016)

The GTAAP builds upon the JCS and specifically applies to areas of Old Catton, Rackheath, Sprowston, Thorpe St Andrew and
other parishes.

The GTAAP has a strategic policy in place for Gl. Primarily it is regarding an area of green space (landscape buffer) that has been
identified as a landscape setting to the edge of Norwich

These green infrastructure corridors will be delivered through a series of projects and proposals.
East Broadland Green Infrastructure Project Plan (EBGIPP) (2015)

The EBGIPP is a project plan that focuses on delivery of potential Gl projects for the short-, medium- and long-term within the area
of Great Plumstead and Acle.

Projects include; the Witton Run Gl Project, Link from Blofield to Blofield Heath and A47 Safe Foot and Cycle Crossing.

The details of each project are set out, along with the opportunities, risks and justification. As well as enhancing the Gl network,
great importance within this study is given to the protection of highly sensitive wildlife sites such as SSSIs and CWS.

West Broadland Green Infrastructure Project Plan (WBGIPP) (2018)

A similar approach was taken to the WBGIPP as the EBGIPP with a focus on delivery of potential Gl projects within the West
Broadland area. Projects include; the Thorpe Marriott Greenway, South Drayton Greenway and Marriott’s Way Circular Walks. The
details of each project are set out, along with the opportunities, risks and justification within the report.

The projects within the GTAAP, EBGIPP and WEBGIPP are transposed into the Greater Norwich Infrastructure Plan. Enhancement
schemes themselves are then delivered: directly by development, through investment of commuted S106 payments and
investment of pooled CIL. In doing this Broadland provides mitigation for predicted impacts on N2K sites in a manner agreed
through the independent examination of its local plan documents.

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk

Gl has been highlighted and assessed on a borough-wide and localised scale within KLWN. The following document extracts
provide detail of these:

Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Plan (Adopted 2016)

Given the importance of retaining and enhancing the boroughs Gl network, along with the recreational pressures on Habitats
Sites, it was identified that there is a need for monitoring and mitigation measures. For this reason, the Policy DM 19 - Green
Infrastructure/Habitats Monitoring and Mitigation was adopted. The Gl element of this policy refers to opportunities to link to
wider networks, working with partners both within and beyond the Borough.

104

T



Page 22 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk

In relation to Habitats Regulations Assessment monitoring and mitigation the Council has also endorsed a Monitoring and
Mitigation Strategy.

This section is important as it acknowledges the need for “enhanced informal recreational provision”, rather than just amenity
space. By making this commitment, there is a guarantee that Gl enhancements will be provided on site that will improve the
borough and county GI network, rather than just green space.

Borough Council of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Green Infrastructure Study: Stage Two (GISS2) (2010)

The GISS2 was completed in 2010 and provides a borough wide analysis of; existing provision, deficits, potential improvements,
policies to deliver Gl and high, medium and low priority projects.

This study highlights Gl plans for the borough, and more specifically, three main towns; Hunstanton, Kings Lynn and Downham
Market. Together they act as a spatial framework of how the Gl vision will be delivered. The plans have been developed to
demonstrate existing Gl assets and potential new projects.

North Norfolk

North Norfolk have been reviewing their Gl provision on a strategic level through planning policy and supporting documents.
These are as follows:

North Norfolk Green Infrastructure Background Paper 5 (2019)

This GI Background Paper is a non-technical guide explaining the approach to Green Infrastructure and further guiding principles
to inform planning proposals and the site allocations in the emerging North Norfolk Local Plan 2016-2036. The following are the
interim overarching strategic objectives for the delivery of green infrastructure in North Norfolk.

This Background Paper provides a high level outline of green infrastructure and environmental considerations in North Norfolk.
The final published Green Infrastructure Strategy will provide the detail on the district wide approach — highlighting the district
wide corridors and how green infrastructure in the district can be enhanced and where new green infrastructure should be
provided.

First Draft Local Plan (Part 1)

The Draft Local Plan provides the overarching strategic approach to development and how it should be delivered (through
suitable development policies). The Plan ensures that good quality, sustainable development takes place in suitable locations
which respects the landscape, environment and heritage of North Norfolk.

As part of the comprehensive suite of environmental policies, the First Draft Local Plan also contains a specific proposed policy on
Green Infrastructure in order to safeguard, retain and enhance the network of green infrastructure. The proposed policy is Policy
ENV 5 Green Infrastructure.

This policy ensures that all new development incorporates Gl into its layout and design. This will help mitigate recreational
pressures on Habitats Sites and improve the wider Gl network.

Great Yarmouth

Great Yarmouth Local Plan — Core Strategy (December 2015)

105




Page 23 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Great Yarmouth

Itis clear that Gl plays an important role in the strategy for the district. Policy CS15 of the Local Plan relates to providing and
protecting community assets and green infrastructure. It states that “Everyone should have access to services and opportunities
that allow them to fulfil their potential and enjoy healthier, happier lives.”

Great Yarmouth Borough Council Infrastructure Plan (IP) (2014)

The IP identifies the green infrastructure needed to support the borough’s growth ambitions set out in the emerging Local Plan
over the plan period (2014 - 2029). It includes details of enhancements to existing Gl provision, along with there long-term
management. Estimated costs, funding sources and delivery leads have been set out within the document with the aim to
progress the projects within the Local Plan period.

Falling within the Greater Norwich region, South Norfolk has developed fundamental strategic and localised policies that help
support the Gl work being done on a county-wide level. This includes:

South Norfolk Local Plan Development Management Policies Document (LPDMPD) (2015)

As well as the Policies, Projects and Strategies promoted through the Greater Norwich Joint Core Strategy. South Norfolk also
currently has an adopted LPDMPD. Within this document, there are policies that refer to Gl such as: Policy DM 1.4 and Policy DM
4.4. These policies are as follows:

Policy DM 1.4 Environmental quality and local distinctiveness
Policy DM 4.4 Natural environmental assets - designated and locally important open space
Long Stratton Area Action Plan (AAP) (2016)

On a local level, implementation of the policies stated above will be supported by consideration of more detailed local green
infrastructure strategies such as those created for Long Stratton and Wymondham within their AAP’s. Both these towns sit along a
County-wide Strategic Green Infrastructure corridor, therefore the provision of high quality Gl within future development is
important.

The Long Stratton AAP provides an Indicative Green Infrastructure Plan that identifies the green infrastructure necessary to deliver
the requirements of the AAP. The area includes a network of public access routes and existing common land, linking across to the
long distance Norfolk Trails. The document states that “Development will be instrumental in integrating locally characteristic
greens, hedgerows, woodlands and ponds in to development east and west of Long Stratton.” In turn, the AAP also incorporates
Gl within its local policies. Such as:

=  Policy LNGS1 Land East, South-East And North-West Of Long Stratton
= Policy LNGS5 General Green Infrastructure Requirements For New Developments Within Long Stratton AAP Area

Local Policies such as these are integral to development management and ensuring we provide high quality green infrastructure
for new communities, as well as enhance the wider network.

Wymondham AAP (2016)

Similarly to Long Stratton, the Wymondham AAP provides an Indicative Green Infrastructure Plan that identifies the green
infrastructure necessary to deliver the requirements of the AAP.

106

T



Page 24 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

South Norfolk

Elsewhere in the AAP document, some allocations for development have specific policies which will address green infrastructure
issues particular to those sites.

Specifically, the policy that relates to Gl strategically is Policy WYM 8: General Green Infrastructure Requirements For New
Developments Within Wymondham AAP Area.

The Broads

The Broads Authority have its own policies in place to ensure the conservation and enhancement of the natural beauty, wildlife
and cultural heritage of the Broads is retained.

Local Plan for The Broads (Adopted 2019)

Policy DM8: Green infrastructure

There is an expectation that new development proposals will enhance, and integrate with, the local green infrastructure network.
Development shall contribute to the delivery and management of green infrastructure that meets the needs of communities and
biodiversity, both within and beyond the proposal’s boundaries, including establishment of new and enhancement of existing

green infrastructure.
The Broads Plan (2017)

The Broads Plan sets out a long-term vision and guiding actions to protect and enhance the area's special qualities. While the
Broads Authority were responsible for its production, it is a partnership plan, and its success is dependent on a common vision,
joint working and shared resources. Themes include but are not limited too; Managing water resource and flood risk, conserving
landscape character and the historic environment and offering distinctive recreational experiences.

Development Management Policies Local Plan (DM policies plan)

Within this document, there are policies that refer to Gl, such as Policy DM3: Design Principles and Policy DM6: Natural

Environmental Assets.

The River Wensum Strategy (2018)

The River Wensum Strategy is a long-term strategy aimed at enabling change and regeneration in the river corridor by improving
public access, providing high quality public realm and, enhancing the city’s environmental, cultural and historic offer in a manner
that contributes to Norwich’s regeneration. The strategy covers the river corridor from the city council boundary at Hellesdon to
the west, through to Whitlingham Country Park in the east. It was established by the River Wensum Strategy Partnership (RWSP),
which is led by Norwich City Council, alongside the Broads Authority, Norfolk County Council, the Environmental Agency and the
Wensum River Parkway Partnership.

Other documents that cover the Norwich area and have been reviewed under the Greater Norwich section of this chapter include:
= Greater Norwich Development Partnership (GNDP) Green Infrastructure Strategy (2007)
=  GNDP Green Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2009)
= Greater Norwich Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (Updated 2014)

= Greater Norwich Infrastructure Plan (GNIP) (2020)

107

T



PLACE

Page 25 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

2.4.4 Stakeholder Feedback from Workshop

An initial workshop was held for key stakeholders in May 2019 to gather local and specialised
knowledge from LPAs, organisations and individuals regarding Green Infrastructure. Appendix 5
provides details of the feedback that was gathered from the workshop.

A second workshop in July provided an opportunity to capture and discuss strategic
opportunities to create new green infrastructure provision based on planned housing growth.
Stakeholder/LPA Officer input helped to identify deficiencies/gaps in Green Infrastructure
provision, enhancement opportunities, potential constraints to protection/enhancement and
strategic opportunities to create new Gl provision based on predicted housing growth at the LPA
level. The details from this workshop have been detailed in Appendix 6.

It is important to understand that there are inconsistencies in the level of information provided
for each LPA area depending on attendance at the workshops. However, some of the key points
raised include, but are not limited to:

Constraints
o Lack of feasibility funding to properly develop projects
e Lack of funding for ongoing maintenance
e Conflict between user groups
e Saturation levels in terms of users demands on Green Space

e User expectations - facilitates types of users e.g. Dogs vs children

Opportunities
e Restoration opportunities at minerals extraction sites for nature and people

e Linkinto opportunities within the new ELMS (Environmental Land Management
Scheme) to consider land margin corridors and access

e Provision of accessibility in/around hot spots of housing to countryside

e Country Parks in key locations

2.4.5 Data Analysis

Our review of strategic level data has been collated into Table 1 below. As you can see, all LPAs
have standalone Gl policies, as well as Gl integrated within Strategic Policies in adopted or
emerging Local Plans. Furthermore, many of the LPAs also have strategic projects, strategies
and/or initiatives such as Infrastructure Plans and Gl Strategies in place, which set out a vision,
potential projects and implementation programmes. Those LPAs that do not have these in place,
such as the Broads and South Norfolk, fall within the region of other wider strategies. For
instance, South Norfolk is part of Greater Norwich and therefore projects and initiatives for South
Norfolk have been accounted for with the Greater Norwich Gl Strategy.

108

T



Page 26 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Table 1: Gl included at a Strategic Level across Norfolk LPAs

LPA Gl Policy Strategic Policies | Strategic Gl Localised Gl
with Gl integrated | Projects, Strategy | Policies and

and/or Initiatives | Initiatives (i.e.

Neighbourhood

Plans and AAPs)
Breckland 7 v - v
Broadland v v v v
Broads v v v v
Great Yarmouth v v v v
Greater Norwich v v v v
Kings Lynn and v v v v
West Norfolk
North Norfolk v v v v
Norwich v v v v
South Norfolk v v - v

To gain a greater understanding of the scale and complexity of the potential GI network, most of
the existing data has also been overlaid on to one map to show the breadth of the work that is
being undertaken. The baseline map used included the existing OS map showing District
boundaries, Local Plan site allocations and Habitats Sites locations.

109




OTT

Page 27 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure7: Base Map

Legend

- Urban Areas
- Site Allocations

~rpt
y _ _ s District Boundary

(] county Boundary

[:] Habitats Sites

PR )\

- - et TR D%
S T oo "‘g‘—‘h:'. « 3w
& 7 ,,1{, . . -: ,&U'- {
ST e -~ w [, ™ -

¥ Pt o - -$'| y J

e

Source: Place Services, 2020




Page 28 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

This was then overlaid with the 2018 ANGSt data (urban areas within skm of a 100Ha
greenspace) and County-wide Gl data; Strategic Gl Corridors and Habitat Core Areas. This gives
us a greater understanding of the county-wide aspirations for retention and enhancement,
versus the SANGs need.

111




AN’

Page 29 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 8:  Strategic Gl corridors and habitat core areas overlay

Source: Place Services, 2020

Legend

B van Aceas

B s anocatons

::::: District Boundary
County Boundary

[ ] Hattats Sites

— Strategc Gl Cormdors
Mabitat Core Azeas

-Weuand

Woodiand

- GrasslanwHeathiand

Urban areas within 10km of a 500Ha greenspace

Il Uvan Area meets standard
[ urvan area aces not meet stancara

- Accessible Greenspace greater of equat to 500ha



Page 30 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

The data shown in Figure 8 provides a more holistic approach to county-wide Gl potential,
whereas Figure 9 below includes the Strategic projects and initiatives in place such as the
Greater Norwich Priority Areas and Thetford Loops.

Although it may seem that there are Gl project deficits in some areas such as North Norfolk, the
maps do not include the Policies and LPA-wide Strategies highlighted in Table 2. For instance,
the North Norfolk Emerging Local Plan and North Norfolk Green Infrastructure Background Paper
5 provide a detailed understanding of the district’s Gl, strategic initiatives and opportunities that
will also help accommodate the pressures associated with impacts on Habitats Sites emanating
from the level of growth planned in individual Local Plans.

113




Vi1

Page 31 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 9:  Plan making level (Strategic) Gl Projects and Initiatives

Source: Place Services, 2020

Legend
B v Aceas

I s Avocations
b o o o3 DRIPKt Boundary
E County Boundary
Habfals Shes
— Strategic Gl Comdors
Habital Core Areas
B Wetana
[ . Woodiana
P crassanameathiand
Lrban areas wirin 10km of a S00Ha greenspace
Il ton A meets stancare
D Urban Area does not meet standard
- Accessitie Groenspace greaser or equal to 500ha
s orwach City Urban Green Gnd Gl Prionty Areas
B Grester Norwich Priarity
Arcas o GI
A. Norwich (o e Broaos
8. Wymananam 1o Noceich
C. Water City

D, Five Rivers
E. Long Stratton 1o Norwich

e KLAWN Disused Ratwiys
-Gaymouvney
-Wlss:ylmm;lm

Project
I fans Waterwary Link - Ouse 10 Nene
_> Kings Lynn WashNoefolk Coast Path Link
e ThitiOEd LOOPS

4—



Page 32

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

As well as the strategic studies that have been completed, there are also a number of localised
plans and strategic policies that are emerging, or in place, that also strengthen the county’s Gl.
Table 2 below provides all of the local studies that provide reference to GI. This includes
reference to recreation and connectivity enhancements, habitat protection and enhancements,
new development open space, and Gl inclusion. Figure 9 also shows all localised initiative areas

overlaid on the GI map.

Table2:  Local studies and plans that reference Gl

Local initiatives and plans that include references to Gl

Breckland

Attleborough NP — Objective ESD 1

New Buckenham NP (Emerging) — Policy CE1
Saham Toney NP (Emerging) — Policy 7E
Swanton Morley NP

Yaxham NP — Policy ENV3

The River Valley Park Concept (RVP Concept)- which is not a
policy but one which the Thetford Area Action Plan can
contribute to as some policies fall under the River Valley Park
project.

“The RVP concept includes river and wetland habitat
restoration and landscape enhancement projects and
multifunctional routes connecting within Thetford and out to
the wider G/ of the region.”

The Great Ouse Wetland Vision - “which is a vision to restore
and enhance river and flood plain habitat to benefit
biodiversity. It is a joint Environment Agency and Natural
England initiative to deliver an enhanced environment for

fish and other wildlife.”

The Wendling Beck Exemplar Partnership Nature restoration
project (2020) - This nature restoration project covers
approximately 2000 acres north of Dereham, bringing
together the key stakeholders and landowners in the river
catchment to deliver a catchment focused story of river
restoration, natural capital improvement, ecological
enhancement and ecosystem services improvements.

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk
Brancaster NP

Sedgeford NP

115

Broadland

East Broadland Gl Plan
West Broadland Gl Plan
Acle NP

Aylsham NP

Blofield NP

Brundall NP

Drayton NP

Great and Little Plumstead NP
Hellesdon NP

Horsford NP

Old Catton NP
Rackheath NP
Salhouse NP
Sprowston NP
Strumpshaw NP

Wroxham NP

South Norfolk
Cringleford NP

Easton NP

T



Page 33 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Local initiatives and plans that include references to Gl

Snettisham NP Mulbarton NP

South Wooton NP Poringland NP (Emerging)

North Runcton and West Winch NP Wymondham AAP
Long Stratton AAP

North Norfolk Great Yarmouth

Blakeney NP Rollesby NP (Emerging)

Corpusty and Saxthorpe NP Hemsby NP (Emerging)

Holt NP

Ryburgh NP

Norwich The Broads

River Wensum Strategy (adopted 2018) The Broads Plan

Development Management Policies Local Plan (2014) -
Policy DM3 — Delivering High Quality Design

Policy DM6 — Protecting and enhancing the natural
environment

As can be seen from the figure below, Gl initiatives, projects and strategies are located county-
wide, with local enhancement opportunities at the forefront of local planning. This will in turn
help enhance the county Gl network, but also accommodate the pressures associated with
impacts on Habitats Sites.

116




LTT

Page 34 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 10: Compiled Gl layers Map

Legend

O Localised Strategies and Initiatives

B site Atiocations
£ Ot Soncry
(] camty ounsa
m— Strategic Gl Corridors
Habitat Core Areas
I wetiand
Woodland
[ Grassland/Heathiand
Urban areas within 10km of a 500Ha greenspace
Il Uroan Area meets standara
D Urban Area does not meet standard
- Accessible Greenspace greater or egual to S00ha
I Vvending Beck Natural Capital Project
e Norwich City Urban Green Grid G| Priority Areas
E Greater Norwich Priority
Areas for GI

A. Norwich to the Broads

B. Wymondham to Norwich
C. Water City
D. Five Rivers
E. Long Stratton to Norwich

— KLWN Disused Railways
- Gaywood Valley

Wissey Living Landscape
[ et

[ Fens Waterway Link - Ouse to Nene

» Kings Lynn Wash/Norfolk Coast Path Link
e Thetford Loops

IR



Page 35 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy PLACE '

SERVICES

2.4.6 Baseline Conclusions

To conclude, on a Strategic level all LPAs have initiatives in place that accommodate the pressures
associated with impacts on Habitats Sites emanating from the level of growth planned in individual
Local Plans. For many this is in the form of Gl Policies, Strategy documents and/or Projects, and local
initiatives that will not only enhance the Gl network, but in turn also provide improvements to
recreation, biodiversity and wellbeing, and action regarding climate change. Strategic development
policies relevant to allocations within Local Plans also include requirements for Green Infrastructure
provision, which will meet the daily demands for new residents, as well as contribute to the county Gl
network and strategic green corridors.

Therefore, to meet county-wide Gl needs there needs to be a reliance on current county sites, the
national initiatives and current emerging Local Plan facilities. In consideration of the mitigation
measures explored and proposed within the RAMS section of this Strategy document, we consider
(based on the data collected and assessed from all LPAs and Annexes | and Il of the Natural England
Confirmation of Approach Taken letter (see Appendix 1)) that there is no specific need for a ‘County-
wide / level’ Gl scheme solution to mitigate recreational effects on Habitats Sites. This is because the
strategic Gl policies, objectives and initiatives LPAs have in place or emerging, are appropriate given
the level of growth expected across the County.

2.5 Opportunity Areas for Improving the Gl Network at the Strategic level

2.5.1 Relationship with the RAMS

On review, there are several local, district and county-wide strategies and projects in place across
Norfolk that are appropriate to avoid the impacts on Habitats Sites emanating from the level of growth
planned forin the individual LPA Local Plans. For this reason, and in consideration of the mitigation
measures explored and proposed within the RAMS section of this Strategy document, there is no
specific need for a ‘County-wide / level’ solution to mitigate recreational effects on Habitats Sites and
LPAs should continue to work towards strategic Gl policies, aims and objectives that are already in
place or emerging at the plan making level, and local initiatives.

2.5.2 Strategic Opportunity Areas (SOA)

Although there is no specific need for County-wide projects, given the NE recommendation for the
provision of well-designed open space/Gl on-site of residential developments within the identified
Norfolk RAMS ZOlI (or contributions towards strategic Gl within LPA areas (see Appendix 1 — Annex | and
1)), Strategic Opportunity Areas (SOA) for Gl enhancements have been identified across the County. No
significant studies have been completed to decide their location; instead, the location of these SOAs
are based on workshop feedback, current projects and initiatives, ANGSt deficits, existing Gl provision,
Habitats Sites and predicted housing growth. Site opportunities include existing open spaces that
could be enhanced, new EGI provision and recreational route improvements that will create a
significant draw and ’day out’ qualities similar to that of Country Parks/SANGs.

It is important to note that these SOAs do not need to be brought forward by LPAs to meet the strategic
need, nor are they directly required in regard to current recreational pressures. The SOAs are purely
recommended as additional opportunities that could be explored as part of further studies in the
future. If LPAs wanted to investigate the opportunities further, we would advise the SOAs and any 0S

118

—



Page 36 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy PLACE

SERVICES

within them are audited against SANG quality criteria (see Appendix 6) to assess the site-specific
delivery projects that need to be delivered to meet these requirements and in turn deflect residents
from visiting Habitats Sites.

2.5.2.1 Methodology

As stated above, the SOAs were not derived from a significant study and therefore no site surveys were
undertaken. As a substitute, the following steps were taken:

1. Baseline Review

This was purely a desk-based study to identify and map existing data available by LPAs and the County
Environment Team. This includes existing green spaces, corridors and links, potential projects that
have been included in existing planning and Gl-related documents, such as Area Action Plans. As this
review was based on existing information, there are inconsistencies in the level of information
available from each LPA area, which impacts the detail available in this strategy.

2. Stakeholder Workshops

These involved talking to key stakeholders to identify what Gl enhancements, deficits and project
opportunities are available across the Norfolk area. Maps were printed and brought along to the
workshops to allow stakeholders to mark on the location of potential Gl projects (See Appendix 5).

The key stakeholders included the majority of LPAs as well other interested parties such as Natural
England, Norfolk County Council’s Environment Team, Norfolk Wildlife Trust and Royal Society for the
Protection of Birds (RSPB). As with the Baseline Review, the data collected from these workshops
varied per LPA and therefore there are inconsistencies in the data presented in Appendix 5.

3. Selection and Review

The opportunity areas were sent to all the stakeholders involved in this Strategy for consultation. Post
review, Opportunity Areas were amended and added to form the completed Strategy document.

2.5.2.2 Strategic Opportunity Area Locations

The figure below shows the location of these Opportunity Areas and the following sub-sections offer
further information regarding each of these per LPA area where relevant.

119




0cT

Page 37 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 11:  Norfolk Gl Strategic Opportunity Areas

Source: Place Services, 2020

Legend

Opportunity Areas

- Site Allocations
B3 _: District Boundary
D County Boundary

[ Habitats Sites
Strategic GI Comidors
Habrtat Core Areas

B vetons

Woodiand

- Grassland/Heathiand

Urban areas within 10km of a 500Ha greenspace

Il vvan Area meets standard
[ urban Area does not meet standard

- Accessibie Greenspace greater of equal to 500ha



Page 38 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

2.5.2.1 North Norfolk

In North Norfolk, the Gl network is diverse, with a mosaic of fields, hedgerows and woodlands as well
as a long stretch of AONB coastline. It is home to the Norfolk Coast Path (National Trail) as well a
number of national cycle routes. In terms of development, Cromer, Fakenham and North Walsham are
defined as ‘Large Growth Towns’ and have been identified as the areas where the majority of new
commercial, residential and other types of development will take place. On this basis, five SOAs are
proposed:

Figure 12: Strategic Opportunity Areas for North Norfolk

Legend

Lt Arean
Nar AtOcahom

.-.-: Dot Doursary

\W = D County Dowsvdary

ety Saen
Opportundy Avvas

— SR O Commoon

Source: Place Services, 2020

SOA 1 - Fakenham is due to have a large influx of development, with approximately 800-g9o0o dwellings
proposed north of the town, on the land north of Rudham Stile Lane. Currently there are no publicly
accessible natural or semi-natural green spaces on the site, or within 1 km of the site, and all of the
nearest semi-natural or natural greenspace sites are within (or abut) the sensitive SAC/SSSI Wensum
River Valley corridor.

Furthermore, Fakenham is relatively poorly served by its public rights of way network and therefore
there is little connectivity to the wider countryside. None of the Norfolk Trails pass close to Fakenham
and it would be a significant challenge to try to walk to the National Trail routes (14km to the Norfolk
Coast path and 15km to the Peddars Way) from there. Forthese reasons, significant Enhanced Gl would
be desirable north of the A148 Fakenham bypass. This would help to relieve pressure on sensitive
routes to the south of the town and along the River Wensum corridor. This would also likely attract
residents and visitors that would otherwise continue travelling north to the coast.

The SOA falls within the Woodland Core Area and lies north of the Strategic Gl corridor. Suitable

121

I



Page 3 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy
9 PLACE

SERVICES

Accessible Natural Greenspace within this area should include:
e Parking for visitors
e Minimum of a 2.7km Walking Route
e Inclusive and accessible — meet disability needs and provide for varied groups
e Wayfinding in the form of signposts and advertisements.
e Naturalistic Space that should include:
o Woodland

o Open (non-wooded) areas

Play facilities

SOA 2 - Holt Country Park is owned and managed by North Norfolk District Council and lies on the edge
of the Norfolk Coast Area of Qutstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). It consists of heathland and woodland
landscapes that can be explored by walking and cycling. Dogs are allowed on site and it is open all year
round. Improvements such as a café and upgraded playground have already taken place, which make it
a great attraction within the local area. However, further enhancements could be implemented to
attract a wider audience. Given its sensitive proximity to the AONB and SSSI, careful consideration also
needs to be given to habitat and biodiversity creation and enhancements to benefit the GI network.
Other enhancements that could be considered include:

e Artand Sculpture

e Facilities for less able visitors, such as easy trails, seats and information available in
accessible formats

e Educational events
e An outreach programme promoting your site to less represented sectors of the community

SOA 3 - Enhancements to Weaver’s Way and circular routes around Great Wood and Felbrigg would
provide an attractive walking and cycling route for residents and visitors that deter people from visiting
the coast. Initiatives could include:

= Clearly sign-posted or advertised in some way
= Various walking routes for different capabilities
=  Well maintained footpaths, preferably unsurfaced where possible to avoid an urban feel.

SOA 4 - North Walsham is well served by the Norfolk Trail network with 2 Trails providing three routes
out of town. The 61-mile Weavers Way is a long-distance route that connects Cromer to Great Yarmouth
via North Walsham. The Weavers Way also connects with The Norfolk Coast Path, Angles Way,
Wherryman’s Way and the Paston Way. There is also a connection to the Bure Valley Way and Marriot’s
Way at Aylsham.

Additionally, North Walsham is proposed to have the largest influx of development across North
Norfolk in the form of a Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) known as ‘The North Walsham Western
Extension’. The site is expected to deliver a range of infrastructure and community facilities including a
new western link road, employment land, a primary school and other key infrastructure. The site covers
some 95ha of open countryside on the west of the town and would envelop a number of public rights of
way and The Weavers Way. Towns and Village to the west and south west of North Walsham currently

122

B



Page 40 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

do not meet the ‘within skm of a 100Ha greenspace’ ANGSt. Therefore, with this large expansion
expected, enhancements are needed to existing Public Rights of Way (PRoW) access, such as Weaver’s
Way and Paston Way, as well as enhancements to recreational opportunities in the local area to attract
residents and local visitors. For this reason, the land south-west of North Walsham has been
determined as an Opportunity Area; specifically, North Walsham Wood, Lord Anson’s Wood, Bacton
Wood and Perch Lake Plantation and the surrounding area. Collectively these areas could become a
new Country Park/SANG (or equivalent) and enable access into surrounding PRoW and long-distance
trails. Currently Lord Anson’s Wood is an allocated site in Norfolk Waste and Minerals Local Plan for
sand and gravel extraction. However, it is recommended it be restored to heathland with public access,
which could be incorporated into any future project.

2.5.2.2 South Norfolk

South Norfolk is a landscape of arable farmland intersected by river valleys. As with Broadland, South
Norfolk is working to produce the Greater Norwich Local Plan (GNLP) through the Greater Norwich
Development Partnership (GNDP). Although locally there a multiple Gl projects taking place, three SOAs
have been recommended.

Figure 13: Strategic Opportunity Areas of South Norfolk

Legend

- Urban Arcas
- Site Allocations

b 4 District Boundary

lows

D Counly Boundary

[ | Habitats Sttes
Oppartunity Areas

w— Slralegic Gl Comdors

Source: Place Services, 2020

SOA 5 - It is predicted that Wymondham will grow between now and 2026 with a minimum of 2,200
new homes and a further 20 hectares of employment land. Furthermore, The GNDP Green Infrastructure
(GI) Strategy (2007) identifies Wymondham as a point where two strategic (and one local) Green
Infrastructure corridors meet. The Wymondham Area Action Plan has set a vision for ‘Kett’s Country — a
virtual Country Park’; a pastoral landscape of grassland, woodland, farmland, hedgerow and wetland
habitats. Other enhancements include:

e Minimum of a 2.7km Walking Route (preferably circular)

e Links to long distance footpaths

123

I



Page 41 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy PLACE >

SERVICES

e Woodland planting

e Management plans for biodiversity, geodiversity and preservation of the historic
environment

SOA 6 - Long Stratton has been identified in the Joint Core Strategy for at least 1,800 new dwellings and
employment opportunities. This is also required to deliver a new bypass for the village, alongside other
infrastructure. Long Stratton has also been identified as containing core woodland areas. Within the
area there are also a number of key sites including Fritton Common and Tyrells Wood SSSls, Wood
Green and Tyrells Wood/New Plantation County Wildlife Sites, ancient replanted woodland at The Grove
and smaller non-designated sites such as Morningthorpe Green. As development takes place, it is
important that the Gl network in and around Long Stratton is enhanced and developed to ensure
suitable levels of Gl quality and quantity are available in the local area, especially given many of the
towns and villages in the surrounding area do not meet the ANGSt for being within skm of a 100Ha AGS.
For these reasons, initiatives such as the following could be developed:

e Minimum of a 2.7km Walking Route (preferably circular)

e Links to long distance footpaths

e Enhancements to natural green space, such as woodlands and grass and heathlands
e Unrestricted spaces for dogs to be off lead

e Signposts and other forms of wayfinding

SOA 7 - Housing growth planned in Diss suggests that enhancements could be made to the
surrounding walking and cycling network. Although the area has plentiful PRoW, assurance that these
are connected with a range of circular routes of different lengths, would be desirable. There are also
opportunities to connect and enhance the Boudicca Way (Norwich to Diss) with a link onto Angles Way
which follows the River Waveney. Furthermore, with the Common Land Creation Scheme, a programme
of improving access to and creating new areas of Common Land for public recreation, further
enhancements to the land surrounding the recreation routes could be achieved to provide attractions
for those with other interests. This could include:

e Various walking routes for different capabilities
e An outreach programme promoting your site to less represented sectors of the community

o A programme of events and guided walks, promoting healthy living and environmental
awareness

e Brown and white tourist directional signs

2.5.2.3 Broadland

Broadland District is predominantly rural, covering an area of 213 square miles to the north of the City
of Norwich, Norfolk. It embraces large areas of low-lying arable land, and to a lesser extent, pasture
farmland. It also contains numerous woodlands and plantations along with areas of historic parkland.
Broadland District Council is working together with Norwich City Council and South Norfolk District
Council to produce the Greater Norwich Local Plan (GNLP) through the Greater Norwich Development
Partnership (GNDP). Although locally there a multiple Gl projects taking place, on a county-wide level
two SOAs fall within the district, with North Norfolk SOA 4 overlapping into Broadland, north of
Aylsham.

124

B



Page 42 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 14: Strategic Opportunity Areas for Broadland

Legend

B vvan Avas
- Sile Allocations

g ‘: Distnct Boundary

leoe
D County Soundary
[7 ”'; Haodats Stes

Cppormty Arcas
s Sirategic GI Comoors

Source: Place Services, 2020

SOA 8 - The North West Woodland is situated north west of Norwich and has already been identified as
a project area in the West Broadland Gl Strategy (GNIP Project GIP8.1 - North west Forest & Heaths),
which seeks to develop a primary corridor connecting woodlands and heaths to the north-west of
Norwich. An area of land known as the Houghen Plantation that falls within this Opportunity Area and is
surrounded by common land has also already been purchased by Broadland District Council with plans
to turn it into a Country Park. Project opportunities include:

e Minimum of a 2.7km Walking Route (preferably circular)
e Links to long distance footpaths

e Avariety of habitats for user experience

e Visually sensitive way-markers

e Volunteering programmes

e Play facilities

SOA 9 - This area encompasses the Broadland Way, which is the ‘missing link’ of the ‘green loop’
between Wroxham and Norwich (Thorpe St. Andrew). If developed and enhanced, it would link up with
Marriott’s Way and the Bure Valley Path to create an almost circular route across the Broadland District.
This would not only provide additional recreational routes, but also enable new residential
developments, such as the proposed 300 home mixed use development in North Rackheath, to embed
itself into the wider Gl network. In addition to this, the southern corridor lies along two major arterial
routes; the A1151 and the A47 which lead directly to the Habitats Sites; therefore Gl enhancements
could provide a direct interception. This route is also referred to in the East Broadland Gl plan and the
Burlingham Estate (identified in the GNIP) is also situated within the Opportunity Area. New facilities

125

I



Page 43 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

referred to in the East Broadland Gl plan include:
e New volunteer group and events
e Accessible routes for all user groups
¢ New woodland planting
e Improved car parking provision

e Artand Sculptures

2.5.2.4 Great Yarmouth

The Borough’s natural environment is rich in biodiversity with a total of 223.5 ha of open space
provision. This includes a variety of public parks, ornamental gardens and general amenity spaces
which are managed by Great Yarmouth Borough Council. The current population is approximately
98,700 and growing, with it predicted to reach 105,400 by 2021. For this reason, the Great Yarmouth
Local Plan has defined two strategic locations for major residential and employment development, at
Beacon Park and the Waterfront Area.

126




Page 44 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 15: Strategic Opportunity Areas for Great Yarmouth

Legend

Urban Areas

- Site Alocations

o ': District Boundary

D County Boundary
Habelats Sites

Opportunity Areas
w— Strategic Gi Cormdors

Source: Place Services, 2020

SOA 10 - The Beacon Park SUE (Core Strategy - Policy CS18g) is for approximately 1,000 new homes,
and construction is already underway. To help meet the demands of this growth along with other
emerging growth areas such as ‘Land south of Links Road, Gorleston-on-Sea’ for soo dwellings (Final
Draft Local Plan Part 2 - Policy GN1), it is proposed that consideration could be given to options to open
up routes from the railway lines for recreation could be explored, along with the creation of a potential
for a new ‘Country Park’ environment to reduce or prevent the likely increase in visitor numbers on
Habitats Sites. If considered, to maximise its purpose to redirect recreational visitors the following
initiatives should be considered could be provided:

e Parking for visitors
e Minimum of a 2.7km Walking Route
e Links to long distance footpaths

¢ Inclusive and accessible — meet disability needs and provide for varied groups

127

I



Page 45 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

e Wayfinding in the form of signposts and advertisements.
e Unrestricted areas for dogs to be off lead.
e Naturalistic Space that should include:

o Woodland

o Open (non-wooded) areas

o Wetlands

2.5.2.5 King’s Lynn and West Norfolk

King’s Lynn and West Norfolk is predominantly rural in character and has a very diverse and varied
landscape. In addition to the Borough’s three main towns of King’s Lynn, Downham Market and

Hunstanton, there are more than one hundred villages of varying sizes. On this basis, three SOAs have
been identified.

128




Page 46 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 16: Strategic Opportunity Areas for King’s Lynn and West Norfolk

Legend

- Urban Areas
- Site Allocations

1= T 7' District Boundary

P
D County Boundary
|:| Habitats Sites

Opportunity Areas

== Strategic Gl Corridors

!
I
IC’
‘} e (P onsains OF data ® Crown Copyright and
; : database right 2020
Yl e 3 ﬂ“.:-‘ 2 ron™ 9 %00 ack
. w T ~ :
e % ' -y

Source: Place Services, 2020

SOA 11 - The home of conservationist Lord Melchett, Courtyard Farm has provided circular walks around
the farm, showing the work that they do and the specially created wildlife habitats on site. There are
two way-marked circular walks of 2 miles and one 6 mile walk around the farm, on public footpaths, as
well as several miles of permissive paths. This provides an opportunity to enhance the area further and
provide activities that can make the site a destination for all. Furthermore, there are opportunities to
connect into the Ringstead Loop, a 23-mile circular walk and also Peddars Way National Trail. Other
potential enhancements include:

e Wayfinding and interpretation signage

129

I



Page 47 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

PLACE

SERVICES

e Inclusive and accessible — meet disability needs and provide for varied groups

SOA 12 - A total of 142 hectares of the Queen’s private estate at Sandringham was designated as a
Country Park in 1968. Since then it has been enlarged to include nearly 243 hectares of parkland. The
Country Park is an ideal destination for local residents and visitors from afar with nature trails, a café
and shop. For these reasons, there are many opportunities to work with the Sandringham Estate to
enhance the Country Park further and create key connections into the wider Gl network by:

e Linking to long distance footpaths
e Varied habitat improvements (woodland, heathland and wetland)

SOA 13 - King’s Lynn housing growth means the demand for infrastructure has grown. It is already
proposed that new Green Infrastructure will be provided in connection with the strategic housing
developments at a location around the fringe of the town, with further opportunities sought to enhance
provision in or around the Gaywood Valley and in the Bawsey/Leziate Countryside Sports and
Recreation Zone. Therefore, it is suggested that a site outside the settlement would be beneficial.
Bawsey Pits, a former quarry, has been restored back to grassland with associated lakes. As
recommended by stakeholders, it makes a key location for Gl enhancements and has the potential to
become a larger Country Park if enhancements such as the following are made:

e Parking for visitors
e Minimum of a 2.7km Walking Route
e Inclusive and accessible — meet disability needs and provide for varied groups
o Wayfinding in the form of signposts and advertisements.
e Naturalistic Space that should include:
o Woodland
o Open (non-wooded) areas

e Play facilities

2.5.2.6 Breckland

In the Breckland emerging Local Plan new developments will be expected to provide opportunities to
incorporate Green Infrastructure and enhance existing connectivity, recognising the intrinsic value of
the Green Infrastructure network and ensuring that the functionality of the network is not undermined
as a result of development. To coincide with this, four SOAs are proposed to enhance the Gl network.

130




Page 48 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 17: Strategic Opportunity Areas for Breckland

Legend

Urban Areas

- Site Allocations

. = ': District Boundary

D County Boundary
|:, Habitats Sites

Opportunity Areas

wem  Strategic Gl Corridors

€ Crown ll
aht 70"0

(""mam* da OS Aoom)tack

\
.

Source: Place Services, 2020

SOA 14 - It is currently proposed that Swaffham will provide an additional 1,612 new dwellings over the
period of the emerging Local Plan. Of these 1,612 dwellings, 1007 have either already been completed
or are committed, with further 605 dwellings proposed up to 2036. The River Nar is a chalk stream and
like many rivers it has been highly modified with mill and priory diversions, culverts, fords, water
meadows and land-drainage dredging. Currently there is a restoration project sponsored by the Norfolk
Rivers Trust via the Catchment Restoration Fund to ‘re-wild’ the river. Alongside this project there are
opportunities to implement enhanced suitability Gl to improve connectivity, provide circular routes for
cycling and walking and countryside activities, along with:

131

I



Page 49 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

PLACE

SERVICES

e Inclusive and accessible-meet disability needs and provide for varied groups
o Wayfinding in the form of signposts and advertisements
e |Improvements to wetland areas

SOA 15 - The Wendling Beck Exemplar Partnership is a landscape scale nature restoration project
covering approximately 2,000 acres north of Dereham. The project brings together the key stakeholders
and landowners in the river catchment, including; Norfolk Rivers Trust, Breckland District Council and
NWT to deliver a catchment focused story of river restoration natural capital improvement, ecological
enhancement and ecosystem services improvements.

The ambition is to use Biodiversity Net Gain policy from the forthcoming Environment Bill to help
finance and deliver a new approach to conservation management. The project will run for a minimum of
30 years, but the vision is to develop a habitat bank framework that will enable it to run in perpetuity.
Aims and objectives include:

e Systematic conservation planning approach

e Sustainable financial model

e Habitat restoration and creation to support biodiversity
e River restoration and enhancement

e Public access and creation of quiet recreational space

e Linking to wide Gl connections

SOA 16 - It is proposed throughout the stakeholder workshop process that a secondary Forestry
England site could be proposed close to the northern edge of Thetford Forest. Currently there is a wide
range of recreational activities available in other locations across the Forest, therefore it was suggested
that an ecological park would be more appropriate to attract visitors with different interests. It is
considered that any proposal would benefit from having:

e Avariety of habitats for user experience

e Visually sensitive way-makers

SOA 17 - Thetford has one of the district’s largest residential development allocations, with a large SUE
of approximately 5,000 new homes, known as Kingsfleet, already granted planning permission. Work
has already commenced on Phase 1, with the development due to be completed by 2024. Some of the
key requirements of the development is it provides an integrated walking and cycling network, that
connects into Thetford’s existing network. However, it is felt that further opportunities lie north west of
the site for enhance suitability Gl that could take away pressure from other areas of Thetford Forest.
From a desk top analysis, it would be recommended that numerous recreation routes could be
implemented with connections to plantation woodland and Brettenham Nature Reserve, further North
West of Thetford. Project initiatives could include:

e Parking for visitors
e Minimum of a 2.7km Walking Route
e Links to long distance foot paths

e Inclusive and accessible-need disability needs and provide for varied groups

132

B



Page 50 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

e Visually sensitive way-markers
e Naturalistic Space that should include:
o Woodland

o Open (non-wooded) areas

2.5.2.7 Norwich

Greater Norwich (Norwich City Council, along with South Norfolk Council and Broadland District Council)
have recently published the GNIP. The GNIP identifies several projects across the Greater Norwich area,
with many already being progressed and delivered. This includes but is not limited too; Kett’s Heights
biodiversity improvements, Earlham Millennium Green Improvement Project, and Castle Gardens. This,
along with the emerging GN Local Plan are being used to support the City and the surrounding area in
delivering strategic infrastructure to support growth, provide people with a high quality of life and
enhance the natural environment. Many projects have already been scoped out, with some in the
feasibility stage and others being delivered through a range of funding streams. To assist with delivery,
the SOAs below reflect a number of these projects:

Figure 18: Opportunity Areas for Norwich

B ursan Areas

177" Dbt Boundary
lows
Habilats Sies

Opportundty Areas
— Stratege Gl Comoors

19

e L
r -
A v
’ ~ - Cardaing QS data © Crown Copyright and datsbase right 2020
\ N2 . ’ Contars amta from 05 2oomstack
- 4 L

Source: Place Services, 2020

SOA 18 - The Yare Valley Gl Corridor / Yare Valley Walk / Norwich Fringe South is an expanding area of
enhanced Green Infrastructure, including the River Yare, a number of woodland parcels, and marshland
habitats that are under increasing environmental pressures. As housing needs in the area grow, it is
important that POS improvements, pedestrian and cycle connectivity and habitat enhancements are
delivered. The Norfolk Fringe Project has already helped deliver many projects, including a new
boardwalk that makes areas of the man-made broad at the University of East Anglia accessible in wet

T

133



Page 51 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy PLACE

SERVICES

conditions.

However, there are other expected projects in the pipeline that are in early fruition and need further
investment and design work. These projects include:

= Bowthorpe and Earlham Marshes paths
= Yare Valley Path Northern extension

= Danby Wood improvements

= Earlham Woods enhancements

SOA 19 — The emerging Greater Norwich Local Plan allocates approximately soha of land in east
Norwich (the ‘East Norwich Strategic Regeneration Area’ comprising Carrow Works, the Deal Ground/
May Gurney site, and the Utilities site) for comprehensive mixed use development with the potential for
significant new housing and employment in this prominent gateway location. A masterplan is in the
process of being commissioned which will form the basis of a supplementary planning document to
supplement the GNLP policy. The draft (Regulation 18) policy 7.1 notes, in relation to the East Norwich
Strategic Regeneration Area, the need to protect and enhance green infrastructure assets, corridors and
open spaces within the area, including enhancing linkages from the city centre to the Broads, the wider
rural area and elsewhere in Norwich, to include pedestrian /cycle links between Whitlingham Country
Park and the city centre.

SOA 20 -The River Wensum that runs through Norwich has already been identified as an important Gl
corridor within both the JCS and GNIP. As a result, the River Wensum Strategy (adopted 2018) was
produced with the aim of delivering the vision of improving the management of the river corridor and its
surroundings, increasing access to (and use of) the area by all, including enhanced connectivity with
the Norfolk Trails network, as well as enhancing the natural and built environment. Site specific
projects for this area have already been derived and we would recommend implementation strategies
for these continue. These projects include:

o Complete key sections of the riverside walk between New Mills and Trowse Swing Bridge
e Improved accessibility of the riverside walk in the city centre to make it accessible for all

e Enhanced links between the city centre and Whitlingham, and enhance connectivity to the
Norfolk Trails network.

2.6 Recommendations

2.6.1 Overview

The Natural England RAMS Interim Advice Letter (Appendix 1) recommends that “large developments
(50+ houses) include green space that is proportionate to its scale to minimise any predicted increase
in recreational pressure to designated sites, by containing the majority of recreation within and around
the developed site.” In this Strategy, this is defined as EGI and given the importance of deflecting
recreation pressure from Habitats Sites in the first instance, it is advised that it would be beneficial to
review existing or proposed localised Green Infrastructure Strategies and/or policies to include
enhancements proposed through EGI.

The Natural England Interim Advice Letter also states that “even when well-designed, ‘on-site’

134

B



Page 52 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

provisions are unlikely to fully mitigate impacts when all residential development within reach of the
coast is considered together ‘in combination’” and therefore they advise that “consideration of ‘off-
site’ measures (i.e. in and around the relevant European designated site(s)) are also required as part of
the mitigation package for predicted recreational disturbance impacts in these cases.” Gl may be
necessary at the local (development site) level, to be secured by the LPA at the application stage and
strategic (Local Plan making) level to divert and deflect visitors from the Habitats Sites. This strategy
has discounted the need for additional County-wide measures. However, outside of Local Plan periods,
this may not be the case and therefore the need will need to be re-assessed. For this reason, we would
also recommend that an EGI Quality audit is undertaken of all existing open spaces.

2.6.2 EGI Audit

The effectiveness of EGl and SANGs as mitigation relies upon location and design. Therefore, it is
necessary for measures to be of a certain quality. Whilst no formal guidance has been produced to
determine what criteria may be required to provide suitable SANG or EGI to functionally divert
recreational pressure from the Habitats Sites, many audits for other local authorities have based their
assessment on criteria agreed by Natural England to provide SANG for the Thames Basin Heaths SPA
(Provided in Appendix 3).

2.6.2.1 EGI Quality Criteria
The following guidelines for ‘EGI quality’ are taken from the Natural England SANGs Guidance and have
been revised where necessary to meet the Norfolk need:

Accessibility =  The amount and nature of parking provision should reflect the anticipated use of the site by
visitors. It should provide an attractive alternative to parking by the part of the Habitats Site for
which it is mitigation.

= Carparks should be clearly signposted and easily accessed.
=  New parking provision should be advertised as necessary to ensure that it is known of by
potential visitors.
Networks of sites =  Because a large proportion of visitors to the Habitats Sites have long walks or run or bicycle
rides the provision of longer routes is important.
=  The design of routes within sites smaller than about 40 ha will be critical to providing routes of
sufficient length and attractiveness for mitigation purposes.
Paths, Roads and =  Findings suggest that you should aim to supply a choice of routes of around 2.7km in length
Tracks with both shorter and longer routes of at least skm as part of the choice, where space permits.

=  Paths do not have to be of any particular width, and both vehicular-sized tracks and narrow
PRoW type paths are acceptable to visitors.

=  Paths should be routed so that they are perceived as safe by the users, with some routes being
through relatively open (visible) terrain (with no trees or scrub, or well-spaced mature trees, or
wide rides with vegetation back from the path), especially those routes which are 1-3 km long.

= Paths should be surfaced but not necessarily tarmac paths, particularly where these blend in
well with the landscape.

135

I



Page 53 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Artificial = Generally, an urban influence is not what people are looking for when they visit the Habitats
Infrastructure Sites and some people undoubtedly visit the Habitats Sites because they have a naturalness
about it that would be marred by such features.

= |twould be expected that sites have adequate car parking with good information about the site
and the routes available. Some subtle way-marking would also be expected for those visitors
not acquainted with the layout of the site.

= Otherinfrastructure would not be expected and should generally be restricted to the vicinity of
car parking areas where good information and signs of welcome should be the norm, though
discretely placed benches orinformation boards along some routes would be acceptable.

Landscape and =  Asemi-natural looking landscape with plenty of variation was regarded as most desirable by
Vegetation visitors. Landscape features within the landscape will vary depending on the Habitats Site you
are trying to deflect visitors from.

= Thereis clearly a balance to be struck between what is regarded as an exciting landscape and
a safe one and so some element of choice between the two would be highly desirable.

Restrictions on usage =  The bulk of visitors to the Habitats Sites come to exercise their dogs and so it is imperative that
sites allow for pet owners to let dogs run freely over a significant part of the walk.

= Public Access should be largely unrestricted, with both people and their pets being able to
freely roam along the majority of routes. This means that sites where freely roaming dogs will
cause a nuisance or where they might be in danger (from traffic or such like) should not be
considered.

This criterion is compiled into a checklist, similar to the Thames Basin Heaths SPA Quality Checklist
contained in Appendix 3.

Enhancements that are identified in the EGI Audit should be based on user data. It is therefore
recommended that visitor surveys are completed after auditing to ensure the Gl meets the local need.

2.6.3 Enhanced Green Infrastructure (EGI) Policy Guidance

EGI could be integrated into policy either under associated Gl and/or new Housing Requirements
policies. For example, similarly Purbeck District Council have built Suitable Alternative Natural Green
Space (SANG) into their Local Plan (Purbeck Local Plan Submission, Purbeck District Council, 2019).
SANG is the name given to green space that is of a quality and type suitable to be used as mitigation for
Habitats Sites.

Purbeck chose to use SANG as part of their ‘New Housing Development Requirements’ stating that it is
expected that new housing development on allocated sites will “deliver appropriately designed
suitable alternative natural greenspaces (SANGs) to avoid / mitigate the adverse effects from the new
homes on European sites (in accordance with The Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2015-2020
Supplementary Planning Document, 2016)”. They have also referenced the need for Strategic SANGS in
the Infrastructure section of the Local Plan with a connected policy for a Strategic SANG (Policy I5:
Morden Park strategic suitable alternative natural green space).

136

I



Page 54 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

In a similar stance, EGI can also be incorporated into policy. For ease, recommended policy inclusions
have been provided below:

Enhanced Green Infrastructure Policy Guidance

If EGl is to be incorporated into planning policy, in particular existing Gl policies, we would recommend the
following:

- The Gl network should be referred to as “A strategic multi-functional network of enhanced green
infrastructure”

The aim is for it to “provide areas attractive enough for local recreational use on or near where new
homes are built that can deflect people away from Habitats Sites for recreation.”

Development should “seek to maximise opportunities for the restoration, enhancement and
connection of the District’s green infrastructure network throughout the lifetime of the development,
both on-site and for the wider community.”

Reference could be made to this document, and objectives that: “seek to meet local standards and
identified opportunities within the Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance
and Mitigation Strategy and any future strategies adopted by the Council.”

We encourage local authorities to promote and work towards 40% Gl within large-scale
developments.

Access to local Gl should be enhanced. Opportunities to connect to existing Rights of Way networks
and infrastructure must be utilised where possible to provide year-round use.

Policy should lead to the delivery and implementation of SANG. This should be a unified approach
across all LPAs.

2.6.3.1 Gl Strategy integration

Although to some extent EGI objectives differ from Gl objectives, the general principle is the same;
“multifunctional green space capable of delivering a wide range of benefits” therefore the inclusion of
the term EGI can be justified legally. Nationally there are great examples of how SANG provision can be
incorporated into Gl Strategies. For example, Hart Green Infrastructure Strategy (Land Use Consultants,
July 2017) provides details of priority projects within the district, along with recommendations for SANG
delivery and opportunities for SANG enhancements. In a similar way, EGI can be incorporated, with
recommendations for EGl enhancements to existing open spaces, opportunities for new EGI provision
and specific EGI project/target areas.

2.6.4 Opportunity Area Delivery

Strategic (Plan Level) Opportunities can be delivered through appropriate master-planning for large
scale developments and sustainable urban extensions to secure SANGs. However, where
developments are of a smaller scale, we would recommend exploration of pooling resources to produce
larger, multifunctional EGI within Opportunity Areas is undertaken.

If the LPAs feel that it would be opportune to explore proposals within these Opportunity Areas further,
as previously suggested, an EGI Audit should be undertaken along with the production of individual
Implementation Plans (IPs).

137

T



Page 55 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Within an Implementation Plan, consideration should be given to how the proposed Gl projects fulfil Gl
functions and provide benefits. Consideration should also be given to any practical constraints to
achieving the Green Infrastructure projects alongside an outline prioritisation exercise.

Options to work across LPA boundaries should be explored to maximise opportunities for people and
the environment. This would give further flexibility on locations, as well as the proposed developments
Gl could cater for. For instance, small-scale developments, which would not have sufficient capacity for
EGI on site could then benefit from large-scale off-site Gl provision.

Appropriate funding streams should be identified (with input from key partners and stakeholders),
based on the character of individual projects, as should outline capital and revenue costs and phasing,
to ensure a guide to future investment in Green Infrastructure is as robust as possible.

138




Page 56 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy PLACE

SERVICES

3. RAMS

3.1 What is a Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS)?

In addition to the provision of Green Infrastructure at both a development site and at the plan-making
level, the RAMS aims to deliver the mitigation necessary to avoid the likely adverse effects on integrity
from the ‘in-combination’ impacts of residential development that is forecast across Norfolk.

It is important to acknowledge that the RAMS exists to mitigate these ‘in-combination’ effects
specifically. It is not a mechanism to deliver mitigation for recreational impacts from individual
residential developments alone or individually; this must be provided on or near the development site.
To this extent, the RAMS is ‘strategic’ in nature.

The RAMS identifies a detailed programme of strategic mitigation measures which would be funded by
contributions from residential development schemes. The strategic approach of a RAMS has the
following advantages:

e |t provides developers, agents and planning authorities with a comprehensive, consistent
and efficient way to ensure that appropriate mitigation for residential schemes is provided
in an effective and timely manner.

e |tis pragmatic: a simple and effective way of protecting and enhancing the internationally
important wildlife in Norfolk and will help to reduce the time taken to reach planning
decisions;

e |t provides an evidence based and fair mechanism to fund the mitigation measures required
as a result of the planned residential growth; and

e The notion of RAMS is endorsed by Natural England and has been used effectively to protect
other Habitats Sites across England and is therefore the most effective way to mitigate in-
combination recreational impacts. This RAMS specifically has also been endorsed by
Natural England (see Appendix 1).

3.1.1 Legislative Background

This Strategy complies with the relevant legislation and national guidance, including:
e Article 6 of the Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC) 1994

e European Commission (2001) Assessment of plans and projects significantly affecting
Habitats Sites

e Methodological guidance on the provisions of Article 6(3) & 6(4) of the Habitats Directive
92/43/EC

e Government Circular 06/2005
e Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended)
e The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), commonly known as the

139

B



Page 57 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy PLACE

SERVICES

Habitats Regulations, transpose Council Directive 92/43/EEC, on the conservation of natural habitats
and of wild fauna and flora (EC Habitats Directive), into UK law. They also transpose elements of the EU
Wild Birds Directive in England and Wales. The Regulations came into force on the 30" November 2017
and extend to England, and will continue to do so even after the UK leaves the EU.

The Habitats Regulations provide for the designation and protection of 'Habitats (European) sites', the
protection of 'European protected species'’, and the adaptation of planning and other controls for the
protection of European Sites (henceforth referred to as Habitats Sites in accordance with the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)). Regulations 63 and 64 of the Habitats Regulations require a series
of steps and tests to be followed for plans or projects that could potentially affect a Habitats Site.

The steps and tests set out within Regulations 63 and 64 are commonly referred to as the ‘Habitats
Regulations Assessment’ (HRA) process that competent authorities must undertake to consider
whether a proposed development plan or programme is likely to have significant effects on a Habitats
Site.

HRA stage 2 is often referred to as ‘Appropriate Assessment’ (AA) although the requirement for AA is
first determined by an initial HRA ‘Screening’ stage undertaken as part of the full HRA.

Specifically, Regulation 63 states:

63.— (1) A competent authority, before deciding to undertake, or give any consent,
permission or other authorisation for, a plan or project which—

(@) is likely to have a significant effect on a European site or a European offshore
marine site (either alone or in combination with other plans or projects), and

(b) is not directly connected with or necessary to the management of that site,
must make an appropriate assessment of the implications of the plan or project
for that site in view of that site’s conservation objectives.

The Regulation 63 of the Habitats Regulations refers to “the competent authority”. These are the body
or bodies responsible for the application of the Habitats Regulations Assessment process, on a case-
by-case basis to ensure compliance with the Habitats and Birds Directives. A competent authority is
defined in Regulation 7 of the Habitats Regulations so as to include:

a) Any Minister of the Crown (as defined in the Ministers of the Crown Act 1975(1)),
government department, statutory undertaker, public body of any description or person
holding a public office;

b) the Welsh Ministers; and
¢) any person exercising any function of a person mentioned in sub-paragraph (a) or (b).
and public body includes:

(a) the Broads Authority (4);

(b) a joint planning board within the meaning of section 2 of the TCPA 1990 (joint
planning boards) (5);

(c) ajoint committee appointed under section 102(1)(b) of the Local Government
Act 1972 (appointment of committees) (6);

140

B



Page 58 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

(d) a National Park authority; or

(e) a local authority, which in this regulation means—

(i) in relation to England, a county council, a district council, a parish council,
a London borough council, the Common Council of the City of London, the
sub-treasurer of the Inner Temple or the under treasurer of the Middle
Temple;

(i) in relation to Wales, a county council, a county borough council ora
community council;

The Habitats Regulations also use the following terms, which are used in this Strategy and are defined
below:

This is a possible adverse effect that would undermine the conservation
‘Likely Significant Effect’ objectives for a Habitats (European) Site, and which cannot be ruled out based
on clear verifiable objective information.

Consideration given to the details of the plan or project which may result in
effects on a Habitats Site.

Consideration needs to also be given to the in-combination effects which will

‘In combination with other plans and

e or might result from the addition of the effects of other relevant plans or
projects.

This is the stage 2 HRA test at Appropriate Assessment based on likely
impacts on qualifying features on the Habitats Site. If any mitigation is needed
‘Adverse Effects on Integrity’ at Stage 1 HRA screening, the assessment by the competent authority needs to
consider if the plan or project can avoid Adverse Effect on Integrity of Habitats
Sites.

The Government has produced core guidance for competent authorities and developers to assist with
the HRA process. HRA is thus a vital part of a Local Plan’s evidence base: for Plans to be considered
legally compliant and sound, as set out in section 35 of the NPPF, each LPA must provide mitigation.

Natural England has published a set of mapped Impact Risk Zones (IRZs) for Sites of Special Scientific
Interest (SSSlIs), which underpin each Habitats Site on the MAGIC website (www.magic.gov.uk). The
MAGIC website provides geographic information about the natural environment from across
government and Natural England manages the service under the direction of a Steering Group who
represent the MAGIC partnership organizations. This helpful GIS tool can be used by LPAs to help
consider whether a proposed development is likely to affect a SSSI and determine whether they need
to consult Natural England to seek advice on the nature of any potential SSSI impacts and their
avoidance or mitigation. The dataset and user guidance can be accessed from the www.magic.gov.uk
website.

Not all of the LPAs have prepared project level HRAs for residential developments within the Impact
Risk Zones (IRZs) of the SSSls that underpin each Habitats Site.

141

I


http://www.magic.gov.uk/

Page 59 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy PLACE

SERVICES

3.2 RAMS Baseline

In order to determine the baseline information for recreational impacts, the following methodology was
followed to determine patterns of visitor use of the Habitats Sites within the County:

e Desk studies to determine what evidence of recreational impacts exists and identify any
gaps supported by the Norfolk LPAs;

e Review of existing visitor survey datasets to supplement the desk studies and gain an
understanding of the origins of visitors to the Habitats Sites and thereby determine the ZOlIs
for both residents and tourists;

e Continual engagement with Natural England to discuss and agree the methodology, location
and results of the studies to provide robust evidence on which to develop the Strategy; and

e Stakeholder meetings with those parties with a responsibility for or an interest in the
Habitat Sites to gain a fuller understanding of the Habitats Sites, the recreational pressures
they are under presently, those that would arise with an increase in population and an
understanding of what mitigation including enhanced Gl provision, has been undertaken to
date and how effective this is. Full details of the workshop attendees can be found in
Appendix 5.

e Identifying the extent of housing need within LPA areas (in Local Plan periods), and also the
extent of this need that will be met through new Local Plan housing allocations.

3.2.1 The Importance of the Norfolk Habitats Sites

Norfolk has a diversity of Habitats Sites from coastal and extensive forest to valley fens, washland and
a chalk river and a desktop review looked at the existing data on the Habitats Sites and the species and
habitats that they support.

Norfolk’s coastal habitats are internationally important for non-breeding waders and wildfowl as well as
its beaches dunes which support breeding birds and seals. The coastline along the Norfolk part of The
Wash in the east is the largest marine embayment in Britain, with the second largest expanse of
intertidal sediment flats in the country. The Norfolk Coast from the Wash around to the East coast is
the only typical British example of a barrier beach system with extensive areas of salt marsh with
characteristic creek patterns that have developed behind sand and shingle spits and bars. The Wash
and North Norfolk coast European Marine Site is important for breeding and moulting of one of
Europe’s largest populations of common seal. The intertidal mudflats and salt marshes represent one
of Britain's most important winter-feeding areas for waders and wildfowl outside of the breeding
season.

‘The Broads’ is one of the most extensive remaining areas of fen habitat in Europe and its Habitats
Sites are designated for three internationally important birds (marsh harrier, bittern and crane) which
nest & forage in the wetland habitats. Geographically, ‘The Broads’ (which has a status equivalent to a
‘National Park’) also contains Breydon Water, an inland tidal estuary with extensive areas of mudflats,
which supports internationally important numbers of birds.

‘The Brecks’ is characterised by an extensive area of grass heath (and some heather heath) and many
heaths are designated as part of Breckland SAC, large arable fields, and the largest coniferous forest in
lowland England. This Habitats Site (specifically a ‘Special Protection Area’ (SPA) related to the

B

142



Page 60 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy PLACE

SERVICES

protection of wild birds) holds internationally important populations of Stone Curlew, Nightjar and
Woodlark. Stone Curlew establishes nests on open ground provided by arable cultivation in the spring,
while Woodlark and Nightjar breed in recently felled areas and open heath areas within the conifer
plantations. The forest is a major recreational attraction in the region and considered to be at capacity
now as visitor pressure is a key vulnerability for ground nesting birds.

In addition to the above areas, Norfolk has hidden gems which are also internationally important; its
extensive areas of valley fens, many of them valley-head spring-fed; the largest and best examples of
wet heath in East Anglia and the River Wensum (a chalk river) as well as sharing the Ouse Washes with
Cambridgeshire. Part of Redgrave & South Lopham Valley Fens Ramsar site (covered by Waveney and
Little Ouse Valley Fens SAC) also lies in Norfolk and is internationally renowned for its population of Fen
Raft spider.

3.2.2 Current recreational impacts on Norfolk Habitats Sites

3.2.2.1 Recreational pressures

Some of the designated Habitats Sites in Norfolk in scope for this Strategy are not currently considered
to be suffering from recreational impacts e.g. Overstrand Cliffs SAC and some of the components of
Norfolk Valley Fens SAC, but they may be at risk from increased pressure and disturbance from planned
growth; land managers have expressed concern at some recreational activities such as dogs off lead in
pools in the summer months at Redgrave & Lopham Fens (pers comm, Suffolk Wildlife Trust 2019).

A total of 25 different bird species are specifically listed by Natural England as designated ‘Interest
Features’ for many of the Habitats Sites across Norfolk and all sites support sensitive habitats. The key
vulnerabilities / factors affecting site integrity are identified in the Site Improvement Plans (SIPs) and
Supplementary Advice for Conservation Objectives for each Habitats Site. These include recreational
pressure for many but not all sites, but this results in disturbance to breeding birds (e.g. Little Terns)
and non-breeding birds (wintering wildfowl and waders) as well as causing habitat damage to sensitive
habitats.

The Norfolk coast, from King’s Lynn eastwards to Great Yarmouth, has many locations which have been
identified through the Conservation Objectives for the Habitats Sites as hotspots for disturbance of
sensitive habitats and other features e.g. birds and seals. The Wash and North Norfolk coast SAC is
important for breeding and moulting of one of Europe’s largest populations of common seal which is a
designated Interest feature. During harsh winters, a prolonged cold spell can mean birds struggle to get
sufficient feeding time in between tides and any disturbance in these conditions is more significant to
bird populations. Some roost sites hold large concentrations of birds, but numbers may change as use
fluctuates and factors other than disturbance or habitat degradation may be an issue in some
locations.

The Wetland Bird Survey (WeBS) monitors non-breeding waterbirds in the UK. There is a WeBS Alerts
system which provides a method of identifying changes in numbers of water birds at a variety of spatial
and temporal scales and reports are written every three years. It would be beneficial to integrate WeBS
counts with a Norfolk RAMS bird monitoring programme. Species that have undergone major changes
in numbers are flagged, by the issuing of an Alert. Alerts are intended to be advisory; subject to
interpretation, they should be used as a basis on which to direct research and subsequent
conservation efforts if required.

According to the SIP and Supplementary Advice, the Habitats Sites in the Broads are suffering from
recreational impacts on SAC habitats and disturbance to wintering waterfowl in particular, is an issue

B

143



Page 61 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy PLACE >

SERVICES

on a number of Broads' sites. This is largely a result of boat-based use of the water bodies, especially
Breydon Water.

Breckland SPA has a 1.5km buffer zone in which development is anticipated to result in a Likely
Significant Effect due to Functionally Linked Land (FLL) for its designation features. This aims to protect
SPA birds from disturbance linked to residential development, particularly Stone Curlew on farmland
within the SPA, although increased recreational use of Thetford Forest may exceed its capacity to
protect Woodlark and Nightjar.

In addition, FLL outside of the designation boundaries for all SPAs in Norfolk, also needs to be
protected from disturbance e.g. areas of farmland and heathland for Stone Curlew outside of the
Norfolk part of Breckland SPA boundary or wintering wildfowl on farmland. This will need to be mapped
and updated on a regular basis from monitoring surveys to inform planning decisions on residential
development; this is considered likely to be included as a project in the mitigation package set out in
this Strategy. As key roosts are used by SPA birds at different times of the year (breeding and non-
breeding), there are seasonal variations as well as daily variations in usage due to the tidal cycle for
coastal Habitats Sites. Key locations for SPA birds and SAC features e.g. seals and the state of the tide
can mean birds are closer or further from the shoreline and potential disturbance.

The SIP for Breckland SPA and SAC includes public access/disturbance as one of the prioritised issues
for action but does not record a threat to SAC features. It states that recreational and other activities
have the potential to impact both SAC and SPA features. Disturbance does not currently appear to be
significantly impacting the bird populations, but the impacts of increased recreational activity is
uncertain. Recreational growth in Thetford Forest may impact on Woodlark and Nightjar. The forest is a
major recreational attraction in the region. Similarly, military training activities have the potential to
impact ground nesting birds, especially Stone Curlew, but the extent of this impact is unclear. SAC
features may be affected through eutrophication (dog fouling, unauthorised fires) and disturbance of
soils, in particular on commons and heaths. Recreational activity, particularly involving dogs, may
adversely affect rabbits and cause spread of disease so this will need monitoring in the early years of
the Strategy. Air pollution and the impact of atmospheric nitrogen deposition on Breck heaths features
is listed in the SIP for further investigation by Natural England and this may trigger a separate
mitigation approach in the future but is not considered to be within scope of this Strategy.

The valley fens, scattered across the county and those in the Waveney & Little Ouse valleys shared with
Suffolk, support sensitive wetland habitats and rare species which are at risk from damage due to
recreational pressure.

3.2.2.2 Identifying Visitor Patterns of Use of Habitats Sites

In the past, HRAs for Norfolk authorities have concluded that significant impacts were only likely where
protected sites were within or in close proximity to the districts themselves. However, more recent
evidence and research indicates that effects on some sites are likely to extend much further than the
LPA boundary. The locations used in the 2015 and 2016 visitor surveys identified a median distance
from postcode data for the grouped points e.g. Broads, Brecks and Coast.

A Footprint Ecology report for Norfolk County Council (Panter, C., Liley, D. & Lowen, S. (2016) contains
details of visitor surveys undertaken at 35 locations within Habitats Sites across Norfolk during 2015
and 2016; potential locations were identified at a workshop held in Norwich on the 26th February 2015
and the list refined and agreed by the steering group. The report provides a comprehensive analysis of
current and projected visitor patterns to Habitats Sites across Norfolk. The report combines data from
multiple local authorities to predict changes in recreation use as a result of new housing planned

144

B



Page 62 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

across Norfolk. It also provides recommendations for mitigation and monitoring.

The work was commissioned by Norfolk County Council/the Norfolk Biodiversity Partnership on behalf
of all local planning authorities across Norfolk. The surveyed locations covered a range of Habitats
Sites and all the locations had public access and a potential risk whereby increased recreation levels
could be damaging. For simplicity, only SPA and SAC sites were mapped but many have multiple
designations including Ramsar.

The work was carried out during 2015 and 2016 at 35 agreed locations. Analysis also drew on other
data, for example planned residential growth (as allocated in current plans), provided by Norfolk
County Council. The locations encompassed estuary, coast, heathland, wetland, grassland and
woodland habitats. The survey points were grouped into seven broad geographic areas: the Brecks,
Roydon & Dersingham, the Wash, the East Coast, the North Coast, the Broads and the Valley Fens.
Surveys at each point involved 16 hours of survey work split evenly between weekdays and weekends
and spread across daylight hours. As such fieldwork was standardised and broadly comparable.

Visitor surveys undertaken by Footprint Ecology in 2015-16 at Norfolk Habitats Sites with identified
impacts from recreational disturbance, gathered information on the number of visitors to these sites
and evidence of the distances which visitors will travel to access locations for recreation purposes.

Two thirds (66%) of all interviewees were on a short trip from home (local residents) and around a third
(32%) of interviewees were on holiday (tourists). However, holiday-makers accounted for nearly half of
all visitors interviewed at the North Coast and Broads.

The survey methodology was designed to provide a snapshot of access patterns at a selection of
access points onto the Habitats Sites considered to already be affected by recreational impacts. The
remaining Habitats Sites across Norfolk do not have visitor data which can be used to inform the need
for mitigation measures.

The Footprint survey methodology was not designed to give accurate estimates of annual visitor
numbers to each site and did not reference Ramsar sites; although many Habitats Sites have multiple
designations, it is considered important to assess the likely impacts on designated features. Visitor
surveys took place at different times of year at different locations, with the timing targeted to coincide
with times when wildlife interest (e.g. designated features of Habitats Sites) was present and access
was likely to be high. Fieldwork involved counts of people and interviews with a random sample of
visitors.

Table3:  Designation features per Habitats Site (MAGIC, 2019) and visitor surveys undertaken to assess
disturbance

Habitats Site Designation features sensitive to recreational disturbance and visitor surveys undertaken
SPA Breeding birds Summer visitor survey SPA Non-breeding Winter visitor survey
and/or completed? birds and/or completed?
SPA/SAC/Ramsar SPA/SAC/Ramsar
sensitive habitats sensitive habitats
(May to July) (August to April)
Ouse Washes Yes No Yes No
Norfolk Brecks Yes Yes Yes Yes

145




Page 63 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Habitats Site Designation features sensitive to recreational disturbance and visitor surveys undertaken
SPA Breeding birds Summer visitor survey SPA Non-breeding Winter visitor survey
and/or completed? birds and/or completed?
SPA/SAC/Ramsar SPA/SAC/Ramsar
sensitive habitats sensitive habitats
(" EVAGTLY)] (August to April)
Roydon &
. Yes Yes Yes Yes
Dersingham
The Wash Yes Yes Yes Yes
North Norfolk
Yes Yes Yes Yes
Coast
Gt Yarmouth —
. Yes Yes Yes Yes
Winterton Horsey
Norfolk Valley
Yes Yes Yes No
Fens
The Broads &
Yes Yes Yes Yes
Breydon Water
River Wensum Yes No Yes No
Waveney & Lt
Yes No Yes No

Ouse Valley Fens

Source: MAGIC / Footprint Ecology / Place Services, 2019
Key findings from the 2015/16 visitor survey results include:

e Over half (52%) of interviewees were visiting from home and resident within Norfolk. Some
16% of interviewees live outside Norfolk and had travelled from home on a short visit/day
trip.

e Intotal 6,096 groups were estimated entering or leaving sites across all survey points.
These groups consisted of 13,842 adults, 2,616 children and 3,466 dogs.

e Dog walking (41%) and walking (26%) were the most popular activities overall, but with big
variations depending on the sites. Within individual areas this first and second ranking of
dog walking and walking was consistent for the East Coast, Roydon & Dersingham, the
Valley Fens, the Wash and the North Coast.

e Two thirds (66%) of interviewees were on a short trip from home and around a third (32%)
of interviewees were on holiday. Holiday-makers accounted for nearly half of all visitors
interviewed at the North Coast and Broads.

e Holiday-makers were typically staying in self-catering accommodation (31%) or
campsite/caravan sites (29%). In the Broads over half (59%) of the holiday makers

146

I



Page 64

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

interviewed were staying on a boat.

The most commonly reported duration on site was 1to 2 hours (31%), closely followed by
between 30 and 60 minutes (27%). Key differences were the large proportion of
interviewees visiting for more than 4 hours in the Broads (29% of interviewees) and
conversely at Roydon Common, the large proportion visiting for less than 30 minutes (36%).

Across all interviewees (including holiday makers), 31% of those interviewed were visiting
the site for the first time. For those interviewees travelling from home on a short visit/day
trip, over a quarter (27%) indicated they visited the site at least daily, reflecting high
frequencies of use by local residents.

Over three quarters (77%) of all interviewees had arrived at the interview location by car.
Most of the remaining interviewees (18%) had arrived on foot.

‘Close to home’ was one of the main reasons people gave for choosing the site where
interviewed that day. Scenery was particularly important for those visiting the North Norfolk
Coast.

Just over a third (36%) of interviewees was aware of a designation/ environmental
protection that applied to the site they were visiting.

A total of 1,314 routes were mapped from the interviews, showing where people had walked
during their visit. Median route length across all sites and all activities was 3.18km. Across
all sites the typical (median) dog walk was 2.93km. Walkers covered a median distance of
3.7km while activities such as boating (median 7.64km) covered longer distances.

Over half (59%) of the holiday makers interviewed in the Broads were staying on a boat
(Footprint visitor surveys 2015-16.)

147




174"

Page 65 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 19: Map of Visitor survey point locations in Norfolk Habitats Sites 2015-16

LKy : Holkham (33)
{J (L Holme (27)  Holkham (2.9)%@ e Wells (35 c?:y" g:g;))
- ] -~ \ erstrand

Branmster (28)
2 Nuncg.tm L p“.,"‘ Sbﬁkev (40) Radgtitan Mumﬁsl?v
. “&hmm Stiﬂkey (39) X S.i:vtmm/,&
i "‘ﬁ"‘ﬁg’”"’“ }" WickohGroen v.hm"("‘-. h ¢ Wigragt Horsey Windpump (17)
e L/ FAKEN z .Non%ﬁptsmm BN
¥ Hickling (2) Horsey Gap (21)
Roydon Common (23) ! » h;\ “(;'q"‘::"'j = ﬂicHing (1)
) By B A 4
R SRR “How Hill (3) Winterton (20)
Y !‘:‘!:;'; L B;awdﬁ‘we" @ Byingham A N v \
o L Buxton Heath (25) X Horning (4) al S wjnkert -Sea
. 1 5 el O A macthar ey
He‘\h’v f‘ iy \\ Heltsfor 4 :/ i :‘:J \ nouu y {
; N o z . ! North Denes (22
( 5 3 2 f e .4';'3\,- / DE! EH Mm. oanwoh 5)?&&%‘_\@_“?“ gh(&ub&; Marxaw(] ( )
42 mmﬁ,h‘am eath (13)= Spocln I 5 MavmhaTw’\“‘t . . ¥
s : g ? 4 ‘
: Shipdifam ™y
i, . 4 e
i’ 2 . Cranwich camp (14) A
3 N,/ =/ i Qv 3 Breydon water north (7)
2 S J stonmRery = (
e v " Lynford Stag (15) Breydon water north (6)
A\ / {“' j NGt Ellingham & 0
==y A% A p Y /
: ‘N\x J A7) Methwild st Hel.ens (16) l‘a(d‘;estqn S Hampratl -J/n /i\il, Legend
4 y - ”
/S & tong Steattdn R ¥ g
B S % 0 J ogﬁ\w?m (12) / u‘: P @ Brecks
/ , ./ Hightodge (11); L T / P @ Broads
P, 1 \ Puigam Market & 5 \ @ E. Coast
{ / ’
West Harling (19) s, ' \ & N. Coast
} f AN @
s X\ ¥ rm;wﬁcld pn—ry & Valley Fens
Barnham Cross (18)""""“ S = P .
e / G, st aagtu; g i Wash

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and Database Right 2015. Contains map data © OpenStreetMap contributors. Terms: www.openstreetmap.org/copyright

Roydon & Dersingham

Source:
Footprint
Ecology, 2016



PLACE

Page 66 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

3.2.3 Establishing an evidenced Zone of Influence (ZOI) for recreational impacts

3.2.3.1 What is a Zone of Influence?

A Zone of Influence (ZOI) is a designated distance that establishes where development is likely to have
a significant effect on a Habitats Site. It is an area emanating outwards from a Habitats Site within
which development can be expected to have a negative effect on the integrity of the Habitats Site in
guestion. Relevant to this Strategy, this means that residential development occurring within a Zone of
Influence can be expected to generate additional recreational visits to Habitats Sites.

3.2.3.2 How have the evidenced ZOls been calculated?

As outlined in Section 3.2.2.2 of this Strategy, visitor surveys undertaken by Footprint Ecology in 2015-
16 at Norfolk Habitats Sites gathered information on the number of visitors and evidence of the
distances which visitors will travel to access locations for recreation purposes. The Footprint Ecology
surveys were undertaken on the Habitats Sites considered to already be affected by recreational
impacts chosen at a workshop in 2015 and covered those sites with existing recreational impacts.
Other Habitats Sites or some of the components were not considered to be at risk from this impact
pathway as supported by the Supplementary Advice and Site Improvement Plans e.g. Overstrand Cliffs
SAC and Norfolk Valley Fens SAC. This does not provide complete coverage of all Habitats Sites within
scope of this Strategy though Natural England has advised on use of best available evidence to identify
ZO| for likely recreational impacts.

Together with the local and county authorities and a range of organisations, Footprint Ecology agreed a
sample of survey locations which represented the full range and types of site within the county. These
survey results may not support the identification of Zones of Influence for each, or each parcel of, the
Habitats Sites within scope for the Strategy.

The raw postcode data from the 2015-16 visitor surveys has allowed interpretation of the dataset for
each Habitats Site and calculation of an evidenced ZOl. It is recommended that Natural England uses
this for planning purposes and shows this as IRZs for the component Sites of Specific Scientific Interest
(SSSls) on the ‘MAGIC map’ website (Defra) specifically in relation to relevant development and
recreational impacts.

Data from both the winter and summer visitor surveys (Footprint Ecology, 2015 & 2016) has been used
primarily to calculate the ZOls for each Habitats Site, and also to collate information on current
recreational activities at Habitats Sites and predict likely impacts from increased use by additional
residents.

The results of the winter and summer visitor surveys provided substantial evidence relating to who
uses the Habitats Sites, where they travel from, how often they visit and why.

The data used to calculate the ZOls defined in Figure 20 has been refined using best practice
methodology for multiple survey locations within a single Habitats Site which may have different
attractions and facilities. This has ensured a standardised ZOl has been calculated separately for both
residents and tourists. Without refinement this would have increased the ZOl and affected the
credibility of the data. However, the visitor postcode dataset was collected at different survey points
within individual Habitats Sites at different times of the year.

According to best practice methodology utilised by consultants and accepted by Natural England, ZOls
are calculated by ranking the distances travelled by visitors to the Habitats Sites based on the
hometown postcode data they provided. Not all postcode data is used as this can skew the results.

149

B



Page 67 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Instead the ZOls are based on the 75th percentile of postcode data (i.e. the distance where the closest
75% of visitors come from).

The Footprint Ecology visitor survey dataset from 2015-16 comes from multiple survey locations in a
single Habitats Sites. Best practice in these situations uses a different method which is to calculate the
ZOl from the 75th percentile distance travelled for each survey location and then average the ZOlI for
each Habitats Site. This is the method used to calculate the ZOls for this Strategy.

This 75th percentile has been used in this way at a range of other sites to define a broad area from
where recreation use typically originates. The results from the Norfolk dataset would suggest that a
countywide radius of the site would work to capture a Zone of Influence that would encompass the
majority of visitors across the year and across survey points. This method was used for a number of
strategic mitigation schemes, including the Essex and Suffolk Coast RAMS, and is considered by
Natural England to be best practice.

The ZOls identify the distance within which new residents are likely to travel to the Norfolk Habitats
Sites for recreation. The ZOls presented within this report will guide the requirement for residential
developments to provide a financial contribution towards visitor management to mitigate for in-
combination impacts on all the Habitats Sites.

Natural England have accepted the evidenced ZOlIs and will update the IRZs for the constituent SSSls
shown on MAGIC website; this is on the basis of the overall ZOl because the data collected for this
Strategy is the most comprehensive and up-to-date available. The individual ZOls provide evidence to
the LPAs of how many dwellings are proposed which are likely to affect each Habitats Site and inform
the proportion of spend for developer contributions collected for a single development.

LPAs will also need to use the individual ZOls to record the locations for developer contributions for
delivery of mitigation measures at the relevant Habitats Site on project level HRAs and legal
agreements. This will facilitate the delivery of mitigation measures at the appropriate Habitats Sites to
avoid impacts from increased recreational pressure. This will thereby provide an audit trail for spend of
developer contributions.

The Impact Risk Zones as identified by Natural England (see Table 4) and displayed on the MAGIC
website (magic.defra.gov.uk/MagicMap.aspx), are set for each of the SSSIs that underpin the Norfolk
Habitats Sites; these relate to likely risks from all potential impact pathways and flag when LPAs
should consult NE. Based on experience shared in the formulation of the Suffolk and Essex Coast
RAMSs, once the IRZs have been updated by NE based on the single ZOI for recreational impacts, the
information boxes will include a note for new residential development; this is likely to state that
financial contributions are required towards the emerging Norfolk Recreational impacts Avoidance &
Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) and to contact the Local Planning Authority for further advice.

Table 4:  Habitats Sites in Norfolk and current Impact Risk Zones (IRZs) for SSSIs underpinning Habitat sites

Habitats Site Current SSSI Impact Risk Zone (Km) shown on MAGIC map

Ouse Washes SPA/SAC/Ramsar 5km
Breckland SPA/SAC 8km
Roydon Common SAC & Ramsar and Dersingham Bog SAC 7km

150




Page 68 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Current SSSI Impact Risk Zone (Km) shown on MAGIC map
The Wash SPA/Ramsar 3km
The Wash and North Norfolk Coast SAC 3km
North Norfolk Coast SPA & Ramsar 5km
Overstrand Cliffs SAC 1km
River Wensum SAC 4km
Norfolk Valley Fens SAC 3km
Winterton - Horsey Dunes SAC skm
Great Yarmouth North Denes SPA 5km
Broadland SPA &The Broads SAC 2km
Breydon Water SPA 3km
Waveney and Little Ouse Valley Fens SAC 3km
Redgrave & South Lopham Fens Ramsar 5km

Source: Place Services / MAGIC Map, 2019

The Figures below show the evidenced individual ZOls for recreational impacts on each Habitats site
and the overall ZOI for the Norfolk RAMS which covers the whole county, regardless of IRZs for any sites
currently without visitor data.

The overall ZOl map is recommended as the one to be used for the Strategy tariff so that each LPA can
secure developer contributions for a Norfolk wide RAMS package of measures. NB The overall ZOlI
excludes areas outside Norfolk i.e. within the adjoining counties of Suffolk, Lincolnshire and
Cambridgeshire as developer contribution will be limited to applications within the jurisdiction of the
Norfolk LPAs.

It is understood that West Suffolk Council are looking to potentially to include the Suffolk part of
Breckland Habitats Sites (i.e. within their administrative area) within an updated RAMS in the future to
include these.

151




[A<])

Page 69 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 20: Individual ZOls for recreational impacts from residential development (for Habitats Sites with visitor data)

Roydon Dersingham '
- Valley Fens
B wash ,
Broads Authority |/ ¢

:: : ._ | District Boundary [ @

A ] countyBoundary |
y o b S




€aqT

Page 70

Figure 21:

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Overall ZOI for Norfolk RAMS tariff for recreational impacts from residential development

Source: Place Services, 2020

B




Page 71 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

As the above maps show, the whole of Norfolk is covered by an evidenced ZOI for residential
development.

It is essential to reference the relevant Habitats Sites from the ZOl information when preparing project
level HRAs at application stage. This is needed to help allocate funds from developer contributions to
the Habitats Sites which are predicted to be affected. As the Footprint Ecology report indicates the
proportion of visitors from each LPA, this could be used by the RAMS Steering Group to allocate spend
of developer contributions for each Habitats site.

Table 5 below identifies which ZOls overlap with each LPA boundary. The colours are linked to each ZOI
identified in Figure 20 except where there is currently no ZOl identified recreational impact or visitor
dataset available.

154




GaT

Page 72 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Tables:  LPAs and ZOls for Norfolk RAMS package

Habitats Sites / LPAs King’s Lynn & Breckland Broadland DC Broads Great

West Norfolk Council Authority Yarmouth BC
Ouse Washes SPA No visitor data for this Habitats Site
Ouse Washes Ramsar No visitor data for this Habitats Site
Ouse Washes SAC No visitor data for this Habitats Site
Breckland SPA
Breckland SAC

Roydon Common and Dersingham Bog SAC

Roydon Common Ramsar

Dersingham Bog Ramsar

The Wash SPA

The Wash and North Norfolk Coast SAC

The Wash Ramsar

North Norfolk Coast SAC

North Norfolk Coast SPA

North Norfolk

DC

Norwich CC

South Norfolk

DC




94T

PLACE
Page 73 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

Habitats Sites / LPAs King’s Lynn & Breckland Broadland DC Broads Great North Norfolk Norwich CC South Norfolk
West Norfolk Council Authority Yarmouth BC DC DC

River Wensum SAC No visitor data for this Habitats Site
Norfolk Valley Fens SAC
Winterton - Horsey Dunes SAC
Great Yarmouth North Denes SPA
Broadland SPA

Broadland Ramsar

Breydon Water SPA

The Broads SAC

Waveney and Little Ouse Valley Fens SAC No visitor data for this Habitats Site
Redgrave and South Lopham Fens Ramsar No visitor data for this Habitats Site
Number of ZOls affected by Local Plan 5 5 5 3 2 6 5 6
Key: Norfolk Brecks  Not in the ZOI Roydon
Z0I Dersingham ZOI

Source: Place Services, 2021




Page 74 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

3.2.3.3 A ZOI for tourist accommodation

e A separate ZOl for tourists has been calculated (see figure below) which demonstrates the
huge distance from which Norfolk attracts out of county visitors. However, planning
applications consented by Norfolk authorities can only secure developer contributions for
delivery of measures within the county.

It is recommended that this evidence is used to support the application of a RAMS tariff on tourist
accommodation based on a per bed space ratio with the same ZOI as other residential growth. The
Natural England interim advice to the LPAs, included Houses in Multiple Occupancy e.g. hotels, guest
houses and lodges; and

Residential caravans/mobile homes/park homes.

e |tisalso recommended that residential moorings, holiday caravans & touring pitches
should be included. Natural England may like to consider these types of development when
issuing any revised advice to Norfolk LPAs ahead of the RAMS being adopted.

e Asthe evidenced ZOls for tourist accommodation is countywide for all Habitats Sites, this
means that developer contributions for this type of development will need reference all
sites to be allocated accordingly reference be spread across all of the sites in legal
agreements.

e |t will be up the NSPF steering group to allocate spend for delivery of measures as they see
fit. There is no “knock on” effect of Local Plans and Habitats Sites (as this does not relate to
non-tourist related residential development) and this does not change the overall ZOl for
the tariff.

157




Page 75 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 22: ZOls for recreational impacts from tourist accommodation

Source: Place Services, 2019

The analysis of visitor postcode data for tourists to Norfolk collected in 2015-16, indicates that for all
Habitats Sites, the whole county (and considerably further afield) is within the ZOI for recreational
impacts from tourist accommodation. This supports the principle of including tourist accommodation
within scope of the developer contributions on a ‘per six bedspace ratio’ of the tariff identified for
residential growth, although no new tourist accommodation units are allocated in any of the Norfolk
Local Plans which this Strategy seeks to support.

Z0ls have been calculated for this Strategy for each of the Habitats Sites which have a robust dataset
from visitor postcodes - as the best available evidence - and these are shown in the table below.

Table 6:  ZOlI Calculations for Norfolk Habitats Sites with regard to recreational impacts

_ 20l using complete dataset | ZOlI for residents only ZOI for tourists only

Brecks sites 27km 26km 163km

Broads sites 194km 25km 248km

East Coast sites 51km 30km 202km

North Coast sites 148km 42km 198km
158

T



Page 76 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

_ 20l using complete dataset | ZOI for residents only ZOI for tourists only

Roydon & Dersingham 12km 12km 182km (only 1 piece of data)
Norfolk Valley Fens 18km 15km 156km
The Wash 66km 61km 162km

Source: Place Services, 2019

As there is no visitor postcode data for all of the Habitats Sites, there is currently no evidenced Z0lI for
recreational impacts for these internationally designated sites. However Natural England’s interim
advice (12 August 2019, ref 257629) states that consideration should be given to determining if the
strategy could include the required visitor data collection and site monitoring to determine site specific
mitigation where there are gaps in evidence.

Natural England’s advice confirms that the calculated ZOI covers the whole of Norfolk County
encompassing all designated sites. It is therefore reasonable to assume that there will be additional
residential visits to all Habitats Sites resulting from the increased population associated with planned
housing growth. Therefore, the RAMS mitigation package will include visitor and habitat monitoring to
avoid future impacts and identify specific mitigation measures for these sites if necessary. Natural
England have included these ZOls in their interim advice to the Norfolk LPAs on HRA requirements
(August 2019) relating to recreational impacts on Habitats Sites predicted from residential growth
identified in their emerging Local Plans.

The visitor surveys took place in winter 2015/16, when non-breeding waders and wildfowl (which are
designated features of the Habitats Sites) are present along the Norfolk coast (August to April). The
second round of visitor surveys took place during the spring of 2016 when breeding birds such as Little
Tern, which are designated features, use it for nesting. Some Habitats Sites provide habitat for SPA
birds which could be impacted by trampling during the summer months used by non-breeding species
over winter. There is therefore a need to monitor this potential impact at all SPAs when their
designation features are not present.

Key findings from the Footprint Ecology visitor surveys report relating to housing change links to
allocated new housing and implications included:

e Anpredicted 14% increase in recreational use of the Natura 2000 sites surveyed by Norfolk
residents (in the absence of any mitigation), as a result of new housing during the current
plan period.

e Theincrease is likely to be most marked in the Norfolk Brecks, where Footprint Ecology
predicted an increase of around 30%. For the Broads the figure is 14%; 11% for the East
Coast; 9% for North Norfolk; 15%for Roydon & Dersingham; 28% for the Norfolk Valley Fens
and 6% for the Wash (note these figures relate to the surveyed access points only and to
visits by Norfolk residents).

e For parts of the North Coast, the Broads, and parts of the East Coast, the links between an
increase in local housing and recreation impacts are less clear as these sites attract a high
number of visitors coming from a wide geographical area, both inside and outside Norfolk.
There are therefore likely to be pressures from overall population growth both from within
the county and further afield.

e Potential/recommendations for mitigation and monitoring at all sites; in particular Green

159

I



PLACE

Page 77 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

Infrastructure such as Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (‘SANGS’); better signage; a
Ranger team and awareness raising campaigns.

3.2.3.4 Additional evidence gathered and analysis

Correspondence with stakeholders including the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB),
Forestry Commission (FC) and Norfolk Wildlife Trust (NWT) has highlighted the need for a defined
monitoring regime for recreational impacts on the three designated birds for Breckland SPA. Some
monitoring efforts are at risk from a lack of funding due to responsibilities for providing these resources
being undefined. It is considered essential that robust monitoring provides data to assess the potential
for pressures from residential development. This can then identify which mitigation measures are the
most effective at protecting designation features of the Habitats Sites and the locations for their
delivery. This discussion and correspondence with these organisations is outlined in Appendix 9.

The Site Improvement Plans and Supplementary Advice for Qualifying Features for the Norfolk Habitats
Sites (prepared by Natural England) include recreational disturbance as a key vulnerability or factor for
Adverse Effect on Integrity (AEOI) for many of the Norfolk sites. The main impacts are:

e Disturbance of birds particularly wintering wildfowl (at a number of sites in the Broads)
and Little Terns on dunes.

e Eutrophication (dog fouling, unauthorised fires) and disturbance of soils, in particular
on commons and heaths.

o Damage caused by trampling of lichen dune grassland and dune heath.

The Site Improvement Plan (SIP) for the North Norfolk coast states that it is a very popular area for
recreational activity and visitor numbers are likely to grow, for example as a result of the England Coast
Path as well as housing development. A range of recreational activities may have adverse impacts on
the sites (Boating; motor boating; water skiing; jet skis; commercial and non-commercial wildlife tours;
commercial shipping; kiters (including surfers, boarders and buggy boarders); moorings; access to
moorings; motorised vehicles; bikes, hovercraft; bird/wildlife watching; (dog) walking; Samphire
collection, shellfish collection, bait digging, reed cutting, beachcombing, sea lavender gathering;
beach barbecues; littering; wildfowling). Conflicts with the management of fragile habitats and species
which can be easily disturbed by recreational activity will need to be carefully addressed. To overcome
these challenges further collaboration between stakeholders and local people may be needed with the
aim of more holistic management of the area. For example, the North Norfolk Kiter's Working Group
have a voluntary management scheme restricting and monitoring activity with an annual review. The
European Marine Site (the Wash and the North Norfolk Coast) scheme has mechanisms to reduce
damage from recreational activity. Incidents are reported through an Incident Recording Process (IRP),
but a chance still exists of future incidents occurring, by members of the public unaware of the
potential impacts.

The relevant SIPs and Supplementary Advice (only available for SPAs and SACs) however, do not
include recreational disturbance as a key vulnerability or factor for Adverse Effect on Integrity (AEOI) for
the following sites:

e Breckland SAC

o Norfolk Valley Fens SAC
e Ouse Washes SAC or SPA
e Overstrand Cliffs SAC

160




Page 78 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

e River Wensum SAC (angling & crayfish)

e Redgrave & Lopham Fen SAC

e Roydon Common & Dersingham Bog SAC
e Waveney & Lt Ouse Valley Fens SAC

Nutrient enrichment may become a threat to sensitive SAC vegetation in the future and dogs swimming
in pools on SACs in the summer may need to be managed to avoid an Adverse Effect On Integrity (AEOI)
—the Stage 2 HRA Appropriate Assessment test - on aquatic species, which are qualifying features.

Where the relevant Site Improvement Plans and Supplementary Advice on conserving and restoring
features do not currently include recreational disturbance, trampling, or nutrient enrichments as a key
vulnerability or factor for Adverse Effect On Integrity e.g. Overstrand Cliffs SAC, Norfolk Valley Fens SAC
and Waveney & Little Ouse Valley Fens SAC, these were not selected for visitor surveys in 2015-16.
These SACs do not therefore currently have visitor survey data. There are therefore no costed mitigation
measures for these sites in the initial RAMS package but monitoring of impacts is included and will
inform reviews of the mitigation package and the tariff over time.

3.2.4 Residential (including tourist) accommodation planned in the overall ZOI within
Local Plans

3.2.4.1 Natural England Interim Advice Letter

Natural England, in an interim advice letter sent to all Norfolk LPAs in August 2019, has confirmed the
individual ZOls and overall countywide ZOlI for recreational impacts for use at application stage, as
outlined in this Strategy. This is the case for both the ZOlI for residential development and that for
tourist accommodation. Please see Appendix 1 of this Strategy for the letter in its entirety.

3.2.4.2 Predicted Increase in Visitors from Planned Residential Growth

Local Plans allocate land for development including residential growth and the Habitats Regulations
Assessment identify which allocations and policies are likely to result in significant effects on the
Habitats Sites within scope.

Growth in each LPA partner area is set out in the following sections, with implications for effects on
Habitats Sites summarised as outlined in each LPA’s Local Plan HRA/AA.

Breckland

Over the Local Plan period the population is set to grow from 131,857 in 2012 to 153,678 by 2036 (ONS 2014 based sub-national
population projections 2012-2036).

All proposed allocations within Swaffham are within 1500m and 3km of the Brecks SPA. The Breckland Local Plan Submission
HRA identifies that there is a likely significant effect on European sites through the screening of allocations in the Local Plan. Due
to a lack of data it is not possible to rule out the potential impact of development on functionally linked land for Stone Curlews.
All allocations will be required to be supported by a project level HRA, which may consist of additional survey work and will
determine site specific mitigation measures.

Land to the south west of Watton is located within 1500m of the Breckland Farmland Special Protection Area, which is designated
for the special interest feature Stone Curlews. Evidence has shown that development up to 1500m from the site can impact upon
Stone Curlew. A Habitats Regulations Assessment has been undertaken to assess the impact upon the Breckland Special
Protection Area. All proposed allocations within Watton are within 1500m and 3km of the Brecks SPA. The Breckland Local Plan

161

I



Page 79 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Breckland

Submission HRA identifies that there is a likely significant effect on European sites through the screening of allocations in the
Local Plan. Due to a lack of data it is not possible to rule out the potential impact of development on functionally linked land for
Stone Curlews. All allocations will be required to be supported by a project level HRA, which may consist of additional survey work
and will determine site specific mitigation measures.

Evidence used to support the adoption of the Core Strategy in 2009 included research to inform the Habitats Regulations
Assessment (HRA) of the Core Strategy which examined the effects of housing and roads on the distribution of the Stone Curlew
in The Brecks. The adopted mitigation policy required that any new development which may impact on the SPA must be subject to
Appropriate Assessment. The measures are defined by buffers (Local Plan Map 5.1). New development will not normally be
permitted within 1,500m of the edge of the SPA (primary buffer represented by red cross hatching) unless it can be demonstrated
by an appropriate assessment that the development would not adversely affect the integrity of the SPA. Such circumstances may
include the use of existing buildings and development where completely masked from the SPA by existing development.

Stone Curlews are also found outside the SPA; these birds are clearly part of the SPA population and functionally linked.
Accordingly, a secondary buffer (represented by blue cross hatching) indicated areas that have been identified where there are
concentrations of Stone Curlew (using data gathered over the periods 1995-2006, and 2007-2015 (most recently using data from
2011- 2015).

Within these areas, development may be brought forward providing a project level Habitats Regulations Assessment can
demonstrate adverse effects have been prevented, for example where alternative land outside the SPA can be secured to
adequately mitigate for the potential effects.

In 2013 a "Further Assessments of the Relationship between Buildings and Stone Curlew Distribution" study was carried out to
update previous work on the effect of buildings and roads on Stone Curlews in The Brecks. Including new analysis and using
additional survey data, this study report focused on the effects of buildings and roads on the distribution of breeding Stone
Curlew in The Brecks. The report provides strong support for the continuation of a 1500m zone around the areas capable of
supporting Stone Curlews. Within this zone additional development is likely to have a significant effect on the SPA.

A buffer zone for development extends 1,500m from the edge of those parts of the Breckland SPA that support or are capable of
supporting Stone Curlews. A separate buffer zone does the same for other land (outside the SPA) supporting the qualifying
features of the SPA.

The HRA for the Main Modifications (Footprint Ecology, February 2019) includes the following key issues:
Impacts of built development on Stone Curlew

=  Mitigation measures now well established and incorporated into the Local Plan through the Stone Curlew Buffer zones,
updated in light of new data.

Recreation disturbance to SPA birds

= A measure not yet fully progressed from the Core Strategy HRA. Securing adequate recreation provision at new development,
and working with partners to appropriately manage recreation, particularly at accessible forest sites. Commitments are now
included in ENV 3.

Urbanisation effects on SAC and SPA habitats

= A measure not yet fully progressed from the Core Strategy HRA. Framework now committed to within Policy ENV 3 for working
with relevant partners to protect and restore the most urban heath sites, with a requirement for developers to contribute to
measures within the framework where development may lead to increased recreation use of urban heaths.

The following mitigation measures are currently applied for the Local Development Framework, in light of the previous HRA
findings and recommendations made:

162

T



Page 80 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Breckland

= Direct effect of built development on SPA birds = policy wording and 1500m/400m zones mapped

= Indirect effect of disturbance = policy wording committing to a recreation management, monitoring and mitigation

strategy in collaboration with partners

=  Urban effects on heaths around Thetford = developer funded approach to urban heaths management and the provision

of alternative green spaces

=  Recreation pressure on the North Norfolk Coast = Plan wording to commit to new research and collaboration with other

neighbouring local authorities

=  New and upgraded roads = policy commitment to preventing any new roads or road improvements within 200m of
Breckland SAC

=  New and upgraded roads = excluded from the 1500m Stone Curlew zone

=  Waterissues = policy wording to secure flood alleviation measures and commitment to bringing forward new
development in step with infrastructure and supply improvements to avoid impacts on Norfolk Valley Fens SAC and
Ramsar and Lt Ouse & Waveney Valley Fens SAC and Ramsar

The increases for sites in the Brecks were much higher than the Norfolk-wide 14% increase and as such development in the
Breckland area, due to its proximity and scale, has particular implications in terms of recreation. These results are relevant in
considering the impacts from the overall quantum of development and the likely scale of change in recreation at sensitive sites,
with particular increases predicted from growth within Thetford, Swaffham and Mundford.

The Supplementary Advice for Qualifying Features of Breckland SPA (Stone Curlews, Woodlark & Nightjar) includes information
on managing disturbance caused by human activity. The frequency, duration and/or intensity of disturbance affecting nesting
and/or foraging birds should not reach levels that significantly affect the populations of these SPA birds. All three species have
been found to be sensitive to human-related disturbance and this may take the form of noise, light, sound, vibration, trampling

and presence of people, animals and structures.

Research has found that Stone Curlews are highly susceptible to disturbance with active responses being recorded at distances
of up to soom from a dog walker (Taylor et al, 2007). A further study carried out by Sharpe et al, 2008) found that Stone Curlew
nest density was considerably lower on arable land around settlements up to a distance of 2500m. The research was used to
inform a comprehensive study undertaken by Breckland Council as part of an HRA of its Core Strategy. As a result of the HRA, a
1500m constraints zone has been put in place around those parts of the Breckland SPA that supports or is capable of supporting
this SPA bird. In addition to the 1500m buffer, a second buffer has been established to capture areas frequently used by nesting
Stone Curlew outside of the SPA (functionally linked land) which forms part of the SPA population. These areas were selected
from 1km gird squares which held at least 5 nests during the period 1995-2006. This constraint zone has been adopted by al | the
LPAs where this SPA boundary falls under their jurisdiction but does not apply a blanket ban on development. The cumulative
effect of new housing within the 1.5km constraints zone therefore has the potential to lead to an increase in urban pressure on
parts of Breckland SPA with a risk of harmful effects to Stone Curlew. However, for residential development allocated in
Breckland’s Local Plan will need to deliver mitigation measures as identified in the Local Plan HRA and Natural England is
exploring a strategic approach to mitigating these potential impacts arising from new housing.

Research investigating the impact of disturbance on Woodlark populations on heathlands found that nest density was lower on
sites with higher level of human disturbance (Mallord et al, 2007). Liley et al, 2007 studied the impacts of recreational
disturbance on Annex 1 breeding birds including Nightjar and Woodlark on heathland sites in Dorset. The higher the density of
housing resulted in fewer birds on the heaths and the research shows that the impact of housing situated close to a heath is
more severe than housing is further away. As a result of these findings, a 400m zone around SPA heaths was proposed within
that Local Plan as a suitable distance at which to totally limit further development around the boundaries of heathland sites. The
4oom, as selected as Natural England, is regarded as a pragmatic distance to represent the zone of highest potential impact on

163

I



Page 81 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Breckland

the SPA from new residential development. This distance has been adopted by Breckland Council and the exclusion zone has
subsequently been adopted by all the LPAs where the SPA falls under their jurisdiction.

Broads Authority

The HRAs for the Broads Local Plan and the Broads Management Plan both focus on visitor management, including boating
activities. The plans provide comprehensive measures for managing tourism, and this accords with the duties of The Broads
Authority. The Local Plan was adjudged to not need a strategic solution to mitigate recreational impacts on Habitats Sites. Project-
level HRAs are however needed at the planning application stage for all residential development.

Borough of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk

The Local Plan states that the requirement for mitigation applies to housing and tourist accommodation applications within the
whole area, including hotels, guest houses, lodges, static caravans & touring pitches. For tourist accommodation the contribution
is calculated on a case by case basis by the Council, depending on the type, location and seasonality of the accommodation
(section 5.6.1). The approach differs to RAMS as in there is not a coasted suite of measures and money is allocated through an
application process which is facilitated through the Norfolk Coast Partnership (NCP), further information can be found on the
Norfolk Coast Partnership website. The mitigation fund covers any admin costs/time to the NCP. Project level HRAs are required
as part of this process.

Great Yarmouth

The HRA for the Core Strategy (Footprint Ecology, 2015) provided recommendations for Habitats Sites mitigation and monitoring.
NB the plan period will now be from 2013 to 2030. The aim of the Strategy is to implement the protection of the main local
Habitats Sites: Winterton-Horsey Dunes SAC, Breydon Water SPA & Ramsar site and North Denes SPA, from any adverse effects on
integrity resulting from increased recreational pressures which may arise from new housing and tourism development planned by
the Core Strategy growth. The plan-wide HRA recommends the immediate implementation of the following measures:

= Monitoring of visitor numbers and vegetation change to identify any impacts from the Core Strategy planned
development.

=  Provision of mitigation measures such as bins for dog waste, interpretation boards, waymarked routes and control of
dogs.

=  Contribution to the management of the little tern colony to mitigate impacts of visitor pressures.

Section 3.1: planning obligations will be secured to provide a series of necessary monitoring and mitigation measures based on
the proximity of new residential and tourist development to the relevant Natura 2000 sites. This is explained in a draft policy
option on page 5 of the Habitats Monitoring and Mitigation Strategy (attached). Tourist accommodation is defined in section 3.2
and exemptions listed in section 3.8. The implementation of the strategy is explained in section 4.1 and differs from both RAMS
and King Lynn’s approach. A project level HRA is also required for each development but some proposals can be processed by
the council according to criteria agreed with NE, more information can be found on the Great Yarmouth Borough Council website
(Habitat Guidance and Assessment Template).

164

T



Page 82 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Broadland, Norwich City & South Norfolk (Greater Norwich Local Plan)

Since 2016, Norwich City, Broadland and South Norfolk District Councils have been jointly preparing a Greater Norwich Strategic
Plan and consultants are working on an Appropriate Assessment (AA) to inform it and support it at examination. The AA for this
joint plan identifies an increased prevalence and occurrence of negative recreational effects to the Habitats Sites, which in the
absence of effective mitigation is likely to lead to adverse effects on the sites’ integrity.

As the housing figures for Norwich City are incorporated into the Greater Norwich Local Plan, the Regulation 18 HRA (Dec 2019)
assesses the combined impacts of housing growth identified by all three of these LPAs. The text below reflects the NE interim
advice relating to the need for Gl to avoid impacts from residential development alone but also refers to the emerging Norfolk Gl
and RAMS approach to avoid impacts from the Local Plan in combination with other plans and projects. /f /s ascertained that the
Greater Norwich Local Plan Strategy would have no adverse effect upon the integrity of any European site acting alone, subject to
the following outstanding matters:

o Mitigation of recreational impact upon European sites comprising

a) a tariff based payment taken from residential, and other relevant accommodation e.g. tourist accommodation, that will
be used to fund a mixture of mitigation measures, most likely of soft and hard mitigation measures at the European sites;

b) the provision of suitable alternative natural green space (SANGs), which would be large enough to meet a range of
recreational needs,

¢) implementation of a wider programme of Green Infrastructure Improvements in accordance with current and emerging
project plans, so that residents have an alternative to European sites for regular activities such as dog walking.

e Satisfactory completion of a Water Cycle Study which demonstrates no adverse impact on European sites (Policy
1, Section 5)

e (larification of Policy 6, Section 10 perhaps as a final bullet point ‘Habitats Regulations Assessments will be
required for small scale tourism accommodation within 1km, and for larger scale tourism accommodation within
10km, of a European site. Habitats Regulations Assessment will also be required for tourism, leisure, cultural and
environmental activities which would utilise European sites’. (Section 10.2)

The Norfolk Authorities are progressing a Norfolk-wide studly, the Green Infrastructure and Recreational Impact Avoidance and
Mitigation Strategy (GIRAMS). This strategy is expected to set out a proposed approach to tariff contributions from new
development, in accordance with the first part of the mitigation identified above. This study may also provide useful
evidence/guidance for a future SANGs strategy.

To alleviate recreational pressure on European sites alternative recreational opportunities should be provided. Where increased
recreational use is predicted to cause adverse impacts on a site, avoidance and mitigation should be considered. Avoidance of
recreational impacts at European sites involves location of new development away from such sites or provision of an alternative
recreational resource.

This could take the form of a new country park containing woodland, small and large waterbodies (where feasible and subject to
aircraft safeguarding constraints, open grassland or potentially inland beach functions (if feasible) nearer the strategic
development sites.

Broadland District Council requires mitigation to be provided by new development to address likely significant impacts on
projected sites. Broadland's mitigation strategy required new residential development of 5 or more homes to make on-site or off-
site (including commuted sum payments in lieu of provision) and informal GI contributions (equivalent to 4ha per 1000
population).

165




Page 83 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

North Norfolk

The Core Strategy was subject to 'Appropriate Assessment' which assesses potential effects on Habitats Sites (Special Areas of
Conservation, Special Protection Areas and Offshore Marine Sites) and the Appropriate Assessment report is available on the
Council website at www.northnorfolk.org/ldf. The recent HRA screening of policies and allocations in the emerging Local Plan Part

1 (Footprint Ecology, 2019)) identified recreational pressure as a key theme for more detailed assessment at the appropriate
assessment stage. At the First Draft Local plan stage, the Appropriate Assessment section of this report concluded that the policy
wording is adequate for Habitats Site protection, but that there would be benefit in setting out more clearly the requirements for
Habitats Sites as a separate policy to the wider requirements for biodiversity and geodiversity. This would be beneficial as the
emerging strategic mitigation approach to alleviate recreation pressure is likely to require more detailed policy and supporting
text working to give clarity n developer requirements.

The abovementioned HRA report considers that the main impact pathway to take to appropriate assessment is identified as
recreation pressure, and this is applicable to all of the Habitats Sites screened into the assessment apart from the River Wensum
SAC. It notes that the most recent North Norfolk plan level HRA work is the 2010 HRA undertaken by Royal Haskoning for the Site
Allocations document. This concluded that the site allocations set out within the plan would not cause an adverse effect on any of
the European sites with the commitment of North Norfolk District Council to progress key mitigation measures at a strategic level
in relation to recreation. The activities required are summarised below:

=  Aprogramme of assessing visitor behaviour at European sites and their potential impact, to establish a pre-
development baseline from which the impact of future development can be assessed.

=  Provision of open space within the larger site allocations is provided for, and the HRA of the Site Allocations advised
that there is a need for further understanding of the potential role of these open spaces and the green infrastructure
network in reducing pressure on European sites.

=  Ensuring that any future monitoring taking place at European sites is complementary to advancing the evidence base in
relation to consideration of recreation impacts and mitigation needs.

The AA states that Reference to the partnership working with the Norfolk wide authorities on this matter is important to
demonstrate an ongoing commitment. It is therefore anticipated that the section of the HRA relating to delivering strategic
mitigation to support the Local Plan will be expanded to include an explanation of the Norfolk Gl and RAMS and how it needs to
be attributed in policy, at the next iteration of the HRA. In summary, it is currently understood that the Strategy will involve the
following:

= Assessment of current green infrastructure provision and future provision within site allocations, to inform additional
green infrastructure requirements for European site mitigation purposes (i.e. avoid impacts from the development
alone)

= Access management measures to be implemented at the European sites, justified with evidence and costed to provide
a per house contributions tariff (i.e. avoid impacts in combination with other plans and projects)

=  Establishment of a project board to oversee implementation

The HRA includes a recommendation for advising on policy wording in relation to the Norfolk RAMS and finds that whilst a
conclusion of no adverse effects on European site integrity cannot currently be made. It is concluded that there are measures
recommended or in progress that are capable of providing the necessary certainty to enable a conclusion of no adverse effects at
the next iteration of the HRA.

Discussions with Natural England will check their support for the mitigation proposals and these discussions will therefore inform
the next iteration of this HRA. This HRA will also be updated to reflect any other consultee responses of relevance to the HRA.

166

T


http://www.northnorfolk.org/ldf

Page 84 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

3.2.4.3 Housing Planned in the Evidenced Zones of Influence

The table below outlines the amount of housing that isbeing planned for in each Local Plan. All LPAs
are at different stages of the plan making process. Some figures will be based on Local Plan
allocations, but where these are currently not known, LPAs have provided an informed estimate based
on evidence from housing trajectory documents and past housing deliveryrates.

The housing data goes up to the year 2036 so where necessary, the Local Housing Need (calculated
using the standard methodology) has been used to estimate allocations for the additional period up to
2038. These housing numbers will be reviewed and, where necessary, updated over the lifetime of the
strategy in accordance with LPA monitoring data, as part of the Norfolk Gl and RAMS monitoring and
review process.

The housing numbers supplied in the table below are based on the quantity of net new dwellings that
are expected to fall within the ZOI for the Norfolk GI and RAMS. All LPAs are wholly covered by the
county wide Z0lI, and therefore the numbers of homes that are still expected to be built within the ZOlI
have been included in the figures in the tables below. Estimated windfall is the amount expected for
the length of the Strategy.

The figures in the table below will change over time and the tariff will change at each review. The tariff
has been calculated based on the level of growth within the LPAs’ Local Plans, including allocations
and windfall allowances.

167




Page 85 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Table7:  Planned Growth within Norfolk until 2038

Dwellings to include in tariff

LPA Partner . B C D
Local Plan Number in Number in (A-B-C)
Housing Emerging / Emerging / Remaining
Provision Current Local Current Local Allocations
plan already Plan already
completed with Planning
Permission
Greater
.3 36,487 5,240 21,454 9,793 4,450 14,243
Norwich
North Norfolk” 11,060 1,964 2,716 6,380 o] 6,380
Great . 0
,91 1,692 5 ,880 1,111 ,901
Yarmouth? 9,915 9 3,343 4 5,99
Breckland’ 12,668 1.075 9,493 2,100 700 2,800
King’s Lynn & 8,455
8 1,680 6,32 6,838 13,16
West Norfolk® (combined) 5 2 . S0
Broads 222 o 92 130 o 130

TOTAL: 42,709 dwellings

Source: Norfolk Strategic Planning Framework / Place Services, January 2021

w

Housing commitment and completions figures are based on draft monitoring outputs as of 1 April 2020. Local Plan housing requirements are
based on the emerging Regulation 19 Draft Greater Norwich Local Plan (GNLP) Document. The GNLP plan period is 2018-2038. The Housing
Trajectory assumption are based on the plan achieving an average annual delivery which is equal to the minimum Local Housing Need (LHN)
requirement for Greater Norwich of 2,027 home per year. LHN requirement is calculated as of 2018.

ES

The Great Yarmouth Local Plan runs to 2030 - for 2030-2036 the GY Local Housing Need (calculated using the standard methodology) has been
used to estimate allocations for this period.

v

The Local Plan period is 2012 — 2036, however will be subject to an immediate review with possible extended end date of 2041.

o

Local Housing Need = 539 (539 x 20 = 10,780) Emerging Local Plan review (2016 -2036).Note this is a review and carries forward the majority of
allocations already made in the 2016 Plan. Only two modest allocations totalling 111 dwellings are made. The allocations and completions from
windfall sites since 2016 already will meet the LHN. The windfall allowance is based upon historic trends and includes a 25% discount as land is
a finite resource. However, it should be noted that the current planning system and indeed the Local Plan review are very flexible in relation to
windfall development. Figures are taken from the 2019/20 Housing Trajectory: https://www.west-

norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy and_local_plan/z53/housing_delivery_test_hdt_action_plan

7Housing Target is adjusted to reflect updated standard methodology 553x20 years for plan period. Windfall allowance 170pa, (16yrs remaining,,
2,720) adjust to reflect plan requirements outside completion, permissions and emerging allocations

T

168


https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/753/housing_delivery_test_hdt_action_plan
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/753/housing_delivery_test_hdt_action_plan

PLACE

Page 86 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

It should be noted that without ‘Plan period’ housing trajectories, it has not been possible to identify
whether there are any likely ‘peaks’ across Norfolk (i.e. any ‘dwelling per annum’ spikes) that could
affect the mitigation required in set periods. For instance, if all the LPAs were relying on higher dwelling
per annum numbers in years 10-15 of plan periods for example (to meet overall plan period
requirements), then more mitigation would be needed in that period. Although this would not affect the
tariff, additional Ranger resource may be needed.

The Strategy is based on average growth / annual housing targets over Local Plan periods. Final
phasing and delivery may differ slightly due to market conditions (etc) but for the purposes of this
Strategy annualised delivery considerations remain appropriate.

3.3 Mitigation at Habitats Sites

This sub-section addresses the following parts of the brief:
e Exploring effective mitigation measures;
e Addressing when the mitigation measures are required;
e Explaining where the mitigation is required;
e Explaining how mitigation relates to development;
e Setting out how mitigation measures can be funded;
e Proposing how the mitigation will be implemented;
e Proposing how the success of the mitigation measures will be monitored; and

e Setting out how best to incorporate monitoring data and other information and best practice
into future reviews of the strategy and Local Plans.

3.3.1 Existing Habitats Sites Monitoring and Mitigation Schemes

3.3.1.1 Borough of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk

The Borough-wide Natura 2000 sites ‘Monitoring and Mitigation Strategy’ states that the requirement
for mitigation applies to housing and tourist accommodation applications (including hotels, guest
houses, lodges, static caravans & touring pitches) within the whole area. For tourist accommodation
the contribution is calculated on a case by case basis by the Council, depending on the type, location
and seasonality of the accommodation. This approach differs to a RAMS as there is no costed package
of measures and developer contributions are allocated through an application process which is
facilitated through the Norfolk Coast Partnership (NCP). This mitigation fund covers any admin
costs/time to the NCP. Project level HRA’s are required as part of this process and some proposed
mitigation measures are included.

3.3.1.2 Great Yarmouth Borough Council

The ‘Habitats Monitoring and Mitigation Strategy’ aims to implement protection measures for the main
local Natura 2000 sites: Winterton-Horsey Dunes SAC, Breydon Water SPA & Ramsar site and Gt
Yarmouth North Denes SPA, from any significant effects resulting from increased recreational pressures
which may arise from new housing and tourism development planned by their Core Strategy growth.
The plan-wide HRA recommends the immediate implementation of the following measures:

169

B



PLACE

Page 87 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

e Monitoring of visitor numbers and vegetation change to identify any impacts from the Core
Strategy planned development.

e Provision of mitigation measures such as bins for dog waste, interpretation boards,
waymarked routes and control of dogs

e Contribution to the management of the Little Tern colony to mitigate impacts of visitor
pressures

The Great Yarmouth Habitats Monitoring and Mitigation Strategy uses planning obligations to secure
developer contributions to provide a series of necessary monitoring and mitigation measures based on
the proximity of new residential and tourist development to the relevant Natura 2000 sites. This is
explained in a draft policy option and tourist accommodation (in section 3.2) and exemptions listed (in
section 3.8). The implementation of the strategy is explained (in section 4.1) and differs from both the
RAMS and Borough of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk approaches. A project-level HRA is also required for
each residential development, however some proposals can be processed by the council according to
criteria agreed with NE.

3.3.1.3 Broadland District Council

The Recreational Provision in Residential Development SPD (2016) states that “The Habitats
Regulations Assessments undertaken for the Joint Core Strategy, the Site Allocations DPD and the
DMDPD conclude that any impact upon the Natura 2000 sites is considered unlikely. However, because
the possibility of any potential impact cannot be ruled out entirely, green infrastructure (within the
Local Plan area) is required in order to mitigate the impacts of development.” This principle is taken
forward through subsidiary policies including Policy EN3 of the Local Plan which needs to meet the 4ha
per 1,000 population standard for informal recreational provision.

The approach taken to avoid recreational impacts by provision of strategic Green Infrastructure within
residential sites and offsite within the Local Plan making area, aims to implement protection measures
for the local Habitats Sites. This approach is key to diverting and deflecting residents from using
Habitats Sites on a daily basis and high quality Green Infrastructure reduces the level of impacts.
However, this differs from the other two mitigation and monitoring schemes, as the Broadland scheme
is unable to deliver mitigation at the Habitats Sites outside the Plan making area.

3.3.1.4 North Norfolk District Council

NNDC have a policy in place seeking mitigation contributions from dwellings since the adoption of the
Site allocations plan in 2011.

3.3.1.5 Greater Norwich Local Plan

The emerging Greater Norwich Local Plan is accompanied by an interim HRA which identifies in detail
how internationally designated ecological habitats and wildlife sites in the wider area, including the
Broads and the Norfolk coast, would potentially be impacted by recreational pressures likely to be
generated by growth in Greater Norwich. Local Plan Policy 3 therefore sets a requirement that
development mitigates impact on sites protected under the Habitats Regulations Directive.

The HRA identifies a range of mitigation measures to alleviate additional recreational pressure from
additional growth planned in the Greater Norwich Local Plan. These include interventions at the sites
themselves, providing suitable alternative natural green space (known as SANGS) and the
implementation of a wider programme of green infrastructure improvements.

170

B



Page 88 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

3.3.2 Exploring mitigation options at Habitats Sites

This section explores those approaches that are being undertaken in other parts of the country and
what learning points are relevant for this Strategy. A knowledge of other approaches acts as a starting
point for developing a RAMS that is appropriate for Norfolk and the unique challenges faced by multiple
authorities and a large number of Habitats Sites that will be affected by recreational pressure.

171




Page 89 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

3.3.2.1 What’s being done elsewhere?

Surrey Heath Borough Council - Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area Avoidance Strategy SPD 2019

This case study is useful as it explores that notion of ‘strategic’ SANGS to additionally assist in the mitigation of effects

away from the SPA itself. These are typically owned by individual LPAs who have purchased land in a strategic location for

this purpose. New development can be ‘allocated’ to a strategic SANG within catchment areas, and contributions from

developments within these catchments can be used for SANG enhancement, and ongoing management and maintenance.

What are the identified effects on Habitats
Sites?

The Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection
Area (SPA) is a network of heathland sites
which are a habitat for three internationally
important rare bird species: Dartford warbler,
woodlark and nightjar. All three species nest on
the ground or at low level and so are easily
disturbed or harmed by recreational activity
such as dog walking. Predation by domestic
cats is also a risk factor, as is the potential for
fly tipping and arson on the heathland habitat.

Research conducted on behalf of Natural
England in 2005 indicated that the existing
level of recreational pressure is having a
detrimental impact on the three species. The
breeding success of these ground-nesting birds
is affected by disturbance from people and
their pets using the SPA for recreational
purposes.

What did they do to mitigate the effects?

An SPD approach established a 400m buffer
around the SPA within which no net new
residential development will be permitted;
without which it would not be possible to
conclude no adverse effect on the integrity of
the SPA. A project-level HRA will be needed to
demonstrate that any development within this
zone will not have an adverse effect on the SPA
and/or the acceptability of any avoidance and
mitigation measures provided within the SPD.

The SPD also set out the provision of SANGs (of
a certain capacity) which were currently not in
use for recreation or significantly under-used to

provide a new alternative for recreation. The
SPD further sets out that SANGs should be in
place before any development is occupied so
that the risk of additional recreational pressure
arising on the SPA is avoided. Additionally,
mitigation was proposed in the form of
Strategic Access Management and Monitoring
(SAMM) measures and co-ordinates visitor
management across the whole of the publicly
accessible SPA. Access Management was seen
as an important part of the avoidance strategy.
The SPD proposed to promote the use of SANGs
by improving the accessibility of sites,
identifying recreational routes (in particular
circular walks easily accessible from residential
areas) and promoting these measures.

Is this mitigation proposed relevant to the
situation in Norfolk?

As the SPD has only recently been progressed,
the successfulness of the mitigation measures
is unknown at this stage. The mitigation
proposed is unique to the effects identified for
the Thames Basin Heaths SPA, in particular
those related to three bird species from new
development. The mitigation proposed within
the SPD relates very specifically to these effects
and is not solely related to recreational
pressure as is the case with the Norfolk RAMS
strategy. Nevertheless, the case study informs
this Strategy of the relationship between
recreational disturbance emanating from
growth over a wide area and the provision of
‘strategic’ enhancements to the Gl network at
the District level which can serve specific
catchments.

172

I



Page 90 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

The Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2015-2020 — An implementation plan to mitigate the impact of new housing
development upon the Dorset Heaths Special Protection Area (SPD)

This case study outlines that mitigation can be supplemented by other Gl projects. Furthermore, the suite of mitigations

recommended include both infrastructure and ‘non-infrastructure provision’ which has implications for funding

mechanism options in Norfolk and an appropriate mechanism to deliver mitigation.

What are the identified effects on Habitats
Sites?

Public access to lowland heathland, from
nearby development, has led to an increase in
wild fires, damaging recreational uses, the
introduction of incompatible plants and
animals, loss of vegetation, soil erosion and
disturbance by humans and their pets amongst
other factors.

These effects are most keenly felt within 400m
of heathland where Natural England advise that
additional residential development is likely to
have a significant adverse effect upon the
designated site, either alone or in combination
with other developments. The implication of
this is that in most cases it will not be possible
for an LPA undertaking an ‘appropriate
assessment’ of a proposal for residential
development to be certain that any adverse
effects could be avoided or alleviated. Within
an area of 40om to 5km, significant adverse
effect in combination with other proposals will
still be identified, but that avoidance or
mitigation measures can allow development to
be approved.

What did they do to mitigate the effects?

An SPD approach sets out that mitigation of
effects between 4oom and skm will include
‘Heathland Infrastructure Projects’ such as
SANGs to divert recreational pressure away
from heathland. Residential developments that
cannot avoid or mitigate their own adverse
effects are required to make a contribution
towards the overall Avoidance and Mitigation
Strategy. This strategy has two elements,
Heathlands Infrastructure Projects (such as
SANGs) which are funded through CIL (where a
schedule is adopted by LPAs), and Strategic
Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM),

173

which is ‘non infrastructure provision’ such as
wardens, education and monitoring.

SAMM cannot be funded through CIL. The
SAMM charge is also effective for prior approval
applications for the change of use and or
conversion of non-residential development to
housing. This means that any new dwelling that
comes forward will pay a direct contribution
toward mitigating the adverse effects of its
impact upon the Dorset Heaths. The
contribution is payable through either a
Unilateral Undertaking or Section 111
agreement. Proposed agreements under
Section 111 will require the LPA and the
developer to enter into the agreed form of S106
agreement at an agreed time. Section 111 is
applicable as the SAMM is considered
subsidiary to facilitating the mitigation.

Is the mitigation proposed relevant to the
situation in Norfolk?

The success of the SPD can largely be
measured through the success of collecting of
contributions. The SPD responds to an area
within a specific distance of a single Habitats
Site and for that reason is quite different from
the effect that this Strategy seeks to mitigate.
Required mitigation within the SPD includes
SANGs supplemented by other Gl projects
however, which is appropriate to a Gl and RAMS
Strategy. The Dorset Heathlands would be
affected by development in a number of ways,
whereas the Norfolk RAMS deals with ‘in-
combination’ recreational effects only which
has further implications for funding
mechanisms that ensure mitigation is relevant
to specific development. In Dorset the SPD
ensured that CIL would pay for Heathland
Infrastructure Projects and other mechanisms
for other mitigation measures.

I



Page 91 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

The Suffolk Coast Recreational disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

This case study establishes an approved method of mitigation for both traditional coastal and forest habitats. It also

outlines effects related to both planned housing growth and those that can be expected through tourist related
development. The Strategy also introduces two tariffs that reflect differing levels of planned growth in some LPA areas
and a proportionate approach.

What are the identified effects on Habitats
Sites?

This Strategy is a collaborative project between
East Suffolk Council, Ipswich Borough Council
and Babergh & Mid Suffolk District Councils to
help prevent recreational pressure on Habitats
Sites on the Suffolk Coast (including forest
habitats), in part due to residential
development in the area and an increase in
visitors. Parts of the Suffolk coast are also
popular tourist destinations and the Strategy
separates sites where access is predominantly
from tourists rather than local residents. Effects
on sensitive receptors included those regarding
rare and vulnerable birds which feed, nest
and/or rest on the Suffolk Coast including
woodland / forest habitats. Further receptors
include wildlife which may be chased or
disturbed by off-lead dogs, the presence of too
many people, footpaths becoming eroded by
people walking and vegetation becoming
trampled. Trampling decreases plant cover and
changes the ground flora species composition.

What are they doing to mitigate the effects?

The Strategy includes a list of measures and
projects to be funded through a tariff approach,
including:

= Within the forestry blocks suitable
nesting habitat for Nightjar and
Woodlark will be created temporarily
when trees are felled;

= Employment of specific RAMS wardens
to educate visitors;

= An audit of signage and car parking to
determine high and low use areas;

= The consideration of alternate locations

for dog activities away from nesting,
roosting and feeding bird areas; and

= Monitoring work to find out if
implemented measures are working.

RAMS payments are requested for development
of one or more new dwellings and some tourism
development, within a 13km zone of influence
from designated sites. The Strategy sets out
that a contribution to RAMS is a simple way of
allowing the AA of smaller developments to
conclude that the in-combination effect will be
mitigated. Two tariffs areas have been
identified, to reflect lower planned housing
growth in some areas that others, offering a
‘fair’ contribution that is proportionate to
effects.

Is the mitigation proposed relevant to the
situation in Norfolk?

Although this RAMS project considers coastal
recreational impacts, it does factorin the
protection objectives of numerous Habitats
Sites within the Suffolk coastal area including
areas of forest - this is similar to the habitats
found in Norfolk. The RAMS is also now
considering tourist related development, which
again is relevant to Norfolk Habitats Sites. The
Strategy sets out that although paying into
RAMS is the easiest way to help mitigate
against recreational disturbance impacts to
designated sites arising from new residential
development, there is an option not to pay into
the RAMS fund - providing onsite mitigation is
expensive and will be assessed to ensure it
provides meaningful recreation. It must provide
a suitable alternative to visiting a European
site. Additionally, the Strategy outlines that
RAMS is a comprehensive form of mitigation to
address cumulative effects - addressing effects
on a piecemeal basis is unlikely to be effective.

174

I



Page 92 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

3.3.2.2 Analysis and review of mitigation options for each Habitats Site in Norfolk

An initial workshop was held for key stakeholders in May 2019 to gather local and specialised
knowledge from organisations and individuals on the following:

e The locations of visitors at the coast and the recreational activity currently taking place;
e Current recreational disturbance problems; and
e Current mitigation measures in place.

A follow-up workshop was then held with key stakeholders in July 2019 which provided an opportunity
to capture the mitigation measures considered as most effective to avoid the impacts likely to result
from increased recreational pressure on the Norfolk Habitats Sites in the future.

For each Habitats Site, stakeholder input has helped to identify current issues of recreational
disturbance which have provided a focus for and will help prioritise measures in the Norfolk Gl and
RAMS. The information gathered from the workshops has been summarised in the tables below for
each Habitats Site. These show the current recreational disturbance by increased visitor access,
existing mitigation in place and identification of any gaps in mitigation which could be considered to
be part of the RAMS element of this Strategy. However, it is important to note that this is not an
exhaustive list of all the measures in place.

Table 8:  Issues and impacts identified from stakeholder workshops and stakeholder discussions

Walkers/ joggers/ dog = Little terns/nesting birds disturbed 1)  Trialling visitor management approaches at

walkers/ horse riding/ . . Horsey/Winterton, Holme, Brancaster,
= Erosion of site

paddle sports / Holkham through ENDURE project.

swimming/ canoeing/

) i 2) Wardens/volunteers
kayaking powerboating

etc. in sensitive areas 3) Signage focused on dog walkers

4) Dogwalking events/dog breakfast to spread
the message/ No dogs policy mid-April to
August Scolt Head.

5) Alternative paths around the perimeter of
sites

6) Education material available

7)  Fencing for tern colony Scolt Head. Also
monitoring of habitat change & erosion

8) Social media campaign

9) Holkham foreshore staff & Dersingham Bog
engage with visitors, monitoring of nesting
success and impacts of recreational
disturbance on species habitats monitored for
impacts of erosion

175

I



Page 93

Increased number of People likely to visit protected areas which

campsites/glamping causes traffic/noise

close to designated sites

Dog walkers trespassing  Disturbance to habitats

onto Nature Reserve
after the Information
Centre shuts

Source: Place Services, 2019

Table 9:
discussions

Body Information currently available

Norfolk County Council ENDURE Project:

=  Visitor management on Sand Dune
sites

=  Trialling approaches

= Walking with Stakeholders to ID
issues

Norfolk Trails:

= Delivering England Coast Path and
National Path

=  People counter data available for
trials and sites

= Visitor information surveys

Prowad link project (Wash EMS) - soon to
undertake visitor survey for the area

Marriotts Way Project- Visitor info &
Education & Interpretation

North West Norfolk =
from a range of activities including -

176

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Site records of increased disturbance

10) Positive signage, no ‘do not’s
New recreational best practice guide been out
for consultation so can be considered
catalogue for measures.

N/A

1) Increased signage

2) Awareness of implications

Types of recreational disturbance reported at the Norfolk GI and RAMS Workshops and stakeholder

What measures are in place to avoid /

mitigate disturbance

1) Trialling visitor management approaches at
Horsey/Winterton, Holme, Brancaster,
Holkham through ENDURE project

2) Willinvolve social media campaign on site
into wardens/rangers - fencing/signage

1) Scolt Head - Sumer Walden on Scolt Head -
Temporary shut between mid-April and
August - Inland has ‘no dogs’ policy mid-April-

T



Page 94

Body

The Wash North Norfolk

Marine Partnership
(WNNMP)

Norfolk Coast
Partnership

Information currently available

sailing, power boarding, canoeing,
kayaking

Visits to sites increasing erosion on
vulnerable habitats (North Norfolk
sites) and disturbance, walkers,
joggers, general increase in visitor
numbers increasing impacts on
breeding animals and habitats

Lots of other activities on the coast
and inland sites.

MMO Project (University of Hull)

Understand and map recreational
activities and associated pressures
across British

Detailed info and GIS layers for The
Wash and N. Norfolk, EMS + Cromer
MCzZ.

WNNMP

Coordinated disturbance monitoring
programme across EMS since 2004.
Reports available. New online
reporting tool is built to automate
monitoring.

Automate for other areas/sites"

Family friendly sites (sites more able
to handle visitor pressure)

Sensitive sites (data collected from
site wardens on the most sensitive
breeding/feeding/roosting/layout out
sites for birds and seals

Older surveys on visitor reasons to
visit specific sites

Older dog disturbance work (with
WNNMP)

In Progress:

177

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

What measures are in place to avoid /

mitigate disturbance

2)

3)

1)

2)
3)

4)

5)

6)

7)

1)

2)

4)

I

August. Fencing to Tern colonies monitoring
of habitat change and erosion

Holkham Foreshore - Staff monitor breeding
shorebirds and advise and engage with
visitors around disturbance

Dersingham Bog - staff monitor visitors and
engage with visitors on site. Detailed
monitoring of nesting success and impacts of
recreational disturbance on species habitats
monitored for impacts of erosion

New recreational best practice guide.
Consultation ends May 25th. ------ 20 activities
and provides advice across all spatial and
seasonal scales.

Can be considered a best practice catalogue
Online and paper version available

Includes an activity icon - signage to develop
a visually consistent communication strategy
across region

Dog walking management strategy report
commissioned that covers Holkham NNR (&
Gibraltar Point NNR - Lincs) and adjacent area
(Steve Johnson)

Need to develop a consistent approach for
both sites - WNNMP

Avians Group

NCP are the facilitators of the BKLWN HMM
Fund, as well as sitting on the Panel

Happy to share process/development of the
fund

Would be happy to spread this role across
other LAs/across Norfolk or to help in setting
up a countrywide approach

Completed 'Your Norfolk Coast' project with
tourism businesses about their customers’
recreational impacts. We continue to work on
these issues - key theme for us.



Page 95 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Body Information currently available What measures are in place to avoid /

mitigate disturbance

- Key Performance Indicators for the
coast (AONB)

- New Norfolk Coast Management

Plan
Royal Society for the = Visitor surveys at Winterton for LIFE 1) Little tern site profiles
Protection of Birds project

2) Reserve management plan

(RSPB) . . .
= Little term site profiles - passed to due . . .
3) Fencing, wardening, signage common

: Re'zserve mana'gement plans available 4) RSPB doing behaviour change project in east
WIENER ST Norfolk. Targeted signage on dog walkers.
Signs changes to be focused on what 'can' be
done rather than 'can't' be done. Pictures of
dogs to encourage target audience. Run a
‘dog breakfast' event in August to make
contact with dog walkers at car park, provide
chance to talk and demonstrate interest in
what the group want at the site. Well received
event and work through 2018 - built positive

link with the community.

Source: Place Services, 2019

3.3.3 Proposed mitigation and reasoned outputs

This Strategy has used the evidence gathered in the previous sections to identify a package of effective
measures considered necessary to avoid and mitigate the impacts of recreational disturbance from
planned residential growth over the next 20 years in each participating LPA area. This section looks
solely at the measures which need to be delivered at the Habitats Sites across Norfolk to deal with the
residual impacts which are not deflected by strategic Green Infrastructure. The Natural England interim
advice to the Norfolk LPAs (Aug 2019) (see Appendix 1) includes details for Green Infrastructure to
containing the majority of recreation within and around the residential site to avoid impacts from the
development alone. The RAMS package is designed to avoid impacts from the development in
combination with other plans and projects; it is not designed or reasonable for the RAMS to mitigate or
reduce the current level of recreational disturbance in the Norfolk Habitats Sites as this would be
unreasonable for future developers. However the RAMS measures identified for delivery at these sites
will promote good visitor behaviour, which will have a positive impact where there are existing
conflicts, and ensure adverse impacts on vulnerable interest features do not increase.

Based on the observations reported by site managers, and an excerpt provided to the consultants by
Natural England from their ‘Housing Development and Estuaries in England: Developing Methodologies
for Assessing the Impacts of Disturbance to Non-Breeding Wildfowl’ (Footprint Ecology, unpublished
report for Natural England’) it is considered that the most effective mitigation measure at estuaries is

7 Ross, K., Liley,D. Austin, G., Clarke, R.T., Burton, N.H., Stillman, R.A., Cruickshanks, K. and Underhill-Day, J. (2014)

I

178



PLACE

Page 96 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

on-site Ranger i.e. face to face communication. This intervention can be considerably more effective
than signs, byelaws and general information provision; it is supported by Natural England and
implemented by other HRA mitigation partnerships in conjunction with other bespoke behaviour
intervention measures as needed. The RAMS package therefore places an emphasis on Ranger
engagement with the public, but it also contains may other tools in its toolbox such as monitoring
(visitor numbers and behaviours, vegetation and species including disturbance incidents) to build up a
picture of what successful mitigation looks like for each Habitats site to deal with issues that concern
the site managers.

Published research for the Solent estuary on the first year results of monitoring bird disturbance in the
presence/absence of Rangers (Liley,D. and Panter, C. (2017)® showed that at seven out of the ten
locations surveyed, the proportion of birds disturbed (i.e. any behavioural response) was significantly
lower when a Ranger was present. Activities where the proportion of birds disturbed was less when a
Ranger was present were dog walking, walking, jogging, and ‘other’ (i.e. activities that did not fit with
our standard categories). These are potentially some of the activities that would be most easily
intercepted by the Rangers. Whilst the results from this first year are not intended to provide
comprehensive findings or complete results, they show slight positive effects of Ranger presence,
particularly in terms of the overall number of birds disturbed, rather than the proportion of events that
cause disturbance. The monitoring is intended to provide baseline results for comparison with future
years and to guide how the Ranger team is deployed. Implications are discussed but key
recommendations are:

e Foreach site, a target is set for what the Ranger team is aiming to achieve, and this is
communicated directly to visitors. Targets would relate to visitor numbers (e.g. fewer
visitors walking in a particular area), visitor behaviour (e.g. fewer dogs off lead), bird
numbers (e.g. increased use of an area by birds) or bird behaviour (e.g. fewer birds flushed).
Ranger effort would then become focussed to specific spots and targets and the monitoring
could also, in part, directly report against those targets.

e The reach and effectiveness of the Ranger team is increased through temporary signs (e.g.
‘A’ boards that can be put out at key locations), temporary fencing etc. that can help
influence people besides one of the Rangers simply speaking to them. An example is a
roost on a linear section of beach where people can approach in either direction. As the
Ranger can only stand on one side of the roost, the use of temporary signage/fencing etc.
on the other side could make a major difference.

Different types of recreational impact will need bespoke mitigation measures and the list of impacts
reported for Norfolk Habitats Sites are wide ranging. Some sites will need more monitoring data to
inform which measures is likely to be most effective and others will benefit from a menu of measures to
influence visitor behaviour.

A Natural England presentation at the HRA mitigation “meet up” in Havant (Nov 2018) described how to
develop and test behavioural interventions based on the finding that there is often a fundamental
difference between stated attitudes and behaviour when dealing with environmental issues. Dr Rose
O’Neill & Dr Cheryl Willis explained that, when it comes to exploring changing behaviours, the
challenge is not to focus only on the individual (their attitudes, knowledge and awareness). It is more
effective is to look beyond the individual to the context in which behaviours are occurring. This
supports the need for the Norfolk RAMS steering group and when in post, the Delivery Coordinator to
use the package of measures and test which intervention will work best in each situation on any site.

Clearly, the prioritisation of the implementation of the mitigation measures will need to consider which

179

B



PLACE

Page 97 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

measures will achieve the greatest impact, the cost of the measures and the amount of funds available
in the Norfolk RAMS budget and the complexity of projects, for example some may require long term
planning and feasibility work.

The package of mitigation measures, some coast-wide and others specific to an individual Habitats Site
will need to be implemented “in perpetuity” although the costs are currently calculated for the lifetime
of the Local Plans as advised by Natural England. The term “in perpetuity” has a legal definition of 125
years (The Perpetuities and Accumulations Act 2009) and it has been accepted in strategic mitigation
schemes for European sites such as those in place for the Thames Basin Heaths and Dorset
heathlands. The conclusion on a time period for the RAMS to cover is therefore recommended as the
earliest date any Local Plan covers to the last date any Local Plan covers i.e. until 2038. This will
however need to be agreed by the LPAs to support each Local Plan at examination. The RAMS package
of measures will also therefore need to cover sufficient mitigation to be delivered for the periods for
each Local Plan. This will have a slow start, with fewer Local Plans adopted than not at present, rising
to deliver mitigation across all of the Norfolk’s Habitats Sites identified. This will allow the package
costs to be finalised and a tariff calculated.

Developer contributions will be ongoing to support future local plan periods with an updated package.
Existing RAMS partnerships elsewhere in England invest some of the developer contributions to ensure
that mitigation for impacts from residential development can be delivered for the Local Plan periods
without the need for successive funding. Bird Aware Solent currently invest 40% of all such
contributions and the Bird Wise project in Kent split funds at approximately 40% spend and 60%
investment.

As the tariff is applicable on a per dwelling basis, it will also apply to unplanned growth that may come
forward in the timeline of the project. As the partner LPAs have different time periods for their Local
Plans, NE’s advice was that a fair and appropriate approach would be for the single Norfolk RAMS pot
to be available for developer contributions for all adopted Local Plans. Therefore, those LPAs with
adopted Local Plans should be able to deliver the mitigation measures for the sites affected by their
development as soon as possible. Those LPAs with Local Plans still in preparation will start the transfer
of developer contributions to the countywide RAMS pot for strategic delivery when the strategy has
been adopted. This approach would give a staggered start to the RAMS pot and build funds as Local
Plans are adopted; these would need to be spent at the sites predicted to be affected and recorded in
legal agreements to provide an audit trail for each LPA decision on relevant development.

With regular reviews built into the Norfolk Gl and RAMS report — with regular gate reviews for assessing
progress of the measures delivered under implementation of the RAMS mitigation package — it is
suggested that the LPAs should fix a suitable point before the end of the last Local Plan adoption for all
parties to agree a final review and need for another period of RAMS to support future Local Plans. This
will be influenced by any future HRA Appropriate Assessments of new Local Plans.

In reality, regular reviews of Local Plans and implementation of the Norfolk GI& RAMS, will provide
opportunities for a continuing and rolling delivery of mitigation measures to meet the ‘in perpetuity’
test at examination and all decisions on relevant development.

In the interim period and in line with NEs’ interim advice, all LPAs are asked to prepare HRA records
using the template provided or something similar, secure sufficient Gl on site or provision nearby, and
collect developer contributions for the delivery of mitigation at the Habitats Sites as necessary. This is
in order to avoid AEOI from residential development

After the current Strategy lifetime, future timetables will need to be prepared based on reviews of the
Strategy itself and its evidence base.

180

B



18T

Page 98 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 23: Types of recreational disturbance reported at the Norfolk Gl and RAMS workshops

o

— ‘;F“-b;v-ﬁ—:
f o ———

\ | ’M//_F 7 ._'
_North Norfolk District =~
&=

Legend
*  Aerial Disturbance
| * Horse Riding Disturbance
*  Unauthorised Access Disturbance
*  \Water Recreation Disturbance
*  Walking Disturbance
I | Broads Authority

I~ | District Boundary
[ county Boundary

x 3 A

3




28T

Page 99 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 24: Key mitigation options identified at the Norfolk Gl and RAMS workshops and partner organisations

T - —

s -

A (
~ North Norfolk District A

( N1
\

I~ .
S 1 S e 08
S - T\‘"
e

N . K LNE | S S

Mitigation Wardens
| = Mitigation Aternative Routes
®  Mitigation Fencing
Mitigation Habitat Creation

| * Mitigation Species Monitoring [~
4 Broads Authority
'} District Boundary
[ county Boundary

- ey ~— T

\‘!

O \ J |
. ~ \ ! «
/4 . \ \
\ ‘.l !
PR e L s o
Croed CooyT g

Source: Place
Services, 2020




PLACE

Page 100 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

To identify the key “hotspots” where visitor behaviour is already resulting in significant effects on
Habitats Sites, the initial sites identified were the survey points listed in the Footprint report “Visitor
surveys at European Protected Sites 2015-16”. These were identified at a workshop held in Norwich
held in February 2015 with the local and county authorities and a range of organisations and after the
workshop, the consultants checked some potential survey locations on the ground and the list was
finalised with the steering group to match the available budget (40 survey points in total though not all
in Norfolk) and workshop suggestions. The visitor survey work coincided with periods when the nature
conservation interest at each location was potentially the most sensitive, and when people were likely
to be visiting so the results provided a good indication of visitor pressure at the time.

Many but not all of the survey locations were recognised as “hotspots” so the workshops held in 2019
for this project, aimed to update the picture of visitor behaviour at these and other locations at all the
Habitats in Norfolk, not just those surveyed in 2015-16. This was supplemented with discussions with
Norfolk Wildlife Trust (who were unable to attend either of the two workshops in 2019) and land
managers and LPA partners. They confirmed that most of the locations surveyed were now hotspots for
visitors with concerns of many having reached their capacity with impacts on vulnerable features and
additional locations were also identified. From these discussions 41 ‘hotspots’ locations across Norfolk
have been identified where sensitive features are already being affected and therefore , without
mitigation, the Habitats Sites are likely to be adversely affected by the predicted increased level of
recreational pressure from residential development forecast and allocated within Local Plans.

As some information is confidential, maps included in this Strategy will for example not identify roosts
for breeding and non-breeding birds but instead identify locations where conflict is an issue due to
access points and car parks and could therefore result in adverse effect on the integrity of Habitats
Sites.

3.3.3.1 Rangers

Based on the delivery of strategic HRA mitigation partnerships elsewhere in England (e.g. Thames Basin
and Dorset Heaths, Solent and North Kent Coast), Natural England has been keen to support face-to-
face communication as an effective method of influencing visitor behaviour and thereby avoiding and
mitigating adverse impacts on vulnerable features at Habitats Sites of different types.

The interventions for the Norfolk RAMS Ranger team are broadly categorised as education,
communication and habitats based. ‘Education and communications’ is discussed in Section 3.3.3.3
below.

For the reason outlined above, the Norfolk RAMS mitigation package therefore has a focus on
education and public engagement activities to raise awareness of appropriate visitor behaviour at
Habitats Sites and the number of Rangers proposed is based on practical experience of Bird Aware
Rangers on the Solent. As an established team, hotspot locations will be visited each week. Based on
the 41 hotspots identified by Norfolk stakeholders at the workshops, the RAMS package includes
sufficient resources forthe Norfolk coast (from the Wash to the East coast), the Broads and, subject to
monitoring to confirm the need and timing for this measure, also for the Norfolk Brecks. This provision
will be monitored and reviewed throughout the lifetime of the project / Local Plan periods. At present,
the resource recommended has been based on existing provision elsewhere in England with review on
travel time and mileage provided by Habitats Sites managers. How this resource is utilised by the
project will be dependent on need to provide flexibility in discussion with Natural England and Habitats
site managers.

The Norfolk hotspot locations would therefore benefit from weekly visits to encourage appropriate
recreational behaviour and can support existing site staff as well as tie in with site monitoring work

B

183



PLACE

Page 101 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

throughout the year. This could include surveys of vegetation and species as well as updating visitor
surveys at different locations.

At coastal sites, visits will need to be planned around the tides as some sites are best at high tide for
resting birds, while others are great feeding spots at low tide. Equipment such as a telescope will help
the Ranger team show visitors a good view of the birds or seals at these Habitats Sites, as to the naked
eye it is easy to overlook them as they are well camouflaged. HRA mitigation Rangers elsewhere report
that when a visitor has had a good look through a telescope, it makes it much easier for them to
explain why they need to be given space so they can feed and rest. This approach is likely to be
suitable at inland sites too where sensitive birds are found e.g. the Brecks and the Broads.

Natural England understand that the concern relating to inclusion of a ‘one size fits all’ mitigation
measure for Norfolk Brecks Habitats sites, related to the timing within the package. NE staff felt that
flexibility forimplementation of measures in the part of Norfolk needed to be included and front loaded
the package with habitat and species monitoring (i.e. SPA and SAC features) as well as visitors and this
allows for consideration of the West Suffolk Local Plan to be supported by a Brecks-wide approach
before deciding if Ranger and education activities are the best use of resources. The package delivery
timeline retaining the costs for a future Norfolk Brecks engagement budget provides flexibility and has
allowed the package to be finalised and a tariff calculated.

Provision of educational awareness will be a key role for the RAMS team to encourage appropriate
behaviour at the sensitive locations where new residents (including tourists staying in the county) are
likely to cause recreational impacts, often unintentionally. This face to face communication will be key
and could be a regular “come and watch the birds/seals” pop-up event with an opportunity for the
Ranger team members to explain the best way to avoid disturbance. However, support for existing
Ranger provision is also key to building relationships with existing managers of Habitats Sites; it is
essential that each Local Authority can demonstrate transparency for spend of developer contributions,
so the RAMS Ranger team need to be seen as an additional resource for additional recreational
impacts, and not to address existing issues or funding being used to fill in gaps in provision.

As well as visits to the Habitats Sites, it will be key to provide talks and walks e.g. to schools, clubs and
societies, attend local events run by a wide variety of organisations and use their time to plan activities
and co-ordinate with other providers. It will to be important to maintain close working links with
colleagues in the RAMS Ranger team to enable the Delivery Coordinator to keep up to date with their
work programme as it changes with new housing developments commencing. Other time will also need
to be spent on training to ensure Health & Safety e.g. lone working, and development of best practice
e.g. codes of conduct for different recreational activities; educational materials and props and
interpretation for the Norfolk GI and RAMS website and social media, which will need to dovetail with
other information e.g. site notice boards & England Coast Path.

It is recommended that joint messages are developed with other organisations already delivering
similar activities with the RAMS Ranger team in these areas, to ensure clear and consistent messaging
achieves as wide a reach as possible. For example, Broads Authority (BA) Rangers look after several
land sites across the area as well as being water-based and an important part of the Broads Ranger role
is to influence public behaviour on sites and to encourage safe use without causing damage. They
spend most of the summer speaking to people about safely using sites, for example the use of
barbeques and accessing the water. The byelaws ensure activities are carried out in a way that do not
cause damage to the natural environment (less boat wash to damage habitats, etc). In addition, BA
Rangers hold their own events including guided walks and safety days to engage with wider audiences.
The BA visitor information centre staff and Education Officer play an important role in educating and
engaging with the public as well. Any member of the Ranger team based in the Broads would benefit

184

B



PLACE

Page 102 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

from close links with Broads Authority Rangers to help identify key areas. There would also be links
with their education work and events programme including the Broads Curriculum. The RAMS Ranger
team requirement would therefore be best delivered via or in partnership with the Broads Authority and
benefit from their experience in providing Ranger services that fulfil multiple roles, from engagement to
practical work and enforcing bye laws.

It is possible that during the winter, one of the RAMS Ranger team could be dedicated to one or two
Habitats Sites when disturbance of over-wintering birds is likely, as additional new housing delivery
numbers are greatest in this part of the Norfolk RAMS Zones of Influence. Ranger team visits in the
winter months will be focussed on key locations to counter problems e.g. associated with bait digging,
impacts on seals, and the fact that dog walkers are not allowed on to the beaches during these
months.

In the months of May to September, Ranger team efforts should be dedicated to locations within
Habitats Sites where the trampling of sensitive habitats affecting SPA spring and summer breeding
birds are the focus e.g. at Winterton/Horsey, North Denes, Holme, Brancaster and Holkham. Under the
EU Interreg funded ENDURE project, the Norfolk County Council Environment team is looking to reduce
the impact visitors have on Norfolk dunes when visiting the coast path and other trails. This can build
on the findings of the report commissioned by Natural England to help improve the management of
walkers with dogs at Winterton and Great Yarmouth North Denes (Jenkinson, 2015). While site-based
measures may initially appear to be the most obvious steps to take in the study area, it is considered
that the first priority must be to ensure good working partnerships and relationships are in place and
then maintained to minimise effects arising from the actions of partners and other nearby land
managers in the future that could otherwise, inadvertently, become significant.

The NSPF will need to consider the resourcing of mitigation to deal with peaks in effects related to
housing being delivered, as there are no phasing details provided at this stage to influence the
mitigation package. It is therefore recommended that the LPAs note that there may be a need to adjust
the number of mobile Ranger team members and link recruitment to identifying a need for face to face
presence in any particular part of the county as well as evidence that this measure has been triggered
by evidence of adverse visitor impacts. There is no ‘one-size fits all’ tool for the delivery of mitigation
measures in the RAMS ‘toolbox’ so the Steering group will need to be guided by the Delivery
Coordinator with an oversight of monitoring reports.

The roles of the Norfolk RAMS Ranger team, as allocated by the RAMS Delivery co-ordinator, could also
include assistance with the delivery of site-specific and local projects and the monitoring of visitors. As
the Strategy is rolled out, the work of the Ranger team will likely change to include publicity, events,
monitoring, reporting and working on some of the longer-term measures.

Apart from the 41 identified hotspots for disturbance of habitats and species e.g. key roosts and
feeding areas (as shown in Figure 25) that will require the Ranger team visits across the Norfolk RAMS
area, other less sensitive sites will also require additional visits. Locations identified should also
include those with high visitor numbers regardless of risk to Habitats Site features. Based on
information provided by Bird Aware Solent Rangers, key locations should receive weekly visits as ‘High
Risk’ sites for recreational disturbance, whilst other locations should be categorised as Medium (with
monthly visits scheduled) or Low (with seasonal visits required). This frequency of visits to specific
sites within the geographical work area of each member of the Ranger team is aimed at maximising
public engagement at the appropriate time of year, which may be year-round in some locations.

Mobile Ranger team members could also carry out further visitor surveys over the lifetime of the Norfolk
Gl and RAMS to provide updated baseline for ZOls as part of the monitoring programme. This would

185

B



PLACE

Page 103 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

ideally be prioritised as follows:

e Summer visitor surveys at all sites as the Ramsar sites and Norfolk SACs include habitat
features sensitive to recreational pressure at all times of the year, especially from water-
based recreation. The ZOl should then be re- calculated from the combined dataset from
summer visitors as well as over winter too.

e Winter and summer visitor surveys at all the Norfolk SPAs as these had not been covered as
part of Footprint Ecology Norfolk visitor survey programme 2015-16.

e Winter and/or summer visitor surveys for those sites which were surveyed as part of the
Footprint Ecology Norfolk visitor survey programme 2015-16 but which had a dataset lower
than 400 as per the Visit Britain guidelines.

Joint visits with other organisations will demonstrate partnership working and this has been
successfully demonstrated by Bird Aware Solent Rangers e.g. for a pop-up event with some of their
educational props such as bird skulls, beach finds and a telescope. This meant many families gained
an insight into their local environment and enjoying matching the skulls to the pictures. Some quotes
from their blog show the value of this face to face communication at avoiding and mitigating for
recreational impacts:

“It always gives Rangers a sense of pride when the people we talk to leave us, appreciating
that the area is special for the thousands of birds who call it home every winter.”

“One thing | have come to appreciate is how important it is to have a visible Ranger
presence along the coast. | am often surprised by the number of people that see birds
scatter after being disturbed, yet they do not realise the impact of this. | try to explain that
this disturbance contributes to loss of feeding time and additional energy use which can
threaten the bird's chance of surviving the winter. 1'm really pleased to say that this usually
gets people's attention and it's then | see a change in their outlook. It's in this 'eureka’
moment that the difference the Ranger team makes on a daily basis is really

highlighted. Most people out enjoying the coast already have an appreciation of the
environment and wildlife, we just help them to connect to it.”

3.3.3.2 Proposed locations for measures to avoid impacts from planned residential growth in Norfolk

The locations for delivery of key measures proposed in the mitigation package are shown in the figure
below as identified by stakeholders at the workshops held in 2019 and subsequent discussions held
with conservation organisations including NWT, RSPB, Natural England site staff and LPA partners.

186




.81

Page 104 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 25: Locations for disturbance impacts and Norfolk RAMS mitigation proposals

- 7
./ ' "'K
" \s /

g

r

)

o

\ Legend e
@ Points of Disturbance | 34 F 4 / 7,"' ® ﬁ._
7‘ \ , ‘:‘\'/\“N..
i || Broads Authority X = = ¢ |
I~ 7 | District Boundary J/ AF R j S
A [ county Boundary o [ N L~/
T — " ok I T ) S ,

Source: Place Services,
2020



PLACE

Page 105 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

The geographical distribution of recommended mitigation measures shown in the figure above indicate
key locations where resources should be focussed. Each LPA needs to mitigate for in-combination
impacts outside of their administrative boundary, and not just for their local Habitats Sites. Strategic
mitigation is spread according to need on the ground and the package costed for tariff collection; as
each project-level HRA Screening Report completed by the LPAs needs to identify the Habitats Site(s)
which are predicted to be impacted. This is needed for the legal agreements to provide an audit trail of
developer contributions.

Each LPA should be preparing project-level HRA Screening Reports for all residential development in
line with NE interim advice (August 2019), which included an HRA template for this purpose. Where the
applicant agrees to contribute to the Norfolk RAMS, the development will be HRA compliant. The
strategic solution is not however mandatory, and applicants could try to provide their own data for
visitor surveys at the relevant Habitats Sites (dependent on ZOI(s)) and assess the likely recreational
impacts for their development to enable the LPA to prepare a bespoke project-level HRA.

In very exceptional circumstances therefore a developer may offer alternative mitigation if:

e details of the visitor surveys carried out and mitigation offered with evidence of how this
will fully mitigate the impacts in perpetuity. This should be submitted along with the
application and will require the input of a professional ecologist.

o theinformation is sufficient to support the LPA in preparing a bespoke HRA Appropriate
Assessment to check that the measures offered are effective and can be delivered in
perpetuity. This is potentially a lengthy process and the outcome of the Appropriate
Assessment may show that the alternative mitigation offered is insufficient. The AA will
require formal consultation with Natural England and in line with the CJEU Court ruling
(Holohan and Others v An Bord Pleanala), there are more detailed requirements on the
competent authority for any plans or projects at the Appropriate Assessment stage,
including, but not limited to cataloguing the entirety of habitat types and species for which
a site is protected and being beyond reasonable scientific doubt concerning the effects of
the work envisaged on the site concerned.

However, securing alternative effective mitigation measures, and sufficient funds for their delivery in
perpetuity, could be difficult. The timescales and costs involved minimise the likelihood of this
approach being accepted as sufficient by the LPA or Natural England and unlikely to be compliant with
Habitats Regulations if they cannot avoid Adverse Effect On Integrity of Habitats Sites.

3.3.3.3 Education and communication

A cost-effective approach which has been successfully implemented by a number of HRA mitigation
partnerships (e.g. North & East Kent and the Solent), is to develop a brand and use positive and clearly
understandable message to engage with visitors where birds are key to the site integrity. This positive
and comprehensive approach can be more engaging than an explanation of the Norfolk Gl and RAMS or
Habitats Regulations and the intricacies of planning and conservation law. A brand could be promoted
on relevant websites to engage and motivate interested parties.

The Solent partnership uses the brand name ‘Bird Aware’® North Kent uses ‘Bird Wise’, which is based
upon the Bird Aware model. The use of the Bird Aware brand for parts of the Norfolk Gl and RAMS, if
forthcoming, would not mean that the entire focus of the Strategy was on SPA birds, as designated
habitat features must be protected in their own right through the Norfolk Gl and RAMS and these would

8 Bird Aware - www.birdaware.org

188

B



PLACE

Page 106 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

not be neglected if this branding was used.

The Solent Bird Aware project now offers a portal for information and partners under the Bird Aware
brand. This is also the case for the ‘Bird Aware Essex Coast’ which has a ready-made communication
package including an established website. This could be available for the Norfolk RAMS team to
purchase and would include a bespoke Bird Aware Norfolk webpage and an initial print run of Norfolk
Gl and RAMS leaflets containing relevant local photos. A strategic approach or campaign is usually
most effective where an easily understandable, clear, persuasive and memorable message/brand is
presented to the target audience at the point of contact (recreational users of the sites in this case). For
example, the RSPB have built an easily recognisable and well-respected brand and, although their key
focus is on protecting birds, their educational materials etc. advocate the conservation of other species
and habitats too. This improves people’s awareness of these as well. With this in mind, it would be
mindful that the educational materials and Ranger team interactions with the public, for example,
should cover wider habitat protection as well as those related to birds.

Using a brand would complement the use of the Norfolk RAMS Ranger team. Further, the provision of
“face to face” conversations visitor was a measure that was commonly cited in the Norfolk Gl and RAMS
workshops as being effective. This face-to-face engagement with visitors is the main feature of other
mitigation schemes such as the Solent (Bird Aware partnership), in the Thames Basin Heaths and
Dorset heathlands. Encouraging people to avoid disturbance of roosting birds e.g. Little Terns or Stone
Curlews, or feeding wildfowl and waders on the coastal mudflats, has been identified as one of the
most effective mitigation measures by wardens of Habitats Sites across England.

The Norfolk RAMS Ranger team would spend the majority of their time outside at the Habitats Sites.
Their work would represent a key communication tool in educating and communicating with visitors,
influencing how visitors behave and showing people wildlife. The advantage of such an approach is
that the staff can focus their time at particular priority sites/locations as required, such as those with
the best visitor access and those likely to result in disturbance of key wildlife areas including bird
roosts.

Other monitoring recommended and included in the RAMS mitigation package will be the collation and
mapping of key roosts and feeding areas outside the SPAs; undertaking an audit of existing signage
and interpretation boards; reviewing and writing new codes of conduct e.g. related to water sports, hire
boat users, bait digging, paramotors, kite surfers, drones, horse riders; and vegetation surveys to
identify any concerns regarding trampling impacts, including logging disturbance events (particularly
those caused by dogs).

Some of the surveys would benefit from the input of volunteers, as Ranger team members with
educational skills may not have botanical or invertebrate identification skills. This could be a
mechanism to engage with specialists in the local area and spread wider awareness of the project and
its aims.

The Delivery Coordinator would also monitor levels of new residential development in each LPA area to
note relevant ZOls for Ranger team visits, as well as consented housing applications to track funds
available in each quarter of the financial year. This would then be fed back to Steering Group / each
LPA, along with reporting on the implementation of mitigation at locations and tracking the spend of
project monies transferred to the accountable body. This role would also include liaising with other
organisations providing site wardens, promoting walks and talks by the Ranger team to clubs and other
groups; managing website information, social media and promotional materials; and arranging for new
interpretation boards or signage and setting up a countywide dog project. Partnership working,
monitoring and review will be essential tasks for the partner LPAs.

189

B



PLACE

Page 107 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

3.3.3.4 Habitats based actions

In addition to staff resources focusing on communication & educational events, it will be important for
them to also co-ordinate projects to support the monitoring and management of vegetation and
species by site managers. This is expected to be an important focus in the Norfolk Brecks initially with
1FTE RAMS Ranger team member, as the Suffolk Brecks is outside the scope of this Strategy, so a
landscape scale approach will need to be progressed in the future in conjunction with West Suffolk
Council with additional resources needed to deliver mitigation measures.

The proposed Norfolk RAMS mitigation package also includes an audit of signage at Habitats Sites,
including interpretation as well as appropriate access points, and a budget for new interpretation
boards where these are considered appropriate visitor interventions.

e Working with landowners and partners will be crucial for any fencing needed to protect
existing breeding sites e.g. for Little Tern & Ringed Plover populations on the coast, or
identify new locations which need protection for qualifying features outside the Habitats
Sites i.e. on Functionally Linked Land. Bird monitoring surveys will need the RAMS team to
work closely with landowners and partners particularly to map key roosts and feeding areas;
in the Brecks, much monitoring work has been undertaken on all three Breckland SPA birds
to monitor their distribution and inform the buffer areas for development but assessment of
impacts in Thetford Forest will need additional surveys before decisions can be made on
mitigation measures. As it is important that a monitoring dataset is maintained for all
Habitats Sites to inform mitigation measures, there is a budget line for this within the RAMS
package.

e Monitoring of sensitive habitats & species is likely to need specialist surveyors though
conservation organisations may be able to deliver contracts for car park counts, bird counts,
visitor surveys and access management assessments.

e As many disturbance incidents reported include dogs, there is a budget line for setting up a
dog related project for the county’s Habitats Sites. Similar to the Suffolk Coast & Heaths
AONB project “I’'m a good dog”, Dorset Dogs project or Bird Wise Coastal Canines Club
https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/coastal-canines-club/, this will aim to engage with dog
walkers, promoting sites for dog walking, providing information on dog walking and
highlighting issues at Habitats Sites. It can build on existing use of dog bans & dogs on lead
areas plus promotion of dog friendly beaches on the North Norfolk Coast.

e Anothertool in the RAMS toolkit is the identification of zones for different activities — based
on detailed knowledge of the Habitats Sites and the geographical distribution of their
sensitive qualifying features.

e Provision of literature regarding codes of conduct for those interested in undertaking water
sports at Habitats Sites is another project which has been included in the RAMS package of
measures. Following engagement with water sports users, it may be that a pilot for zonation
at particular locations along the Norfolk coast could be introduced, similar to that on the
Exe Estuary. Codes of conduct can be effective if they have the support of users groups, e.g.
for bait digging, power hang gliders, kayakers and kite surfers and the use of drones. Whilst
these are education /communication measures, they need to be based on habitat and
species monitoring and assessment. Any projects including proposal for Public Rights of
Way diversions will require detailed discussions with landowners and the Norfolk County

190

B


https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/coastal-canines-club/

PLACE

Page 108 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

Council team; these may not be appropriate but some situations have found this measure is
workable so a budget line has been included to include legal costs. As the BKLWN and Gt
Yarmouth BC mitigation funds will be superseded by a Norfolk wide RAMS fund for
developer contributions, there is a small budget identified for strategic mitigation projects
in a specific location; any spending from this budget will need to be evidence based
supported by data gathering undertaken in the Strategy and where there is a deliverable
and identified need.

3.3.4 Costed mitigation package for RAMS

The costed mitigation package in Table 10 has been based on bespoke measures considered necessary
to avoid likely disturbance at key locations with easy public access. A precautionary approach to avoid
adverse effects has been adopted, with priority areas for measures identified as those which have
breeding SPA birds which could conflict with high number of visitors to the Habitats Sites in the
summer, and those with important roosts and foraging areas in the winter. Sensitive habitats are also
at risk from damage by high numbers of visitors and potential hotspots have been identified for Ranger
team visits. This may include the need for a water-based member of the RAMS Ranger team. The
package includes an effective mixture of avoidance and mitigation measures to provide flexibility and
deliverability, based on similar costed provision elsewhere in England. It is a toolbox for the NSPF
Steering Group and the Delivery Co-ordinator once in post to consider and discuss with Natural England
the timing and locations for individual measures.

The RAMS package has been developed through identifying best practice measures (see case studies
outlined in previous section) and gathering local nature conservation practitioner expertise, from a new
dedicated staff resource to focussing on awareness raising and appropriate behaviour with a wide
range of recreational user groups at Habitats Sites. However, this approach needs to be implemented
in conjunction with LPA provision of Gl to intercept and deflect visitors from these sensitive sites in the
first instance. The package particularly prioritises measures considered to be effective at avoiding and
mitigating recreational disturbance by Habitats Sites managers and those seeking to manage water
sports on the Norfolk coast to avoid impacts through appropriate behaviour. These measures can be
justified as necessary, relevant and reasonable and enables the LPAs to demonstrate that as
competent authorities, they can avoid adverse effects on the integrity of Habitats Sites.

The Ranger team should aim to visit 2 sites each day on 3 days/week to allow for other work
commitments. This calculation supports the inclusion of five Norfolk RAMS Ranger team members
(Broads, 3 x Coast and when considered appropriate, also in the Brecks (subject to monitoring to
inform the need)) within the mitigation package and any additional seasonal Ranger team members
will need to be assessed based on developer contributions collected and priorities for delivery of
mitigation in any specific areas.

The RAMS Ranger team visits in the Broads would hugely benefit from close partnership working with
the Broads Authority Rangers to support the message of appropriate behaviour for water-based
activities. RAMS Ranger team patrols are aimed at encouraging all users to take an active role in
avoiding impacts from recreational activities on the Broads and on coastal waters. It is hoped that
codes of conduct and zonation of sensitive waters near SPA bird roosts and foraging areas can be
implemented, similar to measures on the Exe Estuary®. Broads Authority Rangers actively manage
water use through the Byelaws which are the framework for controlling use and protecting habitats on

9 Exe Estuary Management Partnership

191

B



Page 109 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

the Broads.

It may be possible for the RAMS Ranger team to transfer their visits outside of season for a particular
Habitats Site and direct efforts as needed at a strategic level. Following the first five years of the
project, and in line with Local Plan review periods, there may be predicted peaks in housing delivery,
though evidence for spend will be based on the findings of activity reports from the RAMS Ranger team.
To provide flexibility for strategic deployment of resources, indicative locations are identified though
‘ground-truthing’ from Ranger team visits and updated surveys for the Norfolk Gl and RAMS project
Board and Delivery co-ordinator to account for any unforeseen circumstances. Table 10 outlines the
costed mitigation package until 2038.

192




€6T

Page 110 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Table 10: Mitigation package costed until 2038

Priority Theme One off cost or | Annual No. of Total cost
each time cost (not | years
gross
salary)

Immediate — Staff resource Delivery Coordinator N/A f45,000 17 £900,543.19 Salary costs include NI and overheads & 2% annual
2022/23 starting increments. As LAs need audit & scrutiny, it is
salary recommended that this role is within one of the LAs. The
Delivery Coordinator will provide management of the
RAMS Ranger contract.
Travel expenses budget  N/A f450 17 £9,150.00 Mileage rate 45p/mile; Delivery Coordinator estimated

annual mileage 1,000 for 17 years= £7650 plus train travel
out of county estimated £1,500/year = £9150 budget.

Training N/A f500 17 £8,500.00 Annual budget £500.

I



Page 111 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Priority Measure One off cost or | Annual Total cost
each time cost (not
gross
salary)




Page 112 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Priority Measure One off cost or | Annual Total cost
each time cost (not
gross
salary)




Page 113 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Priority Measure One off cost or | Annual Total cost
each time cost (not
gross
salary)




L6T

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Priority Theme One off cost or | Annual
each time cost (not
gross

Short to Dog related project ~ Set up county wide dog  £15,000 N/A N/A £75,000.00 Seek to use AONB design for leaflets & website text for

Medium term project similar to management of dog walking, liaison with specialist
Suffolk Coast & Heaths consultants (Dog focussed), liaison with dog owners etc.,
AONB “I’'m a good liaise with dog clubs & trainers. Build on use of dog bans,
dog”, Dorset Dogs or leash control orders and promotion of dog friendly
BirdWise Coastal beaches. Maintain project with repeat promotion every 5
Canines Club. years.

Water sports N/A £10,000 N/A N/A £10,000.00 Approx. costs only to be refined when opportunity arises

zonation for Norfolk
Coast




86T

Page 115 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Priority One off cost or | Annual Total cost

each time cost (not
gross
salary)

2025/26 Website Delivery Coordinatorto ~ N/A £12,000 16 £204,000.00 Update e.g. with Norfolk Brecks refresh costs spread over
keep website & plan period and include dog and water borne recreation
promotion on social focussed pages on Norfolk RAMS webpages plus
media up to date merchandise e.g. dog leads. Estimated 1 day/month for 17

years.
Visitor Monitoring Update Visitor surveys  £5,000 perSite  N/A 16 £225,000.00 Estimated cost £5,000 / Habitats Site / year for rolling
atall locations in programme of 15 Sites (£75k). Estimated x 3 throughout
summer & winter (with RAMS package timescale = £225k.

pUEstAnEES) Liaise with NE & NCC PROW re: England Coast Path and

LPAs re budgets as some of the survey costs may be
absorbed into the budget for the HRAs needed for Local
Plans. This could reduce the amount of contributions
secured via Norfolk RAMS which could be used for
alternative measures, so this is a worst case scenario

cost.
Signage at Habitats £58,000 N/A N/A £290,000.00 £14,500 x 4 — this allows for 3 designs of discs (e.g. paw
sites prints in traffic light colours to show where no dogs, dogs

on lead, and dogs welcome). There are 7,500 of each x 4
replacements (every 5 years) factored into total cost. This
may link with a timetable e.g. Norfolk Coast with dog ban
1°t May to 30" Sept.

B



66T

Page 116 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Priority One off cost or | Annual Total cost
each time cost (not
gross
salary)

Codes of conduct For water sports, bait £5,000 N/A N/A £25,000.00 Use existing Norfolk Coast AONB, BKLWN, RSPB resources
digging, para with small budget for printing as promotion online &
motors/power hang using social media. Talks to clubs and promotion covered
gliders, kayakers, kite by Delivery Coordinator and the RAMS Ranger team.
surfers. Review every 5 years.

Local mitigation Work with landowners £1,000,000 N/A N/A £1,000,000.00 A project fund for mitigation at identified locations for

projects & partners to identify specific RAMS related projects that meet local
locations for local requirements (subject to meeting the aims of this
priority projects. Strategy). Spending from this budget should be evidence

based supported by data gathering undertaken in the
strategy and where there is a deliverable and identified
need. Projects should be strategic and will be scrutinised
in detail before any spend is agreed by the Steering
Group.




Page 117

Priority

N
o
OI

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Ground nesting SPA  Work with landowners

bird project — & partners to identify
fencing - existing or new
specifically for locations for fencing to
breeding Little protect breeding sites
Terns, & Ringed for Little Tern & Ringed
Plovers - and Plover populations

surveillance costs
for Stone Curlew

One off cost or
each time

f15,000 per
site x 2 (4 sites
identified for
fencing)

Replacements
of fencing likely
to be required
every 5 years (4
times in Plan
period)

LULTTET No. of Total cost
cost (not | years
gross
salary)
N/A

N/A £240,000.00 Check with RSPB, NE & EWT when fencing project is
prioritised; Based on costs for supporting the Little Tern
colonies at North Denes and Winterton to include fencing
and any other relevant equipment; funds cover purchase
of new fencing as required (such as every 5 years). This
includes an element of management costs for the project.
Surveillance of Stone Curlews on private land to be

undertaken by trained volunteers/landowners.

B



Page 118 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Priority Theme One off cost or | Annual No. of Total cost
each time cost (not | years
gross
salary)
o

=
COSTS
TOTAL MITIGATION PACKAGE £7,218,724.03
+10% contingency £721,872.40

TOTAL COST £7,940,596.43




Page 119 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy PLACE

SERVICES

3.4 RAMS Recommendations

3.4.1 A Single Countywide Tariff Approach

This Strategy recommends a tariff approach to ensure funds are collected and pulled together to deliver
the RAMS mitigation package proposed. Although the number of ZOlIs for Habitats Sites in each LPA
area varies depending on the geographical position, a single county wide tariff area is recommended
for the sake of simplicity. This reflects the entirety of Norfolk including all partner LPAs and would see a
common tariff amount for all net new dwellings*® in the county. This has been calculated from the RAMS
mitigation package to cover the lifetime of the Local Plans.

The tariff is proposed to be applicable to every net additional dwelling (with per bedspace and student
accommodation unit ratios), unless the house builder can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the
relevant LPA and Natural England that alternative avoidance and mitigation measures can be delivered
in perpetuity and these will be effective at avoiding adverse effect on the integrity of the Habitats Sites,
in combination with other plans and projects.

The list of relevant residential growth which this Strategy, and therefore the RAMS tariff, applies to and
the is therefore as follows:

1. All new dwellings of 1+ units in current site allocations and windfall (excludes
replacement dwellings and extensions)

2. Houses in Multiple Occupancy e.g. hotels, guest houses and lodges;
Student Accommodation

Residential care homes and residential institutions (excludes nursing homes)

voe W

Residential caravan sites/mobile homes/park homes;
6. Gypsies, travellers and travelling show people plots;
and in addition to Natural England’s Advice we recommend including:

7. Residential moorings, holiday caravans, touring pitches and campsites.

3.4.1.1 Calculating the Tariff

A per dwelling tariff has been calculated by dividing the total cost of the Norfolk RAMS mitigation
package by the total number of houses still to be delivered over the Local Plans period i.e. any houses
already consented having come forward early, are not included in this calculation. Contributions
cannot be collected from developers to pay for mitigation necessary to avoid impacts from consented
residential development.

As developer contributions collected will need to be spent at the individual Habitats Sites where
impacts are predicted from residential developments, it is important that project level HRA Appropriate
Assessments record which sites need delivery of mitigation measures for inclusion of this detail in the
legal agreements. The spend on mitigation can thereby be tracked in relation to residential
developments commenced to avoid impacts prior to occupation.

As set out in Table 11 below, the split of the total cost for the Norfolk RAMS mitigation package for each

*° For other units of accommodation such as student accommodation there will be a per bed space ratio.

202



Page 120 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

LPA to collect (i.e. the proportion of the costs to be collected from developers) is based on their
housing figures, including windfall, to be delivered by the Local Plan. If predicted housing numbers are
not realised, the associated impacts will also be less so the cost of the mitigation necessary will be
reduced. There will be no need to review the pre-dwelling tariff in this situation although review of the
mitigation package in case of additional impacts is recommended.

The total cost for calculation per dwelling tariff is based on the total number of dwellings identified in
each Local Plan which have not received ‘Full’ consent i.e. any houses already consented having come
forward early, are not included in this calculation. Any Reserved Matters applications which did not
have HRA applied at outline stage will need to be considered on a bespoke arrangement to ensure the
LPA as the competent authority is compliant with Habitats Regulations. Similar measures could be
implemented in addition to those costed for housing covered by the Norfolk GI and RAMS if additional
funding is provided.

This figure is therefore £7,940,596.43 divided by 42,709 (dwellings) which means the recommended
tariff is £185.93 rounded up to the nearest pence. As mitigation must be delivered i.e. it is a legal
requirement for each residential development, it is neither considered legal to round the tariff down nor
up further than the nearest pence, as developer contributions must be reasonable and justifiable.

Table 11:  Housing numbers and cost of RAMS mitigation for each LPA

Charging Zone Dwellings coming Cost per dwelling tariff Cost of mitigation per LPA
forward up to the end of | (rounded up to nearest area (based on total cost

Norfolk GI and RAMS pence) divided by dwelling figure)
plan period not already
consented *

Borough of King’s Lynn

13,16 £18s. £2,447,768.
and West Norfolk S 525 RIS
Breckland £520,604.00

2,800 £185.93
Broads Authority £24,170.90

130 £185.93
Great Yarmouth £1,113,906.63

5,991 £185.93
North Norfolk £1,186,233.40

6,380 £185.93
Broadland £185.93
Norwich City 14,243 £185.93 £2,648,200.99
South Norfolk £185.93

203

I



Page 121 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Charging Zone Dwellings coming Cost per dwelling tariff Cost of mitigation per LPA
forward up totheend of | (rounded up to nearest area (based on total cost

Norfolk Gl and RAMS pence) divided by dwelling figure)
plan period not already
consented *

Total dwellings coming forward up to the end of Norfolk Gl and RAMS plan period not

2,70
already consented 42,709

Total cost of package (including 10% contingency) £7,940,596.43
* this will include an estimated value for windfall not currently in the Local Plan.

Source: Place Services, 2021

The cost of implementing some of the mitigation measures will increase with inflation so the per
dwelling tariff will be updated each year in line with the Retail Price Index.

The LPAs will need to record their decisions on project level HRAs (as advised by Natural England) in
line with the Norfolk RAMS when adopted.

As there are no allocations for tourist related accommodation in any of the Local Plans of the partner
LPAs, it is recommended that any applications will need to apply the RAMS tariff on a ‘per six bedspace
ratio’ for campsites, hotels and caravan parks / extensions.

We recommend adopting a similar approach to student accommodation as agreed by Natural England
for the Essex Coast RAMS and suggest that the Norfolk LPAs apply the RAMS tariff on a ‘per 2.5 student
accommodation unit ratio’. This is based on guidance contained in the Housing Delivery Test
Measurement Rule Book (MHCLG, July 2018) includes communal student accommodation in the
calculation of housing need, with an assumption that 2.5 units of student accommodation equates to
one unit of general market housing. The ‘Essex Coast RAMS Guidelines for proposals for student
accommodation’ can be found in Appendix 7.

3.4.2 Tariff Collection Mechanisms for LPAs

As the effects on Habitats Sites have been identified as a direct result of the increase in population
from new housing development, developer contributions must be used to mitigate these effects and
these effects only. As such, contributions and a suitable funding mechanism is required to address
recreational impacts on Habitats Sites alone and with certainty.

Mechanisms already exist for collecting contributions from housing developments in the form of
‘Section 106’ agreements, ‘Section 111’ (up-front payment) agreements or ‘Unilateral Undertakings’.
These mechanisms are similarly applicable in the instance of the RAMS as mitigation is required due to
the effects resulting from all residential developments in Norfolk. A contribution is therefore required to
make all residential developments acceptable in planning terms as per Section 106 of ‘The 1990 Town
& Country Planning Act’. Examples of collection mechanisms in Suffolk and Essex suggest that a
Norfolk system could include s106 for major applications and s111 for minor and householder
applications.

Without such a contribution, planning permission should not be given to residential schemes due to
the subsequent effect on Habitats Sites. Options exist for the partner LPAs to collect contributions
through any one of the above-mentioned mechanisms; however, this strategy recommends that RAMS
contributions are sought through s106 where there are other contributions to be collected and a

204



Page 122 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy PLACE

SERVICES

Section 111 agreement (instead of a UU) where this is the sole developer contribution. This is a legal
obligation between a developer and the LPA that allows the speedy issue of decision notices for
residential developments as payment is made ‘up front’ when a planning application is submitted, with
monies returned should the application be refused. This mechanism is currently preferred by East
Suffolk Council, Babergh District and Mid Suffolk District Councils in regard to the Suffolk Coast RAMS
Details of this approach can be found on the East Suffolk Council website and Babergh & Mid Suffolk
DCs websites.

As the proposed Strategic approach includes the most effective measures which can be delivered in
perpetuity, the RAMS will replace the successful Borough level mitigation & monitoring strategies for
Habitats Sites which are funded by developer contributions. There is an element of the RAMS package
which includes funds for locally identified projects which are not covered by priority measures. These
projects will need to be agreed by the Steering Group and monies paid direct to contractors or grants to
organisations.

3.4.3 Next steps - ‘Governance’

As the competent authority needs to meet its legal commitments, each LPA will be responsible for
collecting the tariff from all qualifying dwellings and for monitoring the tariff contributions that they
receive from developers. Each LPA should ideally also contribute equally* towards project
implementation costs that cannot be covered by the tariff contributions such as annual accountable
body accountancy costs and project staff redundancy. Set up, management and on-costs are built into
the package.

It is recommended that moving forward, a Steering Group is set up of LPA partners and any other
specialist bodies that the LPAs feel will enhance the delivery of the RAMS. It is integral that all LPA
partners are involved as pooled contributions are intended to be collected by the local authorities and
for the purpose of mitigating the effects of their collective Local Plans.

It is further recommended that a Partnership Delivery Agreement be drafted to cover ongoing
governance, coordination and delivery of the RAMS. This will cover the structural, operational, HR and
financial arrangements for the RAMS. The RAMS should be overseen by a single accountable body
amongst the LPA partners who would additionally be responsible for the employment of any required
staff identified within this Strategy. The Project Delivery Coordinator should be employed by the
accountable body. It would reasonable for the Norfolk Strategic Planning Framework to fund the
preparation an Implementation plan/programme for the Strategy and identify how each partner LPA can
demonstrate its commitment to delivery at their Local Plan Examination in Public.

As residential developments inform the LPAs of intention to commence, the financial contributions will
be triggered under the legal agreements signed by the developers. These monies will need to be
transferred to the Accountable Body and mitigation measures delivered including visits at the hotspots
for recreational disturbance by the Ranger team in advance of the new dwellings being occupied. The
Habitats Sites named in the project level HRAs (i.e. those predicted to have impacts from each
development) will need the Ranger team to visit these regularly, with less frequent visits to those
Habitats Sites which have not been identified as needing mitigation. This is important for monitoring
visitor numbers at different times of the year to ensure behaviour is appropriate and undertake surveys
as required by the Steering Group to inform future mitigation needs.

** Reduced costs may be considered for the Broads Authority who have very limited proposed development within the ZOls

205



Page 123 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

3.4.4 Policy options

It will be important to secure proportionate financial contributions for relevant residential development
so although HRA requires legal compliance by the LPA to avoid Adverse Effects on Integrity of Habitats
Sites, a policy to identify the need for delivery of mitigation measures is recommended. The Natural
England interim advice on this matteris clear and developers should be advised of the need for both
sufficient natural greenspace on development sites (in line with Natural England advice Annex 1 and 11
advice) and the per-dwelling tariff of the county wide RAMS.

At application stage, the relevant contribution in line with the RAMS tariff will need to be secured by a
legal agreement payable prior to commencement in order that mitigation is delivered prior to
occupation. Delivery of mitigation measures in perpetuity for residential development is necessary,
and therefore needs to be secured by a legal requirement. The delivery of effective mitigation measures

Suggested Policy

"The potential impacts on Habitats sites from recreational pressure from residential development will be addressed
through :

(i) the provision of local level GI / open space and (ii) mitigation of residual effects through a developer contributions.

(ii) Contributions from residential developments will be secured towards mitigation measures identified in the Norfolk
Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) which will be completed by the time the Local Plan is
adopted. Prior to RAMS adoption, the authority will seek contributions, where appropriate, from proposed residential
development to deliver all measures identified (including strategic measures) through project level HRAs, or otherwise, to
mitigate any recreational impacts in compliance with the Habitats Regulations and Habitats Directive."

Suggested Supporting Text / Reasoned Justification

Residential developments proposed within the Local Plan have the potential to result in a significant increase in
recreational disturbance at the Norfolk Habitats Sites (list the relevant SPA, SAC and Ramsar sites). Measures required to
mitigate the impacts of recreational disturbance on Habitats Sites will be delivered as detailed in the Norfolk Gl and
Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS). Any residential development that is likely to affect the
integrity of Habitats Sites, will be required to either contribute towards mitigation measures identified in the RAMS (or any
subsequent Supplementary Planning Document) or, in exceptional circumstances, identify and implement bespoke
mitigation measures in perpetuity to ensure compliance with the Habitats Regulations.

Following consultation with Natural England, a Norfolk-wide GI and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy
(RAMS) is being prepared to include all Habitats Sites. The strategy will identify where recreational disturbance is
happening and the main recreational uses causing the disturbance. New residential development that is likely to affect the
integrity of the European Sites will be required to contribute towards the implementation of the mitigation. It is considered
that this development allocation will be required to pay for the implementation of mitigation measures to protect the (list
sites). The appropriate mechanisms will be identified in the adopted Gl and RAMS document.

is necessary to ensure the LPA can demonstrate any consented residential development will avoid
Adverse Effect on Integrity of the relevant Habitats Sites. Each Local Plan is recommended to contain
policy text (and reasoned justification) to promote the RAMS mitigation option and the example below
has been adapted from the Chelmsford Local Plan after examination and an example s106 agreement is
provided in Appendix 10.

206




Page 124 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy PLACE

SERVICES

4. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1  Green Infrastructure

This Strategy identifies that there is no need for a ‘county-wide’ or ‘county-level’ solution regarding Gl
provision in addition to those measures already in place at the strategic and localised level, to enable
Local Plan growth. The RAMS section of this strategy (Section 2) has explored mitigation options in
Norfolk related to avoiding recreational impact on Habitats Sites in combination with other plans and
projects and concluded that these can be ensured through a suite of mitigation measures at the
Habitats Sites. The Gl provision is essential to divert and deflect visitors away from the sensitive
Habitats Sites and their rare species to avoid adverse effects on the integrity of these sites from the
development alone.

Section 2 of this Strategy sets out detailed recommendations or ‘opportunities’ in regard to ensuring
improvements to the Gl network across Norfolk. These recommendations can be summarised below:

e The integration of ‘Enhanced Green Infrastructure (EGI)’ criteria within Gl Policy in emerging
Local Plans, to ensure that developers are aware of their responsibilities regarding the
quality of Gl provision.

e LPAs to undertake an EGI Audit, exploring whether Gl provision could be improved moving
forward to offer an additional recreational offer close to where people live. This audit would
use a set of EGI Quality Criteria to ensure social, economic and environmental benefits.

e Exploring the potential for Plan-level Gl provision within the ‘Opportunity Areas’ identified in
this Strategy, in order to rectify deficiencies and future-proof growth in future Local Plan
periods whilst offering additional recreational benefits.

4.2 RAMS

The RAMS section of this Report (Section 2) sets out detailed recommendations to enable residential
and tourist accommodation growth identified within the Local Plans of the partner LPAs. The RAMS is
only able to deal with impacts in-combination with other plans and projects. The predicted impacts
from residential development alone need to be avoided by sufficient Gl on or nearby each development
site as per Natural England’s interim advice to the Norfolk LPAs. These recommendations can be
summarised below:

o That the mitigation measures identified be agreed and a tariff approach be implemented to
ensure funds are collected to deliver the mitigation package proposed. This is necessary
now in line with Natural England advice although transfer of contributions to a single RAMS
pot will need governance details to have been agreed and implemented.

e Where there are other contributions to be collected, that RAMS contributions are sought
through s106 and via a Section 111 agreement (instead of a UU) where this is the sole
developer contribution.

e That each LPA should (ideally) contribute equally towards project implementation costs that
cannot be covered by the tariff contributions such as annual accountable body accountancy
costs and project staff redundancy.

207

4



Page 125 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

e That a Partnership Delivery Agreement be drafted to cover ongoing governance,
coordination and delivery of the RAMS. This will cover the structural, operational, HR and
financial arrangements for the RAMS

e That each emerging Local Plan contain policy text and reasoned justification (as suggested
within this Strategy) to ensure that RAMS mitigation is forthcoming.

208




Page 126 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

5. ABBREVIATIONS/GLOSSARY

5.1 Terms used in this Strategy

Term Definition

Accessible Natural These Natural England standards recognise the importance of nature in the urban context in
Greenspace Standards terms of improving the quality of people’s lives and people’s entitlement to have access to,
(ANGSY) and experience of, nature near to where they live. These standards recommend that people

living in towns and cities should have:

®  anaccessible natural greenspace of at least 2 hectares in size, no more than 300
metres (5 minutes’ walk) from home

B atleast one accessible 20-hectare site within two kilometres of home
®  one accessible 100-hectare site within five kilometres of home
®  one accessible 500-hectare site within ten kilometres of home

®  one hectare of statutory Local Nature Reserves per thousand population.

Adverse Effect on Integrity This is the stage 2 HRA test at Appropriate Assessment based on likely impacts on qualifying

(AEOQI) features on the Habitats Site. If any mitigation is needed at Stage 1 HRA screening, the
assessment by the competent authority needs to consider if the plan or project can avoid
Adverse Effect on Integrity of Habitats Sites.

Appropriate Assessment (AA)  Forms part of the Habitats Regulations Assessment

Area of Outstanding Natural An Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) is an area of countryside in England, Wales or

Beauty (AONB) Northern Ireland which has been designated for conservation due to its significant landscape
value

Bird Aware Solent An initiative to raise awareness of the birds that spend the winter on the Solent, so that people

can enjoy the coast and its wildlife without disturbing the birds. BirdAware is the brand name
of the Solent Recreation Mitigation Partnership which is made up of fifteen local councils,
Natural England, the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds, Hampshire & Isle of Wight
Wildlife Trust, and Chichester Harbour Conservancy.

Bird Wise A Partnership helping to raise awareness of protected birds that spend time on our coastline
every year.

Community Infrastructure Levy  The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge that local authorities can set on new
(CIL) development in order to raise funds to help fund the infrastructure, facilities and services -

209

I



Page 127 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Term Definition

Competent Authority

Countryside Rights of Way

(CRoW)

Department for Environment,

Food & Rural Affairs (Defra)

Delivery mechanism

ENDURE project

England Coast Path

Enhanced Green
Infrastructure (EGI)

Environment Agency (EA)

Forestry Commission (FC)

Forestry England (FE)

such as schools or transport improvements - which are needed to support new homes and
businesses in the areas.

The invested or delegated authority to perform a designated function.

The Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (CRoW Act) normally gives a public right of access
to land mapped as 'open country' (mountain, moor, heath and down) or registered common
land. These areas are known as 'open access land'.

A UK government department responsible for safeguarding the natural environment,
supporting the food and farming industry, and sustaining the rural economy.

A way of making a project or initiative happen, such as a system for accruing monies to pay for
mitigation.

ENDURE is a project ‘Ensuring Dune Resilience (Against Climate Change)’. The project looks at
establishing sand dunes as adaptive, living sea defences.

Natural England are implementing the Government scheme to create a new national route
around the coast of England

Enhanced Green Infrastructure represents accessible ‘Green Infrastructure’ that can in part
perform the role of a SANGs i.e. Gl that provides areas attractive enough for local recreational
use on or near where new homes are built that can take the strain away from people visiting
Habitats Sites for recreation.

The Environment Agency has the purpose of protecting of the environment from threats such as
flood and pollution.

The Forestry Commission is the government department responsible for protecting, expanding
and promoting the sustainable management of woodlands.

Forestry England looks after over 250,000 hectares of woodland and other natural
environments across England through sustainably managing the land. It is one of the two
agencies that the Forestry Commission works with.

Functionally Linked Land (FFL)  Areas of land or sea that are considered to be functionally linked to a Habitats (European) Site,

Green Infrastructure (GI)

but which lay outside the boundaries of the designated site.

The Gl in an area represents a network of multi-functional green space which can ensure
environmental benefits and an improved quality of life for local communities. Developments

I

210



Page 128 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Term Definition

are required to provide improvements to the existing Gl either on site or through necessary

planning contributions.

Habitats Sites Aterm introduced by the NPPF (2019), Habitats Sites include SPA, SAC & Ramsar sites.
Includes SPAs and SACs which are designated under European laws (the 'Habitats Directive'
and 'Birds Directive' respectively) to protect Europe's rich variety of wildlife and habitats.
Together, SPAs and SACs make up a series of sites across Europe, referred to collectively as
Natura 2000 sites. In the UK they are commonly known as European sites; the National
Planning Policy Framework also applies the same protection measures for Ramsar sites
(Wetlands of International Importance underthe Ramsar Convention) as those in place for
European sites.

Habitats Regulations Requirement for consideration of impacts of plans and projects on Natura 2000 and Ramsar
Assessment (HRA) sites.
Habitats Monitoring and Developers within the Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk boundary are currently

Mitigation Fund (HMM Fund) required to pay a small levy of £50 per dwelling to the borough council in order to help monitor
and mitigate the adverse effects of increasing visitor numbers to Natura 2000 sites* resulting
from the development. These levies have been drawn together to create the West Norfolk
Habitats Monitoring and Mitigation Fund.

Impact Risk Zone (IRZ) Developed by Natural England to make a rapid initialassessment of the potential risks posed
by development proposals. They cover areas such as SSSls, SACs, SPAs and Ramsar sites.

‘In combination’ Consideration to the in-combination effects which will or might result from the addition of the
effects of other relevant plans or projects.

LIFE projects European Union initiatives for protecting the key nature conservation interests of Natura 2000
sites.

Likely Significant Effect (LSE) ~ This is a possible adverse effect that would undermine the Conservation Objectives for a
Habitats (European) site, and which cannot be ruled out based on clear verifiable objective
information.

MAGIC Map The MAGIC website provides geographic information about the natural environment from
across government. The information covers rural, urban, coastal and marine environments
across Great Britain. Natural England manages the service.

Natura 2000 sites Natura 2000 is a network of protected areas covering Europe's most valuable and threatened
species and habitats. It is the largest coordinated network of protected areas in the world,
extending across all 28 EU countries, both on land and at sea.

211

I



Page 129 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Term Definition

Natural England (NE) Natural England - the statutory adviser to government on the natural environment in England.
National Planning Practice Expands on the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) by offering
Guidance (NPPG) relevant practice guidance.

Norfolk Coast Partnership The Norfolk Coast Partnership (NCP) focuses on the pressures on the area arising from

(NCP) increasing numbers of visitors, which were perceived as having a damaging effect on the

area’s natural beauty. The focus has broadened, although management of recreational
pressures is still a high priority.

Norfolk Rural Strategy A Strategy that recommends “a commitment to deliver landscape scale environmental
schemes covering multiple landowners to deliver integrated large-scale improvements which
support public access, tourism and economic opportunities e.g. a landscape which integrates
boating, cycling and walking routes with food, drink, culture and accommodation facilities to
drive value visits”.

Norfolk Strategic Planning A document produced through the collaboration of the listed authorities:
RIS =  Broads Authority (BA)

=  Broadland District Council (BDC)

=  Breckland District Council (BDC)

=  Borough of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk (BKLWN)
=  Great Yarmouth Borough Council (GYBC)

=  North Norfolk District Council (NNDC)

= Norwich City Council (NorCC)

= South Norfolk Council (SNC)

Norfolk Wildlife Trust (NWT) A Trust that gives conservation advice to a wide variety of organisations and individuals,
provides education services, and cares for over 50 nature reserves and other protected sites
encompassing wetland, heathland, woodland and coastal habitats that provide a home for
flagship species including otter, water vole, natterjack toad, bittern, common crane, marsh
harrier, bearded tit, swallowtail and Norfolk hawker.

Local Housing Need (LHN) The housing needs of an LPA area determined by a standard methodology that establishes a
minimum level of new housing needed in an area.

Local Planning Authority (LPA)  The public authority whose duty it is to carry out specific planning functions for a particular
area.

212

I



Page 130 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Term Definition

Public Rights of Way (PRoW) A public right of way in the form of a footpath, bridleway, restricted byway, byway open to all

vehicular traffic or a public road is a right that can be used by all members of the public.

Ramsar site Wetland of international importance designated under the Ramsar Convention 1971 held in
Ramsar, Iran.

Responsible Officer Natural England officer responsible for a particular Habitats Site.

Royal Society for the The country's largest nature / bird conservation charity.

Protection of Birds (RSPB)

Section 106 agreement Section 106 agreements (based on that section of the 1990 Town & Country Planning Act) are
private agreements made between local authorities and developers and can be attached to a
planning permission to make acceptable development which would otherwise be
unacceptable in planning terms.

Section 111 agreement A Section 111 agreement is a legally binding covenant that requires developers to enter into
agreement under Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972.

Site Improvement Plan (SIP) SIPs outline the priority measures needed to achieve and maintain European species and
habitats within a site in favourable condition. They provide a high-level overview of the issues
affecting the condition of the site; identify the priority actions to address the issues; and
identify the potential funding sources available. SIPs are based on Natural England’s current
evidence and knowledge and are live documents which are updated as further meetings take
place with partners.

Strategic Access Management Measures and co-ordinates visitor management across the whole of a Habitats Site. Access

and Monitoring (SAMM) management is often seen as an important part of any RAMS / avoidance strategy.
Suitable Accessible Natural The name given to green space that is of a quality and type suitable to be used as mitigation
Green Space (SANGS) for the Habitats Sites.

Special Area of Conservation ~ Land designated under Directive 92/43/EEC on the Conservation of Natural Habitats and of
(SAQ) Wild Fauna and Flora.

Special Protection Area (SPA)  Land designated under Directive 79/409 on the Conservation of Wild Birds.

Site of Specific Scientific Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) are those areas of land and water that are considered
Interest (SSSI) to best represent our natural heritage in terms of their: flora (i.e. plants), fauna (i.e. animals),
and geology (i.e. rocks).

213

I



Page 131 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Term Definition

Supplementary Planning Documents that provide further detail to the Local Plan. Capable of being a material

Document (SPD) consideration but are not part of the development plan.

Unilateral Undertaking (UU) Are types of planning obligation authorised by Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990. They are legal agreements between the Local Planning Authority and applicant /
developer that aim to balance the extra pressure created by new development with
improvements to ensure that the new development makes a positive contribution to the local
area and community.

Visit Britain The official tourism body for Great Britain.

Wetland Bird Survey (WeBS) Monitors non-breeding waterbirds in the UK. There is a WeBS Alerts system which provides a
method of identifying changes in numbers of water birds at a variety of spatial and temporal
scales and reports are written every 3 years.

The Wash and North Norfolk ~ The Wash and North Norfolk Marine Partnership works to coordinate and help deliver all
Marine Partnership (WNNMP)  Relevant Authority legal duties to the European Marine Site.

Zone of Influence (ZOI) An evidenced distance that establishes where developmentis likely to have a significant effect
on a Habitats Site.

214




Page 132 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

APPENDIX 1

A1(1) Natural England interim advice letter to Norfolk LPAs

Figure 26: Interim advice letter to Norfolk LPAs from Natural England (12/08/2019)

Date: 12 August 2019
Qur ref. 257629

Broadland District Council

Breckland District Council

Great Yarmouth Borough Council

King's Lynn & West Norfolk Borough Council
North Norfolk District Council

Norwich City Council

Norfolk County Council

South Norfolk Council

Broads Authority

Customer Services
Hornbeam House
Crowe Business Park
Electra Way

Crwe

Cheshire

CW16G)

T 0300 060 3900

Emerging strategic approach relating to the Norfolk Recreational disturbance Avoidance and
Mitigation Strategy and Green Infrastructure Strategy. Interim advice to ensure new
residential development and any assoclated recreational disturbance impacts on European
designated sites are compliant with the Habitats Regulations.

Dear Sir/Madam

Natural England welcomes that fact that Broadland District Council, Breckland District Council,
Great Yarmouth Borough Council, The Borough Council of King's Lynn & West Norfolk, North
Norfolk District Council, Norwich City Council, South Norfolk Council, Norfolk County Council and
the Broads Authority are working in partnership on a countywide Recreational Avoidance Strategy
(RAMS) and Mitigation and Green Infrastructure Strategy (Gl).

The Norfolk RAMS and Gl Strategy is a is a large scale strategic project which involves all of the
Norfolk authorities working together to help mitigate the effects of recreational disturbance impacts
on sensitive designated sites likely to arise as a result of increased housing over the respective local
plan periods. This approach will build on the existing evidence included within the Norfolk Visitor
Survey Report' which provides a comprehensive analysis of current and projected visitor patterns to
European designated sites across Norfolk. Once finalised and adopted, the RAMS will comprise of
strategic mitigation measures to address such effects, which will be costed and funded through
developer contributions.

This strategy will form an evidence base for local plans to ensure that residential planning
applications which have the potential to impact on European designated sites are compliant with the
Habitats Regulations? It specifically relates to additional recreational impacts that may occur on the
interest features of the following European designated sites:

« Ouse Washes SPA, SAC and Ramsar
« Breckland SPA and SAC

| Panter ef al (2016) Visitor Surveys at Ewrope UI' Protected Sites across Norfolk durmg 2015 and 2016, Footprint Ecology sites
2 Conservation of Habitats and Species Regul 2017, us Jed (¢ Iy known as the ' Habitats Rt.gulnliom ) Rmulmncnls
are set out within Regulations 63 and 64 of the Habitats Regulations, where a series of steps and tests are fi d for plans or prok
that could potentially affecta European site, The steps and tests setout within Regulations 63 and 64 ate commonly referred o as the
‘Habitats Regulations Assessment’ process. The Government has produced core guidance tor competent authorities and developers to
nssist Mlh \hc Iluhilnls Regulations A I This can be found on the Defr website, http/Avww.defra. gov.uk/habitats-

/

! 1k foulbd fal
re

3 Taken frum k'nklman. 8., (20 I-J). I'I(l”"‘;ﬂ],'ﬁl" dog ownership in new developments: reducing conflict - adding value. Access and
greenspace design guldance for planners and dewelopers

Page 1 of 8

215

4



Page 133

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Roydon Common and Dersingham Bog SAC
Roydon Common Ramsar

Dersingham Bog Ramsar

The Wash SPA and Ramsar

The Wash and North Norfolk Coast SAC
North Norfolk Coast SAC, SPA and Ramsar
Overstrand Clif's SAC

River Wensum SAC

Norfolk Valley Fens SAC

Winterton - Horsey Dunes SAC

Great Yarmouth North Denes SPA
Broadland SPA

Breydon Water SPA

The Broads SAC

Waveney and Little Ouse Valley Fens SAC
Redgrave and South Lopham Fen Ramsar

For further information on these sites, please see the Conservation Objectives and Information Sheets on
Ramsar Wetlands which explain how each site should be restored and/or maintained.

Zones of Influence

As part of the work to inform the Norfolk RAMS evidence base ‘zones of Influence’ (ZOI) have been
calculated following the collation and analysis of the Norfok Visitor Survey data fo determine the
distances within which residents of new housing are likely to regularly visit relevant designated sites
for recreation.

Table 1 shows the cakulated Zol but does not include all of the above listed designated sites,
specifically the Ouse Washes, Overstrand Cliffs, River Wensum, Waveney and Little Ouse Valley
Fens and Redgrave and South Lopham Fen. The calculated Zoi cover the breadth of Norfolk
County encompassing all designated sites, consideration should be given to determine if the
strategy could include the required visitor data collection and site monitoring to determine site
specific mitigation where there are gaps in evidence.

Table 1: Zones of Influence

Area European Designated Sites Zol (km)
Breckland sites Breckland SPA 26
Breckland SAC
Broads sites The Broads SAC 25
Broadiand SPA
East Coast sites | Breydon Water SPA 30
Winterton-Horsey Dunes SAC
Great Yarmouth and North Denes SPA
North Coast sites | North Norfolk Coast SAC 42
North Norfolk Coast SPA
The Wash and North Norfolk Coast SAC
Roydon and Roydon Common and Dersingham Bog SAC 12
Desingham Roydon Common Ramsar
Dersingham Bog Ramsar
Norfolk Valley Norfolk Valley Fens SAC 15
Fens
The Wash The Wash SPA 61
The Wash Ramsar
The Wash and North Norfolk Coast SAC

216




Page 134

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Once the Zol have been finalised, it will be anticipated that any new residential development within
an identified zone will constitute a likely significant effect (LSE) on the sensitive interest features of
the above designated sites through increased recreational pressure, either when considered ‘alone’
or ‘in combination’. The RAMS {or associated Supplementary Planning Document) will, once
adopted, specify requirements for developer contributions via a per house tariff to an agreed and
costed suite of measures which have been developed to mifigate impacts fo these designated sites.

Consultation arrangements

It is recognised that a proportion of the residential allocations in your local plans will be coming
forward as pianning applications prior to the adoption of the Norfolk RAMS. In the intenm period
until the RAMS is in place and the necessary developer contributions are known, it is important that
any recreational impacts from residential schemes such as these are considered in terms of the
Habitats Regulations through a project level Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA). All planning
decisions should be able to show that impacts io designated sites can be adequately mitigated and
this should be demonsirated through appropriate assessment. Those boroughs and districts with
existing strategies should continue to follow their established process and seek consultation in
accordance with agreed critena.

Natural England has already developed a set of Impact Risk Zones (IRZs) which helps guide
planning authorifies on the types and scale of development that we should be consulted on. We
advise that we should continue to be consulted in line with these arrangements (i.e. where there are
other IRZs are triggered in addition to the Norfolk RAMS)

Once Zol have been agreed, Natural England will refine residential IRZ's for the above designated
sites to align with the Norfolk RAMS project and capture new residential development which falis
within the Zols shown in Table 1 above; these will relate to the following development types:

New dwellings of 1+ units (excludes replacement dwellings and extensions)
Houses in Multiple Occupancy (HMOs)

Student Accommodation

Residential care homes and residential insfitutions (exciudes nursing homes)
Residential caravan sites (excludes holiday caravans and campsites)
Gypsies, travellers and travefiing show people plots

We advise that the applications in scope for consideration should include all new applications as
well as those with outiine planning permission where this issue has not previously been assessed
through the HRA process.

Once strategic mifigation measures are agreed and costed, we will write to you again, as this wil
enable affected development projects to contribute in a standardised manner. We will then update
our Impact Risk Zones to capture the majority of new residential housing development in this way.

Approach to avoidance and mitigation measures for recreational disturbance

We have included within Annex A of this letter a suggested HRA record template which can be used
to record the conclusions of both the Screening and Appropriate Assessment stages of HRAs for
planning applications within scope of the Norfolkk RAMS for which recreational disturbance to the
above sites is the only HRA issue. The use of this template is not mandatory but we have provided it
in an attempt to streamline the process and make it as straightforward and consistent as possible
for the authorities involved in the RAMS.

1 Panter &t al (2016) Viwitar Surveys at Envopean Protected Sites across Novfolk during 2005 and 2016, Footprint Ecology sites

1 Cosservatiom of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, as ded {commoniy kmown as the “Habitats Regulstions’ ). Reguiremsents

are se1 out within Regulations 63 and 64 of the Habitats Regulaticns, where a series of steps and tests are followad for plans or projecis

that could potentialiy affect a European site. 'l'hcsupsandlcs!ssaomwmn Regulations 63 and 64 are commonly referred 1o as the
*Habimts Regufations Assessment” process. The Go has produced corz guidance for comp authoniges and developers to

assist vnh the Hn!ums Regulations Assessment peocess. This can hz found on the Defra wehsite. http: www.defra. gov. ok habiats-

review ‘proe id idance’sites’

3 Taken fmm Jenkinson, 8 l?ﬁl.b Planring for dog cwnersksp in new developwents: reducing conflict — addfing volee. Access and

gresnspoce degigs gwdmce for plamers and developers

Page3of 8

217




Page 135

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Green Infrastructure

Natural England recommends that large developments (50+ houses) include green space that is
proportionate to its scale to minimise any predicted increase in recreational pressure to designated
sites, by containing the majority of recreation within and around the developed sile. The Sultable
Accessble Natural Green Space (SANGS) guidance can be helpful in designing this, it should be
noted that this document Is specific to the SANGS creation for the Thames Basin Heaths, although
the broad principles are more widely applicable. Green infrastructure design should seek to achieve
the Natural England Accessible Natural Greenspace Standards, detailed in Nature Nearby,
including the minimum standard of 2ha Informal open space within 300m of everyone's home. As a
minmum, we advise that such provisions should include:

« High-qualtty, informal, semi-natural areas

« Circular dog walking routes of 2.7 km' within the site and/or with links 1o surrounding public
rights of way (PRoW)

Dedicated “dogs-off-lead’ areas

Signage/information leaflets to householders 1o promote these areas for recreation

Dog waslte bins

to the long ferm maintenance and management of these provisions

To provide adequate mitigafion onsite G! should be designed to provide a multifunctional attractive
space of sufficient size to reduce frequent visits to sensitive sites. It should facilitate a variety of
recreational activities whilst supporting blodiversity. Evidence and advice on green infrastructure
can be found on the Natural England Green Infrastructure web pages. We also recommend the
Green Infrastructure Parnership as a useful source of information when creating and enhancing GL.

Local Planning Authorities may also wish lo consider to benchmark standards for accessible natural
greenspace, the TCPA have published Guides and Principles for Garden Communities, and Guide

7, Principal 9, references 40% green infrasiructure as a target quantum. Whilst some larger housing
allocations may not technically qualfy for Garden Community status, nevertheless Natural England

advises that this represents a quantum and quality standard which is aspirational in this context.

For individual schemes, Natural England would be happy to advise developers and/or their
consultants on the detail of requirements at the pre-application stage through our charged
Discretionary Advice Service, further information on which is available here.

For any queries relating to the specific advice in this letter only please contact Victona Wight using
the details given below . For any new consultations, or to provide further information on this
consultation, please send your comrespondences 10 consultations @natura

Yours sincerely

Victoria Wight

Norfok and Suffok Area Team

Email: victoria wight@naturalengland org uk

Tel: 0208 2257617
Cc: Sue Hooton, Essex Place Services

218




Page 136 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Annex A: Norfolk Recreational disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS)
Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) Record

Local Planning Authority:
Case officer

Application reference:

HRA Stage 1: scrooning asscsamont

‘est 1 - the significance test: Based on the development type and proximity to European
designatad sites, a judgement shouid be made as to whether the development constitutes a ‘Wkely
significsnt effect’ (LSE) 1o & Eurcpean s4e in tarms of ncreased recreational disturbance

e Geverapreant wirten THE Jone af i, (20 Por he Rams W1 redpeCT 1 e Dedcw
res
v D0um Brecks Shes. Dreckand TPA, SAC
o DM BT Sl TN DTS AL and Brsadane TPA
*  30Mm Eaar Coast Shes Swydon Water IOA Wirtenan Horsey Dunes ZAT ang Seat Yarmoss
ane Nonm Denes TPA
™ NN COMST STRI, NOrTY Nt CORS! SAC. SPA. Ramsar and Me Waah ang Norm Normok
Coas Zac
YES . tam Roysom ang gham Bog SAC any
o TEAm Of MOl Vatey Fens SAC
¢ OTm of The Auah The Wash SPA. Ramaar ang The mast ang Mo Motk Coast SAC
evenpmen: ypes ”L’!"""
New Jeelngs I e SVE TOUDeS T OSTT ST '-" o
e “' :A-—Muu
Mouses M Vutple Ocupancy ("WOs) J
Zhcert AiratEnn e g oo
Rescerts i3re FOMES 371 recdentiy Msmteg T Sy P L.
e e Saeey Iase 4104 A" D4 6C0ORD Nt
cavpamen) ©f 3Ny MRA COVErng othet
Cypsas Udewars 300 TIeeing W06 OO0 Nots " -_-m-un
TRCTEIIOAN IMLSTINCE 1§ A7
Whus 00 RON-COISTN
YES ‘ NO Eumpes shee or D0es of
1SS0 60, TUR e A0
(mmmw--—wvn” K ::::.nma:-/
Cosst RANT au 1 T2l Wihin the 2ome of Niuerce ¢ ey
P s e s
a0 200w NS DAt A
n.mnmaw“wnm—
e coreiemtes oanes oce The proposa ine 3cope of Me NoroR
e » culoe me
of M commnDon Thetstrs RAMT ~3
mm-m
. m-maﬂprmm G hohary »
I09% TETEIIONS DENITICE SIS on e ,._.‘m-, ave
mmm TRCIPIONI TERNTICE ITPACTS (300 T
e Checs ®2x 10 see B M;mm-:.‘m
0 e 0 POA-COMN EWToRNT (088 OF JNes iled acove In Cases okt
©f Speca SOentNc mieres! (S35, T5a DR W NI Engiang % S4S5008 Advioe Defare
8T "SI MASELTY SIS Of VG ~RA torm conTILang ro LSE
Page 5 of 8

219




Page 137 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

HRA Stage 2: Apgrogpr iate Asscssment

Test 2 - the integrity test: The applicant must provide sufficient evidence to aliow the Appropriate
Assessment to be made, which is the stage at which avoidance and/or miigation measures can be
NO
Annex | ncludes Is the proposal within or directly adfacent to one
Natursl Engiand’s of the above European designated sites?
suggested scope of
mitigation
for development of this vgsl NO
scale Where &t has not
already baen provided, ﬂ \ /‘ \
bt sm i financal shousd be
developer in fine witn should be secured in secured in line with the
fine with the Norfolk Norfolk RAMS
that advice. If needed, RAMS requirements tsoe
abie £ offer advice 1o (see Annex N). Record Annex ). Record
Gevelopars anor Mer evidence that this evidence that this
consullants on the detail mitigation measure has mmigaton measure has
of this at this through been secured in the been securad in the
their charged ms""'_' ¥ section m‘&mﬂ secvon
Service (DAS), further Consideration of Provided this
nformation on which is
further bespoke mitigation is secured,
valisbie hare recreational it can be concluded
Record recreatonal disturbance matigation that this planning
m':;"‘w measures may also be application will not
package in the required in this case have an adverse effect
“‘Summary’ section on the integrity of the
Consult Natural above Ewropean sites
below England on this from recreational
Appro disturbance, when
Consult Natural Assessment for considered ‘in
England on this advice on the combination’ with
Appr proposed/ required other development.
Assessment for advice mitigation before Natura! England does
on the proposed/ reaching a decision not need to be
required mitigation on adverse effects on consulted on this
deci“onon.dv:m ot Ry of Apgrogeints
effects on the integrity Ewopean sites. Assessment,
e U PAN Y,

220




Page 138

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Summary of the Appropriote Assessment : To be carmied out by the Competent Authority (the
local planning authority) in laison with Natural England (where necessary)

Summary of recreational disturbance mitigation package

[INSERT]

Conclusion

Having considered the proposed avoidance and mibgation measwres above, [INSERT LPA)

conclude that with mitigation the project will not have an Adverse Effect on the integrty of the
Ewropean sites included within the Norfolk RAMS

Having moadea this appropriate assessment of the impications of the plan or project for the site(s) in
view of that (those) site(s)’s conservation objectives, and having consulted Natural England and
fully considered any representolion received (where necessary), the authorty may now agree fo
the plan or project under reguiation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Reguiations
2017.

|Locat Planning Authority Case Officer comments, signed and dated:

Page 7 of 8

221




Page 139

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Annex | -~ Natural England’s recommendations for larger scale residential developments
within the identified Norfolk RAMS zone of influence (50 units +, or equivalent, as a guide)
Developments of this scale should include provision of well-designed open spacelgreen
infrastructure, proportionate to its scale. Such provisions can help minimise any predicted increase
in recreational pressure to the European sites by containing the majority of recreation within and
around the development site boundary away from European sites. We advise that the Suitable
Accessible Natural Green Space (SANGS) guidance here can be helpful in designing this; it should
be noted that this document is specific 1o the SANGS creation for the Thames Basin Heaths,
although the broad principles are more widely appicable. As a minimum, we advise that such
provisions should include:

» Highquality, informal, semi-natural areas

« Circular dog walking routes of 2.7 km' within the site and/or with links to surrounding public
rights of way (PRoW)

* Dedicated ‘dogs-off-lead’ areas

« Signage/mformation leaflets to householders to promote these areas for recreation
* Dog waste bins

* A commitment to the long term maintenance and management of these provisions

Natural England woulkd be happy to advise developers and/or their consultants on the detall of this
at the pre-application stage through our charged Discretionary Advice Service (DAS), further
information on which is available here,

However, the unique draw of the above European sites means that, even when well-designed, ‘on-
site” provisions are unlikely to fully mitigate impacts when all residential development within reach of
the coast is considered together ‘in combination’. We therefore advise that consideration of ‘off-site’
measures (i.e. n and around the relevant European designated site(s)) is also required as part of
the mitigation package for predicted recreational disturbance impacts in these cases. Such
measures are to be delivered strategically through the Norfok RAMS to make the sites more
resilient to increased recreational pressures. A proportionate financial contribution should therefore
be secured from these developments in line with the Norfolk RAMS.

Annex Il - Natural England’s recommendations for smaller scale residential developments
within the identified Norfolk RAMS zone of influence (0-49 units, or equivalent, as a guide)
which are not within/directly adjacent to a European designated site

Whilst the provision of well-designed open space/green infrastructure on ste or contrbutions
towards strategic green infrastructure in your district is to be welcomed for developments of this
scale, we advse that consideration of ‘off-site’ measures (L.e. in and around the relevant European
designated site(s)) is required as mitigation for predicted recreational disturbance impacts in these
cases as a minimum. Such measures are to be delivered strategically through the Norfolk RAMS to
make the sites more resikent 1o increased recreational pressures, A proportionate financial
contribution should therefore be secured from these developments in line with the Norfolk RAMS.

222




Page 140 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

APPENDIX 2

A2(1) Strategic Green Infrastructure and Open Space Baseline

Breckland

Breckland’s Local Plan (BLP) (Adopted 2019)

The BLP has Gl integrated on a strategic level by ensuring Gl has its own policy - ENVoz1 Green Infrastructure. It reads as follows:

New developments will be expected to exploit opportunities to incorporate green infrastructure and enhance existing
connectivity; recognising the intrinsic value of the green infrastructure network and ensuring that the functionality of the network

/s not undermined as a result of development.

Through its layout and design, new development should respond to the location of existing green infrastructure and support
appropriate uses and functions. Where it is considered that the development will have a detrimental effect on the quantity or
function of existing green infrastructure, applications will be expected to demonstrate how the green infrastructure network will
be enhanced as a result of the development. Developments that fail to exploit opportunities to integrate and enhance the
existing local green infrastructure network will not be favourably considered.

This policy ensures that all new development incorporates Gl and enhances the existing network. Additional policies within the
Local Plan, such as ENVo2 Biodiversity Protection and Enhancement, ENV 03 The Brecks Protected Habitats & Species, Policy
ENV 04 Open Space, Sport & Recreation, ENVos Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape and Policy ENVoé6 Trees,
Hedgerows and Development. Reference is also made to Biodiversity net gain, protection and enhancement of sites nature
conservation and existing features, which all help retain and enhance the wider Gl network and help feed into the county
strategy. Policy details below:

Policy ENVo2 Biodiversity Protection and Enhancement

The highest level of protection will be given to European Sites, with development only permitted where the proposal is in
accordance with the requirements of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.

Where measures to mitigate for potential adverse effects on European sites are required, the proposed mitigation measures
must be justified as fit for purpose with appropriate evidence, to inform the Council’s Habitats Regulations Assessment.

Development likely to have an adverse effect (either directly or indirectly) on a site of national, regional or local biodiversity, or
geological interest, as identified on the Policies Map, will not be permitted unless:

a. itcan be clearly demonstrated that there are reasons for the proposal that outweigh the need to safeguard the special
ecological / geological interest of the site, and;

b. ithas been demonstrated, where development would result in significant harm, that it cannot be reasonably located
on an alternative site that would result in less or no harm, and;

c. residual harm, after all measures to prevent and adequately mitigate have been applied, will be adequately
compensated for.

Where the Council considers that a designated site, protected species or any species or habitat, particularly where listed as a
Priority Habitat or Species under Section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006), may be adversely
affected by a development proposal, an ecological assessment (EclA) will be required to be submitted with the planning
application to assess effects on flora and fauna, commensurate with the scale of the impact and the importance of the species.

In accordance with the stepwise approach to protecting biodiversity (the mitigation hierarchy), all development with the
potential to affect biodiversity should demonstrate how such effects have been considered, by firstly demonstrating how effects

I

223



Page 141 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Breckland

have been avoided, and then how effects that cannot be avoided have been minimised. Residual harm, after all measures to
prevent and adequately mitigate have been applied, must be adequately compensated for.

All development should demonstrate how net gains for biodiversity are being secured as part of the development, proportionate
to the scale of development and potential impacts (if any). Where development is permitted, the authority will consider the need
for conditions or planning obligations to ensure the protection and enhancement of the site’s nature conservation and / or
geological interest.

Wherever a proposed development may have a detrimental impact upon a designated site or protected species, appropriate
conditions and/or planning obligations will be used to ensure that the appropriate mitigation measures incorporated within the
proposal are fully implemented, and monitored where required.

Policy ENV 03 The Brecks Protected Habitats & Species

The Council requires that a Habitats Regulations Assessment is undertaken on all proposals for development that are likely to
have a significant effect on The Breckland Special Protection Area (SPA) which is classified for its populations of Stone Curlew,
Woodlark and Nightjar, and/or Breckland Special Area of Conservation (SAC), which is designated for its heathland habitats.
Development will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that the proposal will not adversely affect the integrity of the
SPA or the SAC.

Stone Curlew

Plan level Habitats Regulations Assessment has been undertaken to identify where built development is likely to significantly
affect the Breckland SPA. Map 5.1 identifies a 1,500m buffer zone from the edge of those parts of the SPA that support, or are
capable of supporting, Stone Curlew, where new built development would be likely to significantly affect the SPA population. The
plan level Habitats Regulations Assessment also identifies areas that have a functional link to the SPA, because they support
Stone Curlew outside, but in close proximity to the SPA boundary. These areas also have a 1500m buffer zone, within which new
built development would be likely to significantly affect the SPA population.

A conclusion of no likely significant effect can be met where the proposed building is located further than 1500m away from the
SPA boundary (red primary buffer) or the identified (blue secondary buffer) or possible (orange square cells) areas that have a
functional link.

Development within the SPA boundary, or located less than 1500m away from the SPA boundary or identified areas that have a
functional link will not normally be permitted.

Where a proposed building is outside the SPA but within 1500m of the SPA boundary or identified or possible areas that have a
functional link, there may be circumstances where a project level Habitats Regulations Assessment is able to demonstrate that
the proposal will not adversely affect the integrity of the SPA. For agricultural buildings, applicants must provide evidence to
show how their proposal meets the criteria listed in Natural England’s “Agricultural Buildings and the Breckland SPA Stone
Curlew constraint zone” advice note, or successor document. Circumstances where the proposal is able to conclusively
demonstrate that it will not result in an adverse effect on Breckland SPA may include where the proposal is:

= More than 1500m away from potential stone curlew inside the SPA;

= Anew building that will be completely masked from the SPA by existing built development;

=  Aproposed re-development of an existing building that would not alter its footprint or increase its potential impact;
=  Anew agricultural building of less than 120 sqm;

= An extension to existing agricultural buildings of less than 120 sqm or 100% of the original, whichever is less.

Large developments adjacent to, or just outside the primary or secondary buffer, particularly where occurring in an isolated area
with few other buildings, are likely to also require project level assessment.

Woodlark and Nightjar

224

I



Page 142 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Breckland

Development within 400om of the SPA that support, or are capable of supporting Woodlark and/or Nightjar will not normally be
permitted. The Council will consider the need for a Habitats Regulations Assessment to determine the implications of
development on Nightjar and Woodlark on a case by case basis, depending on the location and nature of the proposal.

Recreation pressure and urban effects

Plan level Habitats Regulations Assessment has identified the potential for increased disturbance to Nightjar, Woodlarkand
Stone Curlew as a result of recreation, and the potential for other urban effects such as increased fire, litter and eutrophication to
significantly affect Breckland SPA and SAC.

Monitoring and Mitigation Framework

The Council commits to a framework of measures that will enable it to coordinate the necessary monitoring and mitigation
measures required to demonstrate that the increases in visitor pressure arising from new development in the District will be
addressed before adverse effects on European sites occurs. These will include as a minimum the following measures to be
implemented following adoption of the Plan:

= (Creation of an advisory group;

= Production of a monitoring programme;

= |dentification of mitigation measures; and

= Defining funding to support the above measures.

The Council will work with partners to develop a framework for managing and monitoring urban effects. Proposals for
development where urban heaths at Thetford (Barnham Cross Common, Thetford Heath, Thetford Golf Club and Marsh), East
Wretham or Brettenham are likely to be used as local greenspace will need to demonstrate the inclusion of mitigation measures
that contribute to the framework to address the potential impact urban effects on Breckland SPA/SAC.

Policy ENV 04 Open Space, Sport & Recreation

Existing Provision
Development that would result in the loss of existing designated open space will only be permitted if:

a) itcan be demonstrated (through a local assessment) that there is an excess of recreational or amenity open space in
the settlement and the proposed loss will not result in a current or likely shortfall during the plan period; or

b) recreational facilities within the open space will be enhanced by the proposed development on an appropriate
portion of the open space; or

c) the community would gain greater benefit from the developer providing a suitable alternative recreational or amenity
open space in an equally accessible and convenient location.

The development of existing open space with an ecological value (a known biodiversity or nature conservation interest) will not
be permitted.

New Provision

All new residential development is expected to provide a contribution towards outdoor playing space equivalent to 2.56 hectares
per 1,000 population*, which equates to 25.6m2 of outdoor playing space per person. As set out in the Open Space Assessment
(2015), this 25.6m2 is broken down to 17.6m?2 of outdoor sport area and 8m?2 of children's play space.

There is a presumption that for developments comprising of 25 dwellings or more that open space, sport and recreation facilities
will be provided within the development site. Where on-site provision is provided, the space should be of an appropriate type to
serve the needs of the development, well related to the proposed residential properties and in accordance with relevant
standards.

225

I



Page 143 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Breckland

Within a residential development of 25 or more dwellings priority should be given to the provision of children’s play areas since
the facility is most likely to be required within an easy reach of dwellings and will be required to conform to the 0.8ha per 1000
people standard in provision of children’s play area in accordance with the NPFA standard.

Major development sites comprising more than 10 dwellings, but less than 25 dwellings will be expected to make proportionate
off-site contributions towards open space, sports and recreational facilities.

Policy ENV o5 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape

The landscape of the District will be protected for the sake of its own intrinsic beauty, its benefit to the rural character and in the
interests of biodiversity, geodiversity and historic conservation. Development should have particular regard to maintaining the
aesthetic and biodiversity qualities of natural and man-made features within the landscape, including a consideration of
individual or groups of natural features such as trees, hedges and woodland or rivers, streams or other topographical features.

Release of land in Breckland will have regard to the findings of the Council's Landscape Character Assessment (LCA) and
Settlement Fringe Landscape Assessment to ensure land is only released in areas where the impact on the landscape is minimal.
Development should also be designed to be sympathetic to landscape character and informed by the LCA.

High protection will be given to The Brecks landscape, reflecting its role as a regionally significant green infrastructure asset.
Proposals within The Brecks Landscape Character Areas will not be permitted where these would result in harm to key visual
features of the landscape type, other valued components of the landscape, or where proposals would result in a change in the
landscape character.

High protection will also be given to the river valleys and chalk rivers in Breckland as identified in the Landscape Character
Assessment, recognising their defining natural features, rich biodiversity and the undeveloped character of their shallow valleys.

Policy ENV 06 Trees, Hedgerows and Development

Trees and significant hedge and shrub masses form part of the green infrastructure network and should be retained as an
integral part of the design of development except where their long-term survival would be compromised by their age or physical
condition, or there are exceptional and overriding benefits in accepting their loss.

Development requiring the loss of a protected tree or hedgerow (including preserved trees, protected hedgerows, trees in
Conservation Areas, ancient trees, aged and veteran trees and trees classified as being of categories A or B in value
(BS5837:2012) will only be permitted where:

a) theremoval of a tree or hedgerow will enhance the survival or growth of other protected trees or hedgerows, or;

b) itwould allow for a substantially improved overall approach to the design and landscaping of the development that
would outweigh the loss of any tree or hedgerow.

Where the loss of trees is accepted in these circumstances, developers will be required to retain enough space to ensure that at
least one tree of a similar ultimate size to that removed is planted with sufficient room to reach maturity without future pressure
for pruning or removal.

Reference is made to the GIMP Strategic Gl corridors and habit core areas, as well as the Norfolk Trails. It states: 74e network of
green infrastructure in the District, including water bodies and the strategic green infrastructure corridors shown on the Policies
Map, should be safeguarded, retained and, where opportunities arise, enhanced. Enhancement of the green infrastructure
network will be sought through the promotion of positive action, and the development management process.

This wording ensures that existing Gl, and the enhancement of Strategic Gl corridors will be expected at all levels of development
management and therefore all new housing growth will have provision for adequate Gl.

Open Space Assessment (2015)

226

I



Page 144 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Breckland

Audit Local Provision

The site audit for this study was undertaken during early to late winter 2014. The sites listed within the accompanying Open
Space Parish Schedule 2015 detail each individual piece of open space across the district, by parish.

In total, 698 open spaces (including provision for children and young people) are identified, reviewed/plotted on GIS and
assessed to evaluate site quality and quantity. For the purposes of Table ‘Total Open Space Provision', each site is classified
based on its primary open space purpose, so that each type of space is counted only once. The following typologies as detailed
in Chapter 5 are used.

Total Open Space Provision:

Type No of Sites Total Area (ha)
Outdoor Sports 91 176
Children's Play (includes primary and secondary sites) 108 8
Parks and Gardens B 3.2
Natural and semi-natural green space 74 519
Amenity green space 325 154
Green Corridors 12 30.3
Allotments 43 49.7
Cemeteries and Churchyards 128 69.7
Golf Courses 6 236
Civic Spaces 2 0.08
Local Green Space See Section 7.11

Total 792 1,245

Whilst there are 698 sites within Breckland, the table above lists 792, this is due to the secondary use of children’s play areas
which are regularly located within outdoor sports facilities or amenity green spaces.

Thetford Area Action Plan (AAP) (Adopted 2012).

On a local level, implementation of this policy will be supported by consideration of more detailed local green infrastructure
strategies such as those created for the market towns of Dereham and Thetford. For example, Thetford has its own Gl Strategy as
well as Area Action Plan (AAP) (Adopted 2012). The AAP refers to Gl in detail, with policies and project initiatives that look to
restore and enhance the Gl network. For instance, Policy TH 12: The Thetford Loops.

Thetford Loops

227

4



Page 145 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Breckland

sww=e BTO Long trplerreniativ tow
== Soulhenn LS00 IMglementateg now
-9 Southen Lucp Prorty
-0 Normam Locp Peorty
seas N LOOD IpeTentatie ow
— L e e
-8 Oosten Long Prierty
— Thettef el Ltag Sruseertatie v |
®-0-@ Thattea Foswst Locg Prorty :
0  Cusieg u te oo
— g wrd Oy Sng et
[ e
[:}f‘n.-l._n
Thattors Ereprae Pas (TEF,

. . . ’ -t 8 .
e T ——— LA .- )y 3 - .
: ' . ,l : |
'. Lo gt ¥ orw Y .. ] p o .
v o ,‘ =\ ; = /‘ THETFORD e
- Lty bt 4 P——
o B M PSS =T e o o
meara e / - C— - .
W it for Bawe Mesons of e Lacgs it | - { s e | e v —
ued N - ’ St b e st s o v W I
¥ I )
Trortly' mmars Pl e ctons o 8 b -
et amount of wok for e 1 Som Be o s __;".‘.f"-\-’
B AR P gt P

(Source: Thetford Area Action Plan, 2012)

The Thetford Loops are multi-purpose, high quality routes for pedestrians and cyclists for leisure and utility trips.
Proposals/schemes for areas where parts of the Loops network runs through or are directly adjacent, will provide the Loops as
part of the proposal/scheme. The Thetford Loops offer considerable potential to enhance the walking and cycling network by
providing convenient and attractive paths for pedestrians and cyclists to move around the town and improve access to the
surrounding countryside. The design and implementation of the Loops will ensure impacts from recreational use to the European
Protected Sites surrounding Thetford are avoided.

The Loops also pick up the signed National Cycle Route 13 and the Two Rivers Regional Cycle Route 30, both of which make use
of the quiet roads in the area. The Hereward Way (a National Trail) is also adjacent to the Loop proposals and available for
walkers.

Development proposals should also be informed by made Neighbourhood Plans which often highlight significant green spaces
of importance to the community in their policies and can also include new designations of local green space.

Greater Norwich

Greater Norwich Development Partnership (GNDP) Green Infrastructure Strategy (2007)

The GNDP GI Strategy sets out a vision for green infrastructure in the Greater Norwich Area for a “multifunctional network of green
spaces and green links, providing an environmental life support system for communities and wildlife”.

It seeks to “ensure that pressures on important natural and historic aspects of green infrastructure in the Greater Norwich Area
are minimised, and opportunities to enhance green infrastructure to meet the needs of people and biodiversity are maximised.”

I

228



Page 146 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Greater Norwich

The Strategy sets out six core principles for Gl planning and management to underpin relevant policies, plans and decisions with
the Greater Norwich area:

= “Safeguard and protect valuable green infrastructure resources;
= Integrate green infrastructure into development schemes and existing developments;

= Enhance green infrastructure where of low quality, in decline or requiring investment to realise its potential to meet
future demands;

= Mitigate potential adverse effects of development, new land uses and climate change;

=  (Create new green infrastructure where there is an identified deficit, or growth is planned and additional provision or
compensatory measures are needed.”

The document proposes and identifies a multi-functional GI network for the Greater Norwich area.

The green infrastructure network connects Norwich, other settlements and the countryside via green corridors, particularly along
the river valleys, providing sustainable opportunities for communities in towns and villages to access, enjoy and appreciate a
variety of greenspaces on their doorstep and in the wider countryside.

The network also connects a diverse range of wildlife habitats and provides important ecological corridors for species dispersal
and migration.

The green infrastructure approach should be regarded as a long-term framework for sustainable development, protecting the
natural and historic environment and enhancing the distinctive qualities that give the Greater Norwich Area its special character.

Green infrastructure should be delivered, protected and managed through the commitment and involvement of the public,
private and voluntary sectors across the Greater Norwich Area working in partnership.

Proposed Gl Network for the Greater Norwich Area

(overleaf)

229




Page 147 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Greater Norwich

The Green Infrasractive  mformation
shown on this map is indicative only Tt
ihstrases nformation ahowe
opporanites ata Amtegic lovel, and does
not ndicate & consraint on devel opment

e

~ Great
Yarmouth,

Sub Regional GI Corridors

1 Norh East Norwich - Wroxham - Nordh
Washam Corridee
2 Norwich- Reepham - Avisham Comridor
3 Norh West Norwich - Wymondhem -
Asdeborough - Thetfird Carrxdor
4 South West Narwich - Wymandham -
Addeboraugh Commdar
5 Souh Norwich - Mulbaron - Diss Cornidor
6 Sawh Norwich - East Diss Carridor
7Loddon - Beceks - Lowassoft Cor dor
& Past Norwich - Brundal] - Acle - Great
Yarmouh Corridor
9 Aylsham - Wmxham - Acke - Great
- = ) . - 4 Yarmouh Carmidor
y N 10 Great Yamnout - Loweso# Corridaor
- 11 Ea Norwich - The Broads - Gea
Yarmonth Comidor
KEY 12 Ace - North W dlsham - Aylsham -
Cromer Cordor
13 Lowesoft - Beocles - Bungay

[0 Sub-Regional Green Infrastructure Corridors - - River Valleys/Wetlands Haciestme - Diss - Thedforl Coridoe

. Nordhem Grears Norwich Are Locd Gl
s Local Green Infrastructure Corridors Targeted Environmental Carrider Neework

and Access Improvements Sixshem Groaser Norwie
Existing Main Urban Areas in the Wider Countryside (2) i fmmrintiois
- Existing Green Infrastructure Sites
(Strategic Open Spaces & Core Blodlversnty Areas)

Ths map & based on Crdnance Survey masda wn 1 Conraliorof Har Map =3 Staton oy Ofca © Crown copyright. Unaumorsed 0 25 5km
momdudon nfinges Crown copydght ad may lesd 0 mmhnuwlpmdm osmm. Humber 100019340 2007 | |

PiPrgecshl HOMU0E_Cre Noewich I Sear G SWPrgectd e prember revsi] 1104502 07 01 moud Figure 7.1
— RIS BLANDFORD ASSCIATES GREATER NORWICH The Proposed Green Infrastructure
GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE STRATEGY Neywark for the Greater Norwich Area

September 2007

Source: GNDP Gl Strategy (2007)

A number of potential green infrastructure projects are identified within the Action Plan including the New Country Parks project,
Historic Park Restoration Fund and Green Gym project (see map below). These Gl projects would contribute to the strategic Gl
network and address function and benefit deficits within the area.

230

e



Page 148

Greater Norwich

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Potential Green Infrastructure Projects

aa. ¥ I

X # 9 - . =T '
s inf 2 ﬂ &' - O Nenhh Uit Asea Progmn. & mh,'",
: " e [ . S '
- - o Onn Py Sy £ Ve Sl Ve St Sorws v
N 3 1 Gz Gt Smmagy A Yermna dea
! =3 s PR . I-‘-q-- PR —
k » — "% 11 The Waum Rrw Pubowey orwich PERT
o B (e & 3 i vy G et Tt e W
- . ¥ ) 1~ Seorah Crovs d B et it
SHL - s T - T =
. s ks . S + - u et e Wiy e S Swany
= : | Q > 5 13 - rvmesng Dhe o Rivw b ——poe
ot &y = R e
¥ . 3 T Vi o Py Phme '..::‘_w
= ¥ % A |\ h—:_—u—.. :::-r‘.—-am-.
. 2N o 5 L) 11 Bove Ve Wi Wy
- ¥ LA — Lo o0 et 11 W Vb Bl W
. ViR, o » - -
) - >3~ s b 2 - :r-"—-- ——
- #iy |
n - - @ Jorvs e Commtor Norwich Ares «
¥ - \ wi A = Trwpeen THMe Themonc Pragecs
/ ' : L R T
. /i = oy 3 i Gt P
: '3 B Sertulk snd Nerwnh Bepes) 1 P I Basrnnin Vsl
- . ~ X Tert . The :..
- 3 S Sy it ] A Pl Al
% e ” {’\ - X ?-::- A -
- —f. X ¥ - Mun oot Barh it Norens -
- T L Wk Nasunh Bl S gt
. - - ,. B Powe 2y ™
o) - r 99 b ‘,. A :‘..'-.dw‘.f“ :~T‘__-
v 0 - = g 5T ‘ L3 Coven ey sed Bt By B
. e L e e o ol
£ - 13 - S Cas ot
- ¥ SRS
" ] \ 1 17 O Lkt st St s b
- - i
® ; e ) 19 - Bl o3 B st Trres
17 e Crmenge
r P78 e s 1w s g
l}. J | \J\f et oot wpd
: 1 s
. - - ) s y
— » — [ S s €5 o e Somvs Mot for s o e pessnnt e |
v — o) .
: " - L Y
| — ]
) yix - - Na
e A\ \ \' S g {
. » 4‘ oy - !
’ 3 6
. [~ ’ -R‘-‘-‘. — | > 'l’
e & NI/ T Le - b A
- B v - y ~ \*_ 25 i
& o — y
. \ s | I~ 4o ) ¥ o o # e & bevar]
e ./Tq e » i e i 13 s
B i 1Y Tt
RIS RLANDFORD ATIOCLTRS GREATER NORWICH Figore§.2
e et st et OREEN DNFRASTRUCTURE STRATEOY Potennial Geeen
Sepmeskes 2007 afrastmcoare Projects

Source: GNDP Gl Strategy (2007)

GNDP Green Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2009)

The JCS provides strategic policies that cover the Greater Norwich area. Gl is embedded throughout the document. However, the

one policy that highlights it most is Policy 1: Addressing climate change and protecting environmental assets. Details within this

policy include:

“In areas not protected through intemational or national designations, development will:

= minimise fragmentation of habitats and seek to conserve and enhance existing environmental assets of acknowledged

regional or local importance. Where harm is unavoidable, it will provide for appropriate mitigation or replacement with

the objective of achieving a long-term maintenance or enhancement of the local biodiversity baseline

= contribute to providing a multifunctional green infrastructure network, including provision of areas of open space,

wildlife resources and links between them, both off site and as an integral part of the development

= help to make provision for the long-term maintenance of the green infrastructure network.”

Within this section of the JCS it also states “Investment and development will provide a multifunctional network of green spaces

and green links, having regard to factors such as accessibility, existing and potential open spaces, natural and seminatural

areas, protection of the water environment, landscape, geodiversity and the fundamental need to contribute to ecological

networks. More detailed delivery of green infrastructure will be taken forward through delivery plans and other elements of

231

e



Page 149 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Greater Norwich

LDFs.” This demonstrates that as well as the JCS and the Greater Norwich Gl Strategy, individual LAs will have additional
localised Gl policies, projects and objectives.

Greater Norwich Infrastructure Plan (GNIP) (2020)

The GNIP was produced to co- ordinate and manage the delivery of strategic infrastructure to support growth, improve quality of
life and enhance natural environment. The document is update annually to reflect the latest information available and how
projects evolve. Gl is one of the GNIP main priorities and are based on the need to mitigate the potential impacts on Habitats
Sites under the Habitat Regulations. The document sets out over 100 projects of different scales across the Greater Norwich
region, falling within different Gl Priority Areas. Examples include Phases of Broadland Way and the Yare and Wensum Valleys
Link. Details for both, and others, include status, estimated scheme cost, funding and current spend.

Habitats Regulations Assessment of Greater Norwich Regulation 18 Draft Plan

The assessment of Policy 7.1 ‘The Norwich urban area including the fringe Parishes’, Policy 7.2 ‘The Main Towns’ and Policy 7.3
‘The Key Service Centres’ states that “The scale of housing growth means that emphasis will need to remain on providing
sufficient green infrastructure by developers directly or via the emerging Green Infrastructure and Recreational Impact Mitigation
Strategy to provide sufficient recreational facilities to minimise any increase of visitor pressure on European sites.”

The document also concludes that the Greater Norwich Local Plan Strategy would have no adverse effect upon the integrity of
any European site acting alone if there is “satisfactory com of the Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance
Mitigation Strategy (Section 5) that provides:

= “atariff-based payment taken from residential, and other relevant accommodation e.g. tourist accommodation, that
will be used to fund a mixture of mitigation measures, most likely consisting of: soft and hard mitigation measures at
the designated natural sites themselves to increase their resilience to greater visitor numbers.

= the provision of suitable alternative natural green space (SANGs), which would be large enough to meet a range of
needs and sufficiently well publicised for effective mitigation. The current Broadland District Council Development
Management DPD policy EN3 may be considered as a precedent for housing growth in the emerging Greater Norwich
Local Plan, although consideration will need to be given to new evidence emerging as part of plan production.

Implementation of a wider programme of Green Infrastructure Improvements in accordance with current and emerging project
plans so that residents of existing and proposed housing have an alternative to European sites for regular routine activities such
as dog walking.

Topic Paper: Green Infrastructure and Recreation Open Space (2011)
This paper provides an estimation of the costs of green infrastructure required to support sustainable if the growth takes place

as it has been predicted in the JCS.

Alternative delivery mechanisms such as providing open space facilities off site alongside other infrastructure projects are
discussed as well as enhancing existing sites with improved facilities to accommodate more intensive use/providing alternative
uses.

Given the growth planned in Greater Norwich will place additional pressure on the existing green infrastructure networks
strategic Gl projects and the associated funding are also reviewed. Gl elements include:

=  Walking and Cycle Routes - Improvement and new routes.
= Small Strategic Projects - A series of small strategic projects which have been prioritised for the next 5 years

= larger Strategic Projects - Larger strategic projects as identified in the JCS

232

I



Page 150 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Greater Norwich

The funding summary is shown below:
Table 4 - Strategic Green Infrastructure costs 2008-2026

Cycle Routes £500,000

Existing walking access links to be improved (NE) | £2,160,000

New Access links needed (NE) £1,340,000

Total cost for short term projects (5 Years) =
£2,330,000 x 3 (for the 15 Year period) =

£6,999,000) £7,000,000
Long Term Strategic Projects £1,000.000
Visitor Pressure £1,000,000
Contingency £5,000,000

_Total £18,000,000

Broadland (Greater Norwich)

Development Management DPD (2015)

The Development Management DPD (DMDPD) has its own Gl policy - Policy EN3 — Green Infrastructure. It reads as follows:
All development will be expected to maximise opportunities for the creation of well-managed network of wildlife habitats.

Residential development consisting of five dwellings or more will be expected to provide at least 4ha of informal open space per
1,000 population and at least 0.16ha of allotments per 1,000 population.

Development will also be expected to make adequate arrangements for the management and maintenance of green
infrastructure.

This policy is important as it refers to ‘informal’ open space, rather than ‘formal’ open space. It also states that improving the
provision, quality and accessibility of informal open space will “mitigate the potential impacts of visitor pressure upon sensitivity
international designated sites” (Habitats Sites). More importantly, if development sites are unable to provide adequate informal
open space, off-site provision is necessary, and this can be provided through a viable alternative as part of the wider Gl network.

Recreational Provision in Residential Development SPD (2016)

To build on the DMDPD, Broadland also produced a Recreational Provision in Residential Development SPD that sets out
standards for formal and informal recreation space. In terms of Informal Recreational Space, it states that:

“Informal open space areas created will need to be to a sufficiently high standard and quality to provide a viable alternative to
visiting N2K sites or contribute to the provision of a viable alternative as part of a wider green infrastructure network. Regard
should be had to the Green Infrastructure Study and Green Infrastructure Delivery Plan underpinning the JCS. This may include
some of the priorities identified in the Greater Norwich Green Infrastructure Study, the Greater Norwich Green Infrastructure
Delivery Plan (GIDP) and the Greater Norwich Infrastructure Plan (GNIP). Regard should also be had to priorities identified within
the emerging Norfolk Green Infrastructure Strategy.”

233

I



Page 151 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Broadland (Greater Norwich)

The Growth Triangle Area Action Plan (GTAAP) (Adopted 2016)

The GTAAP specifically applies to areas of Old Catton, Rackheath, Sprowston, Thorpe St Andrew and other parishes. The GTAAP
has a strategic policy in place for Gl:

Policy GT 2: Green Infrastructure

Primarily it is regarding an area of green space (landscape buffer) that has been identified as a landscape setting to the edge of
Norwich (see Policy map below), preserving important elements of the landscape structure of the area, such as; woodland
mature trees, intact hedgerows and historic parkland landscapes.

Policy Map (GTAAP)

'E:--'---nnv-mflngL ';.-,' e 90

(Source: Growth Triangle Area Action Plan (2016))
Parts of the policy read as follows:

“An area which will form the landscape setting to the future built edge of Norwich is identified on the Policies Map. Within this
designated area development will be permitted for:

= Extension or alterations to an existing building; and or
= Development that would result in a significant community benefif’

“Biodliversity and Habitat connectivity will be achieved through the delivery of two primary and seven secondary green
infrastructure corridors. The corridors are shown on the policies maps.

Three large areas of public open space assets, which will make an important contribution to the green infrastructure network, are
identified on the proposal’s maps. These are Beeston County Park, including Red Hall Farm, Harrisons Woodland Park and the
North Rackheath Buffer Zone.

234

e



Page 152 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Broadland (Greater Norwich)

Formal and informal recreational open space and G/ will be provided through development in accordance with the development
management policies of the local plan. Informal and formal OS, sports pitches, play areas, walking and cycling routes,
landscaping and SuDS will be located and orientated to support the delivery of the identified primary and secondary corridors.

Outside of areas allocated for development, or as POS, proposals for the provision of Gl that require planning permission (such
as POS) will be permitted unless the proposal would result in significant harm in terms of biodiversity, landscape or any other
material consideration.”

The primary green infrastructure corridors referred to in Policy GT2 are:

= Mousehold to the Broads; and,

= Thorpe Ridge.
The Seven secondary green infrastructure corridors to be delivered through Policy GT2 are:

= (atton Park to Spixworth

= Beeston Country Park to Spixworth Park

=  Thorpe Woodlands to Broadwalk Plantation/Fir covert

=  Thorpe Woodlands to Dobb Beck (via Harrisons Plantation)

= Thorpe Woodlands to Dobb Beck (via Rackheath Park)

=  Thorpe Woodlands to Witton Run; and,

= Thorpe Woodlands to Smee Lane, Plumstead
These green infrastructure corridors will be delivered through a series of projects and proposals.
The other main policies relevant to green infrastructure and development include policies 11 and 12:
Policy 11: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

In relation to determining planning applications, the policy states that “opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around
developments should be encouraged” and that policies and decisions should “limit the impact of light pollution from artificial
light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation” by encouraging good design.

Policy 12: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

This policy summarises the process required for conservation of historic assets. In particular it states that planning applications
should be required to “describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their
setting” and that in determining planning applications, local planning authorities “should take account of:

= the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses
consistent with their conservation;

= the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable communities including their

economic vitality; and

= the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness.”
East Broadland Green Infrastructure Project Plan (EBGIPP) (2015)

The EBGIPP is a project plan that focuses on delivery of potential Gl projects for the short-, medium- and long-term within the
area of Great Plumstead and Acle. The map below shows the identified project locations and links where potential improvements
can be made, or new Gl projects can take place. Projects include; the Witton Run Gl Project, Link from Blofield to Blofield Heath
and A47 Safe Foot and Cycle Crossing. The details of each project are set out, along with the opportunities, risks and

I

235



Page 153 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Broadland (Greater Norwich)

justification. As well as enhancing the Gl network, great importance within this study is given to the protection of highly sensitive

wildlife sites such as SSSIs and CWS.

East Broadland Gl Project Locations and Plan Area Map e L 4_.

£ow

U

West Broadland Green Infrastructure Project Plan (2018)

A similar approach was taken to the WBGIPP as the EBGIPP with a focus on delivery of potential Gl projects within the West
Broadland area. Projects include; the Thorpe Marriott Greenway, South Drayton Greenway and Marriott’s Way Circular Walks (as
shown on the map below). The details of each project are set out, along with the opportunities, risks and justification.

236




Page 154

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Broadland (Greater Norwich)

Ceadiend
Potantial Mamott's Way Circular Walke

Cawston Heath (BOC)

Wischingnam Commen (BDC)

«  Aylsham Circular (NCC)

Aylsham Short Circular (NCC)
Arretndge Wood Circular (NCC)
Roepham & Caweton Circutar (NCC)
Reepram Shan Circular (NCC)

« « HRngland Circutar (NCC)
Swanningion Crouar (NCC)

«  Themekhomps to Cawston Croutar (NCC)
« Mamotts Viay

- e

Sasmmy | Eice S

et oae by pReTsanm of (Raranon Saresy a0 St of SN0 I Cronen sapnrighd

oM AN €

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk

Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Plan (Adopted 2016)

Given the importance of retaining and enhancing the boroughs Gl network, along with the recreational pressures on Habitats
Sites, it was identified that there is a need for monitoring and mitigation measures. For this reason, the Policy DM 19 - Green
Infrastructure/Habitats Monitoring and Mitigation was adopted. The Gl element of this policy is as follows:

“Opportunities will be taken to link to wider networks, working with partners both within and beyond the Borough.

The Council supports delivery of the projects detailed in the Green Infrastructure Study including:

The Fens Waterway Link- Ouse to Nene;

The King's Lynn Wash/Norfolk Coast Path Link;

Gaywood Living Landscape Project;

The former railway route between King's Lynn and Hunstanton; and

Wissey Living Landscape Project.

The Council will identify, and coordinate strategic delivery, with relevant stakeholders, of an appropriate range of proportionate
green infrastructure enhancements to support new housing and other development and mitigate any potential adverse effects
on designated sites of nature conservation interest as a result of increased recreational disturbance arising from new

development. All new development must ensure there is no adverse effect on a European Protected Site through the provision of

appropriate measures. These enhancements will be set out in a Green Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

237

I



Page 155 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk
Major development will contribute to the delivery of green infrastructure, except:
= Where it can be demonstrated the development will not materially add to the demand or need for green infrastructure.
Where such a contribution would make the development unviable, the development will not be permitted unless:
= /thelps deliver the Core Strategy; and

= The relevant contribution to that Strategy could not be achieved by alternative development, including in alternative
locations orin the same location at a later time;

= orUnless the wider benefits of the proposed development would offset the need to deliver green infrastructure
enhancements.

More detailed local solutions based on the Green Infrastructure Strategy will be developed for Downham Market and
Hunstanton, particularly in relation to the main growth areas and King's Lynn and surrounding settlements.”

This then leads to Habitats Regulations Assessment monitoring and mitigation section, which looks to ensure adequate
provision of informal open space to avoid an adverse effect on Habitats Sites. These reads as follow:

“In relation to Habitats Regulations Assessment monitoring and mitigation the Council has endorsed a Monitoring and Mitigation
Strategy including:

= Project level HRA to establish affected areas (SPA, SAC, RAMSAR) and a suite of measures including all/some of:

= Provision of an agreed package of habitat protection measures, to monitor recreational pressure resulting from the
new allocations and, if necessary, mitigate adverse impacts before they reach a significant threshold, in order to avoid
an adverse effect on the European sites identified in the HRA. This package of measures will require specialist design
and assessment, but is anticipated to include provision of:

A A monitoring programme, which will incorporate new and recommended further actions from the Norfolk
visitor pressure study (anticipated to be completed in Spring 2016) as well as undertaking any other
monitoring not covered by the County-wide study.

VA Enhanced informal recreational provision on (or in close proximity to) the allocated site [Sustainable
Accessible Natural Greenspace], to limit the likelihood of additional recreational pressure (particularly in
relation to exercising dogs) on nearby relevant nature conservation sites. This provision will be likely to
consist of an integrated combination of:

1. Informal open space (over and above the Council' s normal standards for play space);
2. Llandscaping, including landscape planting and maintenance;

3. Anetwork of attractive pedestrian routes, and car access to these, which provide a variety of terrain,
routes and links to the wider public footpath network.

il Contribution to enhanced management of nearby designated nature conservation sites and/or alternative
green space;
v. A programme of publicity to raise awareness of relevant environmental sensitivities and of alternative

recreational opportunities.”

This section is important as it acknowledges the need for “enhanced informal recreational provision”, rather than just amenity
space. By making this commitment, there is a guarantee that Gl enhancements will be provided on site that will improve the
borough and county Gl network, rather than just green space.

Borough Council of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Green Infrastructure Study: Stage Two (GISS2) (2010)

238

I



Page 156 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk

The GISS2 was completed in 2010 and provides a borough wide analysis of; existing provision, deficits, potential improvements,
policies to deliver Gl and high, medium and low priority projects. The Stage Two document specifically provides a strategy, action
plan and business plan to promote and support the delivery of Gl in the borough. Plans were produced to highlight projects
which support the delivery and inclusion of Gl focusing primarily upon the creation of new habitats, new access/recreation
routes, residential development and the extension/enhancement of industrial sites.

The vision for the borough was identified following discussions with key stakeholders at workshops and meetings. It draws on
the Sustainable Community Strategy, Core Strategy and other Gl related strategies. The vision is as follows:

King’s Lynn and West Norfolk’s Gl Vision (2009-2029)

“We want to safeguard our justly famous natural and historic environment, at the same time making sustainability a central part
of our vision. We want to build connections with other local and regional economies, reduce reliance on the car, and prepare
ourselves for the challenges of climate change.

/n 203o0...
West Norfolk has undergone regeneration and growth that complements its high quality historical and natural inheritance;

communities in West Norfolk benefit from quality public spaces and parks with access to the coast and countryside that make
the area special;

West Norfolk is meeting the challenges of climate change;

people will be less reliant on the motor car to access places and services; and

West Norfolk still feels like somewhere unique in its own right, based on its own local distinctiveness”.

(Source: West Norfolk’s Sustainable Community Strategy and Core Strategy Regulation 25 Local Development Framework).

This study highlights GI plans for the borough, and more specifically, three main towns; Hunstanton, Kings Lynn and Downham
Market. Together they act as a spatial framework of how the Gl vision will be delivered. The plans have been developed to
demonstrate existing Gl assets and potential new projects.

The Borough wide masterplan (see Borough Context Plan below) indicates a number of key strategic, large projects identified to
be of regional/county significance. To the north of the Borough a number of potential Gl projects have been identified, they
include the King’s Lynn Wash/Norfolk Coastal Path, which will increase linkages between the Borough’s primary town, and the
linkages along the East coast, supporting both the movement of wildlife and opportunities for recreation. There is also potential
to develop further links to the Coast through the enhancement of the existing disused railway, which runs between King’s Lynn
and the Coast.

Three other significant conservation projects identified include; the Living Landscapes projects of Gaywood Valley and the
Wissey and the development of a circular waterway supporting movement around the Fens Waterways.

Borough Context Plan

239




Page 157 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

lml A
— &
4 Yy

[] A- Fens Waterway Link - Ouse to Nene
D-Kng‘smnw.wmcuupmm
Es-ammuhm
(] G - Goywood vatiey
L-u-oan.nq

[E] U - Wassey Living Landscape Project
Deprived Area - Top 20% Deprived Wards, IMD 2007

'
¥

‘—‘9‘5"‘ w FSL 4 ‘1:' A — -5 ~ : X
& Downham Market e AR L S
g GEMTSE Ve ¥ g
' ’ .__‘.L -0 ‘. -

=M l
W By

N e 10000 1N
Ha e K —
[ AN f Deak 1200000 GAI

'~ King's Lynn Green Infrastructure
| Borough Context
N Figure 3.1
& , !
e It D March 2010
. u‘.‘lﬂ(mdmmn l Enth

Bamat guor tw Ovonaon Barvey Mag woh B pamsmen of T Contmter of M Mapary » Suoery (Fce O Crown Copyngnt £mmc UN LI A YOD00 1716

240

e



Page 158 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk

(Source: Borough Council of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Green Infrastructure Study: Stage Two (2010))
Kings Lynn & West Norfolk Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Plan (2016)

Policy DM 16 — Provision of Recreational Open Space for Residential Developments
All new residential development will be expected to make adequate provision for open space to the following standards:

Schemes of up to 19 units will ensure that their schemes contain sufficient space to ensure a high standard of layout and
amenity to the residents of the proposed development and to ensure that the scheme integrates into the wider landscape
setting. On windfall sites the requirement to provide open space will apply where the Council considers that the proposed
development forms part of a larger site which, if developed, would result in a requirement for a proportion of (or contribution to)
open space.

Schemes of 20 units or greater will provide 2.4 hectares of open space per 1000 population comprising approximately:
= 70% for either amenity, outdoor sport, and allotments (see below) and
= 30% for suitably equipped children’s play space

On sites allocated for residential development through the Local Plan process, and where development of the whole site results
in a requirement for a proportion of (or contribution to) open space, the requirement to provide open space will apply to the
whole of a single allocated site, even if it is developed incrementally (through sub-division etc.)

All proposals involving the provision of publicly accessible areas of open space must include robust arrangements for the
management and future maintenance of that open space. The Council may take on and adopt areas of public open space within
developments, subject to bringing the scheme up to an appropriate standard and the payment of an appropriate fee.

The Council will adopt a flexible approach to the types of open space required within a particular scheme only where it can be
demonstrated:

= thatthere is excess provision available in the locality, or
= where opportunities exist to enhance existing local schemes, or
= thetownscape or other context of the development is such that the provision of open space is not desirable.

The Council will provide full details on the provision and maintenance of open space within Supplementary Planning Guidance.

North Norfolk

North Norfolk Green Infrastructure Background Paper 5 (2019)

This Gl Background Paper is a non-technical guide explaining the approach to Green Infrastructure and further guiding principles
to inform planning proposals and the site allocations in the emerging North Norfolk Local Plan 2016-2036. The following are the
interim overarching strategic objectives for the delivery of green infrastructure in North Norfolk.

= Green Infrastructure in North Norfolk will be a network of multi-functional green space, urban and rural, which is
capable of delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local communities.

=  The Green Infrastructure network will be protected and enhanced taking into account the unique characteristics of
North Norfolk.

=  Habitats will be created, connected and enhanced with particular focus on the sensitive and protected habitats.

241

I



Page 159 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

= Green Infrastructure provision will take into account visitor pressures and the recreational impact of visitors on
sensitive sites.

=  Development Proposals will deliver benefits to the Green Infrastructure network including the provision of new green
infrastructure.

= New green spaces and open spaces will be created as part of the network of green infrastructure taking into account
the principles of the Open Space Study.

= The Trail network, public rights of way and access routes will be protected and enhanced including the provision of new
routes and links, particularly in the west of the district, which is poorly served by access routes.

= Rights of way and access routes will be provided through attractive green corridors. Access routes will be available for
walkers and cyclists and those with mobility challenges.

This Background Paper provides a high level outline of green infrastructure and environmental considerations in North Norfolk.
The final published Green Infrastructure Strategy will provide the detail on the district wide approach — highlighting the district
wide corridors and how green infrastructure in the district can be enhanced and where new green infrastructure should be
provided.

A key part of the Background Paper is the initial focused work that has sought to identify green infrastructure opportunities in the
3 Major Growth Towns of Cromer, Fakenham and North Walsham, given the proposed growth in these locations.

Potential Project List
Cromer:

=  Coastal Path Access

=  Overstrand Cliffs SAC & SSSI

=  Happy Valley Area

=  Weavers Way Corridor

= |mprove connection to the coast path

=  Enhance east west access connections

=  Town wide biodiversity improvements

=  Green space enhancements
Fakenham:

=  River Wensum Ecological Corridor

=  Great Eastern Corridor

=  Town wide green infrastructure improvements
North Walsham

=  Weavers Way Corridor

=  Paston Way Corridor

= Witton Heath and Bacton Corridor

=  Canal Corridor

= Habitats (town wide)

= Access and green spaces (town wide)

242




Page 160 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Although these projects are potential, it is clear that further detailed assessment will be carried out to produce an Action Plan
and associated funding and implementation plan to enhance the Gl network and establish additional Gl corridors within the
North Norfolk area.

Open Space Standards

Public Park Provision

Overall there is adequate public park provision within the District, with an average of 19.7ha per 1,000 population. This does not
include the large areas of the District with public access, such as National Trust properties or National Nature Reserves, which
could easily add 5,000ha to the amount of accessible open space. This provision is not evenly distributed, however, and there
are many areas that are deficient in public park provision, especially access to small local parks.

If a proposed development is located in an area deficient in public park provision (in terms of quantity, quality, or accessibility) it
will be necessary for either additional land to be brought into public park use or for contributions towards the enhancement of
existing public park provision, such as the range of facilities and their condition.

The following park requirements were identified:

Settlement Park requirement (number) Park requirement (ha)
Cromer 1 3
Fakenham 2 6
Holt 1 3
North Walsham 2 6
Sheringham 2 6
Stalham 1 3
Wells next the Sea o 0
Core Strategy Policies

CT2 Developer Contributions

“On schemes of 10 or more dwellings and substantial commercial development where there is not sufficient capacity in
infrastructure, services, community facilities or open space improvements which are necessary to make that development
acceptable will be secured by planning conditions or obligations, and these must be phased so as to be in place in accordance
with an agreed timeframe or prior to the occupation of an agreed number of units.

Planning obligations may also be required for maintenance payments, to meet the initial running costs of services and facilities
and to compensate for loss or damage caused by development. The Council will work with developers to secure the necessary
improvements and determine the appropriate range and level of provision / contributions. A Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD) will provide further guidance on the detailed nature of any financial or other contributions.”

SS4 Environment

All development proposals will contribute to the delivery of sustainable development, ensure protection and enhancement of
natural and built environmental assets and geodiversity and be located and designed so as to reduce carbon emissions and
mitigate and adapt to future climate change.

243

4



Page 161 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Renewable energy proposals will be supported where impacts on amenity, wildlife and landscape are acceptable.
Opportunities to improve river water quality and minimise air, land and water pollution will be taken where possible.

Open spaces and areas of biodiversity interest will be protected from harm, and the restoration, enhancement, expansion and
linking of these areas to create green networks will be encouraged through a variety of measures such as:

= maximising opportunities for creation of new green infrastructure and networks in sites allocated for development;
= creating green networks to link urban areas to the countryside;

= the designation of Local Nature Reserves and County Wildlife Sites;

= appropriate management of valuable areas, such as County Wildlife Sites;

= minimising the fragmentation of habitats, creation of new habitats and connection of existing areas to create an
ecological network as identified in the North Norfolk ecological network report;

= progress towards Biodiversity Action Plan targets; and

=  conservation and enhancement of Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) in accordance with the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 18

New development will incorporate open space and high-quality landscaping to provide attractive, beneficial environments for
occupants and wildlife and contribute to a network of green spaces. Where there is no conflict with biodiversity interests, the
quiet enjoyment and use of the natural environment will be encouraged and all proposals should seek to increase public access
to the countryside.

The Built Environment and designated Public Realm areas will be conserved and enhanced through the protection of buildings
and structures which contribute to their surroundings, the encouragement of high-quality maintenance and repair and
enhancement of public spaces. Innovative and locally distinctive design will be encouraged in all new development.

The Council will minimise exposure of people and property to the risks of coastal erosion and flooding and will plan for a
sustainable shoreline in the long-term that balances the natural coastal processes with the environmental, social and economic
needs of the area. Sustainable Drainage Systems will be encouraged, to reduce flood risk, promote groundwater recharge and
improve water quality, enhance biodiversity and provide amenity benefit.

Open Space Review

The Council is currently undertaking an open space review and has commissioned a new Open Space Study to be produced. This
study is still in early draft form and the findings of the study will update the policies in regard to Public Park Provision and
policies regarding the provision of new open space. The draft findings of the emerging open space study are broadly consistent
with the current open space standards section in terms of Public Park provision and overarching policy aspirations

First Draft Local Plan (Part 1)

The Draft Local Plan provides the overarching strategic approach to development and how it should be delivered (through
suitable development policies). The Plan ensures that good quality, sustainable development takes place in suitable locations
which respects the landscape, environment and heritage of North Norfolk. The Local Plan sets out policies to conserve and
enhance the natural and historic environment, promote healthy communities and meet the challenges of climate change,
flooding and coastal change. As part of the comprehensive suite of environmental policies, the First Draft Local Plan also
contains a specific proposed policy on Green Infrastructure in order to safeguard, retain and enhance the network of green
infrastructure. The proposed policy is as follows:

Policy ENV 5 Green Infrastructure

244




Page 162 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

All development will fully incorporate green infrastructure principles into proposals, including the enhancements and
opportunities identified in the Green Infrastructure Background Paper, and will provide a detailed scheme for:

1. the provision and delivery of new green infrastructure, and;
2. the mitigation and enhancement of existing green infrastructure, and;
3. improving green infrastructure connectivity.

Where it can be clearly demonstrated that green infrastructure cannot be delivered on site then contributions will be required to
deliver enhancements and mitigation to existing green infrastructure close to the site.

This policy ensures that all new development incorporates Gl into its layout and design. This will help mitigate recreational
pressures on Habitats Sites and improve the wider GI network.

Other relevant policies include:

= Policy ENV 1: Norfolk Coast Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty & The Broads Authority: The purpose of this policy is to
ensure appropriate protection is given to the conservation and enhancement of the special qualities of the Norfolk
Coast Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and the Broads Authority.

= Policy ENV 2: Protection and Enhancement of Landscape & Settlement Character: The purpose of this policy is to
protect the distinctive landscape character, qualities and sensitivities of the area. It applies to all landscapes, not just
those which are subject to specific designations.

= Policy ENV 3: Heritage and Undeveloped Coast: The purpose of this policy is to protect the appearance and character of
the coast.

=  Policy ENV 4: Biodiversity & Geology: The purpose of this policy is to protect and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity.

= Policy ENV 6: Trees & Hedgerows: The purpose of this policy is to protect trees, hedgerows and other natural features
from harm, including loss and deterioration and to provide compensatory replacement provision where necessary

=  Policy ENV 7: Open Space & Local Green Spaces: The purpose of this policy is to protect, enhance and provide open
spaces of various types

= Policy ENV 8: Public Rights of Way & Access: The purpose of this policy is to protect, enhance and promote Public
Rights of Way and access and to ensure that the creation and maintenance of a continuous signed and managed route
around the English coast is not hindered

Great Yarmouth

Great Yarmouth Local Plan - Core Strategy (December 2015)

The overall vision for Great Yarmouth is:

“be a more attractive and aspirational place to live, work and play, with strong links to Lowestoft, the Broads, Norwich, rural
Norfolk and the wider New Anglia (Norfolk and Suffolk) Local Enterprise Partnership area.

The borough’s important natural and historic areas and buildings that help to create the distinctive identity of the Borough will
have been protected and enhanced, with Heritage Assets at Risk brought back into a beneficial state of use (as appropriate).
New Green Infrastructure will have enhanced the open space provision and network of green corridors linking settlements to the
Broads and the open countryside providing greater opportunities for healthy lifestyles.”

From this, it is clear that Green Infrastructure plays an important role in the strategy for the district. In terms of implementation,
the District has identified that the environment will be protected and enhanced by:

245

I



Page 163 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

=  Enhancing the quality of the borough's built environment through by improving the character of its townscapes and
promoting local distinctiveness

= Protecting and enhancing the Broads, the Norfolk Coast Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and other sites of national
and international importance and where appropriate, improving or managing access to these

= Positively managing the borough's biodiversity and geodiversity resources, protecting existing resources of high
biodiversity and/or geodiversity value, strengthening green infrastructure and promoting Core Strategy — Publication
(Regulation 19)

=  Manage the borough’s developed and undeveloped coastline in a sustainable way, taking into consideration the
impact on the natural environment and the need to reduce flood and erosion risks

=  (Conserving and enhancing heritage assets, promoting heritage led regeneration and where viable bringing heritage
assets at risk back into use

Policy CS15 of the Local Plan relates to providing and protecting community assets and green infrastructure. It reads as follows:

“Everyone should have access to services and opportunities that allow them to fulfil their potential and enjoy healthier, happier
lives. The effective planning and delivery of community and green infrastructure is central to achieving this aim; as such the
Council will:

a) Resist the loss of important community facilities and/or green assets unless appropriate alternative provision is made
of equivalent or better quality in a location accessible to current and potential users or a detailed assessment clearly
demonstrates there is no longer a need for the provision of the facility in the area

b)  Ensure that all new development is supported by and has good access to a range of community facilities. In some
circumstances developers will be required to provide and/or make a contribution towards the provision of community
facilities. The process for securing planning obligations is set out in Policy CS14

¢) Take a positive approach to the development of new and enhanced community facilities including the promotion of
mixed community uses in the same building, especially where this improves choice and reduces the need to travel

d) Work with our partners to deliver essential strategic community facilities; this include supporting projects such as the
continuing development of the James Paget University Hospital to meet current and future needs

e)  Promote healthy lifestyles by addressing any existing and future deficiencies in the provision, quality and access to
sports facilities, playing pitches, play spaces and open spaces throughout the borough

f)  Ensure that all new developments contribute to the provision of recreational green space and to incorporate
improvements to the quality of, and access to, existing green infrastructure in accordance with local circumstances

Safeguard the natural beauty, openness and recreational value of the borough’s beaches and coastal hinterland”

Great Yarmouth Borough Council Infrastructure Plan (IP) (2014)

The IP identifies the green infrastructure needed to support the borough’s growth ambitions set out in the emerging Local Plan
over the plan period (2014 - 2029). It includes details of enhancements to existing Gl provision, along with there long-term
management. Estimated costs, funding sources and delivery leads have been set out within the document with the aim to
progress the projects within the Local Plan period. For example, it states that “Beacon Park Extension Key Site will provide an
appropriate amount and mix of open space on site. Given its close proximity to key public parks such as the award winning St
Georges Park (Green Flag Status) the Great Yarmouth Waterfront Key Site is anticipated to focus more on providing small amenity
spaces on site, with contributions sought towards the enhancement of existing public parks where appropriate”.

246

I



Page 164 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

The Broads

Local Plan for The Broads (Adopted 2019)
Vision
The natural environment and the beneficial goods, services and cultural values it provides, from food and energy to landscape

character and recreation, are in good condition, are used fairly and sustainably, and are valued by society. In particular, the
precious nature of clean, fresh water as a fundamental resource is understood and respected by all.

The past and present importance of the waterways for navigation, biodiversity and recreation is recognised and cherished, and
the asset is protected, maintained and enhanced. Wildlife flourishes and habitats are maintained, restored, expanded and
linked effectively to other ecological networks. Land and water are managed in an integrated way, with local and landscape scale
management creating resilience and enabling flexible approaches to meet changing environmental, economic and social needs.

This living, working, ‘big skies’ landscape is notable for its natural beauty, distinctive local character and historic significance.
People of all ages, abilities and circumstances experience and enjoy it as a place of escape, adventure, enjoyment, work,
learning and tranquillity, and as a source of national pride and identity”.

Policy DM8: Green infrastructure

There is an expectation that new development proposals will enhance, and integrate with, the local green infrastructure network.
Development shall contribute to the delivery and management of green infrastructure that meets the needs of communities and
biodiversity, both within and beyond the proposal’s boundaries, including establishment of new and enhancement of existing

green infrastructure.

Through its layout and design, new development shall respond to the existing local green infrastructure network and help
connect areas of green infrastructure. Where it is considered that the development will have a detrimental effect on the quantity,
quality or function of existing green infrastructure, then the development will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated
that an assessment has been made and suitable mitigation measures proposed. Any mitigation measures should be of equal or
greater value than that which is to be compromised or lost through development.

Development that compromises the integrity of green infrastructure assets or the delivery of green infrastructure strategies,
and/or that conflicts with the findings of relevant studies of the Authority or its constituent districts and county councils without
suitable justification and mitigation, will not be permitted.

Green infrastructure proposals shall:
a) Protect and enhance existing natural and historic environments;
b) Strengthen connectivity and resilience of ecological networks;
c) Belocally distinctive through reflecting and enhancing landscape character;
d) Maximise opportunities to mitigate and adapt to climate change;

e) Improve quality of life through provision of benefits for health and wellbeing, including opportunities to access open
space and enjoyment of the Broads and its special qualities; and

f)  Ensure long-term beneficial maintenance and management of green infrastructure.
Other relevant policies include:
Policy DM7: Open space on land, play space, sports fields and allotments

Existing Provision (See open space map bundle and various Inset Maps)

247




Page 165 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Development that would result in the loss of existing sport, recreational, allotment or amenity open space as identified on the
policies maps and identified by the Authority’s constituent district councils in their evidence base will only be permitted if it can
be demonstrated (through a local assessment) that:

i There is an excess of recreational or amenity open space in the catchment area (in and out of the Broads) and the
proposed loss will not result in a current or likely shortfall during the plan period; or

ii. The proposal is for ancillary development on an appropriate portion of the open space which enhances the recreational
facilities and their setting; or

iii. The open space which would be lost as a result of the proposed development would be replaced prior to the
commencement of the development by an open space of equivalent or better quality and equivalent or greater
quantity, in an equally accessible and convenient location subject to equivalent or better management arrangements
which continue to meet the needs of the existing community; and

iv. The proposal would not cause significant harm to the amenity or biodiversity value of the open space
New Provision

The Broads Authority will have regard to the approach and/or standards set by the relevant constituent district council. Any
contribution will need to be towards a specific deliverable scheme, in consultation with the relevant parish or district council and
having regard to the developer contributions policy in this document. The contribution will be required to name a specific
scheme (site and type of provision). Open space provision may also be required to reduce recreation pressure on sensitive
designated wildlife sites.

South Norfolk (Greater Norwich)

South Norfolk Local Plan Development Management Policies Document (LPDMPD) (2015)

As well as the Policies, Projects and Strategies promoted through the Greater Norwich Joint Core Strategy. South Norfolk also
currently has an adopted LPDMPD. Within this document, those policies that refer to Gl include Policy DM 1.4 and Policy DM 4.4.
These policies are as follows:

Policy DM 1.4 Environmental quality and local distinctiveness

a) The Council will work with developers to promote and achieve high quality and positive environmental improvement
from all development. All development proposals must demonstrate an understanding and evaluation of the important
environmental assets including locally distinctive characteristics, and justify the design approach.

b) Designated assets will be protected in accordance with their natural and historic significance, as detailed in the
Development Management Policies.

¢) Anetenvironmental improvement will always be sought and all proposals should avoid environmental harm or where
this is not possible, adequately mitigate and compensate for the adverse environmental effects of development.

d) Alldevelopment should take all reasonable opportunities to:
i.  Make a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness;
ii.  Enhance biodiversity to achieve a net gain for nature;

iii.  Toimprove the resilience of ecosystems to environmental change including through the provision
of improvements to enhance identified environmental sites; stepping stones and corridors;

iv.  Protect environmental and water resources and enhance their efficient use;

248

I



Page 166 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

v.  Deliver the provision of essential infrastructure including water and wastewater network upgrades,
waste facilities’, flood defences and green infrastructure;

vi.  Enhance, re-use and better reveal the significance of heritage assets;

vii.  Re-use buildings rather than demolish, recycle building materials and select materials to maximise
environmental sustainability and minimise impact on scarce resources and environment;

viii.  Generate and utilise renewable energy in appropriate ways; and

ix.  Work with the characteristics of the location to ensure that the necessary mitigation measures are
not disproportionate to the benefits of the scale of development proposed.

Policy DM 4.4 Natural environmental assets - designated and locally important open space

a) The highest status natural environmental assets are identified on the Policies Map and in supporting evidence, and will
be protected from any significant harmful impact arising from new development. New development impacting on these
designated sites will be required to contribute positive improvement of these natural environmental assets where
opportunities arise. International, National and County-wide level sites will be accorded the highest levels of priority.

b) Atthe Important Local Open Spaces identified in paragraphs 4.32 — 4.44 and on Maps 4.4 (1) — (6) and on the Proposal
Map, development will only be permitted where it retains the open character and appearance of the site, where it
respects the contribution which the identified open site or open frontage makes to the form and character of the
Settlement and where there is no significant adverse impact on the setting of any existing building. New development
impacting on these designated sites will be required to contribute positive improvement of these natural
environmental assets where opportunities arise.

c) Developers will need to work with partners to evolve strategies to enable individual new development sites to
contribute most effectively to the opportunities for the establishment and positive improvement of coherent ecological
networks, Biodiversity Enhancement Areas and multi-functional Green Infrastructure Networks.

Long Stratton Area Action Plan (AAP) (2016)

On a local level, implementation of the policies stated above will be supported by consideration of more detailed local green
infrastructure strategies such as those created for Long Stratton and Wymondham within their AAP’s. Both these towns sit along
a County-wide Strategic Green Infrastructure corridor, therefore the provision of high quality Gl within future development is
important.

The Long Stratton AAP provides an Indicative Green Infrastructure Plan that identifies the green infrastructure necessary to
deliver the requirements of the AAP. The area includes a network of public access routes and existing common land, linking
across to the long distance Norfolk Trails. The document states that “Development will be instrumental in integrating locally
characteristic greens, hedgerows, woodlands and ponds in to development east and west of Long Stratton.” In turn, the AAP also
incorporates Gl within its local policies. Such as:

Policy LNGS1 Land East, South-East And North-West Of Long Stratton
Open Space and Green Infrastructure

=  Provision of open space, including children’s playspace and older children/adult open sufficient to meet the needs of
residents of the development;

= Links between the village and the countryside to the east of the bypass corridor will be enhanced for the benefit of
public access and to contribute to green infrastructure;

= Provision of a significant buffer to the Long Stratton Waste Water Recycling Centre to be utilised for green
infrastructure.

Policy LNGS5 General Green Infrastructure Requirements For New Developments Within Long Stratton AAP Area

I

249



Page 167 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

New development in Long Stratton will be required to maintain, protect and enhance green infrastructure, and developers will be
expected to contribute towards green infrastructure requirements. New developments will be required to enable and where
appropriate provide:

= safe public access to the countryside and between Long Stratton and surrounding villages; e retention of habitat
features and creation of new habitats;

= functional ecological connections between Priority (Section 41) species and habitats8 and designated sites in the
vicinity of Long Stratton;

= anenhanced landscape setting for Long Stratton which reflects distinctive local landscape character, including in
particular the landscape character and qualities of the existing historic commons;

=  improved recreational provision to alleviate visitor pressure on sensitive areas.
= sensitively designed mitigation of any barriers to this green infrastructure provision; and

= protection of the best and most versatile agricultural land (Grades 1, 2 and 3a) All new developments should deliver a
net biodiversity gain and any planning proposals should be accompanied by detailed ecological assessment, where
appropriate. The cumulative impact of developments on biodiversity assets should be taken into account as part of the
planning application process.

Local Policies such as these are integral to development management and ensuring we provide high quality green infrastructure
for new communities, as well as enhance the wider network.

Indicative Gl Plan

(overleaf)

250




Page 168 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Long Stratton Area Action Plan
Indicative Green Infrastructure Plan

b S
f ft‘..o'
L]

LA RS

&,

b 3\ /
| KEY  South Norfolk

[T7] mrtestory of e L v Srsttes dvws Actin P
@ @ "oy 2nm rwanes Gy
(18 P G e | v itm Wioh o

\ Q0  Nbryn A O inframdiahse Gy
(1ers B COT Cvmmn | atriatiom Wish

es Nwghtoutood Gree infrmtnactioe Conle

wews PRt ey
) e G
s o0 Wy Ly O s Tre
e Tan Vel Lirg Oismnon Wek
5] o v
3 cowmiwn X L
B cony warn s \ DRSNS | Ny | Tt
UL Mgl e of New Cormeen = .
=0 Ngowint Crmen g Pt
BTIIC g pwin Nt Tinrwd
Aot Wil
BNNN] S of By St A 0G irtere o

3 " an ¥ l=l L ¥ ."

us May 3018 S AT 0

= e ez PTTTTE

wes

n-.'...;-'

>
=

_é\

W Crown oo LI T ~

Source: Long Stratton Area Action Plan (2016)

251




Page 169 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Wymondham AAP (2016)

Similarly to Long Stratton, the Wymondham AAP provides an Indicative Green Infrastructure Plan that identifies the green
infrastructure necessary to deliver the requirements of the AAP. Elsewhere in the AAP document, some allocations for
development have specific policies which will address green infrastructure issues particular to those sites. The policies are
aspirational in nature and the ability and necessity to deliver the projects listed will depend on the particular location and nature
of the development, although the Council will seek new or enhanced green infrastructure through new development where
appropriate (e.g. through on-site works secured through S106 agreements).

Policy WYM 8 General Green Infrastructure Requirements For New Developments Within Wymondham AAP Area

New development in Wymondham will be required to maintain, protect and enhance green infrastructure, and developers will be
expected to contribute towards green infrastructure requirements through s106 contributions and/or CIL as appropriate. Where
appropriate new developments will be required to provide ecological links to the nearest green infrastructure and provide
effective ecological buffers, the design of which to be negotiated with South Norfolk Council and other relevant bodies to ensure
adequate protection of important ecological sites and maintenance of habitat connectivity.

In particular it will be important for new development to consider the following (where relevant):
1. Improved habitat connectivity
2. Improved public access to the countryside
3. Improved recreational provision to alleviate visitor pressure on sensitive areas

4. Improve the quality of local County Wildlife Sites All new developments should aspire to net biodiversity gain and
planning proposals should be accompanied by detailed ecological assessment where appropriate. The cumulative
impact of developments on biodiversity assets should be considered.

(map overleaf)

252




Page 170

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Wymondham Area Action Plan,

—
South Norfolk

y

oA,

‘ﬂ = 22 PE— ~
WE__ el el T -
- \ M. - @ ..r‘\ %3
) ‘ .‘ el
=2 =34 o ® : 3
.. : §
| |13
|
- ] -
- el e
Coes t1e e
- eee @ v it
M -
> Bl
= "=
,
s o
. ¥
v
“«
= e
N
y 7" P 4
1/ / r ’
Rl e e
- ., '..1
4 % v 4
w' A ¥ > = . ;
.- e : - .‘-. ) ] -

b/l (o] 4 % . , X
ele® e . > P : S
oY  HELP , ' A |

P S5 - > - (] =
. .. == ) 3 (3] -::-’ J
' Pl “f, : . ‘:
- . AONIMAN F 34 Ry o
1Y £ e 7
: o ¥ N A
/! 1 g S o B 55 &
J N §= 5 N (5) = . v 4
e ! =2 - ) Bt .
a S o 3 | 4 o
o e P ' - :
| / N x
1 - 3 | =
» -
1 4 - | R 5 3
) - — - -
: i A ; . «-—,". =
= 4 : S
— = - \ j’:_,_« f ™= . *
Y | O e N
y - : A o ” 4 AMes - ,
S - o -
. Ao % ® ]
- > ¥ by S5 :. .’
- S S »
-_ - '.
> —=
P e @ e e
N..'.UIIWM- - Moy Lae Nt -v..-n.wmm. ] W ey — e gy
3 ovwwms sondeny Bl oo o Ancanr N r— (333 Cony waers em — Bt
— R N
Mt P ava and Gaten e
[ norsen oty v M o e ) oo oot N Canty B
] sencame KR cov e aaane [ st iy [ ] © "moe
Lt o petec (WY )
- e R— -c.. — QD reave sy ©0 ...~w°:- :a *
Cormwmtment e
[ commrmton arm ety O 1 D 00 e e by
Q Py OM 4 T Hazwdan sl gon 000 Neyto st G S 53 RS
mcw oy Conmtston Doe e o et ratratee Cowe e
R et B MRt PR T B e Wamen Sy Awee W TR

Source: Wymondham Area Action Plan (2016)

253

e



Page 171 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Development Management Policies Local Plan (DM policies plan)

Within this document, there are policies that refer to Gl, such as Policy DM6: Natural Environmental Assets. This policy is as

follows:

“Development will be expected to take all reasonable opportunities to avoid harm to and protect and enhance the natural
environment of Norwich and its setting, including both sites and species, taking particular account of the need to avoid harm to
the adjoining Broads Authority area and other identified areas of natural environmental value immediately adjoining the City.
Appropriate proposals which deliver significant benefits or enhancements to local biodiversity or geodiversity will be strongly
supported and encouraged. Opportunities should be taken to incorporate and integrate biodiversity, green infrastructure and
wildlife friendly features in the design of individual schemes.

Where, in exceptional circumstances, development is accepted which is likely to result in substantial and unavoidable harm to
or loss of priority habitats and species populations identified through local biodiversity action plans, developers will be required
to provide for the re-creation and recovery of such populations through biodiversity offsetting.

Nationally protected sites of special scientific interest (SSSI)

Development having a significant adverse impact on SS5Is not subject to an international designation will only be permitted in
exceptional circumstances where the benefits of the development clearly and substantially outweigh the impacts that it is likely
to have. Such proposals must be accompanied by an environmental statement, showing clearly how the development would
mitigate any effects on the features of the site that make it of special scientific interest and any broader impacts on the national
network of SSSIs.

Regional and local sites

Development affecting sites of regional and local importance for nature conservation, biodiversity, geodiversity or geological
interest will only be permitted where it would not result in significant and demonstrable harm to the particular interest and value
of the site, taking account of:

The effectiveness of any proposals to mitigate the environmental impact of the development, any overriding benefits arising from
that development in achieving the wider objectives of the JCS and any opportunities for local enhancements to biodiversity,
geodiversity or green infrastructure associated with the proposal.

The sites to which this part of the policy applies include local nature reserves, County Wildlife Sites, County Geodiversity Sites,
Roadside Nature Reserves (RNRs), and significant areas of woodland identified on the Policies map which are not covered by the
above designations. Where development results in some impact the proposal must be accompanied an assessment of that
impact and specify the appropriate mitigating measures that will be undertaken.

Yare Valley character area

Within the Yare Valley character area, as defined on the Policies map, development will only be permitted where it would not
damage the environmental quality, biodiversity or character of the area and where it is for:

a) agriculture or forestry purposes; or
b) facilities ancillary to outdoor sport and recreation or other uses appropriate to the purpose of this policy; or
¢) the limited extension of or alteration to existing buildings.”

The Yare Valley provides a green corridor to the south of Norwich, separating the city from suburbs and employment areas in
South Norfolk and providing a green urban edge. However, there are parts of the Yare Valley which are not covered by any
national or local landscape designation and some areas which are partially developed. The Yare Valley character area has

254

I



Page 172 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

therefore been defined in recognition of the vulnerability of certain parts of the valley to potentially unsympathetic development
which could otherwise compromise the character of this important natural environmental resource.

The Greater Norwich Green infrastructure delivery plan (GIDP) identifies five green infrastructure priority areas, two of which
extend into Norwich. These are ‘Norwich to the Broads’ and ‘Water City’ (the rivers Yare and Wensum). Green Infrastructure refers
to networks of protected sites, nature reserves, green spaces, waterways and green linkages. The approach to green
infrastructure is set out within three policies within this plan. Policy DM3 addresses the issue of the safeguarding and
enhancement of green infrastructure within development proposals, DM6 considers those elements of the green infrastructure
priority network which are also natural environmental assets and DM8 deals with the recreational and amenity considerations for
open space, including allotments.

The green infrastructure priority areas are safeguarded for the most part either through national protection (Sites of Special
Scientific Interest), through regional and local landscape designations of various types and through established policy
protection of other areas of community open space which have recreational or amenity value. These green areas are indicated
collectively on the Policies map and may overlap.

The River Wensum Strategy (2018)

The River Wensum Strategy is a long-term strategy aimed at enabling change and regeneration in the river corridor by improving
public access, providing high quality public realm and, enhancing the city’s environmental, cultural and historic offerin a
manner that contributes to Norwich’s regeneration. The strategy covers the river corridor from the city council boundary at
Hellesdon to the west, through to Whitlingham Country Park in the east. It was established by the River Wensum Strategy
Partnership (RWSP), which is led by Norwich City Council, alongside the Broads Authority, Norfolk County Council, the
Environmental Agency and the Wensum River Parkway Partnership.

The vision is to: ‘Breathe new life into the river by enhancing it for the benefit of all and increasing access to, and greater use of,
this important asset. An enhanced river corridor, with its unique natural and historic environment, will once again play an
important part in the growth and vitality of the city, strengthening the visitor economy and helping to give the city a competitive
advantage in attracting inward investment’,

The objectives are for delivering the vision are:

=  improving the management of the river corridor and its surroundings for the benefit of the city, residents of the wider
Norwich area, and visitors;

=  increasing access to, and use of, the area by all, including enhanced connectivity with the Norfolk Trails network;
=  enhancing the natural environment, including water quality, biodiversity and green infrastructure;

= enhancing the city’s environmental, cultural and historic offer in a manner which maximises the attractiveness of the
area as a location to do business;

= enhancing the historic environment, ensuring its long-term conservation where practicable, and making the most of the
unique and significant heritage assets within the river corridor;

= addressing social deprivation and inequalities;

= maximising the efficiency of public expenditure in the river corridor, where possible reducing the pressure on stretched
public sector budgets; and

= identifying and exploiting external funding opportunities including private sector investment.

255




Page 173 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

APPENDIX 3

A3(1) Deficiencies/gaps in Gl provision & enhancement opportunities identified
at Workshops

Strategic Other comments

opportunities to
create new Gl

Potential
constraintsto

Deficiencies

/gapsin Green

Infrastructure

Key Principles and
Themes
protection
/enhancement of

provision and provision based on

the resource

predicted housing

areas in need of

Norwich
City
Council
(NCO

Forestry
England

= Relationship to
biodiversity net gain

= SANGs localised
strategically to serve
housing growth

Connectivity

Accessibility - Public
Transport, sustainable
travel, close to home

Long-term
management in place -
well-designed

Attractive
environments -
subjective nature -
AONB? Personal
opinion?

= Education and
understanding of what
we already have and
how to sustain it -
financially and
environmentally

Health and wellbeing
(mental and physical)

= Linked to enabling
access, fitness and
contact with nature
Long term

enhancement

N/A Long term
management

User expectations -
facilitates types of
users e.g. Dogs vs

children

= |dentifying the = Saturation levels

hot spot in terms of users
locations of demands on
populations Green Space.

d potential
and potentia = Lack of provision
growth rather .

of planning for
than corridors? .
increased use

Finer detail
iner .etar: and the
Mapping ads implications on
i t
incorporate land
elements of
management and
this.

sustainability.

= Financing for
enhancement
/development

256

I

growth

Bawburgh Pits on N/A
the boundary of the

city within the Yare

Valley.

= Provision of
accessibility
in/around hot
spots of housing
to countryside.

= The proximal
argument to
green space.

= There also needs
tobe a
commercial
viewpoint on the
creation of Gl
spaces -
sustainability
education
Investment
opportunities in
existing sites



Page 174

Norwich
Fringe
Project

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Key Principles and

Themes

management linked to

sustainability

Missing adaptation
versus mitigation
option

Biodiversity

= Community

involvement - friend
groups and their role

Connections places -
wild life corridors

Cycle and pathways

Sustainability of how
sites are managed

The role of volunteers

Revenue source -
charging for car parks

Business plan or
model - need to bring
in an income for the
site/Gl

Deficiencies

/gapsin Green

Infrastructure

provision and

areas in need of
enhancement

= Cycleand
paths linking
villages, towns
and cities
together

= Country parks
in key locations

= Smaller green
spaces/natural
areas on the
door step of
where people
live/
developments
are

= Protection
habitats,
creating and
developing
new habitats

= Biodiversity

= New
woodlands,
wild flower
meadows

= Wet
woodlands,
heathland sites

257

Potential
constraints to
protection
/enhancement of
the resource

= Funding -
resources not
there to manage
existing Gl,
natural areas,
countryside sites

= How is the new
Gl funded,
managed and
maintained
(maintenance
costs)?

= Damaging
existing
biodiversity

= Educating people
using the G,
issues around
anti-social
behaviour,
rubbish, dogs
damaging river
banks and
wildlife.

= Conflict between
user groups -
how sites are
managed, using
grazing stock
manage sites

Strategic
opportunities to
create new Gl
provision based on
predicted housing
growth

Cingleford area -
Lots of housing in
this are

Other comments

One of the big
issues is that the
Greater Norwich
Local Authorities
are all applying for
the same CIL
funding.

One organisation
set up to manage
all the G, for
example Milton
Keynes,
Peterborough and
Northampton
pocket parks and
Parks Trust. Look at
these types of
models for
managing all the
sites.

Need to be realistic
about how projects
are funded and
where the revenue
comes from to
continue to manage
and maintain the

Gl/natural areas



Page 175

Key Principles and
Themes

Great N/A
Yarmouth
Borough

Council

Norfolk N/A
County
Council

Deficiencies

/gapsin Green

Infrastructure

provision and

areas in need of
enhancement

N/A

= |n Norwich (see
River W---
strategy for
more details on
CC website)

= Key missing
linkin
Riverside Walk
between Duke
Street and St
Georges Street
bridges (City
Centre)

= Need for new
bridge
pedestrian
cycle link to
connect city
centre to
Whithingham
country park

= |Improved
connectivity
needed
upstream of
new Mills
including
completion of
same missing
links of
Riverside walk
and the better
links to
Marriots Way

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Potential
constraints to
protection
/enhancement of
the resource

= Winterton -
Horsey Dunes
SAC - Significant
existing
recreational
pressure

= Lack of feasibility
funding to
properly develop
projects
Lack of funding
for ongoing
maintenance.

= This means that
many
strategically
important
projects don’t get
off the ground
and may affect
delivery of the
future Gl strategy

258

Strategic Other comments

opportunities to
create new Gl
provision based on
predicted housing

growth
N/A N/A
Burlingham N/A

Gl corridors west of

Norwich



Page 176 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Key Principles and Deficiencies Potential Strategic Other comments
Themes /gapsin Green constraintsto opportunities to
Infrastructure protection create new Gl
provision and /enhancement of provision based on
areas in need of | the resource predicted housing
enhancement growth
South N/A N/A N/A N/A A lot of thought
Norfolk needs to be given

to the future
funding of this GI.
Revenue funding is

always an issue.
District councils are
increasingly not
taking on assets —
responsibility

Is it worth
considering a trust
where all money is
placed, and an
investment
portfolio is created
to generate income
going forward?
Worth looking at
how Milton Keynes
manages its open

spaces.
NFU = Vision: bring out N/A N/A Link into What conceptually
understanding/learnin opportunities is a Green Corridor?
g - whatis an attractive within the new Seems spatially
environment? ELMS need to think in
(Environmental terms of population

= Principles/themes -

Link between food Land Management  hotspots that

h .
T Scheme) to radiate out globally
- . consider land (circle) or
biodiversity/landscape
margin corridors directionally
= Climate change - and access - (spokes)
adaption and providing access to
mitigation proximal unlimited
= Longterm countryside as
management link to opposed to ANGST
criteria

sustainability

259

I



Page 177

Key Principles and
Themes

NNDC = A network of well-
designed, well-
maintained multi-
functional green
space, urban and rural,
which is capable of
delivering a wide-range
of environmental and
quality of life benefits
for local communities.

= Provide biodiversity
net gain for the wider
landscape.

= Off-setting impacts on
designated European
sites

= Connects communities
to high quality natural
environment
Net gain on wider
landscape scale.

= Seealsovision
expressed in the NNDC
Gl position statement.
Nos on the NNDC
website.

= Connectivity with
nature, between areas
and between LPAs

= Provision of high-
quality well-
maintained Gl

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Deficiencies Potential

/gapsin Green

Infrastructure

constraintsto
protection
/enhancement of

provision and

areas in need of the resource

enhancement

Need new country  N/A
park South West

of N. Walsham to

make provision

forthe new

growth

Strategic Other comments

opportunities to
create new Gl
provision based on
predicted housing
growth

North of Fakenham  N/A
- need links across

main road and/or

link to east

Pensthorpe

In addition to the above, the Steering Group were also informed that there could also be scope for
improvements to the quality of the Country Park at the Sandringham Estate to be included within the Gl
network or as a strategic SANGS if required. Discussions are at an early stage and not included in this
Strategy as there is no certainty that anything would be forthcoming at the time of writing.

260

I



Page 178

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

APPENDIX 4

A4(2)

Site Quality Checklist — for a suite of SANGS

This guidance is designed as an Appendix to the full guidance on Suitable Accessible Natural
Greenspaces (SANGS) to be used as mitigation (or avoidance) land to reduce recreational use of the
Habitats Sites.

The wording in the list below is precise and has the following meaning:

Requirements referred to as “must” are essential in all SANGS

Those requirements referred to as “should haves” should all be represented within the suite
of SANGS, but do not all have to be represented in every site.

All SANGS should have at least one of the “desirable” features.

For all sites larger than 4ha there must be adequate parking for visitors, unless the site is intended for local use, i.e.
within easy walking distance (400m) of the developments linked to it. The amount of car parking space should be
determined by the anticipated use of the site and reflect the visitor catchment of both the SANGS and the SPA.

It should be possible to complete a circular walk of 2.7km around the SANGS.
Car parks must be easily and safely accessible by car and should be clearly sign posted.

The accessibility of the site must include access points appropriate for the particular visitor use the SANGS is
intended to cater for.

The SANGS must have a safe route of access on foot from the nearest car park and/or footpath/s
All SANGS with car parks must have a circular walk which starts and finishes at the car park.

SANGS must be designed so that they are perceived to be safe by users; they must not have tree and scrub cover
along parts of the walking routes

Paths must be easily used and well maintained but most should remain unsurfaced to avoid the site becoming too
urban in feel.

SANGS must be perceived as semi-natural spaces with little intrusion of artificial structures, except in the
immediate vicinity of car parks. Visually-sensitive way-markers and some benches are acceptable.

All SANGS larger than 12 ha must aim to provide a variety of habitats for users to experience.

Access within the SANGS must be largely unrestricted with plenty of space provided where it is possible for dogs to
exercise freely and safely off lead.

SANGS must be free from unpleasant intrusions (e.g. sewage treatment works smells etc

Should haves

SANGS should be clearly sign-posted or advertised in some way.

SANGS should have leaflets and/or websites advertising their location to potential users. It would be desirable for
leaflets to be distributed to new homes in the area and be made available at entrance points and car parks.

Desirable

261

I



Page 179 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

= |twould be desirable for an owner to be able to take dogs from the car park to the SANGS safely off the lead.
= Where possible it is desirable to choose sites with a gently undulating topography for SANGS

= |tis desirable for access points to have signage outlining the layout of the SANGS and the routes available to
visitors.

= |tis desirable that SANGS provide a naturalistic space with areas of open (non-wooded) countryside and areas of
dense and scattered trees and shrubs. The provision of open water on part, but not the majority of sites is
desirable.

= Where possible it is desirable to have a focal point such as a view point, monument etc. within the SANGS.

A4(2) Site Quality Checklist - for an individual SANGS

The wording in the list below is precise and has the following meaning:
e Requirements referred to as “must” or “should haves” are essential

e The SANGS should have at least one of the “desirable” features.

Must / Should haves

=  Forall sites larger than 4ha there must be adequate parking for visitors, unless the site is intended for local use, i.e.
within easy walking distance (400m) of the developments linked to it. The amount of car parking space should be
determined by the anticipated use of the site and reflect the visitor catchment of both the SANGS and the SPA.

= Itshould be possible to complete a circular walk of 2.7km around the SANGS.
= (Carparks must be easily and safely accessible by car and should be clearly sign posted.

= The accessibility of the site must include access points appropriate for the particular visitor use the SANGS is
intended to cater for.

= The SANGS must have a safe route of access on foot from the nearest car park and/or footpath/s.
= All SANGS with car parks must have a circular walk which starts and finishes at the car park.

=  SANGS must be designed so that they are perceived to be safe by users; they must not have tree and scrub covering
parts of the walking routes.

= Paths must be easily used and well maintained but most should remain unsurfaced to avoid the site becoming too
urban in feel.

= SANGS must be perceived as semi-natural spaces with little intrusion of artificial structures, except in the
immediate vicinity of car parks. Visually-sensitive way-markers and some benches are acceptable.

= All SANGS larger than 12 ha must aim to provide a variety of habitats for users to experience.

= Access within the SANGS must be largely unrestricted with plenty of space provided where it is possible for dogs to
exercise freely and safely off lead.

= SANGS must be free from unpleasant intrusions (e.g. sewage treatment works smells etc).
= SANGS should be clearly sign-posted or advertised in some way.

= SANGS should have leaflets and/or websites advertising their location to potential users. It would be desirable for
leaflets to be distributed to new homes in the area and be made available at entrance points and car parks.

262

I



Page 180 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Desirable

= |twould be desirable for an owner to be able to take dogs from the car park to the SANGS safely off the lead.
= Where possible it is desirable to choose sites with a gently undulating topography for SANGS

= |tis desirable for access points to have signage outlining the layout of the SANGS and the routes available to
visitors.

= |tis desirable that SANGS provide a naturalistic space with areas of open (non-wooded) countryside and areas of
dense and scattered trees and shrubs. The provision of open water on part, but not the majority of sites is
desirable.

= Where possible it is desirable to have a focal point such as a view point, monument etc. within the SANGS.

A4(3) SANGS Information Form

This form is designed to help you gather information about any potential SANGS.

Natural England, Local Planning Authorities, and other organisations will then be able to consider the
potential suitability of the proposed SANGS based on this initial information.

A4(3.1) Background information

Name and location of proposed SANGS Name:
Address:
Grid reference:
(Please attach a map of the site with the boundaries clearly
marked)

Size of the proposed SANGS (hectares), excluding water <INSERT>

features

Any current designations on land - e.g. LNR / SNCI <INSERT>

Current owners name and address. (If there is more than one <INSERT>
owner then please attach a map)

Who manages the land? <INSERT»
Legal arrangements for the land — e.g. how long is the lease? <INSERT»

Is there a management plan for the site? (if so, please attach) ~ <INSERT

A4(3.2) Current visitor arrangements

Is the site currently accessible to the public? <INSERT>

263




Page 181 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Does the site have open access? <INSERT»

Has there been a visitor survey of the site? (If so, please <INSERT>

attach)

If there has been no visitor survey, please give an indication High / Medium / Low

of the current visitor levels on site

Does the site have existing car parking? Yes / No
How many car parks?
How may car parking spaces?
(Please mark car parks and numbers of car parking spaces
on the site map)
Are there any existing routes or paths on the site? Yes / No
(Please mark these on the map)

Are there signs to direct people to the site? (Please indicate <INSERT>
where and what type of sign)

A4(3.3) Site quality checklist

This checklist is intended to help identify what is already present on the site and what needs to be
developed for the SANGS to be suitable.

Must/should haves - these criteria are essential for all SANGS

P

1 Parking on all sites larger than 4ha (unless the site is intended for use <INSERT» <INSERT>

within 400m only)

2 Circular walk of 2.7km <INSERT» <INSERT>
3 Car parks easily and safely accessible by car and clearly sign posted <INSERT» <INSERT>
4 Access points appropriate for particular visitor use the SANGS is <INSERT> <INSERT>

intended to cater for

5 Safe access route on foot from nearest car park and/or footpath <INSERT> <INSERT>

6 Circular walk which starts and finishes at the car park <INSERT> <INSERT>

7 Perceived as safe — no tree and scrub cover along part of walking routes <INSERT» <INSERT>

8 Paths easily used and well maintained but mostly unsurfaced <INSERT> <INSERT>

9 Perceived as semi-natural with little intrusion of artificial structures <INSERT> <INSERT>
264

I



Page 182 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

10 If larger than 12 ha, then a range of habitats should be present <INSERT> <INSERT>

11 Access unrestricted — plenty of space for dogs to exercise freely and <INSERT» <INSERT>
safely off the lead

12 No unpleasant intrusions (e.g. sewage treatment smells etc.) <INSERT> <INSERT>
13 Clearly sign posted or advertised in some way <INSERT» <INSERT>
14 Leaflets or website advertising their location to potential users <INSERT» <INSERT>

(distributed to homes and made available at entrance points and car
parks)

Desirable features

T

Can dog owners take dogs from the car park to the SANGS safely off the <INSERT> <INSERT>
lead
16 Gently undulating topography <INSERT> <INSERT»
17 Access points with signage outlining the layout of the SANGS and routes ~ <INSERT» <INSERT>

available to visitors

18 Naturalistic space with areas of open (non-wooded) countryside and <INSERT> <INSERT>
areas of dense and scattered trees and shrubs. Provision of open water
is desirable

19 Focal point such as a view point or monument within the SANGS <INSERT» <INSERT»

265




Page 183 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

APPENDIX 5

As(1) Workshop Attendees

As(1.1) RAMS Workshop 1 - attendees

I ™

Ann Sommazzi, Ben Burgess

Alan Gomm

Natalie Beal, Adrian Clarke, Erica Murray
lain Withington

Kerys Witton, Martha Moore

Martin Horlock

Simon Majoram

Philip Pearson

Neal Armour-Chelu

Estelle Hook

Louise Oliver, Victoria Wight, Jesse Timberland, Thomas Bolderstone, John
Jackson

Sam Lew

Trevor Wiggett, Judith Davison

As(1.2) Gl Workshop 1 - attendees

Broadland DC

Borough of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk

Broads Authority

North Norfolk DC

North Norfolk DC

Norwich CC

South Norfolk C

RSPB

Forestry England

Norfolk Coast AONB

Natural England

The Wash and North Norfolk

Norwich City Council

[

Ann Sommazzi, Paul Harris, John Walchester
Alan Gomm

Nick Fountain

Natalie Beal, Adrian Clarke

lain Withington, Kerys Witton, Cathy Batchelar, Martha Moore

266

Broadland DC

BC of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk
Great Yarmouth BC

Broads Authority

North Norfolk DC

I



Page 184

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Helen Sibley, Robin Taylor

Judith Davison, Matthew Davies, Trevor Wiggett, Eleanor Larke

Martin Horlock

Philip Pearson

Victoria Wight, John Jackson

Rob Wise
Estelle Hook

Matthew Jeffery

As5(1.3)

Gl & RAMS Workshop 2 - attendees

South Norfolk DC

Norwich City Council

Norfolk CC

RSPB

Natural England

National Farmers Union

Norfolk Coast AONB

Forestry England

I ™ S

Alan Gomm

Andrew Parnell

Ben Burgess, Paul Harris

Cathy Batchelar, lain Withington, Kerys Witton, Tim Mellors

Estelle Hook

Georgie Sutton

Helen Sibley

Louise Oliver

Martin Horlock

Matthew Davies

Matthew Jeffery

Mike Auger

Mike Edwards

Mike Jones

Natalie Beal

Philip Pearson

267

BC of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk
Great Yarmouth Borough Council
Broadland District Council

North Norfolk District Council
Norfolk Coast AONB Partnership
Marine Management

South Norfolk Council

Natural England

Norfolk County Council

Norwich Fringe Countryside Management Project
Forestry England

Norfolk County Council

Norfolk FWAG

Norfolk Wildlife Trust

Broads Authority

RSPB

I



Page 185 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

I ™

Tony Howes Broads Hire Boat Federation

Trevor Wiggett Norwich City Council

As(2) RAMS Workshop Annotated Maps

The following maps should be read in conjunction with the various Gl Strategy documents for each LPA
as these remain the primary source of detailed information on Gl Projects.

Great Yarmouth North Denes & Winterton-Horsey Dunes ENDURE Inter-Reg 2 Seas
project looking at visitor

management of sand dune

Eccles little tern colony sites (Horsey/Winterton)

- Functionally linked to
GYND SPA

- Some pressures from
beach users

- looking at information
provision and physical
measures to direct visitors

- walking with all

Dogs and walkers stakeholders/land owners

etc.

Recreational
disturbance impacts

- Impacts to breeding
little terns on beaches
at Winterton

- Impacts on the dunes
and dune heaths from
disturbance to ground
nesting birds and
herptiles

Disturbance - walkers, dog
walkers, kites, drones,
aircraft (occasionally),
horse riders

Management

- Signage (focus on dog
walkers)

- Trampling, dog - fencing

walking and dog fouling - Interpretation point

- Dogs off leads - Wardens and volunteers

- Dogs breakfast event

- attend events to spread

message
Great Yarmouth North

!) ;:::;1 has suggested N°m_’lk t.rails:

larger NK colonies -Pg;llvermg England Coast

- Terns returnin ) L
. 8 - Signage and visitor info
- Disturbance - walkers,

- People counters at

dog walkers, lots of 1 X .
» Legend

visitors during peak (7 rewsar various locations

season, close of holiday [N Seecial Arsas of Conseevaticn 7

parks | [ Spedal Presaction Areas v .

- Management fencing A ] Gouyy Bounaary ? 2 Caister d il

and wardening = -Has supported little terns

Trv to establish from SPA

-Try to establish a K ,

volunteer group, ;?1'3t3;k;awn;fkg;m walker's
- Holiday park close by
-Management - monitoring
and fence, warden as
required

268

e



Page 186 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy PLACE

SERVICES

Local Plan seeking to improve access through new proposed site FIO
-Pensthorpe Park is Private (paid access)

-Little Ryburgh/Great Ryburgh undertakes a neighbourhood plan seeking to
include designation of local green space and improved connectivity- walking
with all stakeholders/land owners

River Wensum

69¢

-Access to River
Wensum at Goggs Mill
and car park near to
former gas works

- Public footpath
alongside river to the _ e o\ =, o “
south of town centre NG e O b B L T
continuing to former . ( E % ) s

railway track/heath
lane

- Some damage to river
bank and work to
restore footpath and
bank (faggets)

- River Wensum

restoration strategy -

have done some work Marriots Way -

reconnecting flood Popular walking and

plain

cycling route

-Limited impacts from
recreational
disturbance duetoa
lack of public access.

-Very few PRoWs follow f Legend

alongside the Wensum : &.\_\j Spacial Aress of Consenvation
for any distance. {1 conumooiey

Access restricted to
commons.

Water skiing club

Ringland Hills - Popular dog walking area

I




Page 187 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

The Brecks

Info via FC GIS

1- Access points inc
gateways

2 - Fenced Heaths

(attractive to dog
walkers)

Monitoring of NL and
NJ outside forest? -
STANTA ESTATES -
WT Health Reserves

See NA-C Briefing

note

Cut off channel? Ask

EA. Flood alleviation

areas?
High Lodge
& & 5000 dwellings —
Outline
Permission

Open Habitats Plan

270




T.¢

Page 188

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Coast path

Norfolk trails people
counter data available

Horse riding
disturbance pressures

on beach

Suggestions for future
management

-Joined up
management on a
landscape scale - group
of wardens for the sites
- Joined up signage and
provision to fund
fencing and signage

Dersingham Bog NNR
-Open access on part of
site

-Pressure from
increased visitors and

increasing range of
recreational activities

Roydon Common and
Dersingham Bog
impacts

- dog walking
- dogs off lead
-jogging
-walkers

The Wash and North Norfolk Coast

Little tern site profiles have

collated info on management

issues, management

measures and opportunities

Partnerships

Prowad - looking at regional designations for The
Wash and NN Coast

Norfolk Little Tern Group
Site Managers Group

Logond
(777 ramsan

[ Boocin) Areus of Gonnwrvation o
] Apesinl Prowceion Aeas
[ ) oty Mandary

Holkham - Lady Annes
Drive Beach

- Major visitor attraction
inc. /local residents dog
walking (can get season
car parking pass -
opportunities to
influence)

- Erosion of primary salt
marsh habitat for
access to
beach/erosion of dune
habitats

-Disturbance to
breeding little
terns/ringed plover -
existing bird exclusion
areas on beach
-Partly managed by
Holkham Estate (NNR)
and NE (but this may
change)

- New visitor centre
supposed to be there to
educate visitors of
potential impacts

i Kok

N

-Roosting Waters
-Holme NNR Natterjack hotspot

Holkham NNR - Foreshore NE
Current management

- Tern fencing and signage

- Staff cover site

- Visitor Numbers increasing - disturb breeding and terns and shorebirds

I




Page 189

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

APPENDIX 6

A6(1) Green Infrastructure (GI) Workshop Annotated Maps

Acle Bridge
being developed
as access hub

for Weavers Way

Open Habitats
Plan

272

Potential Gl to
absorb dog to
recreation(?) at
Winterton Country
Park

Wetland Creations
with path areas
throughout Broads.
Map to be
provided.

Bure Park -boating

and leisure

Potential

Enhancement Area

Waveney Forest
(SANG)

Potential public

access?




Page 190 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Breckland District — Green Infrastructure (South)*

Lyndford Arboretum

Lyndford Stag Forestry

N
"3 Forestry England -The
Forestry Commission has
andraft open Habitats
Policy and Forestry
England has a draft plan
which forms part of its
management strategy for
the Forest.

High Lodge Forest
Centre

New winter site in the
forest?

Signage

*No comments on Breckland (North) were made at the Green Infrastructure workshop




Page 191 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Greater Norwich — Green Infrastructure

Do ST
% “’/2;"};/;{ 7

(A
"g"’/{

North West Woodlands
Country Park (missing
link)

vic

Links with Greater
Norwich Green

Infrastructure Plan

BVR Green Loop

%%
' /A//’;"///ﬂ.

Z 7




Page 192 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Greater Norwich — Green Infrastructure

Complete 3 Rivers Way

Marriots Way and West route from Horring to Potter

Broadland

Higham

ol B

Need for enhanced

connectivity of riverside

walk and Marriots Way

Finishing off cycle footpath
Upstreamn of New Mills

M link - Colney Lane and to
N (within citv)
I Watton Rd
=3 T~
"'I/J 2 4 Footpath/cycle route Stoke
A 0 < ‘-f;f. i Holy Cross to upon Stoke.
Create green lanes for cycling 3 ,’4" = Stoke Holy Cross via Caistor
throughout SNC. A140 ” o RN . TR : St Edmund to Lakenham
running through the middle is f \p 7 "/?",f_’//jﬁ;:'w."f{{ . City Centre
a barrier ,bf-" - S N ¢
f;, 4 or Upstreamn of New Mills
Express cycleway North South = i
linking Norwich and Diss Wesum Riverside walk -
2 n S nifh missing link Duke Street
77y - 7 ‘ff"‘ Y Bridge - George Street
L, Lo | bridge
- ‘{/} L . Wb ml Carmims /i
N (\{;\ \ U veew Carsn ’/1
W G ‘»/., | Need for bridges from city
L A Dot Sordtuy ’ it
SN ([ P j to Whithingham
\ Y S N | S

I



9/¢

Page 193 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

King's Lynn and West Norfolk District - Green Infrastructure (North)

Role of reserves in
supporting visitors
Need to understand
pressures
Resources to ensure

they can

accommodate

Possible Recreational

increased visitors

without adversely

affecting habitats

and species
Sandringham - Can we

make more aware of

it? New Estate
. Manager
Inaccessible — Out of
Bounds
. i;,‘ > '.V o - ) .) 7
ey,
: s
Bawsey Pits Former Railway Line:
- . S Kings Lynn to
- Significant — 7 o 7 g Tl 1 } ! Fakenham
Opportunity S ) e - - ¥ % 7 > :
--A47 Access is poor, e W7 \ > g //}'r } b ;
people wall on ' e A ?):4 \ : ¢l N | g i :
A 7| i : s s AN IG5 I A

dangerous route
- Former Dilapidated
country park

—



L2

Page 194 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

King's Lynn and West Norfolk District - Green Infrastructure (South)

ST

Minerals extraction sites

.- NI s R 7
~ . 7 Hs 4 - Restoration for nature

e
Permission granted for a —7 Tl / — ‘ and people
safari park " ’/// / s 7K / £ - - Longer term vision
L i 5 S ’ 7 ) ) o -

N
b

7 7
/ .I[’ll/////
4 / L7 A

.‘ 4 s /
1 G
/// _
v/ f
:

Can Ministry of Defence
land be used?

O Tt

¢ \'\\\\\.\\
AR




8.¢

Page 195

Former railway tracks
should be considered

district wide

No park run in North
Walsham

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

North Norfolk District - Green Infrastructure (West)

SEIIHGIL S,

Parking issues at
Wells

Major draw for
visitors and
residents in
summer and winter
for dog walking -
impacts on
breeding

birds/seals/overwi
ntar hirdc

Glaven Valley River

Corridor

Green Pilgrimage route
(NCO

NCC Greenways Route

7 W77 7 %

Sheringham Park -

circular routes




6.¢

Page 196 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

North Norfolk District - Green Infrastructure (East)

lack of publicly o
accessible Gl/open ' i'-”.rffj““ L C Possible

space in Cromer (other Recreational Uses

than beach) - parkrun

size

Bacton Woods

existing Gl -

opportunity

No park run in North
Walsham

¥
2
<) ’l,,,';?'
V7
Lack of Gl provision ) ‘ . //7‘4’4’/
this side of North :

Walsham considering

Lord Anson's wood -

private remnany

heath - possible
opportunity

the amount of housing

growth




PLACE

Page 197 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

APPENDIX 7

A7(1) Essex Coast RAMS Guidelines for proposals for student accommodation

Essex Coast RAMS Guidelines for proposals for student accommodation

Introduction

The Essex coast Recreational disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (the “Essex
coast RAMS") aims to deliver the mitigation necessary to avoid significant adverse effects
from in-combination impacts of residential development that is anticipated across Essex;
thus protecting the Habitats (European) sites on the Essex coast from adverse effects on
site integrity. All new residential developments within the evidencad Zones of Influence
where there is a net increase in dwelling numbers are included in the Essex Coast RAMS.
The Essex Coast RAMS identifies a detailed programme of strategic mitigation measures
which are to be funded by developer contributions from residential development schemes.

This note includes guidance for proposals for student accommodation to help understand
the contribution required. It has been agreed by the Essex Coast RAMS Steering Group.
The purpose of this note is to ensure that a consistent approach is taken across Essex
when dealing with proposals for student accommaodation within the Zones of Influence of
the Essex Coast RAMS.

Student Accommodation

In their letter to all Essex local planning authorities, dated 16 August 2018, Natural
England included student accommodation as one of the development types that is
covered by the Essex Coast RAMS.

It would not be appropriate to expect the RAMS tanff of £122.30 for each unit of student
accommodation. This would not be a fair and proportionate contribution. Nevertheless,
Matural England has advised that there needs to be a financial contnbution towards the
RAMS as there is likely to be a residual effect from student accommodation development
even though it will only be people generated disturbance rather than dog related. Natural
England has advised that the tanff could be on a propertionate basis. It may also be
possible for the on-site green infrastructure provision to be proportionate to the level of
impact likely to be generated by the student accommodation, particulady as one of the
main reaseons for having on site green infrastructure is to provide dog walking facilities,
which wouldn't be needed for student accommodation. The general model for calculation,
set out below, explains how to obtain a fair and proportionate contribution for student
accommodation.

In the first instance, 2.5 student accommodation units will be considered a unit of
residential accommodation.

Secondly, it is recognised that due to the characteristics of this kind of residential
development, specifically the absence of car parking and the inability of these living in
purpose built student accommodation to have pets, the level of disturbance created, and
thus the increase in bird disturbance and associated bird mortality, will be less than
dwelling houses (use class C3 of the Use Classes Order b).

280




Page 198

Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Research from the Solent Disturbance Mitigation Project showed that 47% of activity
which resulted in major flight events was specifically caused by dogs off of a lead. As
such, it is considered that level of impact from student accommodation would be half that
of C3 housing and thus the scale of the mitigation package should also be half that of
traditional housing.

So, a scheme for 100 student accommodation umts would be considered 40 units. 40
units would then be halved providing that future occupiers are prevented from owning a
car and keeping a pet:

100/2.5=40
4002 =20
20x£122.30 = £2 446

Please note that the calculation outlined above is to be used as a guide. The level of
contribution would also need to consider the proximity of the accommodation to the
Habitats sites in question and the total number of units being built.

Chelmsford City Council

Proposals for student accommodation in Chelmsford will have a de minimis effect. Unlike
Colchester and Southend, Chelmsford only has a small area of Habitats sites in the far
south-eastem part of its administrative area. Purpose built student accommodation
generally includes restrictions preventing students from owing a car or a pet. These
restrictions will make it extremely unlikely that a student will visit a Habitats site, owing to
the difficulty in accessing Essex coast Habitats sites from Chelmsford by public
transport. Consequently, proposals for purpose built student accommedation in
Chelmsford will not lead to likely significant effects on Habitats sites from increased
recreational disturbance.

281




PLACE

Page 199 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

APPENDIX 8

A8(1) County-wide Projects

A8(1.1) Norfolk Trails

In addition to its statutory duties as the local Highways Authority (including Public Rights of Way),
Norfolk County Council (NCC) is committed to investing in Gl. They deliver and promote a network of
routes across the county that meet the revised National Trails quality standards in England (April 2013)
which connect main settlements and provide a good level of green infrastructure; currently 70% of
Norfolk’s residents are served by the network of 13 long distance trails with short & circular walking and
cycling routes across Norfolk for local use*.

Given the planned growth across Norfolk, NCC is continuing to expand the scale and scope of this Gl
network and adding more trails based on disused railway lines & designated Quiet Lanes. These are in
addition to the Peddar’s Way and Norfolk Coast Path*}, one of the ‘family’ of National Trails, which is
managed locally within a national framework of guidance and support. Natural England is responsible
for setting standards and investing in trail maintenance at the national level, while the local trail
partnerships take collective responsibility for local delivery. This will incorporate the England Coast
Path when it comes on stream in Norfolk. Natural England’s vision for National Trails is that they are a
family of “the highest quality recreational routes connecting our finest landscapes for extensive off-
road journeys. National Trails provide pubic enjoyment and they bring local economic benefit through
tourism as well as opportunities for improving the environment and for getting communities involved in
caring for them.”

One of the projects that is currently being undertaken by Norfolk CC which aims to reduce deficits in Gl
provision is the Greenways project. This has attracted Government grant aid (under the Rural
Development Programme for England) and NCC is keen to further develop a greenway network
(otherwise known as a Green Infrastructure network) across the county.

The proposed project/target areas will link in with the sustainable transport network and the existing
Norfolk Trails aiming to deliver a Gl network for 100% of Norfolk residents. As sustainability is key to
this provision, candidate routes which can meet the National Trails criteria will be considered where
they are not likely to result in significant effects on Habitats Sites.

Greenways offer a safe route for people and animals to travel and is focused on the benefits of health,
wellbeing, economy, increased biodiversity, alleviation of congestion and air quality improvements.
This project will help fill the gaps in the strategic network of ANG across Norfolk and with continued
investment from NCC and growth; the Norfolk Trails network will provide a strategic level of Gl across
the county.

Work has already started on strategic Greenways projects such as:
e Weavers’ Way between Aylsham and Stalham
e King’s Lynn to Fakenham

e King’s Lynn to Hunstanton

2 Norfolk Trails: https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/out-and-about-in-norfolk /norfolk-trails
'3 Peddar’s Way and Norfolk Coast Path: https://www.nationaltrail.co.uk/peddars-way-and-norfolk-coast-path

282



Page 200 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

These are all disused railways that can be reinvented as strategic green links across the county. The
aim is to make Norfolk’s Greenways as accessible as possible for all user groups, for example disabled
users or horse riders, but access for different groups may depend on each specific landowner. NCC will
be looking at a range of different options for costs across the proposed areas and developer
contributions towards Gl could be used where there is insufficient Gl available on an individual
development site. For the purpose of this Strategy, Norfolk’s Greenways are considered part of the
existing Gl network existing on a County-wide scale.

Figure 27: The Norfolk Trails Network

@ Priority Routes
===+ Heritage Railway
= Disused Railway
=== Current Railway
===== Road

North Walsham

ez,
/_King’s Lynn
{ “A47\

\

Unfortunately, many habitats have been lost and fragmented over the years due to intensification of
agriculture and urban expansion, which has put flora and fauna across the county at risk. NWT has
identified a number of priority areas where they will be focussing on restoration and expansion of
existing sites along with new wild areas that will benefit wildlife and people. This approach is moving
away from simply trying to conserve what remains and instead restoring and creating habitats at a
landscape scale to revive ecological networks as proposed in the principles of ‘better, bigger, more,
and joined’, as described by Professor Sir John Lawton in his report Making Space for Nature (2010).
Current Norfolk Living Landscape Project Areas include; North Norfolk, Bure and Thurne, Claylands, The
Brecks, Wissey and Gaywood Valley, as shown in the figure below:

283




Page 201 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

Figure 28: The Living Landscape Projects

Source: Norfolk Wildlife Trust, 2020

A8(1.2) Norfolk Tree Planting and Resilience Strategy (Draft)

The Draft Norfolk Tree Planting and Resilience Strategy focuses on increasing the resilience of tree,
woodland and hedged landscapes across Norfolk, with the aim of helping Norfolk adapt to future
climate change, pests and diseases. It will help identify where the greatest gains can be made through
tree and hedge planting through an Action Plan for planting across the Norfolk County Council estate
and other key landowners, stakeholders and community groups across Norfolk. Ultimately, its value in
terms of Gl will be dependent on ensuring that any tree and hedgerow planting is undertaken
strategically.

284




Page 202 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

APPENDIX 9

A9(1) Written comments from stakeholders

Royal Society for the Protection of Birds | Phil Pearson

(RSPB)

RSPB have been heavily involved in visitor management measures to protect sensitive nesting birds in both Breckland with
their Stone Curlew project and the Little Terns on the Norfolk coast.

The Norfolk Breck Heaths are not currently being hugely impacted by recreational disturbance as most are closed to public
access during the breeding season. However, there are some concerns about the effect of recreational disturbance outside the
breeding season on the rabbit populations that are vital to maintain the quality of the heaths. Recreational activity, particularly
involving dogs, may adversely affect rabbits and cause spread of disease. Otherwise, recreational disturbance to stone-
curlews is most likely to occur where there is a PROW close to stone-curlew nesting locations on heaths or arable land.
Ongoing monitoring of stone-curlews currently receives no government or grant funding in the region.

There is clearly a need to also coordinate the different actions outlined within a RAMS to dovetail with existing teams of RSPB
volunteers (e.g. stone-curlews or beach-nesting birds) that are already in place to undertake annual monitoring. This will be
necessary to integrate with the RSPB’s Little Tern management in east Norfolk. RSPB would be happy to be part of an oversight
group to help manage this issue in the same way as we sit on the mitigation and monitoring groups for KLWN and GYBC.

Forestry Commission (FC) Neal Armour-Chelu, Ecologist

Details of the current monitoring have been provided where this has been undertaken within the Breckland Forest for
Breckland SPA Designated Features i.e. Woodlark, Nightjar and Stone Curlew (where this species is a regular breeding bird on
heathland sites within the forest albeit in small numbers) Potential disturbance to Stone Curlew is managed via Countryside
and Rights of Way (CRoW) Act 2000 access control.

Breckland Forest provides breeding and feeding habitat of varying quality for woodlark and nightjar. These two ground nesting
species breed almost exclusively in plantation restocks. Woodlark will also use open short turf grassland (Breck heath).

Recreational access has been demonstrated to have the potential to create disturbance that affects the breeding behaviour of
woodlark and nightjar (e.g. Murison 2002; Liley & Clarke 2003 and Liley et al 2006). Mallord et al (2007) demonstrated that
this interaction can have a population level effect.

Recreational impacts on breeding behaviour can be expressed in two ways:-
1. Areas become too disturbed for birds to settle in and are therefore unsuitable as breeding habitat.
2. Birds settle to breed in an area, but their productivity is decreased, or they fail to produce any viable young.

The effect of disturbance on breeding behaviour can be through direct mechanisms (e.g. trampling of nest or birds are
repeatedly flushed, so that clutch or brood chills) and also indirect mechanisms (e.g. littering increases predator activity in the
area or birds are flushed and their unguarded clutch or brood is predated).

Present access levels at wider Breckland Forest SSSI sites appear relatively low (Dolman et al 2008 and Hornigold 2017).
However, low current visitor rates do not necessarily mean that there is no current impact from access or that future increases
in recreation will not have an impact. The report of Dolman (2010) suggested no impacts, were found in 2008 to 2009, but
given the scale of future change predicted by Panter et al (2016), impacts may occur in the future. It is also important to note

285

I



Page 203 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

that the study of Dolman (2010) only looked at post-settlement interactions and did not study territory settlement patterns for
the three SPA birds within Breckland Forest SSSI.

In order to understand any potential recreational impacts on the integrity of the SPA and the breeding success of woodlark,
nightjar and stone curlew, several ecological factors surrounding the birds and their habitat and recreational activity need to
be spatially quantified. Habitat quantity, quality and distribution datasets are updated annually by Forestry England with
monitoring costs for these surveys estimated at £6-8k pa. Distribution and productivity for the three SPA birds are regularly
updated with nest checks and weekly monitoring for woodlark and nightjar and productivity data held by Breckland DC.

Itis important to understand the mechanisms and how the factors interact to affect bird productivity and the integrity of
Breckland SPA. This understanding will determine which mitigation options are most appropriate.

There are also two Breckland Forest SSSI designated features of plant and invertebrate assemblages which may also be
damaged by increased residential development and recreation. Trampling, canine eutrophication and fly-tipping of invasive
plant species are a concern (Shaw et al 1995 and Taylor et al 2005).

Norfolk Wildlife Trust (NWT) John Hiskett (Senior Conservation Officer), Mike Jones (Conservation Officer)

and Matt Jones (Living Landscapes officer)

As none of the NWT officers were able to attend either of the workshops held in May 2019, the consultants arranged to meet
them separately at their offices.

NWT manage parts of 11 Habitats Sites across Norfolk with a “no dogs” policy or most of the reserves except Public Rights of
Way:

e North Norfolk Coast SPA, SAC and Ramsar site (Holme Dunes National Nature Reserve; Cley and Salthouse Marshes
reserve)

e Broadland SPA & Ramsar site and the Broads SAC (Alderfen Broad and Marshes; Barton Broad and Marshes;
Cockshoot Broad; Hickling Broad and Marshes; Martham Broad and Marshes; Ranworth Broad and Marshes; Trinity
Broads; Upton Broad and Marshes)

e Norfolk Valley Fens SAC (Buxton Common; Holt Lowes; Scarning Fen; Swangey Fen; Thompson Common)
e  Breckland SPA and SAC (East Wretham Heath; Thetford Heath; Weeting Heath)
e  Roydon Common and Dersingham Bog SAC & Roydon Common Ramsar (Roydon Common)

This was very helpful in capturing information they had on visitor activities and disturbance impacts on the Habitats Sites
and their suggestions into the future management of their sites. Discussion also included potential alternative locations for
visitors e.g. accessible non-designated woodlands, new “broads” created by minerals extraction and use of cut-off channels.
This information has been included on the maps used at the workshops (Appendix 5).

286




Page 204 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

APPENDIX 10

A10(2) Example s106 Unilateral Undertaking Norfolk RAMS Contribution

UNILATERAL UNDERTAKING

Made under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)

relating to land at: <INSERT ADDRESS>

IN FAVOUR OF

<INSERT> DISTRICT/BOROUGH/CITY COUNCIL

<INSERT SIGNATORY>
<INSERT COUNCIL»
<INSERT ADDRESS»

DATE <INSERT dd/mm/yr>

PARTIES

By INSERT NAME AND ADDRESS

the “Owner”

To <INSERT COUNCIL>
the “District/Borough/City /Borough/City Council”

287




PLACE

SERVICES

Page 205 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

INTRODUCTION

1. The District/Borough/City Council is the local planning authority for the purposes of the Act for
the area in which the Site is situated.

2. The Owners are the freehold owners of the Site which is part of the land registered at the Land
Registry under title number <insert»

3. The District/Borough/City Council has not yet determined the Planning Application and the
Owner enters into this Deed to secure the planning obligations which will take effect following a
grant of the Planning Permission for the Development

NOW THIS DEED WITNESSES AS FOLLOWS:
OPERATIVE PART
1 DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of this Deed the following expressions shall have the following meanings and shall be
read in conjunction with the definitions set out in the Third Schedule:

“Act”

“Application Site”
“Application Site
Plan”

“Commencement of
Development”

“Development”

“Dwelling”

“Recreational impact
Avoidance and
Mitigation
Contribution”

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended;

the land described in the First Schedule as shown edged red for
identification purposes only on the Application Site Plan;

the plan attached to this Deed

the date on which any material operation (as defined in Section
56(4) of the Act) forming part of the Development begins to be
carried out on the Site other than (for the purposes of this Deed
and for no other purpose) operations consisting of
archaeological investigations, investigations for the purpose of
assessing ground conditions, remedial work in respect of any
contamination or other adverse ground conditions, diversion
and laying of services, erection of any temporary means of
enclosure, the temporary display of site notices or
advertisements or the erection of temporary fences and
“Commence Development” shall be construed accordingly;

the development of the Site as described in the Planning
Application and in accordance with the Planning Permission

any dwelling (including house, flat or maisonette) or unit of
tourist accommodation to be constructed pursuant to the
Planning Permission

means the sum of £<INSERT TOTAL> (Index Linked) calculated
using the Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation
Contribution Calculation to be paid by the Owner to the
District/Borough/City Council as a contribution towards

288

_A



PLACE

Page 206 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

“Recreational impact  the sum of £<INSERT> x the total number of new dwellings

Avoidance and proposed pursuant to the Planning Permission to calculate the
M't'g?tlor,] Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Contribution.
Contribution
Calculation”
“Index” means the All-in Tender Price Index published by the Building
Costs Informative Service from time to time
“Index Linked” the sum referred to in the Second Schedule of this Deed shall be
increased or decreased by an amount equivalent to the increase
or decrease in the Index from the date of the grant of Planning
Permission until the date on which the Habitat Mitigation
Contributions is payable using the formula A=B x C/D
A — the sum payable under this Deed
B — the original sum calculated
C —the Index for the month 2 months before the date on which
the
Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Contribution is
payable
D — the Index for the month of the grant of the Planning
Permission
“Interest” In the event of any delay in the payment of the
Recreational impact Avoidance Mitigation Contribution required
to be paid to the District/Borough/City Council under this Deed
then interest shall be payable thereon the annual rate of 4%
above base rate for the time being of the Bank of England base
from the date that the
Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Contribution fell
due until the date of actual payment
“Planning means the application for Planning Permission for <INSERT
Application” DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT AS INCLUDED ON THE PLANNING
APPLICATION>
at <INSERT ADDRESS OF DEVELOPMENT>
submitted to the District/Borough/City Council on <INSERT DATE>
“Planning The <INSERT TYPE> planning permission subject to conditions to
Permission” be granted by the District/Borough/City Council pursuant to the

Planning Application substantially as set out in the draft as set
out in the Second Schedule;

“Section 106 Officer”  the officer so designated by the District/Borough/City Council
and any notice required to be served on the Section 106 Officer
must be sent or delivered to the District/Borough/City Council at

_4

289



PLACE

Page 207 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

the address aforesaid marked for the attention of the Section
106 Officer (unless otherwise agreed with the
District/Borough/City Council);

“Site” the land described in the First Schedule against which this Deed
may be enforced as shown edged red for identification purposes
only on the Application Site Plan;

“Working Days” Monday to Friday (inclusive) except Good Friday, Christmas Day
and public or bank holidays from time to time in England.

2 CONSTRUCTION OF THIS DEED

2.1 Where in this Deed reference is made to any clause, paragraph or schedule or recital such
reference (unless the context otherwise requires) is a reference to a clause, paragraph or
schedule or recital in this Deed.

2.2 Words importing the singular meaning where the context so admits include the plural meaning
and vice versa.

2.3 Words of the masculine gender include the feminine and neuter genders and words denoting
actual persons include companies, corporations and firms and all such words shall be
construed interchangeable in that manner.

2.4 Wherever there is more than one person named as a party and where more than one party
undertakes an obligation all their obligations can be enforced against all of them jointly and
severally unless there is an express provision otherwise.

2.5 Any reference to an Act of Parliament shall include any modification, extension or re-enactment
of that Act for the time being in force and shall include all instruments, orders, plans
regulations, permissions and directions for the time being made, issued or given under that
Act or deriving validity from it.

2.6 Any references to any party to this Deed shall include the successors in title to that party and
to any person deriving title through or under that party and in the case of the
District/Borough/City Council the successors to its respective statutory functions.

2.7 The headings are for reference only and shall not affect construction.

2.8 Any covenant by the Owners not to do an act or thing shall be deemed to include an obligation
to use all reasonable endeavours not to permit or suffer such act or thing to be done by
another person where knowledge of the actions of the other person is reasonably to be
inferred.

2.9 Any notices required to be given under the terms of this Deed may (in addition to any other
valid method of service) be given or served by sending the same by recorded delivery post
addressed to the party to or upon whom it is to be given or served at the address for that party
given in this Deed or such other address in the United Kingdom as that party may by notice to
the other parties hereto or their agent stipulate as that party’s address for service of notice
pursuant to this Deed or if not such address is given or stipulated at that party’s last known

290

_A



PLACE

Page 208 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

address and any notice so given or served shall be deemed to be received and the date on
which it is given or served shall be deemed to be 48 hours after posting.

3 LEGAL BASIS

3.1 This Deed is made pursuant to Section 106 of the Act and to the extent that it does not contain
planning obligations Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 and Section 1 of the
Localism Act 2011 and all other enabling powers.

3.2 The covenants, restrictions and requirements imposed upon the Owners under this Deed that
are planning obligations pursuant to Section 106 of the Act are enforceable by the
District/Borough/City Council as the local planning authority against the Owners and their
successors in title.

3.3 Any variation of this Deed is to be by way of a formal variation by deed between all the parties
unless there is express provision in this Deed otherwise.

4 CONDITIONALITY
The provisions set out in this Deed are conditional upon:
(i) the grant of the Planning Permission; and
(i) the Commencement of Development

save for the provisions of this Clause and Clauses ................ which shall take effect immediately
upon completion of this Deed.

5 THE OWNERS’ COVENANTS

5.1 The Owners hereby covenants with the District/Borough/City Council as set out in the Second
Schedule so as to bind the Site and each and every part thereof.

5.2 The Owners warrant that they are the freehold owners of the Site and have full power and
capacity to enter into this Deed and that there is no other party or person having a charge or
any other interest in or over the Site whose consent is necessary to make this Deed binding on
the Site and all estates and interests therein.

6 MISCELLANEOUS

6.1 No provisions of this Deed shall be enforceable under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties)
Act 1999.

6.2  This Deed shall be registrable as a local land charge by the District/Borough/City Council.

6.3 Itis acknowledged that following the performance and satisfaction of all the obligations
contained in this Deed the District/Borough/City Council shall forthwith on the written request
of the Owners mark accordingly all entries made in the Register of Local Land Charges in
respect of this Deed.

6.4 Insofaras any clause or clauses of this Deed are found (for whatever reason) to be invalid
illegal or unenforceable then such invalidity illegality or unenforceability shall not affect the

_4

201



PLACE

Page 209 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Deed.

6.5  This Deed shall cease to have effect (insofar only as it has not already been complied with) if
the Planning Permission shall be quashed, revoked or otherwise withdrawn or (without the
consent of the Owners) it is modified by any statutory procedure or expires prior to the
Commencement of Development.

6.6  No person shall be liable for any breach of any of the planning obligations or other provisions
of this Deed after it shall have parted with its entire interest in the Site (or that part of the Site
in respect of which such breach occurs) but without prejudice to liability for any subsisting
breach arising prior to parting with such interest AND FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBT neither
the reservation of any rights or the inclusion of any covenants or restrictions over the Site in
any transfer of the Site (or any part or parts of the Site) shall constitute an interest for the
purposes of this Clause.

6.7  Subject to clause 2.8.1 nothing in this Deed shall prohibit or limit the right to develop any part
of the Site in accordance with a planning permission (other than the Planning Permission)
granted (whether or not on appeal) after the date of this Deed

6.7.1 Inthe event that any new planning applications are made in respect of the
Development pursuant to section 73 of the Act then with effect from the date that the
new planning permission is granted pursuant to section 73 of the Act

6.7.1.1 the obligations in this Deed shall in addition to binding the Site in respect
of the Planning Permission relate to and bind the Site in respect of any
planning permission granted pursuant to section 73 of the Act

6.7.1.2  the definitions of Development Planning Application and Planning
Permission shall be assumed to include references to any applications
under section 73 of the Act, the planning permissions granted thereunder
and the development permitted by such subsequent planning permissions
PROVIDED THAT nothing in this clause shall fetter the discretion of the
Council in determining any applications under section 73 of the Act and the
appropriate nature and/or quantum of section 106 obligations in so far as
they are materially different to those contained in this Deed and required
pursuant to a determination under section 73 of the Act whether by way of
a new deed or supplemental deed pursuant to section 106 of the Act or a
modification pursuant to section 106A of the Act

6.8 Nothing contained or implied in this Deed shall prejudice or affect the rights, discretions,
functions, powers, duties and obligations of the District/Borough/City Council under all
statutes by-laws statutory instruments orders and regulations in the exercise of their
functions as a local authority.

6.9  The Owners covenant from the date that this Deed takes effect to allow the
District/Borough/City Council, and its respectively duly authorised officers or agents at all
reasonable times following at least three days’ prior notice to enterinto and upon the Site for
the purposes of monitoring compliance with the provisions of this Deed.

6.10 The Owners hereby agree that any rights to claim compensation arising from any limitations or

292

4



PLACE

Page 210 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy SERVICES

restrictions on the planning use of the Site under the terms of this Deed are hereby waived.

6.11  The Owners covenant to pay the District/Borough/City Council’s reasonable legal costs
incurred in the preparation and negotiation of this Deed on completion of this Deed.

7 WAIVER

No waiver (whether expressed or implied) by the District/Borough/City Council or the Owners of any
breach or default in performing or observing any of the covenants terms or conditions of this Deed shall
constitute a continuing waiver and no such waiver shall prevent the District/Borough/City Council or
the Owners from enforcing any of the relevant terms or conditions or for acting upon any subsequent
breach or default.

8 CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP

The Owners agree with the District/Borough/City Council to give the District/Borough/City Council
written notice within 10 Working Days of any change in ownership of any of its interests in the Site
occurring before all the obligations under this Deed have been discharged such notice quoting the
Planning Application reference number and to give details of the transferee’s full name and registered
office (if a company or usual address if not) together with the area of the Site purchased by reference to
a plan and the title number or numbers thereof PROVIDED THAT this obligation shall not apply to any
disposal to any of the statutory utilities for their operational purposes or to any mortagee or charge of
the Site.

9 JURISDICTION

This Deed is governed by and interpreted in accordance with the law of England and Wales and the
parties submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales.

10 DELIVERY

The provisions of this Deed (other than this clause which shall be of immediate effect) shall be of no
effect until the Planning Permission is granted

FIRST SCHEDULE

Details of the Owners’ Title, and description of the Site
Freehold land at <INSERT ADDRESS>»

within registered title number <INSERT>shown edged red for identification only on the Application Site
Plan.

SECOND SCHEDULE

Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Contribution

The Owners for themselves and their successors in title to the Site covenant as follows:-

1.1 Not to cause or permit Commencement of Development until the Recreational impact
Avoidance and Mitigation Contribution have first been paid to the District/Borough/City
Council

293

_A



Page 211 Norfolk Green Infrastructure and Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy

1.2 To advise the District/Borough/City Council within 5 (five) Working Days of Commencement of
Development

1.3 Inthe event that the Recreational impact Avoidance and Mitigation Contribution remains
unpaid within 30 (thirty) days of a request for payment or invoice being issued the Recreational
impact Avoidance Mitigation Contribution shall accrue Interest

IN WITNESS whereof this Deed has been duly executed as a Deed on the date and year first written

Executed as a deed by

and

in the presence of:

Signature of WitnesS:....cuvvveeeeeeevecceceeeeeene.

Name Of WitneSS: i uiinreeeerereecrereeeneeenee e

Address of WitnesS . ueeveeervecrereeneeeneens

294




Place Services

Essex County Council

County Hall, Chelmsford, Essex CM1 1QH

T: +44 (0)333 013 6840

E: enquiries@placeservices.co.uk

www.placeservices.co.uk

March 2021

PLACE
SERVICES

S
Ar—
Ar—

Essex County Council



Agenda Item 13

REPORT TO CABINET

Open

Any especially
affected
Wards North
Lynn

Discretionary

Would any decisions proposed :
Be entirely within Cabinet’s powers to decide  YES
Need to be recommendations to Council NO

Is it a Key Decision YES

Lead Member: ClIr Richard Blunt

E-mail: clir.richard.blunt@West-Norfolk.gov.uk

Other Cabinet Members consulted: Leader and Deputy
Leader, all cabinet members

Other Members consulted:

Lead Officer: David Ousby

E-mail: David.ousby@west-norfolk.gov.uk

Direct Dial: 01553 616505

Other Officers consulted: Management Team
Matthew Henry, Duncan Hall, Stuart Ashworth, Ruth Wilson

Financial Policy/

Implications Personnel

YES Implications
NO

Statutory
Implications
YES

Equal Impact Risk Environmental
Assessment Management Considerations
NO Implications NO

YES

Date of meeting: 15" June 2021
PARKWAY DEVELOPMENT

Summary

Following the change in leadership at the Council, officers have been instructed to

review this project against the original objectives behind the scheme.

Recommendation

Given that the overall scheme can no longer deliver the benefits originally envisaged it

is appropriate that we reconsider our position.

Officers therefore recommend that:

1. Development does not proceed on the Eastern part of the site and that the new
road bridge as proposed in the planning application is not constructed

2. That a new planning application be submitted for the development in accordance
with the 2016 Local Plan policy E1.6 Allocation (Kings Lynn south of Parkway)
site only

3. That the Council seek to re-negotiate the Business Rates Pool funding of £2

million to promote active travel and deliver enhanced cycle and footpath access

between Fairstead, Hardwick and the Town Centre

4. That officers enter into discussions to recast the Town Deal submission to reflect

wider connectivity issues within the town and promote active travel.

296




1. Background

1.1.Planning Committee resolved to grant planning permission for 379
houses at land off Parkway on 15th April 2021. This consent has not
yet been issued due to the requirement for third parties to sign the
S106 agreement

1.2. The Council remains strongly committed to the delivery of homes for
local people, incorporating construction methods which reduce carbon
emissions, encourage active travel and supporting the environment.

1.3.The viability of the bridge and housing on the Eastern portion of the
site is heavily linked to funding through both the Towns fund (£5
million) and Business Rates Pool (£2 million). Any assessment of
viability would be subject to a business case being prepared and
agreed as part of the Towns fund deal the outcome of which will not be
known until 2022.

1.4.0ne of the original objectives for the scheme was intending to improve
connectivity between Fairstead and Hardwick and reduce congestion
around the Gaywood clock. The Council has been particularly keen to
promote higher standards of construction within this site reducing
carbon emissions.

1.5.1t is becoming increasingly clear that the restrictions on the planning
permission preventing access into the Fairstead and diverting flows
through Gaywood clock reduce the benefits that had originally been
identified.

1.6. Given the uncertainties surrounding cost benefits of the overall
scheme impact and the reduced benefits that the bridge will deliver
Cabinet is requested to consider whether to progress the consented
scheme or reconsider an alternative.

1.7.The key points that Cabinet will wish to consider in coming to a
decision on whether to proceed are:

. Whether the scheme will deliver the benefits in terms of
improving accessibility that had been originally planned

. Restrictions on access into the Fairstead estate from the new
highway and bridge over the ‘Sandline’ required by Norfolk
County Council Highways reduce the intended connectivity
benefits of the development

. Conditions placed on the planning consent requiring the
monitoring of traffic flows at Gaywood clock with trigger points
for restricting access to the bridge raise the possibility of
restrictions being imposed at peak periods

. That the reduction in the number of homes through developing
the allocated site south of Parkway will not have a detrimental
impact on the Local Plan housing requirement.

2. Financial implications

2.1.Whilst work on the financial viability has not been fully concluded on
the entire scheme to date, it is possible to conclude with certainty from
the information already at hand that development on the Eastern part

297



of the site would not be financially viable and would not deliver the
original objectives of the project wholly or sufficiently.

2.2.A further report will be presented to Cabinet on 3™ August 2021 with
details of the costings for the revised proposal.

2.3.That the Council will seek to re-negotiate the Business Rates Pool
funding of £2 million to promote active travel and deliver enhanced
cycle and footpath access between Fairstead, Hardwick and the Town
Centre

2.4.That officers will enter into discussions to recast the Town Deal
submission to reflect wider connectivity issues within the town and
promote active travel.

. Environmental considerations

3.1.The further report to Cabinet on 3™ August 2021 will include details on
design and environmental considerations of the scheme.

. Declarations of Interest / Dispensations granted
4.1.None
. Background Papers

5.1. Parkway Accelerated Construction scheme report to Cabinet 6th
August 2019

298



NOTICE TO THE CHAIR OF THE CORPORATE PERFORMANCE PANEL OF
KEY DECISIONS TO BE MADE BY THE CABINET NOT PREVIOUSLY INCLUDED
ON THE PUBLISHED FORWARD PLAN

Under the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information)
(England) Regulations 2012, local authorities are required to publish a Forward Plan of Key
Decisions to be made by the Executive at least 28 clear days before the date of the meeting.
In the event that the publication of the intention to make a key decision at least 28 days before
the meeting is impractical, the local authority must inform the Chair of the Corporate
Performance Panel. The notice given to the Chair of the Corporate Performance Panel must
be published. The following notice has been given:

We wish to include a report on the agenda of the next meeting of the Cabinet on 15 June
2021, this is entitled “Parkway”. It will be an open report and the decision sought is a Key
Decision. Normally, 28 days public notice of such an item would be given. This has not been
possible in this case as for the following reason:

“Following the Annual Council meeting officers were requested by the new Cabinet to bring
forward a report on Parkway to the 15 June Cabinet meeting. This did not permit the full 28
days notice on the forward decisions list.

Opportunity will be given at the Cabinet meeting for Councillors to ask questions of the
Cabinet”

The Regulations provide for you to be informed (as Chair of CPP) in cases where the 28 days
notice can’t be given.”

Name Lorraine Gore, Chief Executive

Date Published: 4 June 2021

299



Agenda Item 14

REPORT TO CABINET

Open/Exempt Would any decisions proposed :
Any especially | Mandatory/ Be entirely within Cabinet’'s powers to decide = YES/NO
affected Need to be recommendations to Council ¥ES/NO
Wards Discretionary /
Is it a Key Decision ¥ES/NO
Operational
Lead Member: ClIr Richard Blunt Other Cabinet Members consulted:

E-mail: clir.richard.blunt@west-norfolk.gov.uk Other Members consulted:

Lead Officer: Jemma Curtis Other Officers consulted: Duncan Hall, Matthew Henry,
E-mail: jemma.curtis@west-norfolk.gov.uk | Stuart Ashworth, Alan Gomm, Steven King, Dave
Direct Dial: Robson
Financial Policy/ Statutory Equal Impact Risk Environmental
Implications Personnel Implications Assessment Management Considerations
¥ES/NO Implications ¥ES/NO YES/NO Implications ¥ES/NO
YES/NO If YES: Pre- ¥ES/NO
screening/ Full
Assessment

If not for publication, the paragraph(s) of Schedule 12A of the 1972 Local Government Act considered

to justify that is (are) paragraph(s)

Date of meeting: 15 June 2021

SOUTHGATES REGENERATION AREA

Summary

This report details the proposed masterplanning and initial site clearance of land and
buildings at the Southgate Regeneration area, as part of the King’s Lynn Heritage
Action Zone programme. The purpose of the masterplan is to develop a clear vision
and design principles, setting out the potential built form and uses for sites at the
prominent and important gateway to the town centre around the South Gate. Using
funding secured through the Norfolk Business Rates Pool, the masterplan will build
on work completed to date as part of the Heritage Action Zone to establish a
framework and strategy to secure investment and funding for the future
redevelopment of the brownfield sites, while maximising the valuable historic assets
of the area.

The scope of this project comprises two elements;

1. Masterplanning — including any further site investigations and surveys to
further assess the preferred site masterplan, viability and delivery mechanism
for the scheme.

2. Site clearance of key sites that have a detrimental impact on the gateway to
the town centre prior to any future redevelopment.

Recommendation

1. Delegate authority to Assistant Director for Housing, Regeneration and Place
in consultation with the Portfolio holder for Development and Regeneration to
commission a masterplan for the Southgate Regeneration Area as set out in
section 2 of the report.

2. Delegate authority to Assistant Director for Housing, Regeneration and Place
in consultation with the Portfolio holder Development and Regeneration to
complete the necessary procurement, permissions and legal requirements for

300




the works detailed in section 2 & 3 of the report

Reason for Decision

To guide the future regeneration of this gateway site to King’s Lynn’s town centre in
line with the aims and objectives the Heritage Action Zone and the corporate
business plan objective to ‘promote the borough as a vibrant place in which to live, to
do business and as a leading visitor and cultural destination.’

1

11

1.2

1.3

14

Background

Heritage Action Zones (HAZ) is a national programme lead by Historic England
to work with places of historic importance and assets to boost economic growth
using the historic environment as a catalyst. The King’s Lynn HAZ Delivery Plan
sets out a vision for King’s Lynn aimed at strengthening its role as a regional
centre by using the major heritage assets of the town as a positive feature for
encouraging sustainable growth. The five year programme (2017-2022) has
identified a number of regeneration actions, one of which is focused around
using brownfield sites to reinstate the urban structure and historic grain to
improve the first impressions of the town for visitors, potential employers,
employees and investors and will strengthen the town’s regional position.

The Southgates Regeneration Area is a key element of the HAZ programme
which the HAZ Partnership Board has agreed a set of actions to help progress
taking this important site forward. Following extensive research commissioned
by Historic England in partnership with the Council as part of the early stages of
the HAZ programme, funding was secured through the Norfolk Business Rates
Pool to commission the next stage of detailed masterplanning and any
necessary site investigations and surveys required to define the strategic vision
for future redevelopment of the area. The site offers the potential to create a high
quality gateway to King’s Lynn to change the perception and first impression of
the town and strengthen the identity of King’s Lynn as a sub-regional economic
centre and visitor destination.

Over the last 15 years, the Council has progressed with strategic land
acquisitions in the area to facilitate comprehensive redevelopment of the site and
complement the existing regeneration well under way on the Nar Ouse
Regeneration Area to the south. The site areas contains a combination of
vacant, derelict or properties in poor condition around the Southgate roundabout,
the under-utilised Southgate Park and hoardings site to the east. The most
significant feature of the area is the South Gate SAM and its striking central
location as the key southern access into King’s Lynn is paramount.

A number of studies and feasibility work focusing on different aspects of this
area has progressed over a number of years that requires the development of a
comprehensive and holistic masterplan to define the vision and establish the
principles and options for redevelopment of this area to brings these strands of
existing activity together. These include;

Unlocking Brownfield Sites Study (2019) AR Urbanism and the consultant
team were appointed by the Council in conjunction with Historic England to
assess seven strategic brownfield sites within King’s Lynn town centre in the
context of the Council’s regeneration plans and the Heritage Action Zone
Delivery plan. The study was focussed on ‘unlocking’ the potential of these sites
to provide viable and high-quality development, particularly residential

301




development, which enhances the town centre’s heritage context and supports
the future prosperity of the town centre and wider King’s Lynn area.

The King’s Lynn Transport Strategy identifies the Southgate and London
Road as a priority area to improve vehicle flow, reduce congestion and improve
the Air Quality Management Area. Norfolk County Council secured funding from
the Business Rates Pool to complete a feasibility study to consider options to
improve this area from a transport perspective. The Feasibility study completed
by NCC also considered improvements to the roundabout itself and presented a
preferred option to enlarge and signalise the roundabout.

Southgate Gateway: as part of the Future High Street Fund (FHSF) submission
by the Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk (BCKLWN), work was
carried out with NCC in conjunction with the Feasibility Study for London Road
and Southgate Roundabout to consider diverting London Road route east of the
South Gate scheduled monument and then to landscape the area around the
South Gate that is no longer highway. The existing Southgate roundabout was
proposed to be adjusted to accommodate the new road layout. Unfortunately the
scheme submitted to FHSF was unsuccessful but has developed a project to
business case stage to submit for future funding opportunities when they arise.
As part of the scheme development, consultation was undertaken with statutory
consultees, including Historic England. Statutory advice has been received since
the FHSF submission that will require amendment to the design and
consideration in the wider masterplan.

Masterplan Brief

The proposed study area for the masterplan to be commissioned extends to
1.81Ha as identified in appendix 1. The initial scope of the masterplan
commission is limited to RIBA Work Plan Stages 1-3 and includes;

Assessing the feasibility, development potential and viability for mixed use
redevelopment options for the public realm, vacant sites and derelict properties
within the site area broken down into three key land uses to consider;

1. Buildings and Build Form
2. The Street Network
3. Open Spaces and Landscaped Areas

The scope of the commission will specifically;

e Review of existing known site information, constraints and previous work to
develop a vision, design principles, concept layout and design code for the
area, considering infrastructure requirements (including but not limited to;
highway road and pedestrian/cycling network and public realm
improvements and landscaping).

e Assess the feasibility, market demand and viable uses for potential
development within the site area.

e Understand and establish the correct quantum of development, where
appropriate, following past reports and studies and engagement with key
stakeholders.

e Prepare outline specification and preliminary cost information for the
masterplan

e Prepare project delivery plan incorporating land assembly, programme, cost
and funding strategy for the site.

Public consultation on the options and preferred masterplan.
Commission further surveys and site investigations if required to inform
viability and delivery strategy for the area.

302



A number of other strategies and studies are being progressed alongside the
proposed masterplan. The masterplan should be cognisant of these and consider
these carefully in the development of the masterplan;

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan, NCC (in preparation)
Air Quality Management Area Action Plan

Local Plan (2016-2036)

Town Investment Plan, 2021

3.Site Clearance

3.1 The second element of the project scope is the preparation for a separate
contract to complete site clearance and demolition of sites that have a
detrimental impact to the gateway setting and those that would not have a
negative revenue implication to the Council until such time the sites are
redeveloped. Agreement on sites to be cleared will be undertaken in consultation
with key stakeholders including Historic England, Norfolk County Council and
local stakeholder groups. Cleared site(s) will enhance town centre gateway and
prepare the area for redevelopment. Consideration to interim measures to
ensure the cleared sites remain presentable and tidy for this town centre
gateway will need to be given.

4  Policy Implications

A King’s Lynn Town Investment Plan (TIP) was prepared and submitted to
government in 2020 and sets out the vision, strategy and investment priorities for
King’s Lynn over the next ten years. During 2020, residents, businesses and a
range of local institutions have worked together, through Vision King’s Lynn and
the Town Deal Board, to set clear priorities and a vision for King’s Lynn that
delivers:
1. New opportunities for skills and jobs for our young people and all

those affected by Covid-19
2. Growing innovative businesses
3. Arepurposed town centre with new experiences and enterprise
4. A high-quality residential and leisure offer in the historic town core

and riverfront
5. A sustainably connected town

The outcome of this work has resulted in an agreed set of priorities with the
Town Deal Board,;

e Creating a town where people want to come to live and stay

e Developing a local skills pipeline for local opportunities responding to Covid-
19

e Improving digital and sustainable connectivity

e Repurposing the town centre and historic assets for visitors and residents

The Southgates Regeneration Area is a key strategic site identified in the TIP.
While there is no current funding ask for the Southgates area in the Town Deal,
the completed masterplan will provide the detailed strategic framework required
to inform the future funding opportunities, building on the previous work to date
to ensure the strategic case, objectives and desired outcomes for this
regeneration area are clearly defined.

303


file:///C:/Users/jcurtis/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/jcurtis/Downloads/Air_Quality_Action_Plan.pdf
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/downloads/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036
https://www.visionkingslynn.co.uk/document-library/

5 Financial Implications

9

Funding was secured in 2018 from the Norfolk Business Rates Pool of £315,000,
match funded by the Council making a total available budget of £630,000 for the
commissioning of masterplanning, site investigations, surveys and site clearance.
The funding package is contained in the Council’s approved capital programme
2021/22.

Personnel Implications

The masterplanning forms part of the Heritage Action Zone programme and will be
led by the Regeneration & Economic Development section with wider specialism
and expertise from across the Council departments.

Environmental Considerations

The site has a number of environmental considerations that will need to be taken
into consideration through the masterplanning process including;

Part of Friars Conservation Area is within the study area

Part of the site area is within the designated Air Quality Management Area for
the town centre one way system and London Road

The masterplanning should consider opportunities to promote clean growth
and support objectives set out in the Council’s Climate Change Policy.

Statutory Considerations

The study and any site clearance work will consider latest planning, conservation
and environmental policies and guidance in consultation with statutory consultees.

Necessary consents and permissions will be obtained where appropriate for the
site clearance element of the project.

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)

(Pre screening report template attached)

10

Risk Management Implications

Risk Register

11

None

12

NogaswbhrE

Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted

Background Papers

King’s Lynn Transport Strategy, WSP, 2019

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan, NCC (in preparation)

Air Quality Management Area Action Plan

Local Plan (2016-2036)

King’s Lynn Town Investment Plan, 2021

Heritage Action Zone Delivery Plan

Southgate Roundabout and London Road Feasibility Study, WSP, 2020

304


https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20010/regeneration/696/kings_lynn_transport_study_and_strategy
file:///C:/Users/jcurtis/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/jcurtis/Downloads/Air_Quality_Action_Plan.pdf
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/downloads/20216/local_plan_review_2016_-_2036
https://www.visionkingslynn.co.uk/document-library/

Pre-Screening Equality Impact
Assessment

Borough Council of

King’s Lynn & %4
West Norfolk M}

Name of policy/service/function

Regeneration & Economic Development

Is this a new or existing policy/
service/function?

New / Existing-(delete as appropriate)

Brief summary/description of the main
aims of the policy/service/function being
screened.

Please state if this policy/service is rigidly
constrained by statutory obligations

Development of a new masterplan policy for the

regeneration of the Southgates area in King’s Lynn.

Question Answer

1. Is there any reason to believe that the

policy/service/function could have a o g = o

specific impact on people from one or = ‘g = ;

more of the following groups according to § gl 2| 5

their different protected characteristic,

for example, because they have particular Age X

needs, experiences, issues or priorities or

in terms of ability to access the service? Disability X
Gender X

Please tick the relevant box for each Gender Re-assignment X

group.
Marriage/civil partnership X

NB. Equality neutral means no negative Pregnancy & maternity X

impact on any group.

P y grotip Race X

Religion or belief X
Sexual orientation X

Other (eg low income)

305




Question

Answer Comments

2. Is the proposed policy/service likely to
affect relations between certain equality
communities or to damage relations
between the equality communities and the
Council, for example because it is seen as
favouring a particular community or
denying opportunities to another?

¥es-/ No

3. Could this policy/service be perceived
as impacting on communities differently?

Yes / Noe

4. Is the policy/service specifically
designed to tackle evidence of
disadvantage or potential discrimination?

¥es / No

5. Are any impacts identified above minor
and if so, can these be eliminated or
reduced by minor actions?

If yes, please agree actions with a member
of the Corporate Equalities Working Group
and list agreed actions in the comments
section

Yes / No Actions:

Actions agreed by EWG member:

If ‘yes’ to questions 2 - 4 a full impact assessment will be required unless comments are
provided to explain why this is not felt necessary:

Decision agreed by EWG member: .........

Assessment completed by:

Jemma Curtis

Name
Job title Regeneration Programmes Manager
Date 18/05/2021

306




o]

R Southgates
(Grade 1 Listed Property)

Industrial / Commercial
Warehousing

= I —

Retail / Commercial Units & ;\\

y

\

Frederick Savage Statue

Bus Depot

Petrol Station
< Park

Part Middleton Stop Drain

Hard-standing \\\‘ \
N/
=0//) )/
/ '/ / //
[/ // ,/
/ 4
/,/’/,/// / / 0 >
Advertising Hoarding Site
\\ \\ \ \\‘ L
Former NORO Project Office Site [Joo0s
Under Development
(Starbucks Drivethrough)
Developed A
(Nora Housing)
— Regeneration Area
BCKLWN Owned Site
\ Third Party Owned Site
\ \ \‘
‘J “ - Public Highway
| Scale 1:2500 - StatueSite
\Om__25m 50m 100m e 20m [ ] e TA J
4 Title Scale
Masterplanning Brief 1/2500 @ A4
Borough Council of Date
H )
Klng S Lynn & 10/11/2020
West Norfolk Project / Details Drawn by
Southgate Regeneration Area Plan JG
Tel: (01553) 616200 Fax: (01553) 616682 Drawing / Reference Number
Email: EDandP@west-norfolk.gov.uk k N/A
/

307

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100024314

his map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office

)




Agenda Item 15

REPORT TO CABINET

Open Would any decisions proposed :
Any especially (a) Be entirely within cabinet’'s powers to decide ¥ES/NO
affected (b) Need to be recommendations to Council YES/NOG
Wards Operational

(c) Key Decision? — No
Lead Member: ClIr Angie Dickinson Other Cabinet Members consulted:

E-mail: cllr.angie.dickinson@West-

Norfolk.gov.uk Other Members consulted: Audit Committee

Lead Officer: Kathy Woodward / Michelle Other Officers consulted: Management team, Monitoring

Drewery Officer, Personnel and Trade union representative
E-mail: Michelle.Drewery@West-
Norfolk.gov.uk

Direct Dial:
Financial Policy/Person | Statutory Equal Impact Risk Environmental
Implications nel Implications Assessment Management Implications
¥ES/NO Implications ¥ES/NO YES/NG Implications
YES/NO If YES: Pre- ¥ES/NO NO
screening/ Fall
Assessment

Date of meeting: 15 June 2021

ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

Summary

The ‘Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Strategy’, ‘and ‘Fraud Response Plan’ were last
reviewed in 2016/17 and are therefore due for the 3-year review. The documents
have been reviewed and the results have been presented to the Audit Committee.
Audit Committee agreed to approve the new Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy at
its meeting on 17 December 2020 and to recommend to Cabinet and Council for
approval and adoption.

Recommendation
Cabinet is asked to recommend to Council:

1) To consider the changes made to the anti-fraud and anti-corruption strategy
and recommend approval and adoption of the new Anti-Fraud and Anti-
Corruption Policy documents.

Reason for Decision
To bring the documents up-to-date with the Council’s current requirements and
ensure they are fit for purpose.

Background

1.1 The Council needs to remain vigilant in order to safeguard its
resources and to protect its reputation. As a Council, we therefore need
to raise awareness, deter and identify fraud. At the same time, it is

308




1.2

essential to provide the means by which employees, Members and
anyone representing the Council, can raise legitimate concerns when
they feel something has been done that is either illegal or improper.

The Council will always endeavor to promote a culture of honesty,
integrity and openness. This is reflected in its policies and strategies to
deter and prevent fraud and corruption. A comprehensive review was
previously completed in 2014 to provide consistent, up-to-date and fit
for purpose documents. A light review was carried out in 2017. Due to
this and as a result of the new national strategy “Fighting Fraud &
Corruption Locally 2020 Standards” being released in March 2020 an
extensive review has been carried out to update and reflect new and
emerging risks and working practices.

Proposal

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

The revised documents are attached. Since 2017 several changes
have taken place, which need to be reflected in the anti-fraud suite of
documents as outlined below.

The work of the Benefits Enquiry Unit (BEU) on fraud relating to
Benefits has transferred to the Single Fraud Investigation Service
within the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP). Capacity for
investigating fraud relating to Council Tax and Business Rates, as well
as dealing with the National Fraud Initiative work, has been retained
within the Council in the form of a Fraud Investigations Officer/ Internal
Auditor role. Reference to the investigation of Benefit fraud has been
removed from the documents.

The Deputy Chief Executive has left the Council and his responsibilities
in relation to anti-fraud and whistleblowing have been transferred to the
Assistant Director (s151 Officer).

There has been a change in title for the Executive Director, Central
Services to Executive Director, Central and Community Services.

There has been a change in the title of the Audit Committee form Audit
and Risk Committee.

Policy Implications

The proposed Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy will replace the
existing Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy and Fraud Response
Plan.

Financial Implications

Financial implications will include the cost of any prosecution, which
varies dependent upon the case. Prosecution costs are awarded by the
Court. Monies will be recovered where any accounts are adjusted
following investigation actions.

Staffing Implications

309



There is a requirement, under the Councils Facilities and Consultation
Agreement — Code of Practice, to consult in full with Unions regarding
this matter.

Statutory Considerations
None to be considered

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)
The Pre-Screening EIA has been completed with the Equalities
Working Group.

Risk Management
None, this policy is likely to enhance our internal controls to help
protect our services from fraud and corruption.

Background Papers
Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 2020
Audit Committee Review of Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Strategy
and Fraud Response Plan — Introduction of a new Anti-Fraud and Anti-
Corruption Policy. Approved 17 Dec 2020

310



Borough Council of ,.*'xa :
King’s Lynn & .fi o
West Norfolk Mg/,

ANTI-FRAUD & ANTI-

CORRUPTION POLICY
November 2020

311



Contents Page

1. INTRODUCTION. . tutiutiurinrnrnsiasrnranrassasrnrassasnnsansansnsansansanas 2
2. DEFINITIONS. . .o s e e 3
3. POLICY STATEMENT ..ottt rasa s s saeae 5
4. SCOPE......o i 6
5. AIM S e 8
6. OBJIECTIVES. ...t s s e e e 8
7. LEGAL FRAMEWORK AND RELEVANT LEGISLATION......... 8
8. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES...ciuiieiiiiiiensircerinnenaeeas 10
9. RULES AND PROCEDURES......cccoiiiiiiiirirsnare e 13
10.ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-CORRUPTION CULTURE............... 13
11.COLLABORATION. . ituiiiiiririrsnasin e rasna s snssasna e rasnns 15
12. PREVENTION. .. v s v s s e e e 15
13.HOW TO RAISE CONCERNS......cciiiiiiiiiirnn e e 18
14. DETECTION AND INVESTIGATION....tiuiieierinrsnnsnnrinsnnnenns 19
15. DETERRENCE....iiiiiiiiii s s s s r s s rns 22
16.SANCTIONS AND REDRESS.....ccciieiiiiiririenrcrnenaee e 23
17.DATA MATCHING ...t sna s s s enes 23
18. TRAINING AND AWARENESS.....ccoiiiiiiiiinnir e 24
19.MEASURING IMPACT .cuutieiiiierie i ssnna s s naennens 24
20.REPORTING OR COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE.........c.ccvuvuaees 25
21.EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS........ceiiiiiiiiircnn e e 25
22.REFERENCE DOCUMENTS. et ne e 26
23.VERSION CONTROL ..utiuiiiiiieinsnsi s rssa s s senaens 27

312



1.2

1.3

INTRODUCTION

Where people commit fraud against the public sector and public services, they
take money away from the services on which the public depend, and damage
citizens’ trust in the government. The Borough Council of King’'s Lynn and West
Norfolk (the Council) is committed to protecting the public funds entrusted to it
and to upholding the highest standards of financial probity and accountability.
We cannot afford to be complacent and we urge all our members, employees,
contractors and partners to assist us in fighting fraud by having regard to this
policy and the risks of fraud when carrying out their duties, recognising that, if
uncontrolled, fraud diverts much needed resources from our communities.

The “Annual Fraud Indicator” produced by Crowe Clark Whitehall estimated
that local authorities faced the threat of £7.8bn fraud during 2017, with the
public sector as a whole facing £40.4bn (£4.3bn relating to procurement fraud).
The Government’s “Economic Crime Plan” published in June 2019 stated that
the number of fraud offences rose by 12% during 2018 to 3.6 million,
constituting a third of all crimes in the UK. Fraud is now the second most
common type of crime across England and Wales. The “Economic Crime Plan”,
also introduced a common definition of economic crime across the public and
private sectors, and sets out that economic crime refers to a broad category of
activity involving money, finance or assets, the purpose of which is to unlawfully
obtain a profit or advantage for the perpetrator or cause loss to others. This
poses a threat to the UK’s economy and its institutions and causes serious
harm to society and individuals. It includes activity which:

e Allows criminals to benefit from the proceeds of their crimes or fund further

criminality,

e Damages our financial systems and harms the interests of legitimate
business,

e Undermines the integrity of the UK’s position as an international finance
centre, and

e Poses arisk to the UK’s prosperity, national security and reputation.

This policy recognises that the terms “fraud” and “corruption” form part of a
much wider agenda, but the policy has not been re-titled “economic crime”;
however, acknowledging this enables us to have an awareness and provide a
holistic response to the following types of criminality:

e Fraud against the individual, private sector and public sector

e Terrorist financing

e Sanctions contravention

e Market abuse

e Corruption and bribery

e The laundering of proceeds of all crimes.

313



1.4

15

2.2

This policy details the Council’s arrangements for managing the risk of fraud

and corruption. We are committed to reducing losses from fraud by using an

integrated approach which encompasses the Fighting Fraud and Corruption

Locally (FFCL) 2020’s standards of:

e Governance (accountability, leadership, awareness, strategy, resources,
authority and independence),

e Operations (capability & competency, risk assessment, intelligence & data,
collaboration, prevention, investigation and redress), and

e Reporting (measurement, transparency and monitoring).

The threat and risks of fraud and corruption are ever evolving and can quickly
develop into new and complex fraud attacks and as such our response to
countering fraud needs to be dynamic as developments in technology, social
change and other factors create new challenges.

DEFINITIONS

This policy is designed to cover the risks associated with theft, fraud,
corruption, bribery and ICT abuse, whether they are perpetrated by employees,
councillors, residents, visitors, contractors, suppliers or individuals and
organisations unconnected with the Council. For the purpose of this policy the
following definitions are used:

Fraud

Fraud is a general term covering theft, deliberate misuse or misappropriation of
assets or anything that leads to a financial advantage to the perpetrator or
others upon whose behalf he or she acts, even if these “others” are in
ignorance of the fraud. Fraud is in fact intentional deceit and for this reason it
cannot include negligence.

Fraud is defined as the intentional distortion of financial statements or other
records by persons internal or external to the authority which is carried out to
conceal the misappropriation of assets or otherwise for gain.

In addition, fraud can also be defined as the intentional distortion of financial
statements or other records by persons internal or external to the authority
which is carried out to mislead or misrepresent.

The Fraud Act 2006 which came into effect on 15™ January 2007 created a
new general offence of fraud with three ways of committing it: -

a. Fraud by false representation,

b. Fraud by failing to disclose information, and

c. Fraud by abuse of position.

314



2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

Theft

A person is guilty of theft under the Theft Act 1968 if they dishonestly
appropriate property belonging to another with the intention of permanently
depriving the other of it. It is immaterial whether the appropriation is made with
a view to gain, or is made for the thief's own benefit. In terms of “appropriation”,
any assumption by a person of the rights of an owner amounts to an
appropriation, and this includes, where they have come by the property
(innocently or not) without stealing it, any later assumption of a right to it by
keeping or dealing with it as owner. “Property” includes money and all other
property, real or personal, including things in action and other intangible

property.

Corruption
Corruption is defined as the offering, promising or giving a payment or benefit-

in-kind in order to influence others to use their position in an improper way to
gain an advantage. It is also a criminal offence to request, agree to receive or
accept a bribe.

Bribery
A bribe is a financial or other advantage that is offered or requested with the

intention of inducing or rewarding the improper performance of a relevant
function or activity, or with the knowledge or belief that the acceptance of such
an advantage would constitute the improper performance of such a function or
activity. The Bribery Act 2010 reformed criminal law regarding bribery related
offences, making it easier to tackle this offence proactively in both the public
and private sectors. Four main offences of bribery were created as a result of
the act:

e Offence of bribing another person

e Offence of being bribed

e Bribery of foreign public officials

e Failure of commercial organisations to prevent bribery

The corporate offence of failure to prevent bribery means that commercial
organisations (including public organisation’s wholly owned companies,
subsidiary companies, and traded services) and their boards may be exposed
to criminal liability if it is found that adequate procedures to prevent bribery
have not been implemented.

ICT Abuse
There is no definition of ICT fraud and abuse, but the Audit Commission
devised the following list to determine the different acts that it covers:

315



Type of ICT Fraud or Abuse | Ways Committed

° Virus infections/denial of service

Business Disruption o Hacking
o Sabotage

Reputational Damage o Accessing inappropriate material
o Invasion of privacy

o Using unlicensed software

o Unauthorised alteration of input

o Destroying, stealing or suppressing output
o Making unapproved changes to stored
Financial Loss information

o Amending or misusing programs

o Using ICT facilities for private work

o Theft of information

2.7 Money Laundering
Money laundering is a term applied to any method used to convert or exchange
money or assets obtained from criminal activity into money or assets that are
“clean”, in such a way that the “clean” money can no longer be linked back to
the criminal activity. Whilst the risk of money laundering to the Council is
relatively low and the provisions of the Money Laundering Regulations 2007 do
not strictly apply to the Council as an organisation, it has adopted an “Anti-
Money Laundering Policy” as good practice. This policy supports all staff in
complying with the money laundering provisions included within the Proceeds
of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by the Crime and Courts Act 2013, Serious
Crime Act 2015 and the Criminal Finances Act 2017), Terrorism Act 2000 (as
amended by the Criminal Finances Act 2017) and the Money Laundering,
Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the Payer)
Regulations 2017 as amended by Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing
(Amendment) Regulations 2019.

3. POLICY STATEMENT

3.1 The Council is committed to the prevention, detection and deterrence of fraud
and corruption and the protection of public funds. This policy is the over-arching
anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy for the Council and all of the varying
functions that it delivers, including any functions and activities delivered through
its Local Authority Trading Companies (LATCs) in its fight against fraud and
corruption both internally and externally. For the purpose of this Policy the term
“Council” refers the Council and its LATCs.

316



SCOPE

The Council faces several different fraud and corruption risks over a large
range of service areas and functions that it undertakes. The Internal Audit team
have developed and maintain a Fraud Risk Register for its internal use to
establish risks and highlight internal controls that can be used to mitigate those
risks to minimum/acceptable levels. The Fraud Risk Register enables the
Council to identify both internal and external fraud and corruption risks and then
assess their likelihood and impact. It then evaluates the risks and identifies
internal anti-fraud controls to be implemented to prevent, detect and mitigate
residual fraud risk. The Fraud Risk Register is maintained as a live document in
order to continue to inform and update on counter fraud activities and controls
required. The fraud risks that the Council face include (but are not limited to):

All Service Areas/Corporately

e Commissioning of Services, including joint commissioning, joint ventures,
commercial services and partnerships with voluntary organisations
involving risk of conflicts of interest, collusion, etc.

e False payment of grants, loans or other financial support to any private
individual or company, charity, or non-governmental organisation.

e False identity/fictitious persons applying for services/payments.

e Where an officer receives an email purporting to be from a senior officer
requesting an urgent payment is made to a specified account.

e Exposure to suspect transactions (including money laundering).

e Cartels and organised crime groups (OCGSs) increase prices by reducing or
removing competition. OCGs can fraudulently obtain social housing or taxi
licensing, make fraudulent benefit claims or use Council services to launder
criminal proceeds.

e The introduction of corporate criminal offences under the Criminal Finances
Act 2017 introduces a strict liability for failing to prevent the facilitation of
tax evasion by an associate of the Council, such as an employee or
contractor. For example, a Council employee conspires with a supplier to
falsify the amount paid on an invoice so that the supplier can evade paying
income or corporate taxes. The Council will need to ensure that risks are
identified and that procedures proportionate to those risks have been
implemented.

e Bribery related matters.

e Theft of cash, assets or other items such as data/information.

e Work not carried out, funds diverted, ineligibility not declared.

Care & Repair
e Fraudulent applications for adaptions/disabled facilities grants to homes
aimed at the disabled.

317



Financial Services

e Where the Council receives a telephone call, email or letter purporting to be
from a supplier requesting that their bank account details are amended.

e False claims, including slips and trips.

Housing and Tenancy Related

e Fraudulent applications under the right to buy/acquire.

e False applications for assistance with housing requirements.

e Fraudulent applications for housing or successions of tenancy, and
subletting of the property. Local Authorities have the powers and
jurisdiction to investigate tenancy fraud offences relating to social housing
(including on behalf of Housing Associations) under the Prevention of
Social Housing Fraud Act 2013.

ICT

e According to Big Brother Watch: Cyber-attacks in local authorities
(February 2018) there are 37 attempted breaches recorded every minute.
Cyber criminals use a variety of methods to expose and extract information
and money from councils. GDPR increases the impact of cyber threats for
councils as serious data breaches could result in penalties of up to 20
million euros or 4% of annual turnover being imposed by the Information
Commissioner’s Office (ICO).

Payroll
e False (“ghost”) employees, fraudulent overtime and expenses claims.

Planning
e Relating to Section 106 Agreements and Community Infrastructure Levy
(CIL) payments.

Procurement
e Number of potential procurement frauds, such as contract and tendering
issues, split contracts, double invoicing, etc.

Revenues & Benefits

e Fraudulent applications for exemptions and reliefs (such a Small Business
Rate Relief), unlisted properties (i.e. hereditaments that have not been
appropriately registered for billing purposes).

¢ Fraudulent applications for and/or failure to report changes affecting
discounts and exemptions (such a Single Person Discount, Student
Disregards, Zero Occupancies and second home discounts, etc.).

¢ Fraudulent applications for and/or failure to report changes affecting
Council Tax Support claims (such as undeclared partner’s and/or other

318



5.2

7.2

household members, undeclared income, undeclared capital, property,
savings and/or investments).

AIMS

This policy recognises that the Council as a large organisation is at risk of loss
due to fraud and corruption both internally and externally. As such this policy
sets out the approach that the Council uses to manage the risk of fraud and
corruption and minimise the losses incurred.

There is an expectation and requirement that all Members, employees,
consultants, contractors, partner organisations, volunteers and service users be
fair and honest, and if able to do so, provide help, information and support to
assist the investigation of fraud and corruption. In addition, advice on how
members of the public may raise suspicions about fraud and corruption is
contained within this policy.

OBJECTIVES

The purpose of this policy is to clarify to Members, employees, the general

public and other organisations what the Council’s policy and approach is and

how the Council intends to meet its responsibilities relating to fraud and

corruption, whether attempted internally or externally. The Council is committed

to an effective anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy designed to:

a) Encourage prevention,

b) Promote detection and deterrence,

c) Ensure effective investigation where suspected fraud or corruption has
occurred, and

d) Take action (including prosecuting offenders) where appropriate.

LEGAL FRAMEWORK AND RELEVANT LEGISLATION

Local Authorities have a statutory duty under Section 151 of the Local
Government Finance Act 1972 to make arrangements for the proper
administration of their financial affairs. This includes the prevention, detection
and deterrence of fraud and corruption.

In terms of Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption there are various criminal offences
that can be considered. Section 2 (Definitions) of this policy refers to some of
the criminal offences and relevant legislation to be considered. Alongside the
offence legislation there are also other relevant pieces of legislation that govern
the code of conduct in terms of investigation of offences:

319



Human Rights Act 1998 (HRA) and the European Convention on Human Rights

(ECHR)

The Human Rights Act 1998 (HRA) applies to all public authorities. It
incorporates the Articles contained in the European Convention on Human
Rights (ECHR) into domestic law, making it unlawful for public bodies, to act in
a way which is incompatible with the Convention. Paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 to
the HRA lists the Articles under the ECHR. Those listed below are those most
relevant to operational policing (investigating) and include the following rights:

Article 1 Protection of property

Article 2 Right to life

Article 3 Prohibition of torture

Article 4 Prohibition of slavery and forced labour
Article 5 Right to liberty and security

Article 6 Right to a fair trial

Article 7 No punishment without law

Article 8 Right to respect for private and family life
Article 9 Freedom of thought, conscience and religion
Article 10 Freedom of expression

Article 11 Freedom of assembly and association
Article 12 Right to marry

Article 14 Prohibition of discrimination.

Criminal Procedure Investigation Act 1996 (CPIA)

CPIA outlines the disclosure requirements for criminal investigations where
persons are charged with a summary offence, indictable offence or one that is
triable either way. CPIA further defines a criminal investigation and outlines the
codes of practice for any investigation.

Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (and the Codes of Practice) (PACE)
PACE sets out the balance between the powers of the police (or in terms of the
Council, its investigating officers) and the rights and freedoms of the public. The
PACE codes of practice cover:

. Stop and search

. Arrest

J Detention

. Investigation
o Identification
. Interviewing

The Regqulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) and the Investigatory
Powers Act 2016 (IPA)

RIPA and IPA relate to the use of covert surveillance techniques, such as:

o Directed surveillance,

o Covert human intelligence sources; and

o The acquisition of communications data.

320


http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents

The Council has a separate policy regarding this known as “The Regulation of
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) Policy”.

The Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA) and the General Data Protection

Requlations (GDPR)

In terms of investigations and anti-fraud and anti-corruption, DPA and GDPR

govern how personal information/data and other sensitive data is recorded,

retained and revealed. DPA and GDPR contain provisions of certain

exemptions which can be used:

o For the purposes of the prevention and/or detection of crime (including
fraud and corruption);

o The assessment and/or collection of any tax or imposition of a similar
nature, and,

o For the apprehension and/or prosecution of offenders.

8. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
8.1 The following structures are recognised within the Council:

Role Responsibility

All Councillors e Uphold the highest standards of conduct and
conduct themselves in ways that are beyond
reproach.

e Demonstrate a commitment to this policy and ensure it
has the appropriate profile within the Council.
e Facilitate an Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption culture.

All Employees e Uphold the highest standards of conduct and
conduct themselves in ways that are beyond
reproach.

e Understand and comply with the Council’s Anti-Fraud
and Anti-Corruption Policy.

e Understand their responsibility to report suspected
fraud or corruption and how to do it.

e Understand the need to declare any interests that may
conflict with their work for the Council.

Cabinet e To approve the Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy.
e Ensure the policy is effectively implemented across the
Council.
Audit Committee e To monitor and review the effectiveness of the

Council’s risk management arrangements, internal
controls and related counter fraud arrangements.

Chief Executive e Ensure that there is strong political and executive

10
321



support for work to counter fraud and corruption.
Ensure consistency across Directorates in the
implementation of this policy.

Monitoring Officer

To report on matters they believe are, or are likely to
be, illegal or amount to maladministration.

To be responsible for matters relating to the conduct of
Councillors and employees.

To be responsible for the operation of the Council’s
Constitution.

Assistant Director,
Resources (S151
Officer)

Assistant Director with specific responsibility for the
investigation and detection of fraud.

To ensure the Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy is
reviewed and maintained at appropriate intervals.
Ensure that those working to counter fraud and
corruption are undertaking the work in accordance with
a clear ethical framework and standards of personal
conduct.

Ensure that those working to counter fraud and
corruption are professionally trained and accredited for
their role and attend regular refresher courses to
ensure they are up to date with new developments and
legislation.

Ensure that there is a level of financial investment in
counter fraud and corruption work that is proportionate
to the risk identified.

Ensure that reports on investigations include a section

on identified internal control weaknesses that enabled
the fraud to take place and action to be taken to correct
the weakness where appropriate.

Executive Director,

Ensure there are effective recruitment procedures in

Central and place, implemented by appropriately trained officers.
Community Ensure employment policies support the Anti-Fraud and
Services Anti-Corruption Policy.
Ensure effective and appropriate sanctions are applied
in all relevant cases.
Executive Ensure the risks of fraud and corruption are identified

Directors/Assistant
Directors

and procedures implemented to reduce the risk to an
acceptable level.

Ensure the Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy is
implemented within their Directorate.

Ensure the risk of fraud and corruption is considered in
all new processes and appropriate procedures
implemented.

Determine the appropriateness of gifts and hospitality
offered to employees within their Directorate.

Maintain a Register of Interests and a Register of Gifts

and Hospitality for their employees/service areas.

11
322




Managers

Ensure all their employees are aware of their
responsibilities under the Anti-Fraud and Anti-
Corruption Policy.

Ensure all their employees are aware of all relevant
policies and procedures relating to official conduct of
Council business.

Ensure all their employees are aware of, and
understand, the Whistleblowing Policy and
arrangements, and the process for reporting fraud.
Ensure accurate and timely reporting of gifts and

hospitality, and declaration of interests by employees.

Internal Audit

Be influential to the Council, understanding fraud and
corruption, and how it is evolving, and be responsible
for the Council’s response.

Support Executive/Assistant Directors and Managers in
identifying and mitigating risks for fraud and corruption.
Undertake a planned programme of internal audits to
examine the system of internal controls and agree
actions to correct any identified weaknesses.
Undertake data matching exercises with national/local
bodies and investigate results for potential frauds.
Provide specialist skills in investigating allegations of

fraud, especially where it may result in a prosecution.

Democratic
Services Manager

Ensure Members are aware of their obligations in
respect of the Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy.
Ensure members are aware of, and abide by, their
obligations in relation to probity.

Maintain a Register of Interests and a Register of Gifts
and Hospitality for Members and employees.

8.2

Those charged with governance as above will:

o Acknowledge their responsibility for the management of fraud and
corruption risks to the Council;

. Demonstrate support and strategic direction for counter fraud work;

o Help to create the anti-fraud and corruption culture which can be
reinforced by their active oversight across the Council;

o Have regard to the rights of citizens and conduct practices ethically and
with integrity - following due process; and

. Champion adherence to the above responsibilities and the Council’s
Corporate Framework (including the Corporate Code of Conduct) and
making contractors and consultants aware.

12
323




9.2

9.3

9.4

10.
10.1

RULES AND PROCEDURES

The Council has various procedures and rules to ensure that the day to day
operations and activities are properly controlled and are an important part of the
internal control framework. These include: -

o Council Constitution including Financial Regulations;

o Contract Standing Orders Procurement Rules;

o Code of Conduct for Councillors and Voting Co-opted Members;

o Officers’ Code of Conduct; and

o Scheme of Delegation.

Individual Services will have also introduced their own measures designed to
control their activities e.g. schemes of delegation, working manuals etc.

Assistant Directors and Service Managers need to ensure that staff have
access to these rules and regulations and that staff receive appropriate training.

Failure to comply with the rules and regulations may result in formal action
being taken. In the case of employees this would be through the Council's
disciplinary process and for Members would involve the Standards Committee.
It is the responsibility of the Monitoring Officer to report matters to the
Standards Committee.

ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-CORRUPTION CULTURE

In order to tackle fraud and corruption effectively, the Council aims to develop
and maintain an anti-fraud culture which maximises the engagement of all
Members, employees, contractors and partners of the Council. We all have a
collective responsibility to have an awareness of fraud and corruption, and
should consider the following five Fraud and Corruption Principles:

1. Thereis always going to be fraud

- It is a fact that some individuals will look to make gain where there is
opportunity, and the Council needs robust processes in place to prevent,
detect and respond to fraud and corruption.

2. Finding fraud is a good thing
- If you do not find fraud you cannot fight it. The identification of fraud
should be viewed as a positive and proactive achievement.

3. Thereis no one solution
- Addressing fraud needs a holistic response incorporating detection,
prevention and redress, underpinned by a strong understanding of risk. It

13
324



also requires cooperation between organisations under a spirit of
collaboration.

4. Fraud and corruption are ever changing

- Fraud, and counter fraud practices, evolve very quickly and the Council
must be agile and change its approach to deal with these evolutions when
the need arises.

5. Prevention is the most effective way to address fraud and corruption

- Preventing fraud through effective counter fraud practices reduces the
loss and reputational damage (although this can be difficult to measure). It
also requires less resources than an approach focused on detection and
recovery.

10.2 This policy recognises that the Council should strive for a culture and tone of
honesty, and opposition to fraud and corruption.

10.3 There is an expectation and requirement that all individuals, businesses and
organisations dealing in any way with the Council will act with high standards of
probity, openness and integrity and that Council Members, employees or its
agent(s) at all levels will lead by example in these matters.

10.4 The Secretary of State has specified the general principles which are to cover
the “conduct of members and co-opted members”. The Council will develop its
working behaviour around these principles.

10.5 The “Council’'s Codes of Conduct for Members and Employees” sets out an
approach to work that is honest, fair, accountable and, as far as possible,
transparent. Members and employees must act in line with the codes at all
times.

10.6 The Council’s employees are a vital element in its stance against fraud and
corruption, and they are positively encouraged to raise any concerns that they
may have.

10.7 All information supplied will be dealt with fairly, confidentially and in line with the
Council’s internal sets of procedures.

10.8 Assistant Directors are expected to deal firmly and quickly with those who are
corrupt, who seek to corrupt, who defraud, or who seek to defraud the Council.
Cases involving staff will usually lead to disciplinary action, which may result in
dismissal. Where there is prima facie evidence that a criminal offence has been
committed internally it is the policy of the Council to refer cases to the Police.

14
325



10.9

There is a need to ensure that any investigative process is not misused and,
therefore, any abuse, such as raising unfounded malicious allegations, may be
dealt with as a disciplinary matter.

10.10 In relation to complaints involving Members, Internal Audit will consult the

Monitoring Officer on whether or not the complaint falls within the scope of the
“‘Members’ Code of Conduct” and if so, what further steps (if any) should be
taken.

10.11 The Standards Committee includes amongst its roles and functions the

11.
111

11.2

12.
12.1

promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct by Members,
assisting Members to observe the “Members’ Code of Conduct” and the
monitoring and operation of the “Member’s and Officer's Codes of Conduct”.
The Audit Committee maintains an overview of Internal and External Audit in
relation to the “Member’s Code of Conduct” and an overview of the
“Whistleblowing Policy”.

COLLABORATION

Arrangements are in place and will be maintained to facilitate joint working to
enhance the counter fraud activity, and to liaise proactively with other
organisations and agencies to assist in countering fraud, sharing resources,
skills and learning, good practice and innovation, and information. Information
will be exchanged as appropriate on national and local fraud and corruption
activity and arrangements with external organisations including:

o The Police;

o Other councils and housing associations;

o Partner organisations to the Council,

. The External Auditor;

o The Local Government Ombudsman;

. The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP);

o The Cabinet Office;

. The National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN);

. Other member organisations of the Norfolk FraudHub.

Through such arrangements the Council will also benefit from a range of
appropriately skilled people from diverse counter fraud disciplines including,
and beyond, investigation.

PREVENTION
There are a number of key processes that can assist in the prevention of fraud,
including:

15
326



12.2

12.3

Internal Control Systems,

Employee recruitment and conduct,

Joint working to prevent and combat fraud,
Use of technology, and

The work of the Audit Committee.

abrwnpeE

Internal Control Systems

Internal controls are in place to prevent fraud. It is the responsibility of all
managers to establish and maintain systems of internal control and to assure
themselves that those controls are properly applied as intended. This includes
responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud and corruption.

The Council implements strong systems of verification of all claims for all types
of financial assistance. All data available will be used to corroborate information
given by applicants for the purpose of prevention and detection of fraud. Grants
and assistance given to external organisations will be monitored to ensure
applications are genuine.

The Council also expects partners and contractors to have adequate controls
and Whistleblowing procedures in place to minimise fraud and corruption, and
this will be written into all contract terms and agreements. Due diligence
processes (including monitoring) will also be put in place when engaging and
contracting with third parties by the project lead/responsible officer(s).

The Internal Audit Team will ensure that an adequate and effective internal
audit is undertaken of the Council’s systems and processes and will investigate
allegations of fraud and corruption. Any system weaknesses that are identified
as part of these investigations will be reported to the relevant manager /
Assistant Director and an action plan agreed to remedy the issue. The Audit
Committee will receive regular reports from the Internal Audit Manager on the
results of internal audits and any investigations, including follow-up on the
implementation of agreed actions.

The Internal Audit Team have also developed a Fraud Risk Register which is
being used to understand what information and data is held within each service
area within the Council that could be subject to fraud and corruption. Internal
Audit will maintain the Fraud Risk Register to support the mitigation of risk
through the implementation of effective controls.

Employee recruitment and conduct

Recruitment procedures require that all applicants will provide evidence of any
gualifications claimed and all references will be taken up. The right to work in
the country will also need to be demonstrated where necessary.

16
327



All employees must abide by the Council’s rules as contained in relevant
policies and procedures. This expectation forms part of the employee’s contract
of employment. Employees are also expected to follow any additional Codes of
Conduct of professional bodies to which they belong.

All new Members and employees shall be given access to this policy document
as part of their initial induction process.

12.4 Joint working to prevent and detect fraud
The Council participates in data-matching exercises such as the National Fraud
Initiative (NFI), and the Norfolk FraudHub. The Council also makes full use of
its statutory powers to obtain information using bodies such as the National
Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) to identify possible instances of fraud. The Internal
Audit team also conduct joint working with the DWP for the purposes of
investigating benefit fraud/error and with Housing Associations for the
investigation of Right to Acquire and Tenancy Fraud.

12.5 Use of Technology

The Council will make use of technology and other measures made available
for the prevention and detection of fraud and corruption; this may include
software available for these purposes where an appropriate Data Privacy
Impact Assessment has been undertaken and legislation allows their use.
Examples of such software include the use of “AppCheck”, an application
checking tool available through the Cabinet Office to highlight risk relating to
applications that have been received which may be fraudulent.

12.6 Audit Committee
The Terms of Reference for the Audit Committee require it to ‘assess the
potential harm to the council from fraud and corruption, monitoring counter-
fraud policy, action and resources’. As such the Committee receives regular
reports from the Internal Audit Manager on work carried out and considers the
adequacy of the Council’s polices relating to the prevention and detection of
fraud and corruption.

12.7 All Members and employees are required within 28 days of receiving any gift or
hospitality over £25 to provide written notification to the Monitoring Officer or
their Assistant Director, of the existence and nature of the gift or hospitality.
Registers are maintained of all declarations.

12.8 Members are required to declare their personal and prejudicial interests in
accordance with the Code of Conduct for Members and Voting Co-opted
Members and to act in accordance with the Code.

17
328



12.9 All employees must comply with any requirements of the Council to register or
declare interests and declare hospitality, benefits or gifts received as a
consequence of his or her employment. Registers of Interests, memberships of,
or associations with, clubs, societies and other organisations are kept to protect
and safeguard the interests of all staff and the Council, where conflicts of
interest may arise. Examples of where conflicts of interest may arise and how
they should be approached are given below:

. Employees should not have any involvement in the procuring of goods
and/or services from a supplier that is a friend / family member or other
associate such as their landlord.

J Employees should not have any involvement in the processing of invoices
relating to goods or services from a supplier that is a friend / family
member or other associate such as their landlord.

o Employees should not have any involvement in the assessment /
processing of claims for grants, benefits, or any other type of financial
assistance relating to a friend/family member or other associate such as
their landlord.

. Employees should not have any involvement in the handling / processing
of any forms / documents relating to business rates accounts, council tax
accounts or tenancies / leases of friends / family members or other
associates, such as their landlord.

. Employees should not have any involvement in cash transactions or any
other type of financial transactions that relate to friends / family members
or other associates, such as their landlord.

12.10 Any employees found to be in breach of these controls will be subject to
disciplinary proceedings.

12.11 The Council is committed to working and co-operating with other
organisations to prevent organised fraud and corruption. This may involve the
exchange of information with other organisations and data matching (in
accordance with the Data Protection Act and General Data Protection
Regulations 2018).

12.12 The Council will conduct other anti-fraud and anti-corruption measures as it
sees fit where they are compliant with relevant legislation and/or regulations.

13. HOW TO RAISE CONCERNS

13.1 All employees, Members, customers, suppliers, contractors and members of
the public can raise their concerns either via:
o Contacting the Council’'s Customer Information Centre (01553 616200)
o Emailing internalauditemail@west-norfolk.gov.uk

18
329


mailto:internalauditemail@west-norfolk.gov.uk

Directly contacting the Council’s Internal Audit Service (01553 616701)
Writing to Internal Audit, Borough Council of King's Lynn & West Norfolk,
King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, Norfolk, PE30 1PX

13.2 Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Council Tax Support) fraud can be reported
via the following channels:

Contacting the Council’'s Customer Information Centre (01553 616200)
By email to benefit.fraud@west-norfolk.gov.uk

Online via the Borough Council’s website at https://www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/info/20021/benefit fraud/4/report_benefit fraud

Writing to Internal Audit, Borough Council of King's Lynn & West Norfolk,
King’'s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, Norfolk, PE30 1PX

13.3 The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy provides further information of how to
report other concerns, such as:

Unlawful activity;

Conduct contrary to the Council’s Standing Orders or policies;

Where standards or practices fall below the established standards; or
amounts to improper conduct such as malpractice or ill treatment of a
client/customer;

Where a criminal offence has been committed, is being committed or is
likely to be committed;

Suspected internal fraud,;

Disregard for legislation, particularly in relation to health and safety at
work;

Breaches of Financial Regulations, Contract Standing Orders, ICT
Security Policy;

Showing undue favour over a contractual matter or to a job applicant;
Falsification or manipulation of financial records;

Breaches of any code of conduct or protocaol,

Information on any of the above has been, is being, or is likely to be
concealed;

Falsifying of job applications.

14. DETECTION AND INVESTIGATION

14.1 Whilst it is possible to reduce the potential for fraud within the Councll, it is
important to acknowledge that it is not possible to eradicate it. Therefore, it is
essential that Members and employees are aware of what to do should they
detect or genuinely suspect a fraud has or is taking place.

19

330


mailto:benefit.fraud@west-norfolk.gov.uk
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20021/benefit_fraud/4/report_benefit_fraud
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20021/benefit_fraud/4/report_benefit_fraud

14.2 What should be reported?
Concerns which should be reported include, but are not limited to staff/Council
Members/Associates or others committing or attempting to commit:
o Any dishonest or fraudulent act.
o Forgery or alteration of documents or accounts.
o Misappropriation of funds, supplies or other assets.
. Impropriety in the handling or reporting of money or financial transactions.
o Profiting from an official position.
o Disclosure of official activities or information for advantage.
o Accepting or seeking value from third parties by virtue of official position
or duties.
. Theft or misuse of property, facilities or services.
o Offering or receiving bribes.

External organisations’ actions which should be reported include:

. Being offered a bribe or inducement by a supplier.

o Receiving fraudulent (rather than erroneous) invoices from a supplier.
. Reported allegations of corruption or deception by a supplier.

14.3 What happens if we are contacted by the press in relation to suspected or
actual fraud, bribery or corruption?
Any public statements or press releases regarding pending, current or completed
investigations of financial impropriety, fraud, bribery and/or corruption should only
be made through the Communications Manager and will be authorised by Chief
Executive, Assistant Director, Resources (S151 Officer) or Executive Director,
Central and Community Services prior to release. Employees, Members and third
parties of the Council should not make any public statement regarding suspected
financial impropriety, fraud, bribery and/or corruption in order to avoid making
libellous statements, or statements that may prejudice ongoing investigations or
any subsequent disciplinary/legal action. Public or press requests for information
should also be referred to the Communications Manager. The Communications
Manager should optimise the publicity opportunities available to make employees
and the public aware of the Council’s commitment to taking action against fraud
and corruption. As such any action taken relating to acts of fraud and corruption
should, wherever possible, be reported in the press, as a deterrent to other
potential offenders.

14.4 Alternatively, the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy encourages and enables
employees to raise any serious concerns. Employees who report their concerns
in this way are afforded certain rights and protections under the Public Interest
Disclosure Act 1998.

20
331



14.5 The preventative measures described in the previous section significantly
reduce the risk of fraud and corruption but cannot eliminate it entirely. The
operation of the internal controls in a system may alert employees to potential
fraud. However, many frauds are discovered by chance or ‘tip off'.

14.6 Financial Regulations require that whenever any matter arises which involves
or is thought to involve financial or other irregularity, the relevant Executive
Director/Assistant Director concerned must immediately notify the Assistant
Director, Resources (S151 Officer), Monitoring Officer or the Audit Manager.
Where a member of staff identifies a potential fraud or irregularity, they should
follow the guidance in the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy and this policy.
Reporting cases in this way is essential to this policy to ensure that:

o All suspected cases of fraud and corruption are investigated properly;

. There is a standard process for dealing with all suspected cases of fraud
and corruption; and

o People and the Council’s interests are protected.

14.7 Internal Audit will consult with the relevant Assistant Directors to decide on the
type and course of investigations. Personnel staff will also be consulted and
involved where appropriate in investigations, particularly where they may lead
to disciplinary action. This will include referring cases to the Police where
necessary. Internal Audit may also seek informal advice from the Police in the
early stages of an investigation. Care will be taken to ensure that internal
disciplinary procedures are followed but do not prejudice any criminal case.

14.8 Allegations of fraud will be assessed by the Internal Audit Manager or
Investigations Officer with the relevant Assistant Director, Assistant Director
Resources (S151 Officer) and Executive Director, Central and Community
Services. The appropriate course of action will be agreed and if necessary,
investigated by a suitably qualified senior member of staff independent of the
area under suspicion or by a suitably qualified external person (“the
investigating officer”) appointed by the Assistant Director (or if they are the
subject of the allegation, an Executive Director, the Chief Executive or Chair of
the Audit Committee). Before making such an appointment, consultation may
be undertaken with any member of the Executive Director Team, the Chief
Executive, the Leader of the Council, the Chair of the Audit Committee, and any
other person whom they consider appropriate. This may include staff from
technical areas to provide specific insight into any relevant issues.

14.9 If the initial enquiry reveals that further investigation needs to take place, it may
be necessary to preserve the available evidence. Evidence may take various
forms and the way it should be handled is as follows:

21
332



o Original documents — these should be handled as little as possible and
placed in a protective folder with only one person responsible for
maintaining them in a secure/locked place.

o Computer held data — the computer should be secured, and the IT
department consulted on how to best retrieve the data.

o Cash — where cash needs to be counted, this should be done so by the
person responsible for it and their manager. A statement should then be
signed to confirm a correct record of the amount.

o Video evidence — any video recording that could provide information of
value should be secured so that it can be treated in accordance with the
rules of evidence. Under no circumstances should it be viewed by anyone.

14.10 Progress on any fraud or corruption investigations will be reported to the Chief
Executive/Leader of the Council who will report to the Leader of the Council
and/or the Chair of the Audit Committee and any other person or organisation
they consider appropriate under all the circumstances.

14.11 Allegations of fraud against Members which results in a complaint of
misconduct under the Members’ Code of Conduct will be dealt with in
accordance with the codes of conduct established within the Localism Act
2011.

14.12 Where controls have been found to have not been followed or in the event
that poor controls are identified as a contributing factor to fraud and corruption,
these details will be captured as lessons learned and fed into the Fraud Risk
Register and highlighted to the relevant Service areas by the Internal Audit
Team in order to maintain a process of continuous improvement and to keep
the Council’s response to Fraud and Corruption dynamic.

15. DETERRENCE
15.1 The Council will seek the most appropriate sanction and redress against all
those who commit fraud and/or corruption against the Council.

15.2 Where appropriate we will publicise details of criminal convictions and provide
statistical information in relation to disciplinary action to deter others who may
consider committing such offences themselves.

15.3 All managers have a responsibility for ensuring that control measures are in
place to minimise the risk of fraud and ensure all staff are aware of these
procedures. Where effective controls are in place there is less opportunity to
commit fraud, which in turn acts as a deterrent.

22
333



15.4 It is essential that all Members and officers (including agency staff, volunteers
and contractors) adhere to the responsibilities set out within the “Roles and
Responsibilities” section of this policy to assist in the deterrence of fraud and
corruption.

16. SANCTIONS AND REDRESS

16.1 The strongest available sanctions will be pursued against all who commit fraud
and/or corruption against the Council. This may include disciplinary action,
prosecution, civil proceedings or a combination of all. The decision to
recommend any or all of these sanctions will be made on a case by case basis,
having regard to the nature and extent of the fraud and evidence available.

16.2 At the conclusion of the investigation a report will be written, concluding on
whether there is a case to answer. The final decision on the course of action to
be taken will be made by the Executive Director/Assistant Director concerned.
Any decision to refer the matter to the police will be taken jointly by the
Assistant Director, Resources (S151 Officer), Executive Director, Central and
Community Services and the relevant Assistant Director of the service affected.

16.3 In cases of proven fraud, the Council will seek to recover any monies and will
use all means available to recover these amounts. This can include freezing
assets, Compensation Orders, Confiscation Orders, Civil Litigation and general
debt recovery according to the circumstances of the fraud.

16.4 Where a criminal conviction has been secured, the Council will seek a
Compensation Order through the Courts and also consider using the Proceeds
of Crime Act 2002 to recover losses.

17. DATA MATCHING
17.1 The Council will undertake data matching exercises as appropriate for the
purposes of identifying and reducing fraud and corruption.

17.2 Monthly data matching files and Real Time Information (RTI) are received from
the DWP and the information used to identify any incorrectness of a Housing
Benefit or Council Tax Support claim.

17.3 The Council also takes an active part in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) as
organised by the Cabinet Office and the Norfolk FraudHub which involves
Norfolk County Council and all District Authorities within Norfolk. These involve
submitting data we hold in various departments of the Council for matching to
data held by other organisations and other departments to identify
discrepancies and following up promptly any highlighted matches returned that

23
334



18.

18.1

18.2

18.3

19.

identifies anomalies that may be indicative of fraud or error. The use of
intelligence information and data analytics in this way allows the Council to
direct resources more efficiently and effectively, through identifying anomalous
transactions or events for further investigation.

TRAINING AND AWARENESS

The Council recognises that an important aspect of its Anti-Fraud and Anti-
Corruption Policy is the general awareness and responsiveness of employees
and Members throughout the Council. To facilitate this, the Council supports
the concept of induction and training in anti-fraud awareness, particularly for
employees involved in internal control systems. All employees are made aware
of the Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy via various channels of
communication e.g. service team briefings and the Intranet (InSite). In addition,
a copy of this document is distributed to all Service Managers.

In addition, the Council will seek via appropriate publicity to increase and
maintain the general public’s awareness of the facilities available to report
concerns about fraud and corruption. A copy of this policy will also be made
available to the general public on the Council’s website.

The investigation of fraud and corruption is carried out in consultation with

Services by the Council’s Internal Audit Team whose skill base in investigative
techniques is maintained by appropriate training.

MEASURING IMPACT

19.1 The Council has adopted the Cabinet Office’s national “Report Calculations” for

19.2

measuring fraud loss where appropriate and also uses local calculation
methodologies where it feels local weighting should be applied and to
furthermore enable the Council to be consistent with other member local
authorities of the Norfolk FraudHub. As such, the Council will calculate fraud
using the most up to date procedures and best practice.

Fraud and Error Reports are presented by Internal Audit to the Audit Committee
on a half-yearly basis, to show how the Council is performing against the Anti-
Fraud & Anti-Corruption Policy, the effectiveness of the policy and how the
Council measures against the national counter-fraud standards (as set out
within this policy document and the Fighting Fraud & Corruption Locally 2020
standards), including where appropriate details of corrective action where
standards have not been met. The reports will include details of the level of
fraud loss and will support a communication programme to publicise fraud and
corruption cases.

24
335



19.3

20.
20.1

20.2

20.3

The Council will conduct internal audits as part of the “Internal Audit Plan” that

will review the effectiveness of the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption

Policy, as well as periodic evaluations to provide objective feedback on the
effectiveness of the investigation process. Internal Audit reviews consider any
potential fraud risks which may exist within the subject area being reviewed,
and where potential fraud risks exist, the mitigating controls will be identified
and assessed. Periodic reviews will also be undertaken of policies, strategies
and procedures surrounding anti-fraud and corruption.

REPORTING OR COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE
The Council has a dedicated resource to counter fraud (including corruption)

within the Internal Audit team that undertakes a range of counter fraud work

appropriate to the fraud risks that have been identified by the Council. The
resource includes accredited counter fraud specialist(s), with a working
knowledge of ethical practices and due process. The Internal Audit team
investigate cases of fraud and corruption in consultation with service areas
affected.

Counter Fraud staff will attend regular refresher courses to ensure they are
abreast of new developments and legislation. Where staff have roles that
include delivering fraud controls, the Council will also ensure they are suitably
trained, and have an understanding of the controls they operate.

The Council will seek via appropriate publicity to increase and maintain the
general public awareness of the facilities available to report concerns about
fraud and corruption.

20.4 Advice and guidance on how to pursue matters of concern may be obtained by

21.
21.1

contacting the Council’s Customer Information Centre on 01553 616200 who
can then direct queries to the following persons:

o Chief Executive

o Assistant Director, Resources (S151 Officer)
. Monitoring Officer

. Policy, Performance & Personnel Manager
. Audit Manager

o Investigations Officer

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
This policy is considered to have no equalities implications.

25
336



22. REFERENCE DOCUMENTS

22.1 This policy outlines the Council’s approach to fighting fraud and corruption; it
links in closely to the over-arching national strategy “Fighting Fraud and
Corruption Locally, 2020 Standards”.

22.2 Other Council documents that should be considered along with this document

are:

The Whistleblowing Policy

The Anti-Money Laundering Policy

The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) Policy
Revenues & Benefits Service Penalty and Prosecution Policy

26
337



23. VERSION CONTROL

Policy name

Anti-Fraud & Anti-Corruption Policy

Policy description

This policy outlines that the Council as a large
organisation is at risk of loss due to fraud and
corruption both internally and externally. As such this
policy sets out the approach that the Council uses to
manage the risk of fraud and corruption and minimise
the losses incurred. Its purpose is to clarify to
Members, employees, the general public and other
organisations what the Council’s policy and approach
is and how the Council intends to meet its
responsibilities relating to fraud and corruption,
whether attempted internally or externally.

Responsible Kathy Woodward, Shared Audit Manager

Officer

Version number | Date formally Reason for update | Author Review date
approved

0.2 To replace the Jamie Hay November 2023

previous Anti-Fraud
and Corruption
strategy with a
Policy document
and review it against
new and emerging
risks as well as
national strategy.

27
338




Agenda Item 16

REPORT TO CABINET

Open Would any decisions proposed :

Any Mandatory (a) Be entirely within cabinet’'s powers to decide  YES
especially and (b) Need to be recommendations to Council NO
affected Diseretionary | (c) Key Decision NO
Wards elements

Lead Member: Clir Sam Sandell Other Cabinet Members consulted: Cllr Lawrence

E-mail: cllr.sam.sandell@west-

Other Members consulted:
norfolk.gov.uk

Lead Officer: Mark Whitmore Other Officers consulted: Sean Quinn, Gordon
E-mail: mark.whitmore @west- Jackson Hopps
norfolk.gov.uk
Financial Policy/ Statutory Equal Impact Risk Environmental
Implications Personnel Implications Assessment Management Implications
YES Implications YES NO Implications No

YES If YES: Pre- No

screening only

Date of meeting: 15 June 2021

CARAVAN SITES FIT & PROPER PERSON REPORT

Recommendation

1) To adopt the procedures detailed within the attached report.
2) To include the fee structure within the existing Caravan Site Licensing Fees Policy

Reason for Decision

To ensure enforcement of statutory Regulations in accordance with extant legislation
and attached report and to clarify the procedures adopted therein.

Background

Nationally there have been concerns with regards the quality of management
of residential caravan sites for some time. A government panel chaired by Sir
Peter Bottomley MP reviewed such and the decision was made to prepare
legislation to enact existing provisions contained within the Mobile Homes
Act 2013.

This has resulted in the enactment of the Mobile Homes (Requirements for
Managers of Site to be Fit and Proper) (England) Regulations 2020.
Statutory Instrument No.1034 made 23" September 2020.

This legislation places a statutory duty on local authorities to undertake
assessments of those nominated site managers in order to ensure that they
are fit and proper and that sufficient procedures and resources are available

339




for the adequate management and maintenance of the residential caravan
site. Where managers are approved their details will be entered onto a public
register, as within the caravan site licensing regime. These residential sites
are often referred to in the legal term ‘relevant protected sites’. The legislation
does not include holiday caravan sites and certain family owned and occupied
residential sites are also exempt from the Regulations.

Principle Changes

This is new legislation and will require those site owners to submit
applications, declarations and supporting documentation that they do not
currently need to submit. The local authority will then assess the application in
accordance with the statutory requirements, government guidance and
attached report. The Council will be able to charge a fee for this service in
order to recover its costs of processing and determining such applications, the
proposed fees are set out at Appendix A of the attached report.

Policy Implications

The requirement to undertake this activity is statutory and therefore the
Council’s activity will be undertaken by Housing Standards in accordance with
the Regulations.

Financial Implications

There will be a cost to the Council in respect of officer time in processing such
applications however these costs will be recovered in accordance with the
Regulations, government guidance and as detailed within the annual Caravan
Site Licensing Fees Policy.

Personnel Implications

It is anticipated that the applications will be assessed and processed by
Housing Standards within current resources and in accordance with the
attached report.

Statutory Considerations

The enforcement of the Regulations is a statutory requirement.

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)

Pre-screening complete and attached.

Risk Management Implications
None identified.
Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted

None

340



Pre-Screening Equality Impact
Assessment

Borough Council of
King’s Lynn & &
West Norfolk J§

Name of policy/service/function

Caravan Sites Fit & Proper Person Report

Is this a new or existing policy/ service/function?

New

Brief summary/description of the main aims of the
policy/service/function being screened.

Please state if this policy/service rigidly
constrained by statutory obligations

To undertake enforcement in accordance with Statutory
Regulations and Government guidance.

Question Answer
1. Is there any reason to believe that the
policy/service/function could have a specific © g = ®
impact on people from one or more of the =2 |8 | £ >
following groups accqrd_ing to their different g 2 2 5
protected characteristic, for example, because
they have particular needs, experiences, issues or Age X
priorities or in terms of ability to access the Disability X
service?
Gender X
Gender Re-assignment X
Please tick the relevant box for each group. Marriage/civil parnership X
Pregnancy & maternity X
NB. Equality neutral means no negative impact on Race X
any group.
Religion or belief X
Sexual orientation X
Other (eg low income) X
Question Answer Comments
2. Is the proposed policy/service likely to affect ¥es+No Not likely as non-commercial residential
relations between certain equality communities or sites are exempt from the Regulations.
to damage relations between the equality
communities and the Council, for example
because it is seen as favouring a particular
community or denying opportunities to another?
3. Could this policy/service be perceived as ¥es+No No as detailed above.
impacting on communities differently?
4. Is the policy/service specifically designed to Yes Ne | No
tackle evidence of disadvantage or potential
discrimination?
5. Are any impacts identified above minor and if Yes / No Actions: No actions proposed.

so, can these be eliminated or reduced by minor
actions?

If yes, please agree actions with a member of the
Corporate Equalities Working Group and list
agreed actions in the comments section

Actions agreed by EWG member:

Assessment completed by:
Name

Gordon Jackson-Hopps

Job title Housing Standards Policy Officer

Date 12 April 2021

341




Borough Council of

King’s Lynn & i —”'—'y
West Norfolk } "f {

Caravan Sites
Fit & Proper Person Report

The Mobile Homes (Requirements for Manager of Site to
be Fit and Proper) (England) Regulations 2020

Statutory Instrument No.1034 made 23 September 2020

342



Introduction

The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper
Person) (England) Regulations 2020 (S| No.1034) — (‘the Regulations’),
require that a local authority must be satisfied that the owner of a mobile
home site is fit and proper person to manage the site, or that a person
appointed by the owner to manage the site is a fit and proper person to do so.
The local authority also has the power to appoint a fit and proper person to
manage the site, with the owner’s consent.

This requirement is to ensure that those responsible for operating the site
licence and managing the site are of sufficient integrity and good character to
be involved in the management of a regulated site for mobile homes to which
an application relates and as such they do not pose a risk to the welfare or
safety of persons occupying mobile homes on the site.

These Regulations do not apply to non-commercial family-occupied sites
which are not operated on a commercial basis in accordance with Regulation
3.

The timetable for these Regulations being implemented is as follows:

Local authorities in England have until 1st July 2021 to prepare to receive
applications from site owners/licence holders, to establish the processes for
making and issuing decisions, and establish a fit and proper person register
for their local area.

Site owner’s/licence holders will have 3 months from 1t July 2021 to submit
completed applications to local authorities. The deadline for applications is 1st
October 2021.

Matters to be Considered

When considering whether a person is ‘fit and proper’ the local authority must
have regard to the suitability of the person concerned (‘the relevant person’).
Schedule 3 paragraphs 2 to 4 of the Regulations make reference to those
matters that must be considered by the local authority as part of any
application. These include;

Whether the relevant person is able to secure the proper management of the
site. This includes, but is not limited to;

a) compliance with the site licence;
b) the long term maintenance of the site;

c) whether the relevant person has sufficient level of competence to
manage the site;

d) the management structure and funding arrangements for the site or
proposed management structure and funding arrangements.

343,



Other matters to be considered are whether the relevant person has:

e) committed any offence involving fraud or other dishonesty, violence,
arson or drugs or listed in Schedule 3 to the Sexual Offences Act 2003
(offences attracting notification requirements);

f) has contravened any provision of the law relating to housing, caravan
sites, mobile homes, public health, planning or environmental health or
of landlord and tenant law;

g) has contravened any provision of the Equality Act 2010 in, or in
connection with, the carrying on of any business;

h) has harassed any person in, or in connection with, the carrying on of
any business;

i) is, or has been within the past 10 years, personally insolvent;

j) is, or has been within the last 10 years, disqualified from acting as a
company director;

k) whether the relevant person has the right to work within the United
Kingdom;

[) whether any other local authority has rejected an application for the
responsible person to be included in a register;

The local authority may also have regard to the conduct of any person
associated or formerly associated with the relevant person (whether on a
personal, work or other basis) if it appears to the authority that that person’s
conduct is relevant to the question of whether the relevant person is a fit and
proper person to manage the relevant protected site or proposed relevant
protected site (as the case may be).

The authority can also consider any evidence as to any other relevant
matters.

The ‘responsible person’ means a person in relation to whom the applicant is
required to provide information under paragraph 10(2) or (5), 11 or 12 of
Schedule 2 of the Regulations.
Application
Once an application has been received the local authority may:

a) grant the application unconditionally;

b) grant the application subject to conditions;

c) reject the application.

_ 5344



Decision

As soon as is reasonably practicable after a full and complete application is
received (including the relevant fee) the local authority must make a decision
on the application and either;

a) where the decision is to grant the application unconditionally and to
include the relevant person on the register for 5 years, serve a final
decision notice on the applicant or;

b) otherwise serve a preliminary decision notice on the applicant.
Once a full and completed application has been received by the authority, the
nominated case officer will review the information and obtain any further

information deemed relevant to the application.

The officer will then prepare a case file for review by the relevant nominated
and authorised senior officer.

The nominated senior officer may authorise that an application be granted
unconditionally or subject to relevant conditions.

Where an application is to be rejected the nominated senior officer will consult
with the relevant Principal Officer, or equivalent, in advance of issuing the
preliminary decision notice.
Appeals
Any preliminary decision notice will be in accordance with the Regulations and
will provide the applicant with 28 days, beginning with the day after the day on
which the notice was served, to make written representations to the authority.
Once written representations have been received the authority may then
make a final decision which may include approving an application subject to
specific conditions.
Where the authority may seek to remove a relevant person from the register
or to impose further conditions a notice of proposed action will be issued in
accordance with the Regulations. Again, any relevant person may make
written representations within 28 days of such a notice being issued.
The local authority may withdraw or amend:

a) a preliminary decision notice before service of the final decision notice;

b) a final decision notice before the decision to which it relates takes
effect or;

c) a notice of proposed action before the proposed action is taken

345, _



A person on whom a final decision notice is served may appeal to a First-tier
Tribunal (FTT) against:

a) any decision to include the relevant person on the register for an
effective period of less than 5 years;

b) any decision to include the relevant person on the register subject to
conditions and;

c) any decision to reject the application.
A person on whom a notice of action is served may appeal to the FTT against:
a) any decision to remove the relevant person from the register;

b) any decision to impose a condition on the inclusion of the relevant
person in the register and;

c) any decision to vary a condition.

No compensation may be claimed for loss suffered, pending the outcome of
the appeal, in consequence of the local authority making a final decision or
taking action relevant to Regulation 8(1)(a), (b) or (c).

Register

The Regulations require a local authority to establish and keep up to date a
register of persons who they are satisfied are fit and proper persons to
manage a relevant protected site in their area and to make the register open
to inspection by members of the public at the offices of the local authority
during normal office hours.

The authority must also publish the register online and the contents of the
register will be in accordance with the Regulations.

A person’s inclusion in the register has effect for a maximum period of 5
years.

Fees

Regulation 10 permits the local authority to charge a fee for the processing of
applications and this fee is contained within the Caravan Sites Fees Policy
and as summarised in Appendix A. This is to cover the cost of processing
applications and will be reviewed annually.

The authority may also decide the amount and frequency of any additional
payments required by way of an annual fee. The authority does not intend to
charge an annual fee at this time and this will be subject to review. Any fee
that is applied will be done so in accordance with the extant fees policy and
relevant guidance.

_ 4346



Where the authority has, with the occupier’s consent, appointed a person to
manage a site, the authority will recover from the occupier the reasonable
costs incurred or to be incurred in making the appointment in accordance with
Regulation 10.

Offences
An owner (occupier) of land commits an offence if he causes or permits any
part of the land to be used as a relevant protected site (which falls within the
scope of the Regulations) without the manager of the site being registered
with the local authority as a fit and proper person.
An applicant also commits an offence if he:

a) withholds information from a registration application or;

b) includes false or misleading information in a registration application

c) fails to comply with a condition imposed under Regulation 6(2)(b) or
Regulation 8(1)

An owner (occupier) of land who is guilty of an offence is liable on summary
conviction to a level 5 fine (unlimited).

Where an owner (occupier) of land who holds a site licence in respect of that
land contravenes the relevant Regulations, the FTT may, on application by
the authority, make an order revoking the site licence in question on the day
specified in the order.

Where:
a) an owner (occupier) of land who holds a site licence in respect of that
land is convicted of an offence under Regulation 11 for a contravention

of the fit and proper person requirement and;

b) has been convicted on two or more previous occasions of the offence
in relation to that land,

The court before which the occupier is convicted may, on application by the
local authority, make an order revoking the site licence in question.

3475 _



Application Form Important Notes for Applicants

Statutory Requirements

An application must be made by the occupier.

If the occupier is a company or a corporate body, the application form
must be completed by an officer of the company (“appropriate person”).

The “appropriate person” means;

(a)where the declarant is a company, an officer of the company;

(b)where the declarant is a partnership, one of the partners;

(c)where the declarant is a body corporate the conduct of the
management of which is vested in its members, a member;

(d)where the declarant is a body not falling within paragraph (a), (b) or (c),
a member of the management committee;

(e)where the declarant is an individual, that individual

DBS certificates must be dated within six months of the date of the
application.

The council must keep and maintain a register of fit and proper persons.
This means that some of the information you provide in your application
will be entered into the register. The information that will be included are
your name, business address and contact details, name of the site.

Data Protection

The Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk manages personal
data in accordance with the provisions of the Data Protection Act 1998.
The information you provide on this form will be used by the Council for
the purposes of the fit and proper assessment.

We may share your information and make any other necessary enquiries
with other departments within the council and other statutory
organisations in relation to the application.

Your personal information will be processed in line with Data Protection
legislation and we will not disclose information about you to anyone
outside the Council unless the law permits or requires us to. We will retain
your data for as long as it is required for our administrative use, after
which it will be securely disposed of.

Where the application is being made on behalf of a person appointed or to
be appointed to manage the site, you are strongly advised to ensure they
are aware of the register and the information that will be entered into it. As
the applicant, it is your responsibility to seek confirmation that the
information they have provided is true and accurate.

348



¢ |If you believe the data we process on you is incorrect you may request to
see this information and, if necessary have it corrected or deleted. If you
wish to raise a complaint you can contact our Data Protection Officer at
(address below). If you believe we are not processing your data lawfully
you can complain to the Information Commissioner’s Office
(https://ico.org.uk/). Further details are available on our website -
https://www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/info/20006/council_and_democracy/326/data_protection or
from the Data Protection Officer at https://www.data.protection@north-
norfolk.gov.uk

e Completed applications including the correct fee must be sent to Housing
Standards, Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk, Chapel
Street, King’s Lynn PE301EX.

e You are strongly advised to retain a copy of the form for your records.

Note: The application form contents are being prepared in line with relevant
advice and guidance.

3494 _



Appendix A

Fees Summary

350



Agenda Item 17

REPORT TO CABINET

Open Would any decisions proposed :
Any especially | Operational . . o ,
affected (a) Be entirely within cabinet’s powers to decide YES
Wards . ]
(b) Need to be recommendations to Council NO
(c) Is it a Key Decision NO
Lead Member: ClIr S Dark Other Cabinet Members consulted:

E-mail: cllr.stuart.dark@west-

norfolk.gov.uk Other Members consulted:

Lead Officer: Sam Winter Other Officers consulted: Chief Executive, Monitoring
E-mail: sam.winter@west-norfolk.gov.uk Officer
Direct Dial: 01553 616327
Financial Policy/Person | Statutory EIA required Risk Environmental
Implications nel Implications NO Management Consideration
NO Implications YES Implications S

NO NO No

Date of meeting: 15 June 2021

2021/22 APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO SERVE ON CABINET
COMMITTEES

Summary

The report invites the Cabinet to agree to arrange for the appointment of
members to serve on the CIL Spending Panel, Members Major Projects
Board, Local Plan Task Group; and agree the membership of Joint Safety and
Welfare Committee and Joint Employee Committee for 2021/22.

Recommendations
1) That officers be instructed to seek membership from Group Leaders for
the CIL Spending Panel and Major Projects Board for 2021/22.

2) That officers be instructed to seek the membership from Group
Leaders for the Local Plan Task Group for 2021/22.

3) That the Membership of the Joint Safety and Welfare Committee and
Joint Employee Committee for 2021/22 be appointed at the meeting.

Reason for Decision
To allow the business of the Council to continue into 2021/22.

1 CIL Spending Panel
Established in 2020, the membership should be as follows:

6 Members - 3 Con, 2 Ind and 1 Lab — Chaired by Development Portfolio
Holder.

351




2 Members Major Projects Board

The membership of the Board is 7 members — Chair Audit, Chair
Regeneration and Environment Panel, Leader, 1 other Portfolio holder and 3
representatives from other groups (2 Ind, 1 Lab).

2019/21 Membership was as follows:  Councillors J Collingham, J Collop. A
Dickinson, A Kemp, B Long, G Middleton, A Ryves

3 Local Plan Task Group

The membership of the Local Plan Task Group was - (10 Members - 5 Con, 3
Ind, 2 Lab). 2019/21 year’'s membership was as follows:

Councillor R Blunt, F Bone, T Bubb, C Crofts, M de Whalley, C Joyce, J
Moriarty, T Parish, S Sandell, D Tyler.

4) Joint Safety and Welfare Committee

The Cabinet representatives on the Joint Safety and Welfare Committee for
2019/21 were:

Councillors B Long, P Kunes and D Tyler.
Cabinet is invited to agree its representation for 2021/22.

5) Joint Employee Committee

The Cabinet representatives on the Joint Employee Committee for 2019/21
were:

Councillors R Blunt, | Devereux, P Kunes, B Long and G Middleton .
Cabinet is invited to agree its representation for 2021/22.

6 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

None

7 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

None

8 STATUTORY CONSIDERATION

It is a statutory requirement to have a Joint Safety Committee.

9 RISK ASSESSMENT

None

352



10 ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Previous reports and Minutes

353



Agenda Item 18 REPORT TO CABINET

Open Would any decisions proposed :
Any especially | Operational ) o ) ]
affected (a) Be entirely within cabinet’s powers to decide NO
Wards ] )
(b) Need to be recommendations to Council YES
(c) Be partly for recommendations to Council YES
and partly within Cabinets powers —

Lead Member: Leader, Councillor S Dark Other Cabinet Members consulted:

Clir.stuart.dark@west-norfolk.gov.uk Other Members consulted:

Lead Officer: Samantha Winter Other Officers consulted:
E-mail: sam.winter@west-norfolk.gov.uk
Direct Dial:01553 616327

Financial Policy/Personnel Statutory Equalities Impact | Risk Management
Implications Implications Implications (incl Assessment req’d | Implications
NO NO S.17) NO NO NO

Date of meeting: 15" June 2021

APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES AND PARTNERSHIPS

Summary

The report seeks approval for nominations for Executive appointments to
serve on outside bodies and partnerships for 2021/2022.

Recommendation

1) That the Cabinet appoints representatives to serve in an Executive
capacity on the outside bodies and partnerships requiring appointment
in the Appendix attached.

2) That the reporting arrangements be noted, as shown in section 3
of the report.

3) To note that all other appointments to Outside Bodies will be
made at the Council meeting on 8" July 2021.

Reason for decision

To ensure continued involvement in the community by the Council.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Council is invited to nominate representatives to serve on a
number of outside bodies and partnerships with which the Council has
a range of types of relationships.

2.0 INSURANCE COVER FOR BOROUGH COUNCILLORS

2.1 The Council’'s insurance will indemnify any employee or member
arising from their service on the board or participation in the capacity of
governor, officer, trustee, director, committee member or other official
of any not-for profit entity other than the insured.

Provided always that: 354



mailto:sam.winter@west-norfolk.gov.uk

2.2

3.0

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

4.0

4.1

4.2

4.3

a) The service or participation by the employee or member is
specifically requested by or under the specific direction of the
insured.

b) The insured is legally entitled to approve the service or participation
and to indemnify the employee of member in respect of it.

c) Any payment will only be made by the insurer for an amount in
excess of any indemnification or insurance coverage provided by
the not-for-profit entity or afforded from any other source and to
which the employee or member is entitled.

When a member is appointed to serve on an outside body, they should
also ensure that as well as completing the Register of Financial and
Other Interest form, they should complete the annual “Related Party
Transactions form”, with the details of those bodies on which they serve.

FEEDBACK FROM MEMBERS ON OUTSIDE BODIES

Arrangements for reporting back by Members serving on Outside Bodies
are approved every year at Council as follows:

Each of the relevant scrutiny panels should be able to request reports
from Councillors serving on outside bodies which fall within their remit.
By programming the reports over the Panel's annual timetable of
meetings, it would be possible for members both to assess the
usefulness of making appointments to bodies and be informed of any
relevant matters.

Cabinet Members serving on outside bodies will report via their Cabinet
Members’ reports to Council.

All are welcome to use the Members’ Bulletin to report on the work of
any such organisation.

APPOINTMENT OF REPRESENTATIVES

Executive Roles — The attached Appendix lists those bodies to which
Cabinet is invited to appoint representatives to. Appointments that fall
within this category are corporate in nature and fall within the portfolio
responsibilities of members of the Cabinet. Alternatively, a Cabinet
Member may nominate a substitute from Borough Councillors indicating
a willingness to serve on a particular body. For information, the
Appendix lists any additional representatives which will be appointed
subsequently in the Scrutiny, Parish and General categories. These do
not require any action from Cabinet and will be appointed by Council on
8™ July 2021.

Scrutiny and Regulatory Roles - Nominations for representatives to
serve on Scrutiny bodies are being sought from the appropriate scrutiny
panel (Environment & Community and Corporate Performance Panel)
at their meetings in June 2021 and will be submitted to Council for
approval on 8" July 2021.

Parish Level Representation, Parished and Unparished Areas -
Local representatives may be appointed onto specific local bodies
within or related to their ysyd. On occasions, a body may not



4.4

5.0

5.1

5.2

6.0

specifically require the Council’s representative to be a Borough
Councillor, in which case a community representative may be
nominated by Council. Appointments will be made at Council on 9"
July 2021.

General Appointments - Appointments which are of general interest to
the Borough as a whole will be made at Council on 8" July 2021.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Mileage and subsistence allowances for Councillors attending
meetings.

All appointments can be made within the existing budget.
ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Current lists of Member representation
ACSeS report on liabilities of Outside Bodies.

356



APPENDIX 1

LIST OF OUTSIDE BODIES REQUIRING CABINET APPROVAL

Appointed/Nominated | Number of Current Term of

Name of Outside Body by representatives | representatives office

Active Norfolk Cabinet 1 | Nockolds Annual

Action for Children Cabinet 1 | Bambridge Annual

Alive Leisure Trust Cabinet 1 | Devereux Annual

Alive Management Board of Long, Nockolds,

Directors Cabinet 3 | Middleton Annual
Long, Nockolds, L

Alive West Norfolk Board Cabinet 4 | Gore, D Gates Annual

Borough Council/College of West Long (Cabinet) Lowe

Anglia Liaison Board 1 Cabinet and 1 E&C 2 | (EC) Annual

CNC Building Control Joint

Committee Cabinet 1 | Blunt Annual

Coastshare Limited Cabinet 2 | Long, Hipperson Annual

College of West Anglia Board Cabinet 1| Long Annual

Community Action Norfolk Cabinet 1 | Nockolds Annual
Nockolds (Cabinet),

Downham Market Leisure Centre Ryves and Howland

Joint Management Committee 1 Cabinet and 2 Council 3 | (Council) Annual

FCH and Borough Council Long, Lawrence and

Strategic Forum Cabinet 3 | LGore Annual

HAZ Partnership Board Cabinet 2 | Gidney, Nockolds Annual
Nockolds and

Health and Wellbeing Board Cabinet 1+1sub Sandell (sub) Annual
Middleton

Hunstanton Prosperity Coastal (Cabinet), Bower

Community Team 1 Cabinet and 2 Council 3 | and Beal (Council) Annual
Nockolds (Cabinet),
de Whalley, Kemp

King's Lynn and West Norfolk 1 Cabinet, 3 Scrutiny and Bubb (Scrutiny),

Area Museums Committee (E&C), 1 Council 5 | A Tyler (Council) Annual

King's Lynn Business

Improvement District Board Cabinet 1 | Middleton Annual

King's Lynn Festival Board Cabinet 1 | Nockolds Annual

King's Lynn Town Centre NO LONGER MEETS TO

Partnership BE DISBANDED

Local Government Association

(including sub groups) Cabinet 1| Long Annual

Norfolk Arts Forum Executive Cabinet 357 1 | Nockolds Annual




Norfolk Coast Partnership

Long and Devereux

Management Group Cabinet 1+1sub (sub) Annual

Norfolk Joint Museums and

Archaeology Committee Cabinet Nockolds Annual

Norfolk Parking Partnership Joint Kunes and Blunt

Committee Cabinet 1+1sub (sub) Annual

Norfolk Police and Crime Panel Cabinet Manning and Long Annual

Norfolk Rail Policy Group Cabinet Sampson Annual

Norfolk Records Committee Cabinet Nockolds Annual
Devereux and Long

Norfolk Waste Partnership Cabinet 1+1sub (sub) Annual

North Lynn Discovery Centre Middleton and L

Board Cabinet Gore Annual

The Wash and North Norfolk

Coast Marine Partnership Cabinet Devereux Annual

West Norfolk Chamber of

Commerce Council Cabinet Middleton Annual
Lawrence, Long and

West Norfolk Housing Company Cabinet Blunt Annual
Blunt, Lawrence and

West Norfolk Property Cabinet Long Annual

West Norfolk Tourism Executive Nockolds and

Forum Cabinet Middleton Annual

358




	Agenda
	8 FORWARD DECISIONS
	notice re late inclusion on FDL TO CHR OF CPP Parkway 150621

	10 PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITIES AND SCHEME OF DELEGATION
	KLWNBC Cabinet responsibilities - revisions
	Scheme of Delegation final

	11 LOCAL PLAN REVIEW DRAFT FOR PRE-SUBMISSION CONSULTATION
	LDS Changes May 2021
	Local Plan Review Summary

	12 NORFOLK GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE (GI) AND RECREATIONAL IMPACT AVOIDANCE AND MITIGATION STRATEGY (RAMS)
	Norfolk_GI_RAMS_Strategy_March_2021

	13 PARKWAY
	notice re late inclusion on FDL TO CHR OF CPP Parkway 150621

	14 SOUTHGATE REGENERATION AREA MASTERPLANNING
	South Gates Masterplan Site Area Appendix 1
	Sheets and Views
	A4 P



	15 ANTI FRAUD AND ANTI CORRUPTION STRATEGY
	Draft Anti-Fraud & Anti-Corruption Policy 02-11-20 v0.2

	16 CARAVAN SITES FIT & PROPER PERSON REPORT
	Caravans FP Appendix

	17 APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES SUB COMMITTEES AND TASK GROUP
	18 APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES

